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History of IPSAS
This version includes amendments resulting from IPSASs issued up to January 31, 2022.
IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments was issued in August 2018.
Since then, IPSAS 36 has been amended by the following IPSASs:
° IPSAS 43, Leases (issued January 2022)
° Improvements to IPSAS 2021 (issued January 2022)
° Non-Authoritative Amendments to IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments (issued December 2020)
° COVID-19: Deferral of Effective Dates (issued November 2020)

° Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to IPSAS 36) and Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation (Amendments to IPSAS 41) (issued January 2019)

Table of Amended Paragraphs in IPSAS 41

Paragraph Affected How Affected Affected By
2 Amended IPSAS 43 January 2022
Heading above paragraph 72A New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
T2A New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
72B New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
72C New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
72D New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
72E New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
87 Amended IPSAS 43 January 2022
Heading above paragraph 155A New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
155A New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
155B New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
155C New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
Heading above paragraph 155D New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
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Heading above paragraph 155E New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
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155F New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
Heading above paragraph 155G New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
155G New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
155H New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
Heading above paragraph 1551 New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
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Paragraph Affected How Affected Affected By
1551 New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
155 New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
155K New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
155L New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
155M New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
Heading above paragraph 155N New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
155N New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
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15572 New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
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156A Amended COVID-19: Deferral of Effective Dates November 2020
156B New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
156C New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
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156E New IPSAS 43 January 2022
Heading above paragraph 184 New Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments
to IPSAS 36) and Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
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184 Amended Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments
to IPSAS 36) and Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
(Amendments to IPSAS 41) January 2019
Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
185 New Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments
to IPSAS 36) and Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
(Amendments to IPSAS 41) January 2019
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(Amendments to IPSAS 41) January 2019

1239 IPSAS 41



Paragraph Affected How Affected Affected By
187 New Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments
to IPSAS 36) and Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
(Amendments to IPSAS 41) January 2019
188 New Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments
to IPSAS 36) and Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
(Amendments to IPSAS 41) January 2019
189 New Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments
to IPSAS 36) and Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
(Amendments to IPSAS 41) January 2019
Heading above paragraph 191 New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
191 New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
192 New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
193 New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
194 New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
Heading above paragraph 195 New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
195 New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
AG46 Amended Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
AG46A New Improvements to IPSAS January 2022
AG73 Amended Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments
to IPSAS 36) and Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
(Amendments to IPSAS 41) January 2019
AGT74 Amended Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments
to IPSAS 36) and Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
(Amendments to IPSAS 41) January 2019
AG74A New Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments
to IPSAS 36) and Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
(Amendments to IPSAS 41) January 2019
AGI198 Amended IPSAS 43 January 2022
AG210 Amended IPSAS 43 January 2022
1IE211 New Non-Authoritative Amendments to IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments
December 2020
Bl New Non-Authoritative Amendments to IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments
December 2020
Bl11 New Non-Authoritative Amendments to IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments
December 2020
B12 New Non-Authoritative Amendments to IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments
December 2020
B121 New Non-Authoritative Amendments to IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments
December 2020
B122 New Non-Authoritative Amendments to IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments
December 2020
B123 New Non-Authoritative Amendments to IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments

December 2020

IPSAS 41

1240




IPSAS 41—FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

CONTENTS

Paragraph

ODJECHIVE ..uvieeteiteeete et ettt ettt et e et et e e st e seese e s e eseesseesaesseessesseesseeseesseeseens e et s ensees s enseesee s e es e e ese e st e eReenseeReenaeeaeenseeseenseessenseeneenes 1
1o o OO PRUPRPR 2-8
DIEIIMIEIONS ...ttt h bbbt b e bt bt bt et e s s e st e a e es e eh e eb e eheeh e e bt e bt ekt be bt et et et et enten b e st eneeneentebe et 9
Recognition and deI@COZNITION .......cvieiieriieieetieeieeteete et ete st et e st ebeeteebeeseesbeessesseeseesseessesseessesseensesseessesseensenssensenssensenseenns 10-38
TNIIAL TECOZINITION. 1. .euvieitetieiteetieete et ete et ete et e steestesaeessesteesseesaesseessesseessesseessesseessesseessessaessesssenseessenseessenseenseseensesseansas 10-11
Derecognition Of fINANCIAL ASSELS ......ccviiiiriiiiiriieieie ettt ettt et et e et esteeseesteesaesseessessaesseesaesseesseseessenseensesseenses 12-34
Derecognition of financial HaDIlItIES ........c..ccuerierieiieiieitieie ettt ettt ste e s ta e e staesbeesaesseesaesseessesseensesseennas 35-38
CLASSTICATION ...ttt h bt b e et b e bbbt e e e a s e a e e st es e eb e eh e e bt eh e eb e b e eh e b b e et et et et en b en b e st eneenteneebe et 39-56
Classification Of fINANCIAL ASSELS ........evuertirteieieieiei ettt ettt ettt ettt sb et be e st et e et et e s et eaeeseeae e 3944
Classification of financial HaDIIITIES. .....c..erueieiiieieiit ettt sttt ettt 45-46
EMDBDEAAEA AETTVALIVES.......ecueitiitiitiitieteetest ettt ettt ettt e b bt e bt e bttt be s b et et et et et et et eneeneenene 47-53
RECIASSTIICALION ...ttt h bbb ettt s e et eat e bt eb bt eb e e bt e bt e bt st et et et e st e e e st eneeneeae e 54-56
IMIEASUTCIMCNIL ...ttt ettt ettt et et sb et s b et e bttt h et e et et eh e et e bt et eh e e nbeeatesbeeatesbeesaesbeenteebeeabesbeembeebeenee 57-112
INItIA] MEASUTEIMENE ......eeiiiiiiiitiitert ettt b ettt st e st e st e b e eb e bt e bt bt e bt s bt st et et et e st et et eneeneeaeene 57-60
Subsequent measurement 0f fiNANCIAL ASSELS .......cc.ieiiriiiiieiieie ettt et re e sreesaesbe e s e steesseeseensenseenns 61-63
Subsequent measurement of financial HAbIIITIES. .........ceevveiieiiiiieiecieieetee et seesee s 64-65
Fair value measurement CONSIAETALIONS .....c..eviieieieiiieetiete sttt ettt ettt sbe et be st et ettt et et eneeseeae e 66-68
AMOTtIZEd COSt MEASUTEITIENE ......e.vitiateteteiieitestest ettt ettt et sttt et et et et et e st esees s estes e et e ebeabeebeebesae st e b et et enteneeneeneeneeaene 69-72
TIMIPAITIIICNE ... oottt ettt et et sae et e be et e s beesbeeseesseessesseesee s e essesseesseeseenseeseenseessenseessenseessenseenseseensesseensas 73-93
Reclassification Of fINANCIAL ASSEES........eiuirtiriiiiieieietcet ettt b ettt et ettt 94-100
GAINS AN LOSSES... vttt b ettt bt a ettt et s e e st eat e bt eb e bt e bt ekt be bt ettt ettt et eneeaeeae e 101-112
HEAZE ACCOUNTINEG. ... eevtiiiieiieiietieieie ettt ettt ettt ettt et e s te et e s te e b e e teesbeeseesseessenseesaeseeseesseessesseessessaessesseensesssensenssensenssenns 113-155
Objective and scope 0f hedZe ACCOUNTING ......ccviiiiiiiieitieieeieie ettt saa e e et e s e ssesseessesseessesseennas 113-115
HedZING INSIIUMENTS ......eevieiiictieieeeete ettt ettt ettt et e e te e b e etee s e eseeseeseesseessesseesseesaensesssenseessensenssenseessenseensenseensas 116-121
HEAZEA TLEIMIS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et e e st e e e teesseesee s e e st e seessesseesseesaensesssenseessensaessenseensenseensesseensas 122-128
Qualifying criteria for hedZe aCCOUNTING .........ceiiiiiiiieitieie ettt ettt ettt e e st e e sa e b e esaesseessesseessesseennas 129
Accounting for qualifying hedging relationShIPSs .........ccveriiiiiiiieieiieee et eae s 130-145
Hedges 0f @ GroUP OF TLEIMIS .......veiiieieii ettt ettt et e e st e estesseesaesseessessaesseessesseesseseessenseensesseennes 146-151
Option to designate a credit exposure as measured at fair value through surplus or deficit..........cccevveiinieciennnnnnn. 152-155
Effective date and traNSTHON .......o..eouiteieiii ettt ettt ea bbbt bttt be b st et et et et en b et eneeneene e st enea 156-190
EATECHIVE QALE ....eneeeieeeee et b ettt et s st e b bbbt bbbt st ettt et et ettt ae e 156-157
TANSTEION ..ttt bt e a bbbt e bbb s bbb e st et e st es s ea e e bt eb e e bt e bt eh e bt e bt et e b et et e st et et eneene b e 158-190

1241 IPSAS 41



FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Appendix A: Application Guidance

Appendix B: Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
Appendix C: Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments
Appendix D: Amendments to Other IPSASs

Basis for Conclusions

[lustrative Examples

Implementation Guidance

Comparison with [FRS 9

IPSAS 41 1242



Objective

1.

Scope

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The objective of this Standard is to establish principles for the financial reporting of financial assets and financial liabilities
that will present relevant and useful information to users of financial statements for their assessment of the amounts, timing
and uncertainty of an entity’s future cash flows.

This Standard shall be applied by all entities to all types of financial instruments except:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

)

(2

(h)

Those interests in controlled entities, associates and joint ventures that are accounted for in accordance
with IPSAS 34, Separate Financial Statements, IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial Statements, or IPSAS 36,
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. However, in some cases, IPSAS 34, IPSAS 35 or IPSAS 36 require
or permit an entity to account for an interest in a controlled entity, associate or joint venture in accordance
with some or all of the requirements of this Standard. Entities shall also apply this Standard to derivatives
on an interest in a controlled entity, associate or joint venture unless the derivative meets the definition of an
equity instrument of the entity in IPSAS 28, Financial Instruments: Presentation.

Rights and obligations under leases to which IPSAS 43, Leases applies. However:

(1) Finance lease receivables (i.e., net investments in finance leases) and operating lease receivables
recognized by a lessor are subject to the derecognition and impairment requirements of this Standard;

(ii))  Lease liabilities recognized by a lessee are subject to the derecognition requirements in paragraph 35
of this Standard; and

(iii) Derivatives that are embedded in leases are subject to the embedded derivatives requirements of this
Standard.

Employers’ rights and obligations under employee benefit plans, to which IPSAS 39, Employee Benefits
applies.

Financial instruments issued by the entity that meet the definition of an equity instrument in IPSAS 28
(including options and warrants) or that are required to be classified as an equity instrument in accordance
with paragraphs 15 and 16 or paragraphs 17 and 18 of IPSAS 28. However, the holder of such equity
instruments shall apply this Standard to those instruments, unless they meet the exception in (a).

Rights and obligations arising under:

(i)  An insurance contract, other than an issuer’s rights and obligations arising under an insurance
contract that meets the definition of a financial guarantee contract in paragraph 9; or

(il) A contract that is within the scope of relevant international or national accounting standard dealing
with insurance contracts because it contains a discretionary participation feature.

This Standard applies to a derivative that is embedded in a contract if the derivative is not itself an insurance
contract (see paragraphs 47-53 and Appendix A paragraphs AG99-AG110 of this Standard). An entity
applies this Standard to financial guarantee contracts, but shall apply the relevant international or national
accounting standard dealing with insurance contracts if the issuer elects to apply that standard in recognizing
and measuring them. Notwithstanding (i) above, an entity may apply this Standard to other insurance
contracts which involve the transfer of financial risk.

Any forward contract between an acquirer and a selling shareholder to buy or sell an acquired operation that
will result in a public sector combination to which IPSAS 40 applies at a future acquisition date. The term
of the forward contract should not exceed a reasonable period normally necessary to obtain any required
approvals and to complete the transaction.

Loan commitments other than those loan commitments described in paragraph 4. However, an issuer of
loan commitments shall apply the impairment requirements of this Standard to loan commitments that are
not otherwise within the scope of this Standard. Also, all loan commitments are subject to the derecognition
requirements of this Standard.

Financial instruments, contracts and obligations under share-based payment transactions to which the
relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with share based payment applies, except for
contracts within the scope of paragraphs 5-8 of this Standard to which this Standard applies.
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(1)  Rights to payments to reimburse the entity for expenditure that it is required to make to settle a liability that
it recognizes as a provision in accordance with IPSAS 19 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets, or for which, in an earlier period, it recognized a provision in accordance with IPSAS 19.

()  The initial recognition and initial measurement of rights and obligations arising from non-exchange revenue
transactions to which IPSAS 23, Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers) applies;
except as described in paragraph AG6.

(k) Rights and obligations under service concession arrangements to which IPSAS 32, Service Concession
Arrangements: Grantor applies. However, financial liabilities recognized by a grantor under the financial
liability model are subject to the derecognition provisions of this Standard (see paragraphs 35-38 and
Appendix A paragraphs AG39-AG47).

The impairment requirements of this Standard shall be applied to those rights arising from IPSAS 9, Revenue
from Exchange Transactions and IPSAS 23 transactions which give rise to financial instruments for the purposes of
recognizing impairment gains or losses.

The following loan commitments are within the scope of this Standard:

(a) Loan commitments that the entity designates as financial liabilities at fair value through surplus or deficit
(see paragraph 46). An entity that has a past practice of selling the assets resulting from its loan commitments
shortly after origination shall apply this Standard to all its loan commitments in the same class.

(b) Loan commitments that can be settled net in cash or by delivering or issuing another financial instrument.
These loan commitments are derivatives. A loan commitment is not regarded as settled net merely because
the loan is paid out in installments (for example, a mortgage construction loan that is paid out in installments
in line with the progress of construction).

(c) Commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate (see paragraph 45(d)).

This Standard shall be applied to those contracts to buy or sell a non-financial item that can be settled net in cash or
another financial instrument, or by exchanging financial instruments, as if the contracts were financial instruments,
with the exception of contracts that were entered into and continue to be held for the purpose of the receipt or
delivery of a non-financial item in accordance with the entity’s expected purchase, sale or usage requirements.
However, this Standard shall be applied to those contracts that an entity designates as measured at fair value
through surplus or deficit in accordance with paragraph 6.

A contract to buy or sell a non-financial item that can be settled net in cash or another financial instrument, or
by exchanging financial instruments, as if the contract was a financial instrument, may be irrevocably designated
as measured at fair value through surplus or deficit even if it was entered into for the purpose of the receipt or
delivery of a non-financial item in accordance with the entity’s expected purchase, sale or usage requirements.
This designation is available only at inception of the contract and only if it eliminates or significantly reduces a
recognition inconsistency (sometimes referred to as an ‘accounting mismatch’) that would otherwise arise from not
recognizing that contract because it is excluded from the scope of this Standard (see paragraph 5).

There are various ways in which a contract to buy or sell a non-financial item can be settled net in cash or another financial
instrument or by exchanging financial instruments. These include:

(a)  When the terms of the contract permit either party to settle it net in cash or another financial instrument or by
exchanging financial instruments;

(b)  When the ability to settle net in cash or another financial instrument, or by exchanging financial instruments, is
not explicit in the terms of the contract, but the entity has a practice of settling similar contracts net in cash or
another financial instrument or by exchanging financial instruments (whether with the counterparty, by entering into
offsetting contracts or by selling the contract before its exercise or lapse);

(¢)  When, for similar contracts, the entity has a practice of taking delivery of the underlying and selling it within a short
period after delivery for the purpose of generating a profit from short-term fluctuations in price or dealer’s margin;
and

(d)  When the non-financial item that is the subject of the contract is readily convertible to cash.
A contract to which (b) or (c) applies is not entered into for the purpose of the receipt or delivery of the non-financial

item in accordance with the entity’s expected purchase, sale or usage requirements and, accordingly, is within the scope
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of this Standard. Other contracts to which paragraph 5 applies are evaluated to determine whether they were entered into
and continue to be held for the purpose of the receipt or delivery of the non-financial item in accordance with the entity’s
expected purchase, sale or usage requirements and, accordingly, whether they are within the scope of this Standard.

8. A written option to buy or sell a non-financial item that can be settled net in cash or another financial instrument, or by
exchanging financial instruments, in accordance with paragraph 7(a) or 7(d) is within the scope of this Standard. Such a
contract cannot be entered into for the purpose of the receipt or delivery of the non-financial item in accordance with the
entity’s expected purchase, sale or usage requirements.

Definitions

9. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

12-month expected credit losses are the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that represent the expected credit
losses that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the
reporting date.

The_amortized cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial
liability is measured at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization
using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for
financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

A credit-impaired financial asset is a financial asset that is credit-impaired when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data about the following events:

(a)  Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b) A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) The lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) Itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;
(e) The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or
(f) The purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event—instead, the combined effect of several events may have
caused financial assets to become credit-impaired.

Credit loss is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to an entity in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the entity expects to receive (i.e., all cash shortfalls), discounted at the original
effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective interest rate for purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets). An entity shall estimate cash flows by considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for
example, prepayment, extension, call and similar options) through the expected life of that financial instrument. The
cash flows that are considered shall include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms. There is a presumption that the expected life of a financial instrument can
be estimated reliably. However, in those rare cases when it is not possible to reliably estimate the expected life of a
financial instrument, the entity shall use the remaining contractual term of the financial instrument.

Credit-adjusted effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the amortized cost of a financial asset that is a purchased
or originated credit-impaired financial asset. When calculating the credit-adjusted effective interest rate, an entity
shall estimate the expected cash flows by considering all contractual terms of the financial asset (for example,
prepayment, extension, call and similar options) and expected credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and
points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate (see
paragraphs AG156-AG158), transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts. There is a presumption
that the cash flows and the expected life of a group of similar financial instruments can be estimated reliably.
However, in those rare cases when it is not possible to reliably estimate the cash flows or the remaining life of a
financial instrument (or group of financial instruments), the entity shall use the contractual cash flows over the full
contractual term of the financial instrument (or group of financial instruments).
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Derecognition is the removal of a previously recognized financial asset or financial liability from an entity’s statement
of financial position.

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract within the scope of this Standard with all three of the
following characteristics.

(a)  Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity
price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided
in the case of a non-financial variable that the variable is not specific to a party to the contract (sometimes
called the ‘underlying’).

(b) It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for
other types of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors.

(c) Itis settled at a future date.

Dividends or similar distributions are distributions to holders of equity instruments in proportion to their holdings
of a particular class of capital.

The effective interest method is the method that is used in the calculation of the amortized cost of a financial asset
or a financial liability and in the allocation and recognition of the interest revenue or interest expense in surplus or
deficit over the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to
the amortized cost of a financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, an entity shall estimate the
expected cash flows by considering all the contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment,
extension, call and similar options) but shall not consider the expected credit losses. The calculation includes all fees
and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate
(see paragraphs AG156-AG158), transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts. There is a presumption
that the cash flows and the expected life of a group of similar financial instruments can be estimated reliably.
However, in those rare cases when it is not possible to reliably estimate the cash flows or the expected life of a
financial instrument (or group of financial instruments), the entity shall use the contractual cash flows over the full
contractual term of the financial instrument (or group of financial instruments).

An expected credit loss is the weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of a default occurring as the
weights.

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original
or modified terms of a debt instrument.

A financial liability at fair value through surplus or deficit is a financial liability that meets one of the following
conditions:

(a) It meets the definition of held for trading.

(b) Upon initial recognition it is designated by the entity as at fair value through surplus or deficit in accordance
with paragraph 46 or 51.

(c) Itis designated either upon initial recognition or subsequently as at fair value through surplus or deficit in
accordance with paragraph 152.

A firm commitment is a binding agreement for the exchange of a specified quantity of resources at a specified price
on a specified future date or dates.

A forecast transaction is an uncommitted but anticipated future transaction.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortized cost of a financial asset, before adjusting for any loss
allowance.

The hedge ratio is the relationship between the quantity of the hedging instrument and the quantity of the hedged
item in terms of their relative weighting.

A held for trading financial instrument is a financial asset or financial liability that:
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(a) Is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term;

(b)  On initial recognition is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and
for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

(c) Is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective
hedging instrument).

An impairment gain or loss is recognized in surplus or deficit in accordance with paragraph 80 and arises from
applying the impairment requirements in paragraphs 73-93.

Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument.

A loss allowance is the allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets measured in accordance with
paragraph 40, lease receivables, the accumulated impairment amount for financial assets measured in accordance
with paragraph 41 and the provision for expected credit losses on loan commitments and financial guarantee
contracts.

A modification gain or loss is the amount arising from adjusting the gross carrying amount of a financial asset to
reflect the renegotiated or modified contractual cash flows. The entity recalculates the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset as the present value of the estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the
renegotiated or modified financial asset that are discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (or
the original credit-adjusted effective interest rate for purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets) or,
when applicable, the revised effective interest rate calculated in accordance with paragraph 139. When estimating
the expected cash flows of a financial asset, an entity shall consider all contractual terms of the financial asset (for
example, prepayment, call and similar options) but shall not consider the expected credit losses, unless the financial
asset is a purchased or originated credit-impaired financial asset, in which case an entity shall also consider the
initial expected credit losses that were considered when calculating the original credit-adjusted effective interest
rate.

A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has failed to make a payment when that payment was contractually
due.

A purchased or originated credit-impaired financial asset is credit-impaired on initial recognition.

The reclassification date is the first day of the first reporting period following the change in management model that
results in an entity reclassifying financial assets.

A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose terms require
delivery of the asset within the time frame established generally by regulation or convention in the marketplace
concerned.

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a
financial asset or financial liability (see paragraph AG163). An incremental cost is one that would not have been
incurred if the entity had not acquired, issued or disposed of the financial instrument.

Terms defined in other IPSAS are used in this Standard with the same meaning as in those Standards, and are
reproduced in the Glossary of Defined Terms published separately. The following terms are defined in either
IPSAS 28 or IPSAS 30, Financial Instruments: Disclosures: credit risk', currency risk, liquidity risk, market risk,
equity instrument, financial asset, financial instrument, financial liability and puttable instrument.

Recognition and Derecognition
Initial Recognition

10. An entity shall recognize a financial asset or a financial liability in its statement of financial position when, and
only when, the entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument (see paragraphs AG15 and
AG16). When an entity first recognizes a financial asset, it shall classify it in accordance with paragraphs 39-44 and
measure it in accordance with paragraphs 57 and 59. When an entity first recognizes a financial liability, it shall
classify it in accordance with paragraphs 45 and 46 and measure it in accordance with paragraph 57.

! This term (as defined in IPSAS 30) is used in the requirements for presenting the effects of changes in credit risk on liabilities designated as at fair value through
surplus or deficit (see paragraph 108).
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Regular Way Purchase or Sale of Financial Assets

11.

A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets shall be recognized and derecognized, as applicable, using trade
date accounting or settlement date accounting (see paragraphs AG17-AG20).

Derecognition of Financial Assets

12.

13.

14.

15.

IPSAS 41

In consolidated financial statements, paragraphs 13-20, AG15, AG16 and AG21-AG38 are applied at a consolidated level.
Hence, an entity first consolidates all controlled entities in accordance with IPSAS 35 and then applies those paragraphs
to the resulting economic entity.

Before evaluating whether, and to what extent, derecognition is appropriate under paragraphs 14-20, an entity
determines whether those paragraphs should be applied to a part of a financial asset (or a part of a group of similar
financial assets) or a financial asset (or a group of similar financial assets) in its entirety, as follows.

(a) Paragraphs 14-20 are applied to a part of a financial asset (or a part of a group of similar financial assets) if,
and only if, the part being considered for derecognition meets one of the following three conditions.

@) The part comprises only specifically identified cash flows from a financial asset (or a group of similar
financial assets). For example, when an entity enters into an interest rate strip whereby the counterparty
obtains the right to the interest cash flows, but not the principal cash flows from a debt instrument,
paragraphs 14-20 are applied to the interest cash flows.

(i) The part comprises only a fully proportionate (pro rata) share of the cash flows from a financial
asset (or a group of similar financial assets). For example, when an entity enters into an arrangement
whereby the counterparty obtains the rights to a 90 percent share of all cash flows of a debt instrument,
paragraphs 14-20 are applied to 90 percent of those cash flows. If there is more than one counterparty,
each counterparty is not required to have a proportionate share of the cash flows provided that the
transferring entity has a fully proportionate share.

(iii) The part comprises only a fully proportionate (pro rata) share of specifically identified cash flows from
a financial asset (or a group of similar financial assets). For example, when an entity enters into an
arrangement whereby the counterparty obtains the rights to a 90 percent share of interest cash flows
from a financial asset, paragraphs 14-20 are applied to 90 percent of those interest cash flows. If there
is more than one counterparty, each counterparty is not required to have a proportionate share of the
specifically identified cash flows provided that the transferring entity has a fully proportionate share.

(b) In all other cases, paragraphs 14-20 are applied to the financial asset in its entirety (or to the group of similar
financial assets in their entirety). For example, when an entity transfers (i) the rights to the first or the last
90 percent of cash collections from a financial asset (or a group of financial assets), or (ii) the rights to 90
percent of the cash flows from a group of receivables, but provides a guarantee to compensate the buyer for
any credit losses up to 8 percent of the principal amount of the receivables, paragraphs 14-20 are applied to
the financial asset (or a group of similar financial assets) in its entirety.

In paragraphs 14-23, the term ‘financial asset’ refers to either a part of a financial asset (or a part of a group of
similar financial assets) as identified in (a) above or, otherwise, a financial asset (or a group of similar financial
assets) in its entirety.

An entity shall derecognize a financial asset when, and only when:
(a) The contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or are waived, or

(b) It transfers the financial asset as set out in paragraphs 15 and 16 and the transfer qualifies for derecognition
in accordance with paragraph 17.

(See paragraph 11 for regular way sales of financial assets.)
An entity transfers a financial asset if, and only if, it either:
(a) Transfers the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the financial asset, or

(b) Retains the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the financial asset, but assumes a contractual
obligation to pay the cash flows to one or more recipients in an arrangement that meets the conditions in
paragraph 16.
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When an entity retains the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of a financial asset (the ‘original asset”), but
assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to one or more entities (the ‘eventual recipients’), the entity
treats the transaction as a transfer of a financial asset if, and only if, all of the following three conditions are met.

(a) The entity has no obligation to pay amounts to the eventual recipients unless it collects equivalent amounts
from the original asset. Short-term advances by the entity with the right of full recovery of the amount lent
plus accrued interest at market rates do not violate this condition.

(b) The entity is prohibited by the terms of the transfer contract from selling or pledging the original asset other
than as security to the eventual recipients for the obligation to pay them cash flows.

(c) The entity has an obligation to remit any cash flows it collects on behalf of the eventual recipients without
material delay. In addition, the entity is not entitled to reinvest such cash flows, except for investments in cash
or cash equivalents (as defined in IPSAS 2, Cash Flow Statements) during the short settlement period from
the collection date to the date of required remittance to the eventual recipients, and interest earned on such
investments is passed to the eventual recipients.

When an entity transfers a financial asset (see paragraph 15), it shall evaluate the extent to which it retains the risks
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset. In this case:

(a) If the entity transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, the entity
shall derecognize the financial asset and recognize separately as assets or liabilities any rights and obligations
created or retained in the transfer.

(b)  If the entity retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, the entity shall
continue to recognize the financial asset.

(c) If the entity neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
asset, the entity shall determine whether it has retained control of the financial asset. In this case:

(1) If the entity has not retained control, it shall derecognize the financial asset and recognize separately
as assets or liabilities any rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer.

(i)  If the entity has retained control, it shall continue to recognize the financial asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement in the financial asset (see paragraph 27).

The transfer of risks and rewards (see paragraph 17) is evaluated by comparing the entity’s exposure, before and after the
transfer, with the variability in the amounts and timing of the net cash flows of the transferred asset. An entity has retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset if its exposure to the variability in the present value
of the future net cash flows from the financial asset does not change significantly as a result of the transfer (e.g., because
the entity has sold a financial asset subject to an agreement to buy it back at a fixed price or the sale price plus a lender’s
return). An entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset if its exposure to
such variability is no longer significant in relation to the total variability in the present value of the future net cash flows
associated with the financial asset (e.g., because the entity has sold a financial asset subject only to an option to buy it
back at its fair value at the time of repurchase or has transferred a fully proportionate share of the cash flows from a larger
financial asset in an arrangement, such as a loan sub-participation, that meets the conditions in paragraph 16).

Often it will be obvious whether the entity has transferred or retained substantially all risks and rewards of ownership and
there will be no need to perform any computations. In other cases, it will be necessary to compute and compare the entity’s
exposure to the variability in the present value of the future net cash flows before and after the transfer. The computation
and comparison are made using as the discount rate an appropriate current market interest rate. All reasonably possible
variability in net cash flows is considered, with greater weight being given to those outcomes that are more likely to occur.

Whether the entity has retained control (see paragraph 17(c)) of the transferred asset depends on the transferee’s ability to
sell the asset. If the transferee has the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party and is able
to exercise that ability unilaterally and without needing to impose additional restrictions on the transfer, the entity has not
retained control. In all other cases, the entity has retained control.

Transfers that Qualify for Derecognition

21.

If an entity transfers a financial asset in a transfer that qualifies for derecognition in its entirety and retains the
right to service the financial asset for a fee, it shall recognize either a servicing asset or a servicing liability for that
servicing contract. If the fee to be received is not expected to compensate the entity adequately for performing the
servicing, a servicing liability for the servicing obligation shall be recognized at its fair value. If the fee to be received
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23.

24.

25.
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is expected to be more than adequate compensation for the servicing, a servicing asset shall be recognized for the
servicing right at an amount determined on the basis of an allocation of the carrying amount of the larger financial
asset in accordance with paragraph 24.

If, as a result of a transfer, a financial asset is derecognized in its entirety but the transfer results in the entity
obtaining a new financial asset or assuming a new financial liability, or a servicing liability, the entity shall recognize
the new financial asset, financial liability or servicing liability at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between:

(@) The carrying amount (measured at the date of derecognition); and

(b)  The consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed)
shall be recognized in surplus or deficit.

If the transferred asset is part of a larger financial asset (e.g., when an entity transfers interest cash flows that are
part of a debt instrument, see paragraph 13(a)) and the part transferred qualifies for derecognition in its entirety,
the previous carrying amount of the larger financial asset shall be allocated between the part that continues to be
recognized and the part that is derecognized, on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the
transfer. For this purpose, a retained servicing asset shall be treated as a part that continues to be recognized. The
difference between:

(@) The carrying amount (measured at the date of derecognition) allocated to the part derecognized; and

(b)  The consideration received for the part derecognized (including any new asset obtained less any new liability
assumed)

shall be recognized in surplus or deficit.

When an entity allocates the previous carrying amount of a larger financial asset between the part that continues to be
recognized and the part that is derecognized, the fair value of the part that continues to be recognized needs to be measured.
When the entity has a history of selling parts similar to the part that continues to be recognized or other market transactions
exist for such parts, recent prices of actual transactions provide the best estimate of its fair value. When there are no price
quotes or recent market transactions to support the fair value of the part that continues to be recognized, the best estimate of
the fair value is the difference between the fair value of the larger financial asset as a whole and the consideration received
from the transferee for the part that is derecognized.

Transfers that do not Qualify for Derecognition

26.

If a transfer does not result in derecognition because the entity has retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the transferred asset, the entity shall continue to recognize the transferred asset in its entirety and
shall recognize a financial liability for the consideration received. In subsequent periods, the entity shall recognize
any revenue on the transferred asset and any expense incurred on the financial liability.

Continuing Involvement in Transferred Assets

27.

IPSAS 41

If an entity neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred asset,
and retains control of the transferred asset, the entity continues to recognize the transferred asset to the extent of
its continuing involvement. The extent of the entity’s continuing involvement in the transferred asset is the extent
to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset. For example:

(a)  When the entity’s continuing involvement takes the form of guaranteeing the transferred asset, the extent of
the entity’s continuing involvement is the lower of (i) the amount of the asset and (ii) the maximum amount of
the consideration received that the entity could be required to repay (‘the guarantee amount’).

(b) When the entity’s continuing involvement takes the form of a written or purchased option (or both) on the
transferred asset, the extent of the entity’s continuing involvement is the amount of the transferred asset
that the entity may repurchase. However, in the case of a written put option on an asset that is measured
at fair value, the extent of the entity’s continuing involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the
transferred asset and the option exercise price (see paragraph AG34).

(c)  When the entity’s continuing involvement takes the form of a cash-settled option or similar provision on the
transferred asset, the extent of the entity’s continuing involvement is measured in the same way as that which
results from non-cash settled options as set out in (b) above.
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When an entity continues to recognize an asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, the entity also recognizes
an associated liability. Despite the other measurement requirements in this Standard, the transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the entity has retained.
The associated liability is measured in such a way that the net carrying amount of the transferred asset and the
associated liability is:

(@) The amortized cost of the rights and obligations retained by the entity, if the transferred asset is measured at
amortized cost; or

(b) Equal to the fair value of the rights and obligations retained by the entity when measured on a stand-alone
basis, if the transferred asset is measured at fair value.

The entity shall continue to recognize any revenue arising on the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and shall recognize any expense incurred on the associated liability.

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, recognized changes in the fair value of the transferred asset and the
associated liability are accounted for consistently with each other in accordance with paragraph 101, and shall not
be offset.

If an entity’s continuing involvement is in only a part of a financial asset (e.g., when an entity retains an option
to repurchase part of a transferred asset, or retains a residual interest that does not result in the retention of
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the entity retains control), the entity allocates the previous
carrying amount of the financial asset between the part it continues to recognize under continuing involvement, and
the part it no longer recognizes on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. For
this purpose, the requirements of paragraph 25 apply. The difference between:

(a)  The carrying amount (measured at the date of derecognition) allocated to the part that is no longer recognized; and
(b)  The consideration received for the part no longer recognized
shall be recognized in surplus or deficit.

If the transferred asset is measured at amortized cost, the option in this Standard to designate a financial liability as at fair
value through surplus or deficit is not applicable to the associated liability.

All Transfers

33.

34.

If a transferred asset continues to be recognized, the asset and the associated liability shall not be offset. Similarly,
the entity shall not offset any revenue arising from the transferred asset with any expense incurred on the associated
liability (see paragraph 47 of IPSAS 28).

If a transferor provides non-cash collateral (such as debt or equity instruments) to the transferee, the accounting
for the collateral by the transferor and the transferee depends on whether the transferee has the right to sell or
repledge the collateral and on whether the transferor has defaulted. The transferor and transferee shall account for
the collateral as follows:

(a) If the transferee has the right by contract or custom to sell or repledge the collateral, then the transferor shall
reclassify that asset in its statement of financial position (e.g., as a loaned asset, pledged equity instruments or
repurchase receivable) separately from other assets.

(b) If the transferee sells collateral pledged to it, it shall recognize the proceeds from the sale and a liability
measured at fair value for its obligation to return the collateral.

(c)  If the transferor defaults under the terms of the contract and is no longer entitled to redeem the collateral, it
shall derecognize the collateral, and the transferee shall recognize the collateral as its asset initially measured
at fair value or, if it has already sold the collateral, derecognize its obligation to return the collateral.

(d) Except as provided in (c), the transferor shall continue to carry the collateral as its asset, and the transferee
shall not recognize the collateral as an asset.

Derecognition of Financial Liabilities

35.

An entity shall remove a financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) from its statement of financial position
when, and only when, it is extinguished—i.e., when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, waived,
canceled or expires.
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37.
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An exchange between an existing borrower and lender of debt instruments with substantially different terms shall
be accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial
liability. Similarly, a substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial liability or a part of it (whether or
not attributable to the financial difficulty of the debtor) shall be accounted for as an extinguishment of the original
financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.

The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability (or part of a financial liability) extinguished or
transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, shall be recognized in surplus or deficit. Where an obligation is waived by the lender or assumed by a third
party as part of a non-exchange transaction, an entity applies IPSAS 23.

If an entity repurchases a part of a financial liability, the entity shall allocate the previous carrying amount of the financial
liability between the part that continues to be recognized and the part that is derecognized based on the relative fair
values of those parts on the date of the repurchase. The difference between (a) the carrying amount allocated to the part
derecognized and (b) the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, for the part
derecognized shall be recognized in surplus or deficit.

Classification

Classification of Financial Assets

39.

40.

41.

42.

43.

IPSAS 41

Unless paragraph 44 applies, an entity shall classify financial assets as subsequently measured at amortized cost,
fair value through net assets/equity or fair value through surplus or deficit on the basis of both:

(a)  The entity’s management model for financial assets and
(b)  The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.
A financial asset shall be measured at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met:

(a) The financial asset is held within a management model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows and

(b)  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Paragraphs AG48—-AG88 provide guidance on how to apply these conditions.

A financial asset shall be measured at fair value through net assets/equity if both of the following conditions are
met:

(a) The financial asset is held within a management model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and

(b)  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Paragraphs AG48—-AG88 provide guidance on how to apply these conditions.
For the purpose of applying paragraphs 40(b)and 41(b):

a Principal is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition. Paragraph AG64 provides additional
P g grap p
guidance on the meaning of principal.

(b) Interest consists of consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk associated with the principal
amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs, as well as
a profit margin. Paragraphs AG63 and AG67-AG71 provide additional guidance on the meaning of interest,
including the meaning of the time value of money.

A financial asset shall be measured at fair value through surplus or deficit unless it is measured at amortized cost in
accordance with paragraph 40 or at fair value through net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 41. However
an entity may make an irrevocable election at initial recognition for particular investments in equity instruments
that would otherwise be measured at fair value through surplus or deficit to present subsequent changes in fair
value in net assets/equity (see paragraphs 106-107).
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Option to Designate a Financial Asset at Fair Value through Surplus or Deficit

44,

Despite paragraphs 39-43, an entity may, at initial recognition, irrevocably designate a financial asset as measured
at fair value through surplus or deficit if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency (sometimes referred to as an ‘accounting mismatch’) that would otherwise arise from measuring
assets or liabilities or recognizing the gains and losses on them on different bases (see paragraphs AG91-AG94).

Classification of Financial Liabilities

45.

An entity shall classify all financial liabilities as subsequently measured at amortized cost, except for:

(a) Financial liabilities at fair value through surplus or deficit. Such liabilities, including derivatives that are
liabilities, shall be subsequently measured at fair value.

(b) Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when
the continuing involvement approach applies. Paragraphs 26 and 28 apply to the measurement of such
financial liabilities.

(c) Financial guarantee contracts. After initial recognition, an issuer of such a contract shall (unless
paragraph 45(a) or (b) applies) subsequently measure it at the higher of:

1) The amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with paragraphs 73-93; and

(i)  The amount initially recognized (see paragraph 57) less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of
amortization recognized in accordance with the principles of IPSAS 9.

(d) Commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate. An issuer of such a commitment shall (unless
paragraph 45(a) applies) subsequently measure it at the higher of:

1) The amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with paragraphs 73-93; and

(i)  The amount initially recognized (see paragraph 57) less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of
amortization recognized in accordance with the principles of IPSAS 9.

(e) Contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a public sector combination to which IPSAS 40
applies. Such contingent consideration shall subsequently be measured at fair value with changes recognized
in surplus or deficit.

Option to Designate a Financial Liability at Fair Value through Surplus or Deficit

46. An entity may, at initial recognition, irrevocably designate a financial liability as measured at fair value through
surplus or deficit when permitted by paragraph 51, or when doing so results in more relevant information, because
either:

(a) It eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (sometimes referred to as
‘an accounting mismatch’) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognizing the
gains and losses on them on different bases (see paragraphs AG91-AG94); or

(b) A group of financial liabilities or financial assets and financial liabilities is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy, and
information about the group is provided internally on that basis to the entity’s key management personnel (as
defined in IPSAS 20, Related Party Disclosures), for example, the entity’s governing body and chief executive
officer (see paragraphs AG95-AG98).

Embedded Derivatives

47. An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid contract that also includes a non-derivative host—with the effect

that some of the cash flows of the combined instrument vary in a way similar to a stand-alone derivative. An embedded
derivative causes some or all of the cash flows that otherwise would be required by the contract to be modified according
to a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates,
credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that the variable is not
specific to a party to the contract. A derivative that is attached to a financial instrument but is contractually transferable
independently of that instrument, or has a different counterparty, is not an embedded derivative, but a separate financial
instrument.
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Hybrid Contracts with Financial Asset Hosts

48. If a hybrid contract contains a host that is an asset within the scope of this Standard, an entity shall apply the
requirements in paragraphs 39-44 to the entire hybrid contract.

Other Hybrid Contracts

49. If a hybrid contract contains a host that is not an asset within the scope of this Standard, an embedded derivative

shall be separated from the host and accounted for as a derivative under this Standard if, and only if:

(@) The economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic
characteristics and risks of the host (see paragraphs AG103 and AG106);

(b) A separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a
derivative; and

(c) Thehybrid contractis not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in surplus or deficit (i.e.,
a derivative that is embedded in a financial liability at fair value through surplus or deficit is not separated).

50. If an embedded derivative is separated, the host contract shall be accounted for in accordance with the appropriate
Standards. This Standard does not address whether an embedded derivative shall be presented separately in the
statement of financial position.

51. Despite paragraphs 49 and 50, if a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives and the host is not an asset
within the scope of this Standard, an entity may designate the entire hybrid contract as at fair value through surplus
or deficit unless:

(@) The embedded derivative(s) do(es) not significantly modify the cash flows that otherwise would be required
by the contract; or

(b) It is clear with little or no analysis when a similar hybrid instrument is first considered that separation of
the embedded derivative(s) is prohibited, such as a prepayment option embedded in a loan that permits the
holder to prepay the loan for approximately its amortized cost.

52. If an entity is required by this Standard to separate an embedded derivative from its host, but is unable to measure
the embedded derivative separately either at acquisition or at the end of a subsequent financial reporting period, it
shall designate the entire hybrid contract as at fair value through surplus or deficit.

53. If an entity is unable to measure reliably the fair value of an embedded derivative on the basis of its terms and conditions,
the fair value of the embedded derivative is the difference between the fair value of the hybrid contract and the fair value
of the host. If the entity is unable to measure the fair value of the embedded derivative using this method, paragraph 52
applies and the hybrid contract is designated as at fair value through surplus or deficit.

Reclassification

54. When, and only when, an entity changes its management model for financial assets it shall reclassify all affected
financial assets in accordance with paragraphs 39—-43. See paragraphs 94-100, AG111-AG113 and AG220-AG221
for additional guidance on reclassifying financial assets.

55. An entity shall not reclassify any financial liability.
56. The following changes in circumstances are not reclassifications for the purposes of paragraphs 54-55:

(a)  An item that was previously a designated and effective hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge or net investment
hedge no longer qualifies as such;

(b) Anitem becomes a designated and effective hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge or net investment hedge; and

(¢)  Changes in measurement in accordance with paragraphs 152—155.

Measurement
Initial Measurement

57. Except for short-term receivables and payables within the scope of paragraph 60, at initial recognition, an entity
shall measure a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or
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59.

60.
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financial liability not at fair value through surplus or deficit, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability.

However, if the fair value of the financial asset or financial liability at initial recognition differs from the transaction
price, an entity shall apply paragraph AG117.

When an entity uses settlement date accounting for an asset that is subsequently measured at amortized cost, the asset is
recognized initially at its fair value on the trade date (see paragraphs AG17-AG20).

Despite the requirement in paragraph 57, at initial recognition, an entity may measure short-term receivables and payables
at the original invoice amount if the effect of discounting is immaterial.

Subsequent Measurement of Financial Assets

61.

62.

63.

After initial recognition, an entity shall measure a financial asset in accordance with paragraphs 39-44 at:
(a) Amortized cost;

(b)  Fair value through net assets/equity; or

(¢) Fair value through surplus or deficit.

An entity shall apply the impairment requirements in paragraphs 73-93 to financial assets that are measured at
amortized cost in accordance with paragraph 40 and to financial assets that are measured at fair value through net
assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 41.

An entity shall apply the hedge accounting requirements in paragraphs 137-143 (and, if applicable, paragraphs 99—
105 of IPSAS 29, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement) for the fair value hedge accounting for a
portfolio hedge of interest rate risk) to a financial asset that is designated as a hedged item.’

Subsequent Measurement of Financial Liabilities

64.
65.

After initial recognition, an entity shall measure a financial liability in accordance with paragraphs 45-46.

An entity shall apply the hedge accounting requirements in paragraphs 137-143 (and, if applicable, paragraphs 99—
105 of IPSAS 29 for the fair value hedge accounting for a portfolio hedge of interest rate risk) to a financial liability
that is designated as a hedged item.

Fair Value Measurement Considerations

66.

67.

68.

In determining the fair value of a financial asset or a financial liability for the purpose of applying this Standard, IPSAS 28
or IPSAS 30, an entity shall apply paragraphs AG144-AG155 of Appendix A.

The best evidence of fair value is quoted prices in an active market. If the market for a financial instrument is not
active, an entity establishes fair value by using a valuation technique. The objective of using a valuation technique is to
establish what the transaction price would have been on the measurement date in an arm’s length exchange motivated
by normal operating considerations. Valuation techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions between
knowledgeable, willing parties, if available, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially
the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models. If there is a valuation technique commonly used
by market participants to price the instrument and that technique has been demonstrated to provide reliable estimates
of prices obtained in actual market transactions, the entity uses that technique. The chosen valuation technique makes
maximum use of market inputs and relies as little as possible on entity-specific inputs. It incorporates all factors that
market participants would consider in setting a price and is consistent with accepted economic methodologies for pricing
financial instruments. Periodically, an entity calibrates the valuation technique and tests it for validity using prices from
any observable current market transactions in the same instrument (i.e., without modification or repackaging) or based on
any available observable market data.

The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature (e.g., a demand deposit) is not less than the amount payable on
demand, discounted from the first date that the amount could be required to be paid.

2

In accordance with paragraph 179, an entity may choose as its accounting policy to continue to apply the hedge accounting requirements in IPSAS 29 instead
of the requirements in paragraphs 113-155 of this Standard. If an entity has made this election, the references in this Standard to particular hedge accounting
requirements in paragraphs 113-155 are not relevant. Instead the entity applies the relevant hedge accounting requirements in IPSAS 29.
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Amortized Cost Measurement

Financial Assets

Effective Interest Method

69. Interest revenue shall be calculated by using the effective interest method (see paragraphs 9 and AG156-AG162).
This shall be calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset
except for:

(a) Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets. For those financial assets, the entity shall apply the
credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the financial asset from initial recognition.

(b) Financial assets that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets but subsequently have
become credit-impaired financial assets. For those financial assets, the entity shall apply the effective interest
rate to the amortized cost of the financial asset in subsequent reporting periods.

70. An entity that, in a reporting period, calculates interest revenue by applying the effective interest method to the amortized
cost of a financial asset in accordance with paragraph 69(b), shall, in subsequent reporting periods, calculate the interest
revenue by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount if the credit risk on the financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired and the improvement can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the requirements in paragraph 69(b) were applied (such as an improvement in the borrower’s credit
rating).

Modification of Contractual Cash Flows

71. When the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are renegotiated or otherwise modified and the renegotiation or
modification does not result in the derecognition of that financial asset in accordance with this Standard, an entity shall
recalculate the gross carrying amount of the financial asset and shall recognize a modification gain or loss in surplus or
deficit. The gross carrying amount of the financial asset shall be recalculated as the present value of the renegotiated or
modified contractual cash flows that are discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted
effective interest rate for purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets) or, when applicable, the revised effective
interest rate calculated in accordance with paragraph 139. Any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the
modified financial asset and are amortized over the remaining term of the modified financial asset.

Write-off

72. An entity shall directly reduce the gross carrying amount of a financial asset when the entity has no reasonable expectations
of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event (see
paragraph AG37(r)).

Changes in the Basis for Determining the Contractual Cash Flows as a Result of Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

72A.  An entity shall apply paragraphs 72B—72E to a financial asset or financial liability if, and only if, the basis for determining
the contractual cash flows of that financial asset or financial liability changes as a result of interest rate benchmark reform.
For this purpose, the term ‘interest rate benchmark reform’ refers to the market-wide reform of an interest rate benchmark
as described in paragraph 155B.

72B.  The basis for determining the contractual cash flows of a financial asset or financial liability can change:

(a) By amending the contractual terms specified at the initial recognition of the financial instrument (for example, the
contractual terms are amended to replace the referenced interest rate benchmark with an alternative benchmark rate);

(b) In a way that was not considered by—or contemplated in—the contractual terms at the initial recognition of the
financial instrument, without amending the contractual terms (for example, the method for calculating the interest
rate benchmark is altered without amending the contractual terms); and/or

(c) Because of the activation of an existing contractual term (for example, an existing fallback clause is triggered).

72C.  As a practical expedient, an entity shall apply paragraph AG160 to account for a change in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows of a financial asset or financial liability that is required by interest rate benchmark reform. This
practical expedient applies only to such changes and only to the extent the change is required by interest rate benchmark
reform (see also paragraph 72E). For this purpose, a change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows is
required by interest rate benchmark reform if, and only if, both these conditions are met:
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(a)  The change is necessary as a direct consequence of interest rate benchmark reform; and

(b) The new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e., the
basis immediately preceding the change).

Examples of changes that give rise to a new basis for determining the contractual cash flows that is economically equivalent
to the previous basis (i.e., the basis immediately preceding the change) are:

(a)  The replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark used to determine the contractual cash flows of a financial
asset or financial liability with an alternative benchmark rate—or the implementation of such a reform of an interest
rate benchmark by altering the method used to calculate the interest rate benchmark—with the addition of a fixed
spread necessary to compensate for the basis difference between the existing interest rate benchmark and the
alternative benchmark rate;

(b) Changes to the reset period, reset dates or the number of days between coupon payment dates in order to implement
the reform of an interest rate benchmark; and

(¢)  The addition of a fallback provision to the contractual terms of a financial asset or financial liability to enable any
change described in (a) and (b) above to be implemented.

If changes are made to a financial asset or financial liability in addition to changes to the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows required by interest rate benchmark reform, an entity shall first apply the practical expedient in paragraph 72C
to the changes required by interest rate benchmark reform. The entity shall then apply the applicable requirements in this
Standard to any additional changes to which the practical expedient does not apply. If the additional change does not result
in the derecognition of the financial asset or financial liability, the entity shall apply paragraph 71 or paragraph AG161, as
applicable, to account for that additional change. If the additional change results in the derecognition of the financial asset
or financial liability, the entity shall apply the derecognition requirements.

Impairment

Recognition of Expected Credit Losses

General Approach

73.

74,

75.

76.

77.

78.

79.

An entity shall recognize a loss allowance for expected credit losses on a financial asset that is measured in accordance
with paragraphs 40 or 41, a lease receivable, or a loan commitment and a financial guarantee contract to which the
impairment requirements apply in accordance with paragraphs 2(g), 45(c) or 45(d).

An entity shall apply the impairment requirements for the recognition and measurement of a loss allowance for financial
assets that are measured at fair value through net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 41. However, the loss
allowance shall be recognized in net assets/equity and shall not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in the
statement of financial position.

Subject to paragraphs 85-88, at each reporting date, an entity shall measure the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on that financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition.

The objective of the impairment requirements is to recognize lifetime expected credit losses for all financial instruments
for which there have been significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition — whether assessed on an individual
or collective basis — considering all reasonable and supportable information, including that which is forward-looking.

Subject to paragraphs 85-88, if, at the reporting date, the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, an entity shall measure the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an
amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses.

For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the date that the entity becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment shall be considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of applying the impairment
requirements.

If an entity has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that paragraph 75 is no longer met, the entity
shall measure the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses at the current reporting date.
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An entity shall recognize in surplus or deficit, as an impairment gain or loss, the amount of expected credit losses (or
reversal) that is required to adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date to the amount that is required to be recognized
in accordance with this Standard.

Determining Significant Increases in Credit Risk

81.

82.

83.

At each reporting date, an entity shall assess whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment, an entity shall use the change in the risk of a default occurring over
the expected life of the financial instrument instead of the change in the amount of expected credit losses. To make that
assessment, an entity shall compare the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and consider reasonable and
supportable information, that is available without undue cost or effort, that is indicative of significant increases in credit
risk since initial recognition.

An entity may assume that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition
if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date (see paragraphs AG186—AG188).

If reasonable and supportable forward-looking information is available without undue cost or effort, an entity cannot
rely solely on past due information when determining whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. However, when information that is more forward-looking than past due status (either on an individual or
a collective basis) is not available without undue cost or effort, an entity may use past due information to determine
whether there have been significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition. Regardless of the way in which
an entity assesses significant increases in credit risk, there is a rebuttable presumption that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due. An entity can rebut this presumption if the entity has reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort, that demonstrates that the credit risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition even though the contractual payments are more than 30 days past due. When an entity determines
that there have been significant increases in credit risk before contractual payments are more than 30 days past due,
the rebuttable presumption does not apply.

Modified Financial Assets

84.

If the contractual cash flows on a financial asset have been renegotiated or modified and the financial asset was not
derecognized, an entity shall assess whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk of the financial instrument
in accordance with paragraph 75 by comparing:

(a)  Therisk of a default occurring at the reporting date (based on the modified contractual terms); and

(b) The risk of a default occurring at initial recognition (based on the original, unmodified contractual terms).

Purchased or Originated Credit-Impaired Financial Assets

85.

86.

Despite paragraphs 75 and 77, at the reporting date, an entity shall only recognize the cumulative changes in
lifetime expected credit losses since initial recognition as a loss allowance for purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets.

At each reporting date, an entity shall recognize in surplus or deficit the amount of the change in lifetime expected credit
losses as an impairment gain or loss. An entity shall recognize favorable changes in lifetime expected credit losses as an
impairment gain, even if the lifetime expected credit losses are less than the amount of expected credit losses that were
included in the estimated cash flows on initial recognition.

Simplified Approach for Receivables

87.

IPSAS 41

Despite paragraphs 75 and 77, an entity shall always measure the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime
expected credit losses for:

(a) Receivables that result from exchange transactions that are within the scope of IPSAS 9 and non-exchange
transactions within the scope of IPSAS 23.

(b) Lease receivables that result from transactions that are within the scope of IPSAS 43, if the entity chooses
as its accounting policy to measure the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.
That accounting policy shall be applied to all lease receivables but may be applied separately to finance and
operating lease receivables.
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An entity may select its accounting policy for trade receivables and lease receivables independently of each other.

The requirements for purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (see paragraphs 9 and 85 to 86) do not apply
to short-term receivables.

Measurement of Expected Credit Losses

90.

91.

92.

93.

An entity shall measure expected credit losses of a financial instrument in a way that reflects:
(a) Anunbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;
(b)  The time value of money; and

(c) Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

When measuring expected credit losses, an entity need not necessarily identify every possible scenario. However, it shall
consider the risk or probability that a credit loss occurs by reflecting the possibility that a credit loss occurs and the
possibility that no credit loss occurs, even if the possibility of a credit loss occurring is very low.

The maximum period to consider when measuring expected credit losses is the maximum contractual period (including
extension options) over which the entity is exposed to credit risk and not a longer period, even if that longer period is
consistent with business practice.

However, some financial instruments include both a loan and an undrawn commitment component and the entity’s
contractual ability to demand repayment and cancel the undrawn commitment does not limit the entity’s exposure to credit
losses to the contractual notice period. For such financial instruments, and only those financial instruments, the entity shall
measure expected credit losses over the period that the entity is exposed to credit risk and expected credit losses would
not be mitigated by credit risk management actions, even if that period extends beyond the maximum contractual period.

Reclassification of Financial Assets

94.

95.

96.

97.

98.

99.

If an entity reclassifies financial assets in accordance with paragraph 54, it shall apply the reclassification
prospectively from the reclassification date. The entity shall not restate any previously recognized gains, losses
(including impairment gains or losses) or interest. Paragraphs 95-100 set out the requirements for reclassifications.

If an entity reclassifies a financial asset out of the amortized cost measurement category and into the fair value
through surplus or deficit measurement category, its fair value is measured at the reclassification date. Any gain or
loss arising from a difference between the previous amortized cost of the financial asset and fair value is recognized
in surplus or deficit.

If an entity reclassifies a financial asset out of the fair value through surplus or deficit measurement category and
into the amortized cost measurement category, its fair value at the reclassification date becomes its new gross
carrying amount. (See paragraph AG221 for guidance on determining an effective interest rate and a loss allowance
at the reclassification date.)

If an entity reclassifies a financial asset out of the amortized cost measurement category and into the fair value
through net assets/equity measurement category, its fair value is measured at the reclassification date. Any gain or
loss arising from a difference between the previous amortized cost of the financial asset and fair value is recognized
in net assets/equity. The effective interest rate and the measurement of expected credit losses are not adjusted as a
result of the reclassification. (See paragraph AG220.)

If an entity reclassifies a financial asset out of the fair value through net assets/equity measurement category and
into the amortized cost measurement category, the financial asset is reclassified at its fair value at the reclassification
date. However, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in net assets/equity is removed from net assets/
equity and adjusted against the fair value of the financial asset at the reclassification date. As a result, the financial
asset is measured at the reclassification date as if it had always been measured at amortized cost. This adjustment
affects net assets/equity but does not affect surplus or deficit and therefore is not a reclassification adjustment (see
IPSAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements). The effective interest rate and the measurement of expected credit
losses are not adjusted as a result of the reclassification. (See paragraph AG220.)

If an entity reclassifies a financial asset out of the fair value through surplus or deficit measurement category and
into the fair value through net assets/equity measurement category, the financial asset continues to be measured at
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fair value. (See paragraph AG221 for guidance on determining an effective interest rate and a loss allowance at the
reclassification date.)

If an entity reclassifies a financial asset out of the fair value through net assets/equity measurement category and
into the fair value through surplus or deficit measurement category, the financial asset continues to be measured
at fair value. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in net assets/equity is reclassified from net assets/
equity to surplus or deficit as a reclassification adjustment (see IPSAS 1) at the reclassification date.

Gains and Losses

101.

102.

103.

104.

105.

A gain or loss on a financial asset or financial liability that is measured at fair value shall be recognized in surplus
or deficit unless:

(a) Itis part of a hedging relationship (see paragraphs 137-143 and, if applicable, paragraphs 99-105 of IPSAS 29
for the fair value hedge accounting for a portfolio hedge of interest rate risk);

(b) It is an investment in an equity instrument and the entity has elected to present gains and losses on that
investment in net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 106;

(c) [Itisafinancial liability designated as at fair value through surplus or deficit and the entity is required to present
the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 108; or

(d) It is a financial asset measured at fair value through net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 41
and the entity is required to recognize some changes in fair value in net assets/equity in accordance with
paragraph 111.

Dividends or similar distributions are recognized in surplus or deficit only when:

(a)  The entity’s right to receive payment of the dividend is established;

(b) It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the entity; and
(c)  The amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

A gain or loss on a financial asset that is measured at amortized cost and is not part of a hedging relationship (see
paragraphs 137-143 and, if applicable, paragraphs 99-105 of IPSAS 29 for the fair value hedge accounting for a
portfolio hedge of interest rate risk) shall be recognized in surplus or deficit when the financial asset is derecognized,
reclassified in accordance with paragraph 95, through the amortization process or in order to recognize impairment
gains or losses. An entity shall apply paragraphs 95 and 97 if it reclassifies financial assets out of the amortized
cost measurement category. A gain or loss on a financial liability that is measured at amortized cost and is not part
of a hedging relationship (see paragraphs 137-143 and, if applicable, paragraphs 99-105 of IPSAS 29 for the fair
value hedge accounting for a portfolio hedge of interest rate risk) shall be recognized in surplus or deficit when the
financial liability is derecognized and through the amortization process. (See paragraph AG224 for guidance on
foreign exchange gains or losses.)

A gain or loss on financial assets or financial liabilities that are hedged items in a hedging relationship shall be
recognized in accordance with paragraphs 137-143 and, if applicable, paragraphs 99-105 of IPSAS 29 for the fair
value hedge accounting for a portfolio hedge of interest rate risk.

If an entity recognizes financial assets using settlement date accounting (see paragraphs 11, AG17 and AG20), any
change in the fair value of the asset to be received during the period between the trade date and the settlement date
is not recognized for assets measured at amortized cost. For assets measured at fair value, however, the change
in fair value shall be recognized in surplus or deficit or in net assets/equity, as appropriate in accordance with
paragraph 101. The trade date shall be considered the date of initial recognition for the purposes of applying the
impairment requirements.

Investments in Equity Instruments

106.

107.

IPSAS 41

At initial recognition, an entity may make an irrevocable election to present in net assets/equity subsequent
changes in the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument within the scope of this Standard that is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a public sector combination. (See
paragraph AG226 for guidance on foreign exchange gains or losses.)

If an entity makes the election in paragraph 106, it shall recognize in surplus or deficit dividends or similar distributions
from that investment in accordance with paragraph 102.
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Liabilities Designated as at Fair Value through Surplus or Deficit

108.

109.

110.

An entity shall present a gain or loss on a financial liability that is designated as at fair value through surplus or
deficit in accordance with paragraph 46 or paragraph 51 as follows:

(a) The amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk
of that liability shall be presented in net assets/equity (see paragraphs AG236-AG243), and

(b) The remaining amount of change in the fair value of the liability shall be presented in surplus or deficit

unless the treatment of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk described in (a) would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in surplus or deficit (in which case paragraph 109 applies). Paragraphs AG228-AG230 and
AG233-AG235 provide guidance on determining whether an accounting mismatch would be created or enlarged.

If the requirements in paragraph 108 would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in surplus or deficit, an
entity shall present all gains or losses on that liability (including the effects of changes in the credit risk of that
liability) in surplus or deficit.

Despite the requirements in paragraphs 108 and 109, an entity shall present in surplus or deficit all gains and losses on loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are designated as at fair value through surplus or deficit.

Assets Measured at Fair Value through Net Assets/Equity

111.

112.

A gain or loss on a financial asset measured at fair value through net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 41
shall be recognized in net assets/equity, except for impairment gains or losses (see paragraphs 73-93) and foreign
exchange gains and losses (see paragraphs AG224-AG225), until the financial asset is derecognized or reclassified.
When the financial asset is derecognized the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in net assets/equity is
reclassified from net assets/equity to surplus or deficit as a reclassification adjustment (see paragraphs 125A-125C of
IPSAS 1). If the financial asset is reclassified out of the fair value through net assets/equity measurement category, the
entity shall account for the cumulative gain or loss that was previously recognized in net assets/equity in accordance
with paragraphs 98 and 100. Interest calculated using the effective interest method is recognized in surplus or deficit.

As described in paragraph 111, if a financial asset is measured at fair value through net assets/equity in accordance
with paragraph 41, the amounts that are recognized in surplus or deficit are the same as the amounts that would
have been recognized in surplus or deficit if the financial asset had been measured at amortized cost.

Hedge Accounting

Objective and Scope of Hedge Accounting

113.

114.

115.

The objective of hedge accounting is to represent, in the financial statements, the effect of an entity’s risk management
activities that use financial instruments to manage exposures arising from particular risks that could affect surplus or deficit
(or net assets/equity, in the case of investments in equity instruments for which an entity has elected to present changes
in fair value in net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 106). This approach aims to convey the context of hedging
instruments for which hedge accounting is applied in order to allow insight into their purpose and effect.

An entity may choose to designate a hedging relationship between a hedging instrument and a hedged item in accordance
with paragraphs 116—128 and AG244-AG274. For hedging relationships that meet the qualifying criteria, an entity shall
account for the gain or loss on the hedging instrument and the hedged item in accordance with paragraphs 130-143 and
AG294-AG321. When the hedged item is a group of items, an entity shall comply with the additional requirements in
paragraphs 146—151 and AG333-AG348.

For a fair value hedge of the interest rate exposure of a portfolio of financial assets or financial liabilities (and only for
such a hedge), an entity may apply the hedge accounting requirements in IPSAS 29 instead of those in this Standard. In
that case, the entity must also apply the specific requirements for the fair value hedge accounting for a portfolio hedge of
interest rate risk and designate as the hedged item a portion that is a currency amount (see paragraphs 91, 100 and AG157—
AG175 of IPSAS 29).

Hedging Instruments

Qualifying Instruments

116.

A derivative measured at fair value through surplus or deficit may be designated as a hedging instrument, except
for some written options (see paragraph AG247).
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A non-derivative financial asset or a non-derivative financial liability measured at fair value through surplus or
deficit may be designated as a hedging instrument unless it is a financial liability designated as at fair value through
surplus or deficit for which the amount of its change in fair value that is attributable to changes in the credit risk
of that liability is presented in net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 108. For a hedge of foreign currency
risk, the foreign currency risk component of a non-derivative financial asset or a non-derivative financial liability
may be designated as a hedging instrument provided that it is not an investment in an equity instrument for which
an entity has elected to present changes in fair value in net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 106.

For hedge accounting purposes, only contracts with a party external to the reporting entity (i.e., external to the
economic entity or individual entity that is being reported on) can be designated as hedging instruments.

Designation of Hedging Instruments

119.

120.

121.

A qualifying instrument must be designated in its entirety as a hedging instrument. The only exceptions permitted are:

(a)  Separating the intrinsic value and time value of an option contract and designating as the hedging instrument only the
change in intrinsic value of an option and not the change in its time value (see paragraphs 144 and AG322-AG326);

(b)  Separating the forward element and the spot element of a forward contract and designating as the hedging instrument
only the change in the value of the spot element of a forward contract and not the forward element; similarly, the
foreign currency basis spread may be separated and excluded from the designation of a financial instrument as the
hedging instrument (see paragraphs 145 and AG327-AG332); and

(c) A proportion of the entire hedging instrument, such as 50 percent of the nominal amount, may be designated as the
hedging instrument in a hedging relationship. However, a hedging instrument may not be designated for a part of its
change in fair value that results from only a portion of the time period during which the hedging instrument remains
outstanding.

An entity may view in combination, and jointly designate as the hedging instrument, any combination of the following
(including those circumstances in which the risk or risks arising from some hedging instruments offset those arising from
others):

(a) Derivatives or a proportion of them; and
(b)  Non-derivatives or a proportion of them.

However, a derivative instrument that combines a written option and a purchased option (for example, an interest rate
collar) does not qualify as a hedging instrument if it is, in effect, a net written option at the date of designation (unless it
qualifies in accordance with paragraph AG247). Similarly, two or more instruments (or proportions of them) may be jointly
designated as the hedging instrument only if, in combination, they are not, in effect, a net written option at the date of
designation (unless it qualifies in accordance with paragraph AG247).

Hedged Items

Qualifying Items

122.

123.
124.
125.

IPSAS 41

A hedged item can be a recognized asset or liability, an unrecognized firm commitment, a forecast transaction or a
net investment in a foreign operation. The hedged item can be:

(a)  Asingle item; or

(b) A group of items (subject to paragraphs 146-151 and AG333-AG348).

A hedged item can also be a component of such an item or group of items (see paragraphs 128 and AG256-AG274).
The hedged item must be reliably measurable.

If a hedged item is a forecast transaction (or a component thereof), that transaction must be highly probable.

An aggregated exposure that is a combination of an exposure that could qualify as a hedged item in accordance with
paragraph 122 and a derivative may be designated as a hedged item (see paragraphs AG252—-AG253). This includes
a forecast transaction of an aggregated exposure (i.e., uncommitted but anticipated future transactions that would
give rise to an exposure and a derivative) if that aggregated exposure is highly probable and, once it has occurred
and is therefore no longer forecast, is eligible as a hedged item.
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For hedge accounting purposes, only assets, liabilities, firm commitments or highly probable forecast transactions
with a party external to the reporting entity can be designated as hedged items. Hedge accounting can be applied to
transactions between entities in the same economic entity only in the individual or separate financial statements of
those entities and not in the consolidated financial statements of the economic entity, except for:

(@) The consolidated financial statements of an investment entity, as defined in IPSAS 35, where transactions
between an investment entity and its controlled entities measured at fair value through surplus or deficit will
not be eliminated in the consolidated financial statements; or

(b) The consolidated financial statements of a controlling entity of an investment entity, as defined in IPSAS 35
that is not itself an investment entity, where transactions between a controlled investment entity and the
investments of a controlled investment entity measured at fair value through surplus or deficit will not be
eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.

However, as an exception to paragraph 126, the foreign currency risk of a monetary item within an economic entity (for
example, a payable/receivable between two controlled entities) may qualify as a hedged item in the consolidated financial
statements if it results in an exposure to foreign exchange rate gains or losses that are not fully eliminated on consolidation in
accordance with IPSAS 4, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates. In accordance with IPSAS 4, foreign exchange
rate gains and losses on monetary items within an economic entity are not fully eliminated on consolidation when the monetary
item is transacted between two entities within the economic entity that have different functional currencies. In addition, the
foreign currency risk of a highly probable forecast transaction within the economic entity may qualify as a hedged item in
consolidated financial statements provided that the transaction is denominated in a currency other than the functional currency
of the entity entering into that transaction and the foreign currency risk will affect consolidated surplus or deficit.

Designation of Hedged Items

128.

An entity may designate an item in its entirety or a component of an item as the hedged item in a hedging relationship. An
entire item comprises all changes in the cash flows or fair value of an item. A component comprises less than the entire
fair value change or cash flow variability of an item. In that case, an entity may designate only the following types of
components (including combinations) as hedged items:

(a)  Only changes in the cash flows or fair value of an item attributable to a specific risk or risks (risk component),
provided that, based on an assessment within the context of the particular market structure, the risk component
is separately identifiable and reliably measurable (see paragraphs AG257-AG264). Risk components include a
designation of only changes in the cash flows or the fair value of a hedged item above or below a specified price or
other variable (a one-sided risk).

(b)  One or more selected contractual cash flows.

(c) Components of a nominal amount, i.e., a specified part of the amount of an item (see paragraphs AG265-AG269).

Qualifying Criteria for Hedge Accounting

129.

A hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting only if all of the following criteria are met:
(@) The hedging relationship consists only of eligible hedging instruments and eligible hedged items.

(b) At the inception of the hedging relationship there is formal designation and documentation of the hedging
relationship and the entity’s risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. That
documentation shall include identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the risk
being hedged and how the entity will assess whether the hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness
requirements (including its analysis of the sources of hedge ineffectiveness and how it determines the hedge ratio).

(c) The hedging relationship meets all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

(1) There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument (see
paragraphs AG278-AG280);

(ii))  The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship
(see paragraphs AG281-AG282); and

(iii) The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the
hedged item that the entity actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the entity
actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item. However, that designation shall not reflect an
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imbalance between the weightings of the hedged item and the hedging instrument that would create
hedge ineffectiveness (irrespective of whether recognized or not) that could result in an accounting
outcome that would be inconsistent with the purpose of hedge accounting (see paragraphs AG283-
AG285).

Accounting for Qualifying Hedging Relationships

130.

131.

132.

133.
134.

135.

136.

IPSAS 41

An entity applies hedge accounting to hedging relationships that meet the qualifying criteria in paragraph 129
(which include the entity’s decision to designate the hedging relationship).

There are three types of hedging relationships:

(a) Fair value hedge: a hedge of the exposure to changes in fair value of a recognized asset or liability or an
unrecognized firm commitment, or a component of any such item, that is attributable to a particular risk and
could affect surplus or deficit.

(b) Cash flow hedge: a hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk
associated with all, or a component of, a recognized asset or liability (such as all or some future interest
payments on variable-rate debt) or a highly probable forecast transaction, and could affect surplus or deficit.

(c) Hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation as defined in IPSAS 4.

If the hedged item is an equity instrument for which an entity has elected to present changes in fair value in net assets/
equity in accordance with paragraph 106, the hedged exposure referred to in paragraph 131(a) must be one that could affect
net assets/equity. In that case, and only in that case, the recognized hedge ineffectiveness is presented in net assets/equity.

A hedge of the foreign currency risk of a firm commitment may be accounted for as a fair value hedge or a cash flow hedge.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio (see
paragraph 129(c)(iii)) but the risk management objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the
same, an entity shall adjust the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship so that it meets the qualifying criteria again
(this is referred to in this Standard as ‘rebalancing’—see paragraphs AG300-AG314).

An entity shall discontinue hedge accounting prospectively only when the hedging relationship (or a part of a
hedging relationship) ceases to meet the qualifying criteria (after taking into account any rebalancing of the hedging
relationship, if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or
exercised. For this purpose, the replacement or rollover of a hedging instrument into another hedging instrument
is not an expiration or termination if such a replacement or rollover is part of, and consistent with, the entity’s
documented risk management objective. Additionally, for this purpose there is not an expiration or termination of
the hedging instrument if:

(a) As a consequence of laws or regulations or the introduction of laws or regulations, the parties to the hedging
instrument agree that one or more clearing counterparties replace their original counterparty to become the
new counterparty to each of the parties. For this purpose, a clearing counterparty is a central counterparty
(sometimes called a ‘clearing organization’ or ‘clearing agency’) or an entity or entities, for example, a
clearing member of a clearing organization or a client of a clearing member of a clearing organization, that
are acting as a counterparty in order to effect clearing by a central counterparty. However, when the parties
to the hedging instrument replace their original counterparties with different counterparties the requirement
in this subparagraph is met only if each of those parties effects clearing with the same central counterparty.

(b)  Other changes, if any, to the hedging instrument are limited to those that are necessary to effect such a
replacement of the counterparty. Such changes are limited to those that are consistent with the terms that
would be expected if the hedging instrument were originally cleared with the clearing counterparty. These
changes include changes in the collateral requirements, rights to offset receivables and payables balances,
and charges levied.

Discontinuing hedge accounting can either affect a hedging relationship in its entirety or only a part of it (in which
case hedge accounting continues for the remainder of the hedging relationship).

An entity shall apply:

(a) Paragraph 139 when it discontinues hedge accounting for a fair value hedge for which the hedged item is (or is a
component of) a financial instrument measured at amortized cost; and

(b)  Paragraph 141 when it discontinues hedge accounting for cash flow hedges.
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Fair Value Hedges

137.

138.

139.

As long as a fair value hedge meets the qualifying criteria in paragraph 129, the hedging relationship shall be
accounted for as follows:

(a) The gain or loss on the hedging instrument shall be recognized in surplus or deficit (or net assets/equity, if
the hedging instrument hedges an equity instrument for which an entity has elected to present changes in fair
value in net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 106).

(b)  The hedging gain or loss on the hedged item shall adjust the carrying amount of the hedged item (if applicable)
and be recognized in surplus or deficit. If the hedged item is a financial asset (or a component thereof) that is
measured at fair value through net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 41, the hedging gain or loss on
the hedged item shall be recognized in surplus or deficit. However, if the hedged item is an equity instrument
for which an entity has elected to present changes in fair value in net assets/equity in accordance with
paragraph 106, those amounts shall remain in net assets/equity. When a hedged item is an unrecognized firm
commitment (or a component thereof), the cumulative change in the fair value of the hedged item subsequent
to its designation is recognized as an asset or a liability with a corresponding gain or loss recognized in surplus
or deficit.

When a hedged item in a fair value hedge is a firm commitment (or a component thereof) to acquire an asset or assume a
liability, the initial carrying amount of the asset or the liability that results from the entity meeting the firm commitment
is adjusted to include the cumulative change in the fair value of the hedged item that was recognized in the statement of
financial position.

Any adjustment arising from paragraph 137(b) shall be amortized to surplus or deficit if the hedged item is a financial
instrument (or a component thereof) measured at amortized cost. Amortization may begin as soon as an adjustment exists
and shall begin no later than when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for hedging gains and losses. The amortization
is based on a recalculated effective interest rate at the date that amortization begins. In the case of a financial asset (or a
component thereof) that is a hedged item and that is measured at fair value through net assets/equity in accordance with
paragraph 41, amortization applies in the same manner but to the amount that represents the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognized in accordance with paragraph 137(b) instead of by adjusting the carrying amount.

Cash Flow Hedges

140.

As long as a cash flow hedge meets the qualifying criteria in paragraph 129, the hedging relationship shall be
accounted for as follows:

(@) The separate component of net assets/equity associated with the hedged item (cash flow hedge reserve) is
adjusted to the lower of the following (in absolute amounts):

1) The cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument from inception of the hedge; and

(i)  The cumulative change in fair value (present value) of the hedged item (i.e., the present value of the
cumulative change in the hedged expected future cash flows) from inception of the hedge.

(b)  The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge (i.e., the
portion that is offset by the change in the cash flow hedge reserve calculated in accordance with (a)) shall be
recognized in net assets/equity.

(c) Any remaining gain or loss on the hedging instrument (or any gain or loss required to balance the change in
the cash flow hedge reserve calculated in accordance with (a)) is hedge ineffectiveness that shall be recognized
in surplus or deficit.

(d) The amount that has been accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve in accordance with (a) shall be
accounted for as follows:

(i)  If ahedged forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-
financial liability, or a hedged forecast transaction for a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability
becomes a firm commitment for which fair value hedge accounting is applied, the entity shall remove
that amount from the cash flow hedge reserve and include it directly in the initial cost or other carrying
amount of the asset or the liability. This is not a reclassification adjustment (see IPSAS 1) and hence it
does not affect net assets/equity.
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(i1)  For cash flow hedges other than those covered by (i), that amount shall be reclassified from the cash
flow hedge reserve to surplus or deficit as a reclassification adjustment (see paragraphs 125A-125C
of IPSAS 1) in the same period or periods during which the hedged expected future cash flows affect
surplus or deficit (for example, in the periods that interest revenue or interest expense is recognized or
when a forecast sale occurs).

(iii) However, if that amount is a loss and an entity expects that all or a portion of that loss will not be
recovered in one or more future periods, it shall immediately reclassify the amount that is not expected
to be recovered into surplus or deficit as a reclassification adjustment (see paragraphs 125A-125C of
IPSAS 1).

When an entity discontinues hedge accounting for a cash flow hedge (see paragraphs 135 and 136(b)) it shall account for
the amount that has been accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve in accordance with paragraph 140(a) as follows:

(a) If the hedged future cash flows are still expected to occur, that amount shall remain in the cash flow hedge
reserve until the future cash flows occur or until paragraph 140(d)(iii) applies. When the future cash flows occur,
paragraph 140(d) applies.

(b)  Ifthe hedged future cash flows are no longer expected to occur, that amount shall be immediately reclassified from
the cash flow hedge reserve to surplus or deficit as a reclassification adjustment (see IPSAS 1). A hedged future cash
flow that is no longer highly probable to occur may still be expected to occur.

Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

142.

143.

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including a hedge of a monetary item that is accounted for as part
of the net investment (see IPSAS 4), shall be accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges:

(a) The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge shall be
recognized in net assets/equity (see paragraph 140); and

(b)  The ineffective portion shall be recognized in surplus or deficit.

The cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge that has been
accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve shall be reclassified from net assets/equity to surplus or
deficit as a reclassification adjustment (see IPSAS 1) in accordance with paragraphs 57-58 of IPSAS 4 on the
disposal or partial disposal of the foreign operation.

Accounting for the Time Value of Options

144.

IPSAS 41

When an entity separates the intrinsic value and time value of an option contract and designates as the hedging instrument
only the change in intrinsic value of the option (see paragraph 119(a)), it shall account for the time value of the option as
follows (see paragraphs AG322—-AG326):

(a) An entity shall distinguish the time value of options by the type of hedged item that the option hedges (see
paragraph AG322):

(i)  Atransaction related hedged item; or
(i) A time-period related hedged item.

(b) The change in fair value of the time value of an option that hedges a transaction related hedged item shall be
recognized in net assets/equity to the extent that it relates to the hedged item and shall be accumulated in a separate
component of net assets/equity. The cumulative change in fair value arising from the time value of the option that
has been accumulated in a separate component of net assets/equity (the ‘amount’) shall be accounted for as follows:

(i)  Ifthe hedged item subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, or
a firm commitment for a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability for which fair value hedge accounting
is applied, the entity shall remove the amount from the separate component of net assets/equity and include
it directly in the initial cost or other carrying amount of the asset or the liability. This is not a reclassification
adjustment (see IPSAS 1) and hence does not affect net assets/equity.

(i)  For hedging relationships other than those covered by (i), the amount shall be reclassified from the separate
component of net assets/equity to surplus or deficit as a reclassification adjustment (see IPSAS 1) in the same
period or periods during which the hedged expected future cash flows affect surplus or deficit (for example,
when a forecast sale occurs).
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(i) However, if all or a portion of that amount is not expected to be recovered in one or more future periods,
the amount that is not expected to be recovered shall be immediately reclassified into surplus or deficit as a
reclassification adjustment (see IPSAS 1).

(c) The change in fair value of the time value of an option that hedges a time-period related hedged item shall be
recognized in net assets/equity to the extent that it relates to the hedged item and shall be accumulated in a separate
component of net assets/equity. The time value at the date of designation of the option as a hedging instrument, to
the extent that it relates to the hedged item, shall be amortized on a systematic and rational basis over the period
during which the hedge adjustment for the option’s intrinsic value could affect surplus or deficit (or net assets/
equity, if the hedged item is an equity instrument for which an entity has elected to present changes in fair value in
net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 106). Hence, in each reporting period, the amortization amount shall
be reclassified from the separate component of net assets/equity to surplus or deficit as a reclassification adjustment
(see IPSAS 1). However, if hedge accounting is discontinued for the hedging relationship that includes the change in
intrinsic value of the option as the hedging instrument, the net amount (i.e., including cumulative amortization) that
has been accumulated in the separate component of net assets/equity shall be immediately reclassified into surplus
or deficit as a reclassification adjustment (see IPSAS 1).

Accounting for the Forward Element of Forward Contracts and Foreign Currency Basis Spreads of Financial Instruments

145.

When an entity separates the forward element and the spot element of a forward contract and designates as the hedging
instrument only the change in the value of the spot element of the forward contract, or when an entity separates the foreign
currency basis spread from a financial instrument and excludes it from the designation of that financial instrument as the
hedging instrument (see paragraph 119(b)), the entity may apply paragraph 144 to the forward element of the forward
contract or to the foreign currency basis spread in the same manner as it is applied to the time value of an option. In that
case, the entity shall apply the application guidance in paragraphs AG327-AG332.

Hedges of a Group of Items

Eligibility of a Group of Items as the Hedged Item

146.

A group of items (including a group of items that constitute a net position; see paragraphs AG333-AG340) is an
eligible hedged item only if:

(a) It consists of items (including components of items) that are, individually, eligible hedged items;
(b) The items in the group are managed together on a group basis for risk management purposes; and

(c) In the case of a cash flow hedge of a group of items whose variabilities in cash flows are not expected to
be approximately proportional to the overall variability in cash flows of the group so that offsetting risk
positions arise:

(i)  Itis a hedge of foreign currency risk; and

(ii)  The designation of that net position specifies the reporting period in which the forecast transactions
are expected to affect surplus or deficit, as well as their nature and volume (see paragraphs AG339-
AG340).

Designation of a Component of a Nominal Amount

147.

148.

A component that is a proportion of an eligible group of items is an eligible hedged item provided that designation is
consistent with the entity’s risk management objective.

A layer component of an overall group of items (for example, a bottom layer) is eligible for hedge accounting only if:
(a) It is separately identifiable and reliably measurable;
(b)  The risk management objective is to hedge a layer component;

(¢) The items in the overall group from which the layer is identified are exposed to the same hedged risk (so that the
measurement of the hedged layer is not significantly affected by which particular items from the overall group form
part of the hedged layer);

(d) For a hedge of existing items (for example, an unrecognized firm commitment or a recognized asset) an entity can
identify and track the overall group of items from which the hedged layer is defined (so that the entity is able to
comply with the requirements for the accounting for qualifying hedging relationships); and
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(e)  Any items in the group that contain prepayment options meet the requirements for components of a nominal amount
(see paragraph AG269).

Presentation

149.

For a hedge of a group of items with offsetting risk positions (i.c., in a hedge of a net position) whose hedged risk affects
different line items in the statement of financial performance and statement of changes in net assets/equity, any hedging
gains or losses in that statement shall be presented in a separate line from those affected by the hedged items. Hence, in
that statement the amount in the line item that relates to the hedged item itself (for example, revenue or expenses) remains
unaffected.

150. For assets and liabilities that are hedged together as a group in a fair value hedge, the gain or loss in the statement of
financial position on the individual assets and liabilities shall be recognized as an adjustment of the carrying amount of the
respective individual items comprising the group in accordance with paragraph 137(b).

Nil Net Positions

151. When the hedged item is a group that is a nil net position (i.e., the hedged items among themselves fully offset the risk that

is managed on a group basis), an entity is permitted to designate it in a hedging relationship that does not include a hedging
instrument, provided that:

(a) The hedge is part of a rolling net risk hedging strategy, whereby the entity routinely hedges new positions of the
same type as time moves on (for example, when transactions move into the time horizon for which the entity
hedges);

(b) The hedged net position changes in size over the life of the rolling net risk hedging strategy and the entity uses
eligible hedging instruments to hedge the net risk (i.e., when the net position is not nil);

(c) Hedge accounting is normally applied to such net positions when the net position is not nil and it is hedged with
eligible hedging instruments; and

(d) Not applying hedge accounting to the nil net position would give rise to inconsistent accounting outcomes, because
the accounting would not recognize the offsetting risk positions that would otherwise be recognized in a hedge of a
net position.

Option to Designate a Credit Exposure as Measured at Fair Value through Surplus or Deficit

Eligibility of Credit Exposures for Designation at Fair Value through Surplus or Deficit

152.

If an entity uses a credit derivative that is measured at fair value through surplus or deficit to manage the credit risk
of all, or a part of, a financial instrument (credit exposure) it may designate that financial instrument to the extent
that it is so managed (i.e., all or a proportion of it) as measured at fair value through surplus or deficit if:

(@) The name of the credit exposure (for example, the borrower, or the holder of a loan commitment) matches the
reference entity of the credit derivative (‘name matching’); and

(b)  The seniority of the financial instrument matches that of the instruments that can be delivered in accordance
with the credit derivative.

An entity may make this designation irrespective of whether the financial instrument that is managed for credit risk
is within the scope of this Standard (for example, an entity may designate loan commitments that are outside the
scope of this Standard). The entity may designate that financial instrument at, or subsequent to, initial recognition,
or while it is unrecognized. The entity shall document the designation concurrently.

Accounting for Credit Exposures Designated at Fair Value through Surplus or Deficit

153.

154.

IPSAS 41

If a financial instrument is designated in accordance with paragraph 152 as measured at fair value through surplus or deficit after
its initial recognition, or was previously not recognized, the difference at the time of designation between the carrying amount,
if any, and the fair value shall immediately be recognized in surplus or deficit. For financial assets measured at fair value through
net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 41, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in net assets/equity shall
immediately be reclassified from net assets/equity to surplus or deficit as a reclassification adjustment (see IPSAS 1).

An entity shall discontinue measuring the financial instrument that gave rise to the credit risk, or a proportion of that
financial instrument, at fair value through surplus or deficit if:
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(a)  The qualifying criteria in paragraph 152 are no longer met, for example:

(i)  The credit derivative or the related financial instrument that gives rise to the credit risk expires or is sold,
terminated or settled; or

(i)  The credit risk of the financial instrument is no longer managed using credit derivatives. For example, this
could occur because of improvements in the credit quality of the borrower or the loan commitment holder or
changes to capital requirements imposed on an entity; and

(b)  The financial instrument that gives rise to the credit risk is not otherwise required to be measured at fair value through
surplus or deficit (i.e., the entity’s management model has not changed in the meantime so that a reclassification in
accordance with paragraph 54 was required).

155. When an entity discontinues measuring the financial instrument that gives rise to the credit risk, or a proportion of
that financial instrument, at fair value through surplus or deficit, that financial instrument’s fair value at the date of
discontinuation becomes its new carrying amount. Subsequently, the same measurement that was used before designating
the financial instrument at fair value through surplus or deficit shall be applied (including amortization that results from
the new carrying amount). For example, a financial asset that had originally been classified as measured at amortized cost
would revert to that measurement and its effective interest rate would be recalculated based on its new gross carrying
amount on the date of discontinuing measurement at fair value through surplus or deficit.

Temporary Exceptions from Applying Specific Hedge Accounting Requirements

155A. Anentity shall apply paragraphs 155D—155L and paragraphs 156E and 184(d) to all hedging relationships directly affected
by interest rate benchmark reform. These paragraphs apply only to such hedging relationships. A hedging relationship is
directly affected by interest rate benchmark reform only if the reform gives rise to uncertainties about:

(a)  The interest rate benchmark (contractually or non-contractually specified) designated as a hedged risk; and/or
(b)  The timing or the amount of interest rate benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item or of the hedging instrument.

155B.  For the purpose of applying paragraphs 155D—155L, the term ‘interest rate benchmark reform’ refers to the market-
wide reform of an interest rate benchmark, including the replacement of an interest rate benchmark with an alternative
benchmark rate such as that resulting from the recommendations set out in the Financial Stability Board’s July 2014 report,
‘Reforming Major Interest Rate Benchmarks’.?

155C. Paragraphs 155D—155L provide exceptions only to the requirements specified in these paragraphs. An entity shall continue
to apply all other hedge accounting requirements to hedging relationships directly affected by interest rate benchmark
reform.

Highly Probable Requirement for Cash Flow Hedges

155D. For the purpose of determining whether a forecast transaction (or a component thereof) is highly probable as required by
paragraph 124, an entity shall assume that the interest rate benchmark on which the hedged cash flows (contractually or
non-contractually specified) are based is not altered as a result of interest rate benchmark reform.

Reclassifying the Amount Accumulated in the Cash Flow Hedge Reserve

155E.  For the purpose of applying the requirement in paragraph 141 in order to determine whether the hedged future cash flows
are expected to occur, an entity shall assume that the interest rate benchmark on which the hedged cash flows (contractually
or non-contractually specified) are based is not altered as a result of interest rate benchmark reform.

Assessing the Economic Relationship between the Hedged Item and the Hedging Instrument

155F.  For the purpose of applying the requirements in paragraphs 129(c)(i) and AG278-AG280, an entity shall assume that
the interest rate benchmark on which the hedged cash flows and/or the hedged risk (contractually or non-contractually
specified) are based, or the interest rate benchmark on which the cash flows of the hedging instrument are based, is not
altered as a result of interest rate benchmark reform.

Designating a Component of an Item as a Hedged Item

155G. Unless paragraph 155H applies, for a hedge of a non-contractually specified benchmark component of interest rate risk,
an entity shall apply the requirement in paragraphs 128(a) and AG257—that the risk component shall be separately
identifiable—only at the inception of the hedging relationship.

3 The report, ‘Reforming Major Interest Rate Benchmarks’, is available at http://www.fsb.org/wp-content/uploads/r 140722.pdf.
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When an entity, consistent with its hedge documentation, frequently resets (i.e., discontinues and restarts) a hedging
relationship because both the hedging instrument and the hedged item frequently change (i.e., the entity uses a dynamic
process in which both the hedged items and the hedging instruments used to manage that exposure do not remain the same
for long), the entity shall apply the requirement in paragraphs 128(a) and AG257—that the risk component is separately
identifiable—only when it initially designates a hedged item in that hedging relationship. A hedged item that has been
assessed at the time of its initial designation in the hedging relationship, whether it was at the time of the hedge inception
or subsequently, is not reassessed at any subsequent redesignation in the same hedging relationship.

End of Application

1551

1557.

155K.

155L.

155M.

An entity shall prospectively cease applying paragraph 155D to a hedged item at the earlier of:

(a)  When the uncertainty arising from interest rate benchmark reform is no longer present with respect to the timing and
the amount of the interest rate benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item; and

(b)  When the hedging relationship that the hedged item is part of is discontinued.
An entity shall prospectively cease applying paragraph 155E at the earlier of:

(a)  When the uncertainty arising from interest rate benchmark reform is no longer present with respect to the timing and
the amount of the interest rate benchmark-based future cash flows of the hedged item; and

(b)  When the entire amount accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve with respect to that discontinued hedging
relationship has been reclassified to surplus or deficit.

An entity shall prospectively cease applying paragraph 155F:

(a) Toahedged item, when the uncertainty arising from interest rate benchmark reform is no longer present with respect to
the hedged risk or the timing and the amount of the interest rate benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item; and

(b) To ahedging instrument, when the uncertainty arising from interest rate benchmark reform is no longer present with
respect to the timing and the amount of the interest rate benchmark-based cash flows of the hedging instrument.

If the hedging relationship that the hedged item and the hedging instrument are part of is discontinued earlier than the date
specified in paragraph 155K(a) or the date specified in paragraph 155K(b), the entity shall prospectively cease applying
paragraph 155F to that hedging relationship at the date of discontinuation.

When designating a group of items as the hedged item, or a combination of financial instruments as the hedging instrument,
an entity shall prospectively cease applying paragraphs 155D—155F to an individual item or financial instrument in
accordance with paragraphs 1551, 155J, or 155K, as relevant, when the uncertainty arising from interest rate benchmark
reform is no longer present with respect to the hedged risk and/or the timing and the amount of the interest rate benchmark-
based cash flows of that item or financial instrument.

An entity shall prospectively cease applying paragraphs 155G and 155H at the earlier of:

(a)  When changes required by interest rate benchmark reform are made to the non-contractually specified risk component
applying paragraph 155N; or

(b)  When the hedging relationship in which the non-contractually specified risk component is designated is discontinued.

Additional Temporary Exceptions Arising from Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

155N.

1550.

IPSAS 41

As and when the requirements in paragraphs 155D—155H cease to apply to a hedging relationship (see paragraphs
1551-155M), an entity shall amend the formal designation of that hedging relationship as previously documented to reflect
the changes required by interest rate benchmark reform, i.e., the changes are consistent with the requirements in paragraphs
72B—72D. In this context, the hedge designation shall be amended only to make one or more of these changes:

(a) Designating an alternative benchmark rate (contractually or non-contractually specified) as a hedged risk;

(b)  Amending the description of the hedged item, including the description of the designated portion of the cash flows
or fair value being hedged; or

(¢) Amending the description of the hedging instrument.
An entity also shall apply the requirement in paragraph 155N(c) if these three conditions are met:

(a) The entity makes a change required by interest rate benchmark reform using an approach other than changing the
basis for determining the contractual cash flows of the hedging instrument (as described in paragraph 72B);
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(b) The original hedging instrument is not derecognized; and

(c)  The chosen approach is economically equivalent to changing the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of
the original hedging instrument (as described in paragraphs 72C and 72D).

The requirements in paragraphs 155D—155H may cease to apply at different times. Therefore, in applying paragraph
155N, an entity may be required to amend the formal designation of its hedging relationships at different times, or may be
required to amend the formal designation of a hedging relationship more than once. When, and only when, such a change
is made to the hedge designation, an entity shall apply paragraphs 155T—155Y as applicable. An entity also shall apply
paragraph 137 (for a fair value hedge) or paragraph 140 (for a cash flow hedge) to account for any changes in the fair value
of the hedged item or the hedging instrument.

An entity shall amend a hedging relationship as required in paragraph 155N by the end of the reporting period during
which a change required by interest rate benchmark reform is made to the hedged risk, hedged item or hedging instrument.
For the avoidance of doubt, such an amendment to the formal designation of a hedging relationship constitutes neither the
discontinuation of the hedging relationship nor the designation of a new hedging relationship.

If changes are made in addition to those changes required by interest rate benchmark reform to the financial asset or
financial liability designated in a hedging relationship (as described in paragraphs 72B—72D) or to the designation of
the hedging relationship (as required by paragraph 155N), an entity shall first apply the applicable requirements in this
Standard to determine if those additional changes result in the discontinuation of hedge accounting. If the additional
changes do not result in the discontinuation of hedge accounting, an entity shall amend the formal designation of the
hedging relationship as specified in paragraph 155N.

Paragraphs 155T—155Z provide exceptions to the requirements specified in those paragraphs only. An entity shall apply
all other hedge accounting requirements in this Standard, including the qualifying criteria in paragraph 129, to hedging
relationships that were directly affected by interest rate benchmark reform.

Accounting for Qualifying Hedging Relationships

Cash Flow Hedges

155T.

155U.

For the purpose of applying paragraph 140, at the point when an entity amends the description of a hedged item as
required in paragraph 155N(b), the amount accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve shall be deemed to be based on the
alternative benchmark rate on which the hedged future cash flows are determined.

For a discontinued hedging relationship, when the interest rate benchmark on which the hedged future cash flows had
been based is changed as required by interest rate benchmark reform, for the purpose of applying paragraph 141 in order
to determine whether the hedged future cash flows are expected to occur, the amount accumulated in the cash flow hedge
reserve for that hedging relationship shall be deemed to be based on the alternative benchmark rate on which the hedged
future cash flows will be based.

Groups of Items

155V.

155W.

When an entity applies paragraph 155N to groups of items designated as hedged items in a fair value or cash flow hedge,
the entity shall allocate the hedged items to subgroups based on the benchmark rate being hedged and designate the
benchmark rate as the hedged risk for each subgroup. For example, in a hedging relationship in which a group of items is
hedged for changes in an interest rate benchmark subject to interest rate benchmark reform, the hedged cash flows or fair
value of some items in the group could be changed to reference an alternative benchmark rate before other items in the
group are changed. In this example, in applying paragraph 155N, the entity would designate the alternative benchmark rate
as the hedged risk for that relevant subgroup of hedged items. The entity would continue to designate the existing interest
rate benchmark as the hedged risk for the other subgroup of hedged items until the hedged cash flows or fair value of those
items are changed to reference the alternative benchmark rate or the items expire and are replaced with hedged items that
reference the alternative benchmark rate.

An entity shall assess separately whether each subgroup meets the requirements in paragraph 146 to be an eligible hedged
item. If any subgroup fails to meet the requirements in paragraph 146, the entity shall discontinue hedge accounting
prospectively for the hedging relationship in its entirety. An entity also shall apply the requirements in paragraphs 137 and
140 to account for ineffectiveness related to the hedging relationship in its entirety.

Designation of Risk Components

155X.

An alternative benchmark rate designated as a non-contractually specified risk component that is not separately identifiable
(see paragraphs 128(a) and AG257) at the date it is designated shall be deemed to have met that requirement at that date, if,
and only if, the entity reasonably expects the alternative benchmark rate will be separately identifiable within 24 months.
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The 24-month period applies to each alternative benchmark rate separately and starts from the date the entity designates
the alternative benchmark rate as a non-contractually specified risk component for the first time (ie the 24-month period
applies on a rate-by-rate basis).

If subsequently an entity reasonably expects that the alternative benchmark rate will not be separately identifiable within
24 months from the date the entity designated it as a non-contractually specified risk component for the first time, the
entity shall cease applying the requirement in paragraph 155X to that alternative benchmark rate and discontinue hedge
accounting prospectively from the date of that reassessment for all hedging relationships in which the alternative benchmark
rate was designated as a non-contractually specified risk component.

In addition to those hedging relationships specified in paragraph 155N, an entity shall apply the requirements in paragraphs
155X and 155Y to new hedging relationships in which an alternative benchmark rate is designated as a non-contractually
specified risk component (see paragraphs 128(a) and AG257) when, because of interest rate benchmark reform, that risk
component is not separately identifiable at the date it is designated.

Effective Date and Transition

Effective Date

156.

156A.

156B.

156C.

156D.

156E.

157.

An entity shall apply this Standard for annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023.
Earlier application is permitted. If an entity elects to apply this Standard early, it must disclose that fact and apply all of
the requirements in this Standard at the same time (but see also paragraph 179). It shall also, at the same time, apply the
amendments in Appendix D.

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to IPSAS 36) and Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation (Amendments to IPSAS 41), issued in January 2019, added paragraphs 185-190 and AG74A
and amended paragraphs AG73(b) and AG74(b). An entity shall apply these amendments for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2023. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies these amendments for
an earlier period, it shall disclose that fact.

Paragraphs 155A—155L were added and paragraph 184 was amended by Improvements to IPSAS, 2021, issued in
January 2022. An entity shall apply these amendments for annual financial statements covering periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2023. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies these amendments for an earlier
period, it shall disclose that fact.

Paragraphs 72A-72E, 155M-155Z, and 191-194 were added by Improvements to IPSAS, 2021, issued in January
2022. An entity shall apply these amendments for annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2023. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies these amendments for an earlier period,
it shall disclose that fact.

Paragraph AG46 was amended and paragraphs AG46A and 195 were added by Improvements to IPSAS, 2021,
issued in January 2022. An entity shall apply these amendments for annual financial statements covering periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2023. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies these amendments for
an earlier period, it shall disclose that fact.

Paragraphs 2, 87, AG198 and AG210 were amended by IPSAS 43 issued in January 2022. An entity shall apply
these amendments for annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2025. Earlier
application is permitted. If an entity applies the amendments for a period beginning before January 1, 2025, it shall
disclose that fact and apply IPSAS 43 at the same time.

When an entity adopts the accrual basis IPSASs of accounting as defined in IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual
Basis International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) for financial reporting purposes subsequent to this
effective date, this Standard applies to the entity’s annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after the
date of adoption of IPSASs.

Transition

158.

159.

IPSAS 41

An entity shall apply this Standard retrospectively, in accordance with IPSAS 3, Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, except as specified in paragraphs 161-184. This Standard shall not be applied to items
that have already been derecognized at the date of initial application.

For the purposes of the transition provisions in paragraphs 158, 160—184, the date of initial application is the date when
an entity first applies those requirements of this Standard and must be the beginning of a reporting period after the issue
of this Standard.
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Transition for Classification and Measurement

160.

161.

162.

163.

164.

165.

166.

167.

At the date of initial application, an entity shall assess whether a financial asset meets the condition in paragraphs 40(a)
or 41(a) on the basis of the facts and circumstances that exist at that date. The resulting classification shall be applied
retrospectively irrespective of the entity’s management model in prior reporting periods.

If, at the date of initial application, it is impracticable (as defined in IPSAS 3) for an entity to assess a modified time value
of money element in accordance with paragraphs AG68—AG70 on the basis of the facts and circumstances that existed at
the initial recognition of the financial asset, an entity shall assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of that financial
asset on the basis of the facts and circumstances that existed at the initial recognition of the financial asset without taking
into account the requirements related to the modification of the time value of money element in paragraphs AG68—AG70.
(See also paragraph 49R of IPSAS 30.)

If, at the date of initial application, it is impracticable (as defined in IPSAS 3) for an entity to assess whether the fair value of a
prepayment feature was insignificant in accordance with paragraph AG74(c) on the basis of the facts and circumstances that
existed at the initial recognition of the financial asset, an entity shall assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of that
financial asset on the basis of the facts and circumstances that existed at the initial recognition of the financial asset without
taking into account the exception for prepayment features in paragraph AG74. (See also paragraph 49S of IPSAS 30.)

If an entity measures a hybrid contract at fair value in accordance with paragraphs 41, 43 or 44 but the fair value of the hybrid
contract had not been measured in comparative reporting periods, the fair value of the hybrid contract in the comparative
reporting periods shall be the sum of the fair values of the components (i.e., the non-derivative host and the embedded
derivative) at the end of each comparative reporting period if the entity restates prior periods (see paragraph 173).

If an entity has applied paragraph 163 then at the date of initial application the entity shall recognize any difference
between the fair value of the entire hybrid contract at the date of initial application and the sum of the fair values of the
components of the hybrid contract at the date of initial application in the opening accumulated surplus or deficit (or other
component of net assets/equity, as appropriate) of the reporting period that includes the date of initial application.

At the date of initial application an entity may designate:
(a)  Afinancial asset as measured at fair value through surplus or deficit in accordance with paragraph 44; or
(b) Aninvestment in an equity instrument as at fair value through net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 106.

Such a designation shall be made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that exist at the date of initial application. That
classification shall be applied retrospectively.

At the date of initial application an entity:

(a)  Shall revoke its previous designation of a financial asset as measured at fair value through surplus or deficit if that
financial asset does not meet the condition in paragraph 44.

(b) May revoke its previous designation of a financial asset as measured at fair value through surplus or deficit if that
financial asset meets the condition in paragraph 44.

Such a revocation shall be made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that exist at the date of initial application. That
classification shall be applied retrospectively.

At the date of initial application, an entity:

(a) May designate a financial liability as measured at fair value through surplus or deficit in accordance with
paragraph 46(a).

(b)  Shall revoke its previous designation of a financial liability as measured at fair value through surplus or deficit if
such designation was made at initial recognition in accordance with the condition now in paragraph 46(a) and such
designation does not satisfy that condition at the date of initial application.

(c) May revoke its previous designation of a financial liability as measured at fair value through surplus or deficit if
such designation was made at initial recognition in accordance with the condition now in paragraph 46(a) and such
designation satisfies that condition at the date of initial application.

Such a designation and revocation shall be made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that exist at the date of initial
application. That classification shall be applied retrospectively.
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172.

173.

174.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

If it is impracticable (as defined in IPSAS 3) for an entity to apply retrospectively the effective interest method, the entity
shall treat:

(a)  The fair value of the financial asset or the financial liability at the end of each comparative period presented as the
gross carrying amount of that financial asset or the amortized cost of that financial liability if the entity restates prior
periods; and

(b)  The fair value of the financial asset or the financial liability at the date of initial application as the new gross carrying
amount of that financial asset or the new amortized cost of that financial liability at the date of initial application of
this Standard.

If an entity previously accounted at cost (in accordance with IPSAS 29), for an investment in an equity instrument that does
not have a quoted price in an active market for an identical instrument (i.e., a Level 1 input) (or for a derivative asset that is
linked to and must be settled by delivery of such an equity instrument) it shall measure that instrument at fair value at the
date of initial application. Any difference between the previous carrying amount and the fair value shall be recognized in
the opening accumulated surplus or deficit (or other component of net assets/equity, as appropriate) of the reporting period
that includes the date of initial application.

If an entity previously accounted for a derivative liability that is linked to, and must be settled by, delivery of an equity
instrument that does not have a quoted price in an active market for an identical instrument (i.e., a Level 1 input) at cost
in accordance with IPSAS 29, it shall measure that derivative liability at fair value at the date of initial application. Any
difference between the previous carrying amount and the fair value shall be recognized in the opening net assets/equity of
the reporting period that includes the date of initial application.

At the date of initial application, an entity shall determine whether the treatment in paragraph 108 would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch in surplus or deficit on the basis of the facts and circumstances that exist at the date of initial
application. This Standard shall be applied retrospectively on the basis of that determination.

At the date of initial application, an entity is permitted to make the designation in paragraph 6 for contracts that already
exist on the date but only if it designates all similar contracts. The change in the net assets resulting from such designations
shall be recognized in net assets/equity at the date of initial application.

Despite the requirement in paragraph 158, an entity that adopts the classification and measurement requirements of this
Standard (which include the requirements related to amortized cost measurement for financial assets and impairment in
paragraphs 69—72 and paragraphs 73—93) shall provide the disclosures set out in paragraphs 49L—490 of IPSAS 30 but need
not restate prior periods. The entity may restate prior periods if, and only if, it is possible without the use of hindsight. If an
entity does not restate prior periods, the entity shall recognize any difference between the previous carrying amount and the
carrying amount at the beginning of the annual reporting period that includes the date of initial application in the opening
accumulated surplus or deficit (or other component of net assets/equity, as appropriate) of the annual reporting period that
includes the date of initial application. However, if an entity restates prior periods, the restated financial statements must
reflect all of the requirements in this Standard.

If an entity prepares interim financial reports, the entity need not apply the requirements in this Standard to interim periods
prior to the date of initial application if it is impracticable (as defined in IPSAS 3).

Impairment

175.

176.

177.

IPSAS 41

An entity shall apply the impairment requirements in paragraphs 73-93 retrospectively in accordance with IPSAS 3 subject
to paragraphs 173 and 176—178.

At the date of initial application, an entity shall use reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort to determine the credit risk at the date that a financial instrument was initially recognized (or for loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts at the date that the entity became a party to the irrevocable commitment
in accordance with paragraph 78) and compare that to the credit risk at the date of initial application of this Standard.

When determining whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, an entity may
apply:
(a) The requirements in paragraphs 82 and AG186—AG188; and

(b)  The rebuttable presumption in paragraph 83 for contractual payments that are more than 30 days past due if an entity
will apply the impairment requirements by identifying significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition for
those financial instruments on the basis of past due information.
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If, at the date of initial application, determining whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition would require undue cost or effort, an entity shall recognize a loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime
expected credit losses at each reporting date until that financial instrument is derecognized (unless that financial instrument
is low credit risk at a reporting date, in which case paragraph 177(a) applies).

Transition for Hedge Accounting

179.

180.
181.

182.

183.

184.

When an entity first applies this Standard, it may choose as its accounting policy to continue to apply the hedge accounting
requirements of IPSAS 29 instead of the requirements in paragraphs 113—155 of this Standard. An entity shall apply that
policy to all of its hedging relationships. An entity that chooses that policy shall also apply Appendix C of IPSAS 29.

Except as provided in paragraph 184, an entity shall apply the hedge accounting requirements of this Standard prospectively.

To apply hedge accounting from the date of initial application of the hedge accounting requirements of this Standard, all
qualifying criteria must be met as at that date.

Hedging relationships that qualified for hedge accounting in accordance with IPSAS 29 that also qualify for hedge
accounting in accordance with the criteria of this Standard (see paragraph 129), after taking into account any rebalancing
of the hedging relationship on transition (see paragraph 183(b))), shall be regarded as continuing hedging relationships.

On initial application of the hedge accounting requirements of this Standard, an entity:

(a) May start to apply those requirements from the same point in time as it ceases to apply the hedge accounting
requirements of [IPSAS 29; and

(b)  Shall consider the hedge ratio in accordance with IPSAS 29 as the starting point for rebalancing the hedge ratio of
a continuing hedging relationship, if applicable. Any gain or loss from such a rebalancing shall be recognized in
surplus or deficit.

As an exception to prospective application of the hedge accounting requirements of this Standard, an entity:

(a)  Shall apply the accounting for the time value of options in accordance with paragraph 144 retrospectively if, in
accordance with IPSAS 29, only the change in an option’s intrinsic value was designated as a hedging instrument in
a hedging relationship. This retrospective application applies only to those hedging relationships that existed at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period or were designated thereafter.

(b) May apply the accounting for the forward element of forward contracts in accordance with paragraph 145
retrospectively if, in accordance with IPSAS 29, only the change in the spot element of a forward contract was
designated as a hedging instrument in a hedging relationship. This retrospective application applies only to those
hedging relationships that existed at the beginning of the earliest comparative period or were designated thereafter.
In addition, if an entity elects retrospective application of this accounting, it shall be applied to all hedging
relationships that qualify for this election (i.e., on transition this election is not available on a hedging-relationship-
by-hedging-relationship basis). The accounting for foreign currency basis spreads (see paragraph 145) may be
applied retrospectively for those hedging relationships that existed at the beginning of the ecarliest comparative
period or were designated thereafter.

(¢)  Shall apply retrospectively the requirement of paragraph 135 that there is not an expiration or termination of the
hedging instrument if:

(i)  Asaconsequence of laws or regulations, or the introduction of laws or regulations, the parties to the hedging
instrument agree that one or more clearing counterparties replace their original counterparty to become the
new counterparty to each of the parties; and

(i)  Other changes, if any, to the hedging instrument are limited to those that are necessary to effect such a
replacement of the counterparty.

(d)  Shall apply the requirements in paragraphs 155A—155L retrospectively. This retrospective application applies only
to those hedging relationships that existed at the beginning of the reporting period in which an entity first applies
those requirements or were designated thereafter, and to the amount accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve that
existed at the beginning of the reporting period in which an entity first applies those requirements.
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Transition for Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

185.

186.

187.

188.

189.

190.

An entity shall apply Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to IPSAS 36) and Prepayment
Features with Negative Compensation (Amendments to IPSAS 41) retrospectively in accordance with IPSAS 3,
except as specified in paragraphs 186-190.

An entity that first applies these amendments at the same time it first applies this Standard shall apply paragraphs
157-183 instead of paragraphs 187-190.

An entity that first applies these amendments after it first applies this Standard shall apply paragraphs 188—
190. The entity shall also apply the other transition requirements in this Standard necessary for applying these
amendments. For that purpose, references to the date of initial application shall be read as referring to the
beginning of the reporting period in which an entity first applies these amendments (date of initial application of
these amendments).

With regard to designating a financial asset or financial liability as measured at fair value through surplus or deficit,
an entity:

(a)  Shall revoke its previous designation of a financial asset as measured at fair value through surplus or deficit
if that designation was previously made in accordance with the condition in paragraph 44 but that condition
is no longer satisfied as a result of the application of these amendments;

(b) May designate a financial asset as measured at fair value through surplus or deficit if that designation would
not have previously satisfied the condition in paragraph 44 but that condition is now satisfied as a result of
the application of these amendments;

(c¢)  Shall revoke its previous designation of a financial liability as measured at fair value through surplus or
deficit if that designation was previously made in accordance with the condition in paragraph 46(a) but that
condition is no longer satisfied as a result of the application of these amendments; and

(d) May designate a financial liability as measured at fair value through surplus or deficit if that designation
would not have previously satisfied the condition in paragraph 46(a) but that condition is now satisfied as a
result of the application of these amendments.

Such a designation and revocation shall be made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that exist at the date of
initial application of these amendments. That classification shall be applied retrospectively.

An entity is not required to restate prior periods to reflect the application of these amendments. The entity may
restate prior periods if, and only if, it is possible without the use of hindsight and the restated financial statements
reflect all the requirements in this Standard. If an entity does not restate prior periods, the entity shall recognize any
difference between the previous carrying amount and the carrying amount at the beginning of the annual reporting
period that includes the date of initial application of these amendments in the opening accumulated surplus or
deficit (or other component of net assets/equity, as appropriate) of the annual reporting period that includes the
date of initial application of these amendments.

In the reporting period that includes the date of initial application of these amendments, the entity shall disclose the
following information as at that date of initial application for each class of financial assets and financial liabilities
that were affected by these amendments:

(a) The previous measurement category and carrying amount determined immediately before applying these
amendments;

(b) The new measurement category and carrying amount determined after applying these amendments;

(c) The carrying amount of any financial assets and financial liabilities in the statement of financial position
that were previously designated as measured at fair value through surplus or deficit but are no longer so
designated; and

(d) The reasons for any designation or de-designation of financial assets or financial liabilities as measured at fair
value through surplus or deficit.

Transition for Interest Rate Benchmark Reform—Phase 2

191.

IPSAS 41

An entity shall apply Interest Rate Benchmark Reform—Phase 2 amendments retrospectively in accordance with IPSAS 3,
except as specified in paragraphs 192—194.
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An entity shall designate a new hedging relationship (for example, as described in paragraph 155Z) only prospectively
(i.e., an entity is prohibited from designating a new hedge accounting relationship in prior periods). However, an entity
shall reinstate a discontinued hedging relationship if, and only if, these conditions are met:

(a)  The entity had discontinued that hedging relationship solely due to changes required by interest rate benchmark
reform and the entity would not have been required to discontinue that hedging relationship if these amendments
had been applied at that time; and

(b)  Atthe beginning of the reporting period in which an entity first applies these amendments (date of initial application
of these amendments), that discontinued hedging relationship meets the qualifying criteria for hedge accounting
(after taking into account these amendments).

If, in applying paragraph 192, an entity reinstates a discontinued hedging relationship, the entity shall read references in
paragraphs 155X and 155Y to the date the alternative benchmark rate is designated as a non-contractually specified risk
component for the first time as referring to the date of initial application of these amendments (i.e., the 24-month period for
that alternative benchmark rate designated as a non-contractually specified risk component begins from the date of initial
application of these amendments).

An entity is not required to restate prior periods to reflect the application of these amendments. The entity may restate prior
periods if, and only if, it is possible without the use of hindsight. If an entity does not restate prior periods, the entity shall
recognize any difference between the previous carrying amount and the carrying amount at the beginning of the annual
reporting period that includes the date of initial application of these amendments in the opening net assets/equity (or other
component of net assets/equity, as appropriate) of the annual reporting period that includes the date of initial application of
these amendments.

Transition for Improvements to IPSAS, 2021

195.

An entity shall apply Improvements to IPSAS, 2021 to financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after the
beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendment.
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Appendix A

Application Guidance

This Appendix is an integral part of IPSAS 41.
Scope

AGI1. Some contracts require a payment based on climatic, geological or other physical variables. (Those based on climatic
variables are sometimes referred to as ‘weather derivatives’.) If those contracts are not insurance contracts, they are within
the scope of this Standard.

AG2. This Standard does not change the requirements relating to employee benefit plans that comply with the relevant international
or national accounting standard on accounting and reporting by retirement benefit plans and royalty agreements based on
the volume of sales or service revenues that are accounted for under IPSAS 9, Revenue from Exchange Transactions.

AG3. Sometimes, an entity makes what it views as a ‘strategic investment’ in equity instruments issued by another entity, with
the management model of establishing or maintaining a long-term operating relationship with the entity in which the
investment is made. The investor or joint venturer entity uses IPSAS 36, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures to
determine whether the equity method of accounting shall be applied to such an investment.

AG4. This Standard applies to the financial assets and financial liabilities of insurers, other than rights and obligations that
paragraph 2(e) excludes because they arise from insurance contracts. An entity does however apply this Standard to:

(a)  Financial guarantee contracts, except those where the issuer elects to treat such contracts as insurance contracts in
accordance with IPSAS 28; and

(b) Embedded derivatives included in insurance contracts.

An entity may, but is not required to, apply this Standard to other insurance contracts that involve the transfer of financial
risk.

AGS5.  Financial guarantee contracts may have various legal forms, such as a guarantee, some types of letter of credit, a credit
default contract or an insurance contract. Their accounting treatment does not depend on their legal form. The following
are examples of the appropriate treatment (see paragraph 2(e)):

(a)  Although a financial guarantee contract meets the definition of an insurance contract in IFRS 4 if the risk transferred
is significant, the issuer applies this Standard. Nevertheless, an entity may elect, under certain circumstances, to
treat financial guarantee contracts as insurance contracts of financial instruments using IPSAS 28 if the issuer has
previously adopted an accounting policy that treated financial guarantee contracts as insurance contracts and has
used accounting applicable to insurance contracts, the issuer may elect to apply either this Standard or the relevant
international or national accounting standard on insurance contracts to such financial guarantee contracts. If this
Standard applies, paragraph 57 requires the issuer to recognize a financial guarantee contract initially at fair value.
If the financial guarantee contract was issued to an unrelated party in a stand-alone arm’s length transaction, its fair
value at inception is likely to equal the premium received, unless there is evidence to the contrary. Subsequently,
unless the financial guarantee contract was designated at inception as at fair value through surplus or deficit or unless
paragraphs 26-34 and AG32—-AG38 apply (when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or
the continuing involvement approach applies), the issuer measures it at the higher of:

(1) The amount determined in accordance with paragraphs 73-93; and

(i1)  The amountinitially recognized less, when appropriate, the cumulative amortization recognized in accordance
with the principles of IPSAS 9 (see paragraph 45(c)).

(b) Some credit-related guarantees do not, as a precondition for payment, require that the holder is exposed to, and has
incurred a loss on, the failure of the debtor to make payments on the guaranteed asset when due. An example of such
a guarantee is one that requires payments in response to changes in a specified credit rating or credit index. Such
guarantees are not financial guarantee contracts as defined in this Standard, and are not insurance contracts. Such
guarantees are derivatives and the issuer applies this Standard to them.

(c) If a financial guarantee contract was issued in connection with the sale of goods, the issuer applies IPSAS 9 in
determining when it recognizes the revenue from the guarantee and from the sale of goods.

AG6.  Rights and obligations (assets and liabilities) may arise from non-exchange revenue transactions, for example, an entity may
receive cash from a multi-lateral agency to perform certain activities. Where the performance of those activities is subject
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to conditions, an asset and a liability is recognized simultaneously. Where the asset is a financial asset, it is recognized in
accordance with IPSAS 23, and initially measured in accordance with IPSAS 23 and this Standard. A liability that is initially
recognized as a result of conditions imposed on the use of an asset is outside the scope of this Standard and is dealt with
in IPSAS 23. After initial recognition, if circumstances indicate that recognition of a liability in accordance with IPSAS 23 is
no longer appropriate, an entity considers whether a financial liability should be recognized in accordance with this Standard.
Other liabilities that may arise from non-exchange revenue transactions are recognized and measured in accordance with this
Standard if they meet the definition of a financial liability in IPSAS 28.

Definitions

Derivatives

AGT.

AGS.

AG9I.

AGI10.

AGI11.

Typical examples of derivatives are futures and forward, swap and option contracts. A derivative usually has a notional
amount, which is an amount of currency, a number of shares, a number of units of weight or volume or other units specified
in the contract. However, a derivative instrument does not require the holder or writer to invest or receive the notional
amount at the inception of the contract. Alternatively, a derivative could require a fixed payment or payment of an amount
that can change (but not proportionally with a change in the underlying) as a result of some future event that is unrelated
to a notional amount. For example, a contract may require a fixed payment of CU1,000 if the six-month interbank offered
rate increases by 100 basis points. Such a contract is a derivative even though a notional amount is not specified.

The definition of a derivative in this Standard includes contracts that are settled gross by delivery of the underlying item
(e.g., a forward contract to purchase a fixed rate debt instrument). An entity may have a contract to buy or sell a non-financial
item that can be settled net in cash or another financial instrument or by exchanging financial instruments (e.g., a contract
to buy or sell a commodity at a fixed price at a future date). Such a contract is within the scope of this Standard unless it
was entered into and continues to be held for the purpose of delivery of a non-financial item in accordance with the entity’s
expected purchase, sale or usage requirements. However, this Standard applies to such contracts for an entity’s expected
purchase, sale or usage requirements if the entity makes a designation in accordance with paragraph 6 (see paragraphs 5-8).

One of the defining characteristics of a derivative is that it has an initial net investment that is smaller than would be
required for other types of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors. An
option contract meets that definition because the premium is less than the investment that would be required to obtain the
underlying financial instrument to which the option is linked. A currency swap that requires an initial exchange of different
currencies of equal fair values meets the definition because it has a zero initial net investment.

A regular way purchase or sale gives rise to a fixed price commitment between trade date and settlement date that
meets the definition of a derivative. However, because of the short duration of the commitment it is not recognized as a
derivative financial instrument. Instead, this Standard provides for special accounting for such regular way contracts (see
paragraphs 11 and AG17-AG20).

The definition of a derivative refers to non-financial variables that are not specific to a party to the contract. These include
an index of earthquake losses in a particular region and an index of temperatures in a particular city. Non-financial variables
specific to a party to the contract include the occurrence or non-occurrence of a fire that damages or destroys an asset of a
party to the contract. A change in the fair value of a non-financial asset is specific to the owner if the fair value reflects not
only changes in market prices for such assets (a financial variable) but also the condition of the specific non-financial asset
held (a non-financial variable). For example, if a guarantee of the residual value of a specific car exposes the guarantor
to the risk of changes in the car’s physical condition, the change in that residual value is specific to the owner of the car.

Financial Assets and Liabilities Held for Trading

AGI2.

AG13.

Trading generally reflects active and frequent buying and selling, and financial instruments held for trading generally are
used with the objective of generating a profit from short-term fluctuations in price or dealer’s margin.

Financial liabilities held for trading include:
(a)  Derivative liabilities that are not accounted for as hedging instruments;

(b)  Obligations to deliver financial assets borrowed by a short seller (i.e., an entity that sells financial assets it has
borrowed and does not yet own);

(¢) Financial liabilities that are incurred with a management model to repurchase them in the near term (e.g., a quoted
debt instrument that the issuer may buy back in the near term depending on changes in its fair value); and

(d) Financial liabilities that are part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for
which there is evidence of a recent pattern of short-term profit-taking.
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The fact that a liability is used to fund trading activities does not in itself make that liability one that is held for trading.

Recognition and Derecognition

Initial Recognition

AGI15.

AGle.

Regular
AG17.

AGIS.

AG19.

AG20.

As a consequence of the principle in paragraph 10, an entity recognizes all of its contractual rights and obligations under
derivatives in its statement of financial position as assets and liabilities, respectively, except for derivatives that prevent a
transfer of financial assets from being accounted for as a sale (see paragraph AG35). If a transfer of a financial asset does
not qualify for derecognition, the transferee does not recognize the transferred asset as its asset (see paragraph AG36).

The following are examples of applying the principle in paragraph 10:

(a) Unconditional receivables and payables are recognized as assets or liabilities when the entity becomes a party to the
contract and, as a consequence, has a legal right to receive or a legal obligation to pay cash.

(b) Assets to be acquired and liabilities to be incurred as a result of a firm commitment to purchase or sell goods
or services are generally not recognized until at least one of the parties has performed under the agreement. For
example, an entity that receives a firm order does not generally recognize an asset (and the entity that places the
order does not recognize a liability) at the time of the commitment but, instead, delays recognition until the ordered
goods or services have been shipped, delivered or rendered. If a firm commitment to buy or sell non-financial
items is within the scope of this Standard in accordance with paragraphs 5-8, its net fair value is recognized as an
asset or a liability on the commitment date (see paragraph AG92(c)). In addition, if a previously unrecognized firm
commitment is designated as a hedged item in a fair value hedge, any change in the net fair value attributable to the
hedged risk is recognized as an asset or a liability after the inception of the hedge (see paragraphs 137(b) and 138).

(¢) A forward contract that is within the scope of this Standard (see paragraph 2) is recognized as an asset or a liability
on the commitment date, instead of on the date on which settlement takes place. When an entity becomes a party to
a forward contract, the fair values of the right and obligation are often equal, so that the net fair value of the forward
is zero. If the net fair value of the right and obligation is not zero, the contract is recognized as an asset or liability.

(d)  Option contracts that are within the scope of this Standard (see paragraph 2) are recognized as assets or liabilities
when the holder or writer becomes a party to the contract.

() Planned future transactions, no matter how likely, are not assets and liabilities because the entity has not become a
party to a contract.

Way Purchase or Sale of Financial Assets

A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets is recognized using either trade date accounting or settlement date
accounting as described in paragraphs AG19 and AG20. An entity shall apply the same method consistently for all purchases
and sales of financial assets that are classified in the same way in accordance with this Standard. For this purpose assets
that are mandatorily measured at fair value through surplus or deficit form a separate classification from assets designated
as measured at fair value through surplus or deficit. In addition, investments in equity instruments accounted for using the
option provided in paragraph 106 form a separate classification.

A contract that requires or permits net settlement of the change in the value of the contract is not a regular way contract.
Instead, such a contract is accounted for as a derivative in the period between the trade date and the settlement date.

The trade date is the date that an entity commits itself to purchase or sell an asset. Trade date accounting refers to (a) the
recognition of an asset to be received and the liability to pay for it on the trade date, and (b) derecognition of an asset that is sold,
recognition of any gain or loss on disposal and the recognition of a receivable from the buyer for payment on the trade date.
Generally, interest does not start to accrue on the asset and corresponding liability until the settlement date when title passes.

The settlement date is the date that an asset is delivered to or by an entity. Settlement date accounting refers to (a) the
recognition of an asset on the day it is received by the entity, and (b) the derecognition of an asset and recognition of any
gain or loss on disposal on the day that it is delivered by the entity. When settlement date accounting is applied an entity
accounts for any change in the fair value of the asset to be received during the period between the trade date and the
settlement date in the same way as it accounts for the acquired asset. In other words, the change in value is not recognized
for assets measured at amortized cost; it is recognized in surplus or deficit for assets classified as financial assets measured
at fair value through surplus or deficit; and it is recognized in net assets/equity for financial assets measured at fair value
through net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 41 and for investments in equity instruments accounted for in
accordance with paragraph 106.
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Derecognition of Financial Assets

AG21. The following flow chart illustrates the evaluation of whether and to what extent a financial asset is derecognized.

Consolidate all controlled entities [Paragraph 12]

Determine whether the derecognition principles below are applied
to a part or all of an asset (or group of similar assets) [Paragraph 13]

Have the rights to the cash flows from the Yes

asset expired or been waived?
[Paragraph 14(a)]

-
S

No

Has the entity transferred its rights to
receive the cash flows from the asset?
[Paragraph 15(a)]

Has the entity assumed an obligation

]‘Z
o

No

Derecognize the asset

to pay the cash flows from the asset that
meets the conditions in paragraph 16?
[Paragraph 15(b)]

{

Yes

Has the entity transferred Yes

|

A 4

Continue to recognize the asset

substantially all risks and rewards?
[Paragraph 17(a)]

A

Has the entity retained Yes

I\

A 4

Derecognize the asset

substantially all risks and rewards?
[Paragraph 17(b)]

A

Has the entity retained

A

A\ 4

Continue to recognize the asset

control of the asset?
[Paragraph 17(c)]

\

Yes

Continue to recognize the asset to the extent of the entity’s
continuing involvement
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A 4

Derecognize the asset
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Arrangements Under which an Entity Retains the Contractual Rights to Receive the Cash Flows of a Financial Asset, but Assumes
a Contractual Obligation to Pay the Cash Flows to One or More Recipients (paragraph 15(b))

AG22.

AG23.

The situation described in paragraph 15(b) (when an entity retains the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of
the financial asset, but assumes a contractual obligation to pay the cash flows to one or more recipients) occurs, for
example, if the entity is a trust, and issues to investors beneficial interests in the underlying financial assets that it owns and
provides servicing of those financial assets. In that case, the financial assets qualify for derecognition if the conditions in
paragraphs 16 and 17 are met.

In applying paragraph 16, the entity could be, for example, the originator of the financial asset, or it could be an economic
entity that includes a controlled entity that has acquired the financial asset and passes on cash flows to unrelated third party
investors.

Evaluation of the Transfer of Risks and Rewards of Ownership (paragraph 17)

AG24.

AG25.

AG26.

Examples of when an entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are:
(a)  Anunconditional sale of a financial asset;

(b) A sale of a financial asset together with an option to repurchase the financial asset at its fair value at the time of
repurchase; and

(¢) Asale of a financial asset together with a put or call option that is deeply out of the money (i.e., an option that is so
far out of the money it is highly unlikely to go into the money before expiry).

Examples of when an entity has retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are:

(a) A sale and repurchase transaction where the repurchase price is a fixed price or the sale price plus a lender’s return;
(b) A securities lending agreement;

(¢) Asale of a financial asset together with a total return swap that transfers the market risk exposure back to the entity;

(d) A sale of a financial asset together with a deep in-the-money put or call option (i.e., an option that is so far in the
money that it is highly unlikely to go out of the money before expiry); and

(e) A sale of short-term receivables in which the entity guarantees to compensate the transferee for credit losses that are
likely to occur.

If an entity determines that as a result of the transfer, it has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the transferred asset, it does not recognize the transferred asset again in a future period, unless it reacquires the transferred
asset in a new transaction.

Evaluation of the Transfer of Control

AG27.

AG28.

An entity has not retained control of a transferred asset if the transferee has the practical ability to sell the transferred
asset. An entity has retained control of a transferred asset if the transferee does not have the practical ability to sell the
transferred asset. A transferee has the practical ability to sell the transferred asset if it is traded in an active market because
the transferee could repurchase the transferred asset in the market if it needs to return the asset to the entity. For example, a
transferee may have the practical ability to sell a transferred asset if the transferred asset is subject to an option that allows
the entity to repurchase it, but the transferee can readily obtain the transferred asset in the market if the option is exercised.
A transferee does not have the practical ability to sell the transferred asset if the entity retains such an option and the
transferee cannot readily obtain the transferred asset in the market if the entity exercises its option.

The transferee has the practical ability to sell the transferred asset only if the transferee can sell the transferred asset in
its entirety to an unrelated third party and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without imposing additional
restrictions on the transfer. The critical question is what the transferee is able to do in practice, not what contractual rights
the transferee has concerning what it can do with the transferred asset or what contractual prohibitions exist. In particular:

(a)  Acontractual right to dispose of the transferred asset has little practical effect if there is no market for the transferred
asset, and

(b)  Anability to dispose of the transferred asset has little practical effect if it cannot be exercised freely. For that reason:

(i)  The transferee’s ability to dispose of the transferred asset must be independent of the actions of others (i.e.,
it must be a unilateral ability), and
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(i)  The transferee must be able to dispose of the transferred asset without needing to attach restrictive conditions
or “strings” to the transfer (e.g., conditions about how a loan asset is serviced or an option giving the transferee
the right to repurchase the asset).

That the transferee is unlikely to sell the transferred asset does not, of itself, mean that the transferor has retained control
of the transferred asset. However, if a put option or guarantee constrains the transferee from selling the transferred asset,
then the transferor has retained control of the transferred asset. For example, if a put option or guarantee is sufficiently
valuable it constrains the transferee from selling the transferred asset because the transferee would, in practice, not sell the
transferred asset to a third party without attaching a similar option or other restrictive conditions. Instead, the transferee
would hold the transferred asset so as to obtain payments under the guarantee or put option. Under these circumstances the
transferor has retained control of the transferred asset.

Transfers that Qualify for Derecognition

AG30.

AG31.

An entity may retain the right to a part of the interest payments on transferred assets as compensation for servicing
those assets. The part of the interest payments that the entity would give up upon termination or transfer of the servicing
contract is allocated to the servicing asset or servicing liability. The part of the interest payments that the entity would not
give up is an interest-only strip receivable. For example, if the entity would not give up any interest upon termination or
transfer of the servicing contract, the entire interest spread is an interest-only strip receivable. For the purposes of applying
paragraph 24, the fair values of the servicing asset and interest-only strip receivable are used to allocate the carrying
amount of the receivable between the part of the asset that is derecognized and the part that continues to be recognized.
If there is no servicing fee specified or the fee to be received is not expected to compensate the entity adequately for
performing the servicing, a liability for the servicing obligation is recognized at fair value.

When measuring the fair values of the part that continues to be recognized and the part that is derecognized for the
purposes of applying paragraph 24, an entity applies the fair value measurement requirements in paragraphs 66—68 and
AG144-AG155.

Transfers that do not Qualify for Derecognition

AG32.

The following is an application of the principle outlined in paragraph 26. If a guarantee provided by the entity for default
losses on the transferred asset prevents a transferred asset from being derecognized because the entity has retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred asset, the transferred asset continues to be recognized
in its entirety and the consideration received is recognized as a liability.

Sale of Future Flows Arising from a Sovereign Right

AG33.

In the public sector, securitization schemes may involve a sale of future flows arising from a sovereign right, such as a
right to taxation, that have not previously been recognized as assets. An entity recognizes the revenue arising from such
transactions in accordance with the relevant revenue standard (see IPSAS 9 and IPSAS 23). Such transactions may give
rise to financial liabilities as defined in IPSAS 28. Examples of such financial liabilities may include but are not limited to
borrowings, financial guarantees, liabilities arising from a servicing or administrative contract, or payables relating to cash
collected on behalf of the purchasing entity. Financial liabilities shall be recognized when the entity becomes party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument in accordance with paragraph 10 and classified in accordance with paragraphs 45
and 46. The financial liabilities shall be initially recognized in accordance with paragraph 57, and subsequently measured
in accordance with paragraphs 62 and 63.

Continuing Involvement in Transferred Assets

AG34.

The following are examples of how an entity measures a transferred asset and the associated liability under paragraph 27.

All Assets

(a) If a guarantee provided by an entity to pay for default losses on a transferred asset prevents the transferred asset
from being derecognized to the extent of the continuing involvement, the transferred asset at the date of the
transfer is measured at the lower of (i) the carrying amount of the asset and (ii) the maximum amount of the
consideration received in the transfer that the entity could be required to repay (‘the guarantee amount’). The
associated liability is initially measured at the guarantee amount plus the fair value of the guarantee (which is
normally the consideration received for the guarantee). Subsequently, the initial fair value of the guarantee is
recognized in surplus or deficit on a time proportion basis (see IPSAS 9) and the carrying value of the asset is
reduced by any loss allowance.
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Assets Measured at Amortized Cost

(b)

If a put option obligation written by an entity or call option right held by an entity prevents a transferred asset
from being derecognized and the entity measures the transferred asset at amortized cost, the associated liability is
measured at its cost (i.e., the consideration received) adjusted for the amortization of any difference between that
cost and the gross carrying amount of the transferred asset at the expiration date of the option. For example, assume
that the gross carrying amount of the asset on the date of the transfer is CU98 and that the consideration received is
CU95. The gross carrying amount of the asset on the option exercise date will be CU100. The initial carrying amount
of the associated liability is CU95 and the difference between CU95 and CU100 is recognized in surplus or deficit
using the effective interest method. If the option is exercised, any difference between the carrying amount of the
associated liability and the exercise price is recognized in surplus or deficit.

Assets Measured at Fair Value

(©)

(d)

(e)

If a call option right retained by an entity prevents a transferred asset from being derecognized and the entity
measures the transferred asset at fair value, the asset continues to be measured at its fair value. The associated
liability is measured at (i) the option exercise price less the time value of the option if the option is in or at the
money, or (ii) the fair value of the transferred asset less the time value of the option if the option is out of the money.
The adjustment to the measurement of the associated liability ensures that the net carrying amount of the asset and
the associated liability is the fair value of the call option right. For example, if the fair value of the underlying asset
is CU80, the option exercise price is CU95 and the time value of the option is CUS, the carrying amount of the
associated liability is CU75 (CU80 — CUS5) and the carrying amount of the transferred asset is CUS8O0 (i.e., its fair
value).

If a put option written by an entity prevents a transferred asset from being derecognized and the entity measures the
transferred asset at fair value, the associated liability is measured at the option exercise price plus the time value of
the option. The measurement of the asset at fair value is limited to the lower of the fair value and the option exercise
price because the entity has no right to increases in the fair value of the transferred asset above the exercise price of
the option. This ensures that the net carrying amount of the asset and the associated liability is the fair value of the
put option obligation. For example, if the fair value of the underlying asset is CU120, the option exercise price is
CU100 and the time value of the option is CUS5, the carrying amount of the associated liability is CU105 (CU100 +
CUS5) and the carrying amount of the asset is CU100 (in this case the option exercise price).

If a collar, in the form of a purchased call and written put, prevents a transferred asset from being derecognized and
the entity measures the asset at fair value, it continues to measure the asset at fair value. The associated liability
is measured at (i) the sum of the call exercise price and fair value of the put option less the time value of the call
option, if the call option is in or at the money, or (ii) the sum of the fair value of the asset and the fair value of the put
option less the time value of the call option if the call option is out of the money. The adjustment to the associated
liability ensures that the net carrying amount of the asset and the associated liability is the fair value of the options
held and written by the entity. For example, assume an entity transfers a financial asset that is measured at fair value
while simultaneously purchasing a call with an exercise price of CU120 and writing a put with an exercise price of
CUB80. Assume also that the fair value of the asset is CU100 at the date of the transfer. The time value of the put and
call are CU1 and CUS respectively. In this case, the entity recognizes an asset of CU100 (the fair value of the asset)
and a liability of CU96 [(CU100 + CU1) — CUS5]. This gives a net asset value of CU4, which is the fair value of the
options held and written by the entity.

All Transfers

To the extent that a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition, the transferor’s contractual rights
or obligations related to the transfer are not accounted for separately as derivatives if recognizing both the derivative
and either the transferred asset or the liability arising from the transfer would result in recognizing the same rights or
obligations twice. For example, a call option retained by the transferor may prevent a transfer of financial assets from being
accounted for as a sale. In that case, the call option is not separately recognized as a derivative asset.

To the extent that a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition, the transferee does not recognize the
transferred asset as its asset. The transferee derecognizes the cash or other consideration paid and recognizes a receivable
from the transferor. If the transferor has both a right and an obligation to reacquire control of the entire transferred asset
for a fixed amount (such as under a repurchase agreement), the transferee may measure its receivable at amortized cost if
it meets the criteria in paragraph 40.
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Examples

The following examples illustrate the application of the derecognition principles of this Standard.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

®

(g

(h)

(1)

W)

Repurchase agreements and securities lending. If a financial asset is sold under an agreement to repurchase it at a
fixed price or at the sale price plus a lender’s return or if it is loaned under an agreement to return it to the transferor,
it is not derecognized because the transferor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. If the
transferee obtains the right to sell or pledge the asset, the transferor reclassifies the asset in its statement of financial
position, for example, as a loaned asset or repurchase receivable.

Repurchase agreements and securities lending—assets that are substantially the same. If a financial asset is sold
under an agreement to repurchase the same or substantially the same asset at a fixed price or at the sale price plus a
lender’s return or if a financial asset is borrowed or loaned under an agreement to return the same or substantially
the same asset to the transferor, it is not derecognized because the transferor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.

Repurchase agreements and securities lending—right of substitution. If a repurchase agreement at a fixed repurchase
price or a price equal to the sale price plus a lender’s return, or a similar securities lending transaction, provides
the transferee with a right to substitute assets that are similar and of equal fair value to the transferred asset at the
repurchase date, the asset sold or lent under a repurchase or securities lending transaction is not derecognized
because the transferor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Repurchase right of first refusal at fair value. If an entity sells a financial asset and retains only a right of first refusal
to repurchase the transferred asset at fair value if the transferee subsequently sells it, the entity derecognizes the asset
because it has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Wash sale transaction. The repurchase of a financial asset shortly after it has been sold is sometimes referred to
as a wash sale. Such a repurchase does not preclude derecognition provided that the original transaction met the
derecognition requirements. However, if an agreement to sell a financial asset is entered into concurrently with an
agreement to repurchase the same asset at a fixed price or the sale price plus a lender’s return, then the asset is not
derecognized.

Put options and call options that are deeply in the money. If a transferred financial asset can be called back by the
transferor and the call option is deeply in the money, the transfer does not qualify for derecognition because the
transferor has retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. Similarly, if the financial asset can be
put back by the transferee and the put option is deeply in the money, the transfer does not qualify for derecognition
because the transferor has retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Put options and call options that are deeply out of the money. A financial asset that is transferred subject only to a
deep out-of-the-money put option held by the transferee or a deep out-of-the-money call option held by the transferor
is derecognized. This is because the transferor has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Readily obtainable assets subject to a call option that is neither deeply in the money nor deeply out of the money.
If an entity holds a call option on an asset that is readily obtainable in the market and the option is neither deeply in
the money nor deeply out of the money, the asset is derecognized. This is because the entity (i) has neither retained
nor transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, and (ii) has not retained control. However, if the
asset is not readily obtainable in the market, derecognition is precluded to the extent of the amount of the asset that
is subject to the call option because the entity has retained control of the asset.

A not readily obtainable asset subject to a put option written by an entity that is neither deeply in the money nor
deeply out of the money. If an entity transfers a financial asset that is not readily obtainable in the market, and
writes a put option that is not deeply out of the money, the entity neither retains nor transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership because of the written put option. The entity retains control of the asset if the put
option is sufficiently valuable to prevent the transferee from selling the asset, in which case the asset continues to
be recognized to the extent of the transferor’s continuing involvement (see paragraph AG29). The entity transfers
control of the asset if the put option is not sufficiently valuable to prevent the transferee from selling the asset, in
which case the asset is derecognized.

Assets subject to a fair value put or call option or a forward repurchase agreement. A transfer of a financial asset
that is subject only to a put or call option or a forward repurchase agreement that has an exercise or repurchase price
equal to the fair value of the financial asset at the time of repurchase results in derecognition because of the transfer
of substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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Cash-settled call or put options. An entity evaluates the transfer of a financial asset that is subject to a put or call
option or a forward repurchase agreement that will be settled net in cash to determine whether it has retained or
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. If the entity has not retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the transferred asset, it determines whether it has retained control of the transferred
asset. That the put or the call or the forward repurchase agreement is settled net in cash does not automatically mean
that the entity has transferred control (see paragraphs AG29 and (g), (h) and (i) above).

Removal of accounts provision. A removal of accounts provision is an unconditional repurchase (call) option that
gives an entity the right to reclaim assets transferred subject to some restrictions. Provided that such an option results
in the entity neither retaining nor transferring substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, it precludes
derecognition only to the extent of the amount subject to repurchase (assuming that the transferee cannot sell the
assets). For example, if the carrying amount and proceeds from the transfer of loan assets are CU100,000 and any
individual loan could be called back but the aggregate amount of loans that could be repurchased could not exceed
CU10,000, CU90,000 of the loans would qualify for derecognition.

Clean-up calls. An entity, which may be a transferor, that services transferred assets may hold a clean-up call to
purchase remaining transferred assets when the amount of outstanding assets falls to a specified level at which the
cost of servicing those assets becomes burdensome in relation to the benefits of servicing. Provided that such a clean-
up call results in the entity neither retaining nor transferring substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
the transferee cannot sell the assets, it precludes derecognition only to the extent of the amount of the assets that is
subject to the call option.

Subordinated retained interests and credit guarantees. An entity may provide the transferee with credit enhancement
by subordinating some or all of its interest retained in the transferred asset. Alternatively, an entity may provide the
transferee with credit enhancement in the form of a credit guarantee that could be unlimited or limited to a specified
amount. If the entity retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the transferred asset, the asset
continues to be recognized in its entirety. If the entity retains some, but not substantially all, of the risks and rewards
of ownership and has retained control, derecognition is precluded to the extent of the amount of cash or other assets
that the entity could be required to pay.

Total return swaps. An entity may sell a financial asset to a transferee and enter into a total return swap with the
transferee, whereby all of the interest payment cash flows from the underlying asset are remitted to the entity
in exchange for a fixed payment or variable rate payment and any increases or declines in the fair value of the
underlying asset are absorbed by the entity. In such a case, derecognition of all of the asset is prohibited.

Interest rate swaps. An entity may transfer to a transferee a fixed rate financial asset and enter into an interest rate
swap with the transferee to receive a fixed interest rate and pay a variable interest rate based on a notional amount
that is equal to the principal amount of the transferred financial asset. The interest rate swap does not preclude
derecognition of the transferred asset provided the payments on the swap are not conditional on payments being
made on the transferred asset.

Amortizing interest rate swaps. An entity may transfer to a transferee a fixed rate financial asset that is paid off
over time, and enter into an amortizing interest rate swap with the transferee to receive a fixed interest rate and pay
a variable interest rate based on a notional amount. If the notional amount of the swap amortizes so that it equals
the principal amount of the transferred financial asset outstanding at any point in time, the swap would generally
result in the entity retaining substantial prepayment risk, in which case the entity either continues to recognize all
of the transferred asset or continues to recognize the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement.
Conversely, if the amortization of the notional amount of the swap is not linked to the principal amount outstanding
of the transferred asset, such a swap would not result in the entity retaining prepayment risk on the asset. Hence, it
would not preclude derecognition of the transferred asset provided the payments on the swap are not conditional on
interest payments being made on the transferred asset and the swap does not result in the entity retaining any other
significant risks and rewards of ownership on the transferred asset.

Write-off. An entity has no reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual cash flows on a financial asset in
its entirety or a portion thereof.

AG38. This paragraph illustrates the application of the continuing involvement approach when the entity’s continuing involvement
is in a part of a financial asset.
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Assume an entity has a portfolio of prepayable loans whose coupon and effective interest rate is 10 percent and whose principal
amount and amortized cost is CU10,000. It enters into a transaction in which, in return for a payment of CU9,115, the transferee
obtains the right to CU9,000 of any collections of principal plus interest thereon at 9.5 percent. The entity retains rights to
CU1,000 of any collections of principal plus interest thereon at 10 percent, plus the excess spread of 0.5 percent on the remaining
CU9,000 of principal. Collections from prepayments are allocated between the entity and the transferee proportionately in the
ratio of 1:9, but any defaults are deducted from the entity’s interest of CU1,000 until that interest is exhausted. The fair value
of the loans at the date of the transaction is CU10,100 and the estimated fair value of the excess spread of 0.5 percent is CU40.

The entity determines that it has transferred some significant risks and rewards of ownership (for example, significant prepayment risk)
but has also retained some significant risks and rewards of ownership (because of its subordinated retained interest) and has retained
control. It therefore applies the continuing involvement approach.

To apply this Standard, the entity analyzes the transaction as (a) a retention of a fully proportionate retained interest of CU1,000,
plus (b) the subordination of that retained interest to provide credit enhancement to the transferee for credit losses.

The entity calculates that CU9,090 (90 percent x CU10,100) of the consideration received of CU9,115 represents the consideration
for a fully proportionate 90 percent share. The remainder of the consideration received (CU25) represents consideration received
for subordinating its retained interest to provide credit enhancement to the transferee for credit losses. In addition, the excess
spread of 0.5 percent represents consideration received for the credit enhancement. Accordingly, the total consideration received
for the credit enhancement is CU65 (CU25 + CU40).

The entity calculates the gain or loss on the sale of the 90 percent share of cash flows. Assuming that separate fair values of the 90
percent part transferred and the 10 percent part retained are not available at the date of the transfer, the entity allocates the carrying
amount of the asset in accordance with paragraph 25 as follows:

Estimated fair value Percentage Allocated carrying amount
Portion transferred 9,090 90 percent 9,000
Portion retained 1,010 10 percent 1,000
Total 10,100 10,000

The entity computes its gain or loss on the sale of the 90 percent share of the cash flows by deducting the allocated carrying
amount of the portion transferred from the consideration received, i.e., CU90 (CU9,090 — CU9,000). The carrying amount of the
portion retained by the entity is CU1,000.

In addition, the entity recognizes the continuing involvement that results from the subordination of its retained interest for credit
losses. Accordingly, it recognizes an asset of CU1,000 (the maximum amount of the cash flows it would not receive under the
subordination), and an associated liability of CU1,065 (which is the maximum amount of the cash flows it would not receive
under the subordination, i.e., CU1,000 plus the fair value of the subordination of CU65).

The entity uses all of the above information to account for the transaction as follows:

Debit Credit
Original asset — 9,000
Asset recognized for subordination or the residual
interest 1,000 —
Asset for the consideration received in the form of
excess spread 40 —
Surplus or deficit (gain on transfer) — 90
Liability — 1,065
Cash received 9,115 —
Total 10,155 10,155
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Immediately following the transaction, the carrying amount of the asset is CU2,040 comprising CU1,000, representing the allocated
cost of the portion retained, and CU1,040, representing the entity’s additional continuing involvement from the subordination of
its retained interest for credit losses (which includes the excess spread of CU40).

In subsequent periods, the entity recognizes the consideration received for the credit enhancement (CU65) on a time proportion
basis, accrues interest on the recognized asset using the effective interest method and recognizes any impairment losses on the
recognized assets. As an example of the latter, assume that in the following year there is an impairment loss on the underlying
loans of CU300. The entity reduces its recognized asset by CU600 (CU300 relating to its retained interest and CU300 relating
to the additional continuing involvement that arises from the subordination of its retained interest for impairment losses), and
reduces its recognized liability by CU300. The net result is a charge to surplus or deficit for impairment losses of CU300.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Derecognition of Financial Liabilities

AG39.

AG40.

AG41.

AG42.

AG43.

AG44.

AG4S.

AG46.

A financial liability (or part of it) is extinguished when the debtor either:

(a) Discharges the liability (or part of it) by paying the creditor, normally with cash, other financial assets, goods or
services; or

(b) Is legally released from primary responsibility for the liability (or part of it) either by process of law or by the
creditor. (If the debtor has given a guarantee this condition may still be met.)

If an issuer of a debt instrument repurchases that instrument, the debt is extinguished even if the issuer is a market maker
in that instrument or intends to resell it in the near term.

Payment to a third party, including a trust (sometimes called ‘in-substance defeasance’), does not, by itself, relieve the
debtor of its primary obligation to the creditor, in the absence of legal release.

If a debtor pays a third party to assume an obligation and notifies its creditor that the third party has assumed its debt
obligation, the debtor does not derecognize the debt obligation unless the condition in paragraph AG39(b) is met. If the
debtor pays a third party to assume an obligation and obtains a legal release from its creditor, the debtor has extinguished
the debt. However, if the debtor agrees to make payments on the debt to the third party or direct to its original creditor, the
debtor recognizes a new debt obligation to the third party.

If a third party assumes an obligation of an entity, and the entity provides either no or only nominal consideration to that
third party in return, an entity applies the derecognition requirements of this Standard as well as paragraphs 84 to 87 of
IPSAS 23.

Lenders will sometimes waive their right to collect debt owed by a public sector entity, for example, a national government
may cancel a loan owed by a local government. This waiver of debt would constitute a legal release of the debt owing by
the borrower to the lender. Where an entity’s obligations have been waived as part of a non-exchange transaction it applies
the derecognition requirements of this Standard as well as paragraphs 84—87 of IPSAS 23.

Although legal release, whether judicially or by the creditor, results in derecognition of a liability, the entity may recognize
a new liability if the derecognition criteria in paragraphs 12-34 are not met for the financial assets transferred. If those
criteria are not met, the transferred assets are not derecognized, and the entity recognizes a new liability relating to the
transferred assets.

For the purpose of paragraph 36, the terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under
the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is
at least 10 percent different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.
In determining those fees paid net of fees received, a borrower includes only fees paid or received between the borrower
and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf.

AG46A. If an exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees

AG47.

incurred are recognized as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is not accounted
for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortized over the
remaining term of the modified liability.

In some cases, a creditor releases a debtor from its present obligation to make payments, but the debtor assumes a guarantee
obligation to pay if the party assuming primary responsibility defaults. In these circumstances the debtor:

(a) Recognizes a new financial liability based on the fair value of its obligation for the guarantee; and
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(b) Recognizes a gain or loss based on the difference between (i) any proceeds paid and (ii) the carrying amount of the
original financial liability less the fair value of the new financial liability.

Classification

Classification of Financial Assets

The Entity’s Management Model for Financial Assets

AG48.

AG49.

AG50.

AGS1.

Paragraph 39(a) requires an entity to classify financial assets on the basis of the entity’s management model for the financial
assets, unless paragraph 44 applies. An entity assesses whether its financial assets meet the condition in paragraph 40(a)
or the condition in paragraph 41(a) on the basis of the management model as determined by the entity’s key management
personnel (as defined in IPSAS 20, Related Party Disclosures).

An entity’s management model is determined at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together
to achieve a particular objective. The entity’s management model does not depend on management’s intentions for an
individual instrument. Accordingly, this condition is not an instrument-by-instrument approach to classification and should
be determined on a higher level of aggregation. However, a single entity may have more than one management model for
its financial instruments. Consequently, classification need not be determined at the reporting entity level. For example, an
entity may hold a portfolio of investments that it manages in order to collect contractual cash flows and another portfolio
of investments that it manages in order to trade to realize fair value changes. Similarly, in some circumstances, it may
be appropriate to separate a portfolio of financial assets into sub-portfolios in order to reflect the level at which an entity
manages those financial assets. For example, that may be the case if an entity originates or purchases a portfolio of
mortgage loans and manages some of the loans with an objective of collecting contractual cash flows and manages the
other loans with an objective of selling them.

An entity’s management model refers to how an entity manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. That is,
the entity’s management model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling
financial assets or both. Consequently, this assessment is not performed on the basis of scenarios that the entity does not
reasonably expect to occur, such as so-called ‘worst case’ or ‘stress case’ scenarios. For example, if an entity expects that
it will sell a particular portfolio of financial assets only in a stress case scenario, that scenario would not affect the entity’s
assessment of the management model for those assets if the entity reasonably expects that such a scenario will not occur.
If cash flows are realized in a way that is different from the entity’s expectations at the date that the entity assessed the
management model (for example, if the entity sells more or fewer financial assets than it expected when it classified the
assets), that does not give rise to a prior period error in the entity’s financial statements (see IPSAS 3, Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors) nor does it change the classification of the remaining financial assets held
in that management model (i.e., those assets that the entity recognized in prior periods and still holds) as long as the
entity considered all relevant information that was available at the time that it made the management model assessment.
However, when an entity assesses the management model for newly originated or newly purchased financial assets, it must
consider information about how cash flows were realized in the past, along with all other relevant information.

An entity’s management model for financial assets is a matter of fact and not merely an assertion. It is typically observable
through the activities that the entity undertakes to achieve the objective of the management model. An entity will need to
use judgment when it assesses its management model for financial assets and that assessment is not determined by a single
factor or activity. Instead, the entity must consider all relevant evidence that is available at the date of the assessment. Such
relevant evidence includes, but is not limited to:

(a) How the performance of the management model and the financial assets held within that management model are
evaluated and reported to the entity’s key management personnel;

(b)  Therisks that affect the performance of the management model (and the financial assets held within that management
model) and, in particular, the way in which those risks are managed; and

(c) How management is compensated (for example, whether the compensation is based on the fair value of the assets
managed or on the contractual cash flows collected).

A Management Model Whose Objective is to Hold Assets in Order to Collect Contractual Cash Flows

AGS52.

Financial assets that are held within a management model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows are managed to realize cash flows by collecting contractual payments over the life of the instrument. That is, the
entity manages the assets held within the portfolio to collect those particular contractual cash flows (instead of managing
the overall return on the portfolio by both holding and selling assets). In determining whether cash flows are going to be
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AG54.

AGSS.

AGS56.
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realized by collecting the financial assets’ contractual cash flows, it is necessary to consider the frequency, value and timing
of'sales in prior periods, the reasons for those sales and expectations about future sales activity. However sales in themselves
do not determine the management model and therefore cannot be considered in isolation. Instead, information about past
sales and expectations about future sales provide evidence related to how the entity’s stated objective for managing the
financial assets is achieved and, specifically, how cash flows are realized. An entity must consider information about past
sales within the context of the reasons for those sales and the conditions that existed at that time as compared to current
conditions.

Although the objective of an entity’s management model may be to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, the entity need not hold all of those instruments until maturity. Thus an entity’s management model can be to
hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows even when sales of financial assets occur or are expected to occur in
the future.

The management model may be to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows even if the entity sells financial assets when
there is an increase in the assets’ credit risk. To determine whether there has been an increase in the assets’ credit risk,
the entity considers reasonable and supportable information, including forward looking information. Irrespective of their
frequency and value, sales due to an increase in the assets’ credit risk are not inconsistent with a management model whose
objective is to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows because the credit quality of financial assets is relevant
to the entity’s ability to collect contractual cash flows. Credit risk management activities that are aimed at minimizing
potential credit losses due to credit deterioration are integral to such a management model. Selling a financial asset because
it no longer meets the credit criteria specified in the entity’s documented investment policy is an example of a sale that has
occurred due to an increase in credit risk. However, in the absence of such a policy, the entity may demonstrate in other
ways that the sale occurred due to an increase in credit risk.

Sales that occur for other reasons, such as sales made to manage credit concentration risk (without an increase in the
assets’ credit risk), may also be consistent with a management model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order
to collect contractual cash flows. In particular, such sales may be consistent with a management model whose objective is
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows if those sales are infrequent (even if significant in value)
or insignificant in value both individually and in aggregate (even if frequent). If more than an infrequent number of such
sales are made out of a portfolio and those sales are more than insignificant in value (either individually or in aggregate),
the entity needs to assess whether and how such sales are consistent with an objective of collecting contractual cash flows.
Whether a third party imposes the requirement to sell the financial assets, or that activity is at the entity’s discretion, is
not relevant to this assessment. An increase in the frequency or value of sales in a particular period is not necessarily
inconsistent with an objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, if an entity can explain
the reasons for those sales and demonstrate why those sales do not reflect a change in the entity’s management model. In
addition, sales may be consistent with the objective of holding financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows if
the sales are made close to the maturity of the financial assets and the proceeds from the sales approximate the collection
of the remaining contractual cash flows.

The following are examples of when the objective of an entity’s management model may be to hold financial assets to
collect the contractual cash flows. This list of examples is not exhaustive. Furthermore, the examples are not intended
to discuss all factors that may be relevant to the assessment of the entity’s management model nor specify the relative
importance of the factors.
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Example

Analysis

Example 1

An entity holds investments to collect their contractual cash flows.
The funding needs of the entity are predictable and the maturity of its
financial assets is matched to the entity’s estimated funding needs.

The entity performs credit risk management activities with the objective
of minimizing credit losses. In the past, sales have typically occurred
when the financial assets’ credit risk has increased such that the assets
no longer meet the credit criteria specified in the entity’s documented
investment policy. In addition, infrequent sales have occurred as a result
of unanticipated funding needs.

Reports to key management personnel focus on the credit quality of the
financial assets and the contractual return. The entity also monitors fair
values of the financial assets, among other information.

Although the entity considers, among other information,
the financial assets’ fair values from a liquidity perspective
(i.e., the cash amount that would be realized if the entity
needs to sell assets), the entity’s objective is to hold the
financial assets in order to collect the contractual cash
flows. Sales would not contradict that objective if they
were in response to an increase in the assets’ credit risk,
for example if the assets no longer meet the credit criteria
specified in the entity’s documented investment policy.
Infrequent sales resulting from unanticipated funding
needs (e.g., in a stress case scenario) also would not
contradict that objective, even if such sales are significant
in value.

Example 2

An entity’s management model is to purchase portfolios of financial
assets, such as loans. Those portfolios may or may not include financial
assets that are credit-impaired.

If payment on the loans is not made on a timely basis, the entity attempts
to realize the contractual cash flows through various means—for
example, by contacting the debtor by mail, telephone or other methods.
The entity’s objective is to collect the contractual cash flows and the
entity does not manage any of the loans in this portfolio with an objective
of realizing cash flows by selling them.

In some cases, the entity enters into interest rate swaps to change the
interest rate on particular financial assets in a portfolio from a floating
interest rate to a fixed interest rate.

The objective of the entity’s management model is to hold
the financial assets in order to collect the contractual cash
flows.

The same analysis would apply even if the entity does not
expect to receive all of the contractual cash flows (e.g.,
some of the financial assets are credit-impaired at initial
recognition).

Moreover, the fact that the entity enters into derivatives
to modify the cash flows of the portfolio does not in itself
change the entity’s management model.

Example 3

An entity has a management model with the objective of originating
student loans and subsequently selling those loans to a securitization
vehicle. The securitization vehicle issues instruments to investors.

The originating entity controls the securitization vehicle and thus
consolidates it.

The securitization vehicle collects the contractual cash flows from the
loans and passes them on to its investors.

It is assumed for the purposes of this example that the loans continue to
be recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position because
they are not derecognized by the securitization vehicle.

The consolidated economic entity originated the
loans with the objective of holding them to collect the
contractual cash flows.

However, the originating entity has an objective of
realizing cash flows on the loan portfolio by selling the
loans to the securitization vehicle, so for the purposes of
its separate financial statements it would not be considered
to be managing this portfolio in order to collect the
contractual cash flows.
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Example

Analysis

Example 4

A local government entity that issues bonds holds financial assets to
meet redemption needs in a ‘stress case’ scenario (e.g., a run on the
government’s issued securities). The entity does not anticipate selling
these assets except in such scenarios.

The entity monitors the credit quality of the financial assets and its
objective in managing the financial assets is to collect the contractual
cash flows. The entity evaluates the performance of the assets on the
basis of interest revenue earned and credit losses realized.

However, the entity also monitors the fair value of the financial assets
from a liquidity perspective to ensure that the cash amount that would
be realized if the entity needed to sell the assets in a stress case scenario
would be sufficient to meet the entity’s liquidity needs. Periodically, the
entity makes sales that are insignificant in value to demonstrate liquidity.

The objective of the entity’s management model is to hold
the financial assets to collect contractual cash flows.

The analysis would not change even if during a previous
stress case scenario the entity had sales that were
significant in value in order to meet its redemption needs.
Similarly, recurring sales activity that is insignificant in
value is not inconsistent with holding financial assets to
collect contractual cash flows.

In contrast, if an entity holds financial assets to meet its
everyday redemption needs and meeting that objective
involves frequent sales that are significant in value, the
objective of the entity’s management model is not to hold
the financial assets to collect contractual cash flows.

Similarly, if the entity is required by law or regulation to
routinely sell financial assets to demonstrate that the assets
are liquid, and the value of the assets sold is significant, the
entity’s management model is not to hold financial assets to
collect contractual cash flows. Whether a third party imposes
the requirement to sell the financial assets, or that activity is
at the entity’s discretion, is not relevant to the analysis.

A Management Model Whose Objective is Achieved by Both Collecting Contractual Cash Flows and Selling Financial Assets

AG5T.

An entity may hold financial assets in a management model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash

flows and selling financial assets. In this type of management model, the entity’s key management personnel have made
a decision that both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets are integral to achieving the objective
of the management model. There are various objectives that may be consistent with this type of management model. For
example, the objective of the management model may be to manage everyday liquidity needs, to maintain a particular
interest yield profile or to match the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that those assets are
funding. To achieve such an objective, the entity will both collect contractual cash flows and sell financial assets.

AGSS.

Compared to a management model whose objective is to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows, this

management model will typically involve greater frequency and value of sales. This is because selling financial assets
is integral to achieving the management model’s objective instead of being only incidental to it. However, there is no
threshold for the frequency or value of sales that must occur in this management model because both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets are integral to achieving its objective.

AG59.

The following are examples of when the objective of the entity’s management model may be achieved by both collecting

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets. This list of examples is not exhaustive. Furthermore, the examples are
not intended to describe all the factors that may be relevant to the assessment of the entity’s management model nor specify

the relative importance of the factors.
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Example

Analysis

Example 5

An entity anticipates capital expenditure in a few years. The entity
invests its excess cash in short and long-term financial assets so
that it can fund the expenditure when the need arises. Many of
the financial assets have contractual lives that exceed the entity’s
anticipated investment period.

The entity will hold financial assets to collect the contractual cash
flows and, when an opportunity arises, it will sell financial assets
to re-invest the cash in financial assets with a higher return.

The managers responsible for the portfolio are remunerated based
on the overall return generated by the portfolio.

The objective of the management model is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets. The entity will
make decisions on an ongoing basis about whether collecting
contractual cash flows or selling financial assets will maximize the
return on the portfolio until the need arises for the invested cash.

In contrast, consider an entity that anticipates a cash outflow in

five years to fund capital expenditure and invests excess cash in
short-term financial assets. When the investments mature, the entity
reinvests the cash in new short-term financial assets. The entity
maintains this strategy until the funds are needed, at which time the
entity uses the proceeds from the maturing financial assets to fund
the capital expenditure. Only sales that are insignificant in value
occur before maturity (unless there is an increase in credit risk). The
objective of this contrasting management model is to hold financial
assets to collect contractual cash flows.

Example 6

An entity holds financial assets to meet its everyday liquidity needs.
The entity seeks to minimize the costs of managing those liquidity
needs and therefore actively manages the return on the portfolio. That
return consists of collecting contractual payments as well as gains and
losses from the sale of financial assets.

As aresult, the entity holds financial assets to collect contractual
cash flows and sells financial assets to reinvest in higher yielding
financial assets or to better match the duration of its liabilities. In
the past, this strategy has resulted in frequent sales activity and
such sales have been significant in value. This activity is expected
to continue in the future.

The objective of the management model is to maximize the
return on the portfolio to meet everyday liquidity needs and the
entity achieves that objective by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling financial assets. In other words, both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets are integral to
achieving the management model’s objective.

Example 7

A social security fund holds financial assets in order to fund

social security liabilities. The fund uses the proceeds from the
contractual cash flows on the financial assets to settle social
security liabilities as they come due. To ensure that the contractual
cash flows from the financial assets are sufficient to settle those
liabilities, the fund undertakes significant buying and selling
activity on a regular basis to rebalance its portfolio of assets and
to meet cash flow needs as they arise.

The objective of the management model is to fund the social
security liabilities. To achieve this objective, the entity collects
contractual cash flows as they come due and sells financial assets
to maintain the desired profile of the asset portfolio. Thus both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets are
integral to achieving the management model’s objective.

Other Management Models
AGO60.

AG61.

Financial assets are measured at fair value through surplus or deficit if they are not held within a management model whose
objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or within a management model whose objective is achieved by
both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets (but see also paragraph 106). One management model that
results in measurement at fair value through surplus or deficit is one in which an entity manages the financial assets with the
objective of realizing cash flows through the sale of the assets. The entity makes decisions based on the assets’ fair values
and manages the assets to realize those fair values. In this case, the entity’s objective will typically result in active buying
and selling. Even though the entity will collect contractual cash flows while it holds the financial assets, the objective of
such a management model is not achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets. This is
because the collection of contractual cash flows is not integral to achieving the management model’s objective; instead, it
is incidental to it.

A portfolio of financial assets that is managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis (as described in
paragraph 46(b)) is neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell
financial assets. The entity is primarily focused on fair value information and uses that information to assess the assets’
performance and to make decisions. In addition, a portfolio of financial assets that meets the definition of held for trading
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is not held to collect contractual cash flows or held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets. For
such portfolios, the collection of contractual cash flows is only incidental to achieving the management model’s objective.
Consequently, such portfolios of financial assets must be measured at fair value through surplus or deficit.

Contractual Cash Flows that are Solely Payments of Principal and Interest on the Principal Amount Outstanding

AG62.

AG63.

AG64.

AGO65.

AGO66.

Paragraph 39(b) requires an entity to classify a financial asset on the basis of its contractual cash flow characteristics if
the financial asset is held within a management model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows
or within a management model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets, unless paragraph 44 applies. To do so, the condition in paragraphs 40(b) and 41(b) requires an entity to determine
whether the asset’s contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding are
consistent with a basic lending arrangement. In a basic lending arrangement, consideration for the time value of money
(see paragraphs AG67—AG71) and credit risk are typically the most significant elements of interest. However, in such an
arrangement, interest can also include consideration for other basic lending risks (for example, liquidity risk) and costs
(for example, administrative costs) associated with holding the financial asset for a particular period of time. In addition,
interest can include a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. In extreme economic circumstances,
interest can be negative if, for example, the holder of a financial asset either explicitly or implicitly pays for the deposit of
its money for a particular period of time (and that fee exceeds the consideration that the holder receives for the time value
of money, credit risk and other basic lending risks and costs). However, contractual terms that introduce exposure to risks
or volatility in the contractual cash flows that is unrelated to a basic lending arrangement, such as exposure to changes in
equity prices, commodity prices, a specific profitability or income threshold being reached by the borrower or lender, or
the achievement (or otherwise) of specific financial or other ratios, do not give rise to contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. An originated or a purchased financial asset can be
a basic lending arrangement irrespective of whether it is a loan in its legal form.

In accordance with paragraph 42(a), principal is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition. However that
principal amount may change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal).

An entity shall assess whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding for the currency in which the financial asset is denominated.

Leverage is a contractual cash flow characteristic of some financial assets. Leverage increases the variability of the
contractual cash flows with the result that they do not have the economic characteristics of interest. Stand-alone option,
forward and swap contracts are examples of financial assets that include such leverage. Thus, such contracts do not meet
the condition in paragraphs 40(b) and 41(b) and cannot be subsequently measured at amortized cost or fair value through
net assets/equity.

Consideration for the Time Value of Money

AG67.

AG68.

AG69.

Time value of money is the element of interest that provides consideration for only the passage of time. That is, the time
value of money element does not provide consideration for other risks or costs associated with holding the financial asset.
In order to assess whether the element provides consideration for only the passage of time, an entity applies judgment and
considers relevant factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is denominated and the period for which the
interest rate is set.

However, in some cases, the time value of money element may be modified (i.e., imperfect). That would be the case, for
example, if a financial asset’s interest rate is periodically reset but the frequency of that reset does not match the tenor of
the interest rate (for example, the interest rate resets every month to a one-year rate) or if a financial asset’s interest rate
is periodically reset to an average of particular short and long-term interest rates. In such cases, an entity must assess the
modification to determine whether the contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding. In some circumstances, the entity may be able to make that determination by performing a
qualitative assessment of the time value of money element whereas, in other circumstances, it may be necessary to perform
a quantitative assessment.

When assessing a modified time value of money element, the objective is to determine how different the contractual
(undiscounted) cash flows could be from the (undiscounted) cash flows that would arise if the time value of money element
was not modified (the benchmark cash flows). For example, if the financial asset under assessment contains a variable
interest rate that is reset every month to a one-year interest rate, the entity would compare that financial asset to a financial
instrument with identical contractual terms and the identical credit risk except the variable interest rate is reset monthly
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to a one-month interest rate. If the modified time value of money element could result in contractual (undiscounted) cash
flows that are significantly different from the (undiscounted) benchmark cash flows, the financial asset does not meet the
condition in paragraphs 40(b) and 41(b). To make this determination, the entity must consider the effect of the modified
time value of money element in each reporting period and cumulatively over the life of the financial instrument. The reason
for the interest rate being set in this way is not relevant to the analysis. If it is clear, with little or no analysis, whether the
contractual (undiscounted) cash flows on the financial asset under the assessment could (or could not) be significantly
different from the (undiscounted) benchmark cash flows, an entity need not perform a detailed assessment.

When assessing a modified time value of money element, an entity must consider factors that could affect future contractual
cash flows. For example, if an entity is assessing a bond with a five-year term and the variable interest rate is reset every
six months to a five-year rate, the entity cannot conclude that the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding simply because the interest rate curve at the time of the assessment is
such that the difference between a five-year interest rate and a six-month interest rate is not significant. Instead, the entity
must also consider whether the relationship between the five-year interest rate and the six-month interest rate could change
over the life of the instrument such that the contractual (undiscounted) cash flows over the life of the instrument could be
significantly different from the (undiscounted) benchmark cash flows. However, an entity must consider only reasonably
possible scenarios instead of every possible scenario. If an entity concludes that the contractual (undiscounted) cash flows
could be significantly different from the (undiscounted) benchmark cash flows, the financial asset does not meet the
condition in paragraphs 40(b) and 41(b) and therefore cannot be measured at amortized cost or fair value through net
assets/equity.

In some jurisdictions, the government or a regulatory authority sets interest rates. For example, such government regulation
of interest rates may be part of a broad macroeconomic policy or it may be introduced to encourage entities to invest in a
particular sector of the economy. In some of these cases, the objective of the time value of money element is not to provide
consideration for only the passage of time. However, despite paragraphs AG67-AG70, a regulated interest rate shall be
considered a proxy for the time value of money element for the purpose of applying the condition in paragraphs 40(b) and
41(b) if that regulated interest rate provides consideration that is broadly consistent with the passage of time and does not
provide exposure to risks or volatility in the contractual cash flows that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement.

Contractual Terms that Change the Timing or Amount of Contractual Cash Flows

AGT2.

AGT3.

If a financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows (for example,
if the asset can be prepaid before maturity or its term can be extended), the entity must determine whether the contractual
cash flows that could arise over the life of the instrument due to that contractual term are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding. To make this determination, the entity must assess the contractual cash flows
that could arise both before, and after, the change in contractual cash flows. The entity may also need to assess the nature
of any contingent event (i.e., the trigger) that would change the timing or amount of the contractual cash flows. While
the nature of the contingent event in itself is not a determinative factor in assessing whether the contractual cash flows
are solely payments of principal and interest, it may be an indicator. For example, compare a financial instrument with
an interest rate that is reset to a higher rate if the debtor misses a particular number of payments to a financial instrument
with an interest rate that is reset to a higher rate if a specified equity index reaches a particular level. It is more likely in the
former case that the contractual cash flows over the life of the instrument will be solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding because of the relationship between missed payments and an increase in credit risk.
(See also paragraph AGS80.)

The following are examples of contractual terms that result in contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding:

(a) A variable interest rate that consists of consideration for the time value of money, the credit risk associated with the
principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time (the consideration for credit risk may be determined
at initial recognition only, and so may be fixed) and other basic lending risks and costs, as well as a profit margin;

(b) A contractual term that permits the issuer (i.c., the debtor) to prepay a debt instrument or permits the holder (i.c.,
the creditor) to put a debt instrument back to the issuer before maturity and the prepayment amount substantially
represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, which may include
reasonable compensation for the early termination of the contract; and

(¢) A contractual term that permits the issuer or the holder to extend the contractual term of a debt instrument (i.e., an
extension option) and the terms of the extension option result in contractual cash flows during the extension period
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, which may include reasonable
compensation for the extension of the contract.
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AG74. Despite paragraph AG72, a financial asset that would otherwise meet the condition in paragraphs 40(b) and 41(b) but
does not do so only as a result of a contractual term that permits (or requires) the issuer to prepay a debt instrument or
permits (or requires) the holder to put a debt instrument back to the issuer before maturity is eligible to be measured at
amortized cost or fair value through net assets/equity (subject to meeting the condition in paragraph 40(a) or the condition

in paragraph 41(a)) if:

(a)  The entity acquires or originates the financial asset at a premium or discount to the contractual par amount;

(b) The prepayment amount substantially represents the contractual par amount and accrued (but unpaid) contractual
interest, which may include reasonable compensation for the early termination of the contract; and

(c)  When the entity initially recognizes the financial asset, the fair value of the prepayment feature is insignificant.

AGT74A. For the purpose of applying paragraphs AG73(b) and AG74(b), irrespective of the event or circumstance that causes the
early termination of the contract, a party may pay or receive reasonable compensation for that early termination. For
example, a party may pay or receive reasonable compensation when it chooses to terminate the contract early (or otherwise

causes the early termination to occur).

AGTsS.

The following examples illustrate contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal

amount outstanding. This list of examples is not exhaustive.

Instrument

Analysis

Instrument A

Instrument A is a bond with a stated maturity date. Payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding
are linked to an inflation index of the currency in which the
instrument is issued. The inflation link is not leveraged and the
principal is protected.

The contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding. Linking payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding to

an unleveraged inflation index resets the time value of money to

a current level. In other words, the interest rate on the instrument
reflects ‘real’ interest. Thus, the interest amounts are consideration
for the time value of money on the principal amount outstanding.

However, if the interest payments were indexed to another
variable such as the debtor’s performance (e.g., the debtor’s
surplus or deficit) or an equity index, the contractual cash flows
are not payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding (unless the indexing to the debtor’s
performance results in an adjustment that only compensates

the holder for changes in the credit risk of the instrument, such
that contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest). That is because the contractual cash flows reflect a
return that is inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement (see
paragraph AG63).
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Instrument

Analysis

Instrument B

Instrument B is a variable interest rate instrument with a stated
maturity date that permits the borrower to choose the market
interest rate on an ongoing basis. For example, at each interest
rate reset date, the borrower can choose to pay the three-month
interbank offered rate for a three-month term or one-month
interbank offered rate for a one-month term.

The contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding as long as the interest
paid over the life of the instrument reflects consideration for

the time value of money, for the credit risk associated with the
instrument and for other basic lending risks and costs, as well as

a profit margin (see paragraph AG63). The fact that the interbank
offered rate interest rate is reset during the life of the instrument
does not in itself disqualify the instrument.

However, if the borrower is able to choose to pay a one-month
interest rate that is reset every three months, the interest rate is reset
with a frequency that does not match the tenor of the interest rate.
Consequently, the time value of money element is modified. Similarly,
if an instrument has a contractual interest rate that is based on a term
that can exceed the instrument’s remaining life (for example, if an
instrument with a five-year maturity pays a variable rate that is reset
periodically but always reflects a five-year maturity), the time value
of money element is modified. That is because the interest payable in
each period is disconnected from the interest period.

In such cases, the entity must qualitatively or quantitatively
assess the contractual cash flows against those on an instrument
that is identical in all respects except the tenor of the interest rate
matches the interest period to determine if the cash flows are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding. (But see paragraph AG71 for guidance on regulated
interest rates.)

For example, in assessing a bond with a five-year term that pays
a variable rate that is reset every six months but always reflects a
five-year maturity, an entity considers the contractual cash flows
on an instrument that resets every six months to a six-month
interest rate but is otherwise identical.

The same analysis would apply if the borrower is able to choose
between the lender’s various published interest rates (e.g., the
borrower can choose between the lender’s published one-month
variable interest rate and the lender’s published three-month
variable interest rate).

Instrument C

Instrument C is a bond with a stated maturity date and pays a
variable market interest rate. That variable interest rate is capped.

The contractual cash flows of both:
(@)
(b)

are payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding as long as the interest reflects consideration for
the time value of money, for the credit risk associated with
the instrument during the term of the instrument and for other
basic lending risks and costs, as well as a profit margin. (See
paragraph AG63)

an instrument that has a fixed interest rate and

an instrument that has a variable interest rate

Consequently, an instrument that is a combination of (a) and (b)
(e.g., a bond with an interest rate cap) can have cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding. Such a contractual term may reduce cash
flow variability by setting a limit on a variable interest rate (e.g.,
an interest rate cap or floor) or increase the cash flow variability
because a fixed rate becomes variable.
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Instrument

Analysis

Instrument D

Instrument D is a full recourse loan and is secured by collateral.

The fact that a full recourse loan is collateralized does not in
itself affect the analysis of whether the contractual cash flows are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Instrument E

Instrument E is issued by a regulated bank and has a stated
maturity date. The instrument pays a fixed interest rate and all
contractual cash flows are non-discretionary.

The holder would analyze the contractual terms of the financial
instrument to determine whether they give rise to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding and thus are consistent with a basic lending
arrangement.

That analysis would not consider the payments that arise only as a
result of the national resolving authority’s power to impose losses
on the holders of Instrument E. That is because that power, and
the resulting payments, are not contractual terms of the financial
instrument.

However, the issuer is subject to legislation that permits or requires a
national resolving authority to impose losses on holders of particular
instruments, including Instrument E, in particular circumstances. For
example, the national resolving authority has the power to write down
the par amount of Instrument E or to convert it into a fixed number

of the issuer’s ordinary shares if the national resolving authority
determines that the issuer is having severe financial difficulties, needs
additional regulatory capital or is “failing’.

In contrast, the contractual cash flows would not be solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding if the contractual terms of the financial instrument
permit or require the issuer or another entity to impose losses on
the holder (e.g., by writing down the par amount or by converting
the instrument into a fixed number of the issuer’s ordinary
shares) as long as those contractual terms are genuine, even if the
probability is remote that such a loss will be imposed.

AG76. The following examples illustrate contractual cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest on the prin-
cipal amount outstanding. This list of examples is not exhaustive.

Instrument

Analysis

Instrument F

Instrument F is a bond that is convertible into a fixed number of
equity instruments of the issuer.

The holder would analyze the convertible bond in its entirety.

The contractual cash flows are not payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding because they reflect

a return that is inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement (see
paragraph AG63); i.e., the return is linked to the value of the equity
of the issuer.

Instrument G

Instrument G is a loan that pays an inverse floating interest rate
(i.e., the interest rate has an inverse relationship to market interest
rates).

The contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The interest amounts are not consideration for the time value of
money on the principal amount outstanding.

Instrument H

Instrument H is a perpetual instrument but the issuer may call the
instrument at any point and pay the holder the par amount plus
accrued interest due.

Instrument H pays a market interest rate but payment of interest
cannot be made unless the issuer is able to remain solvent
immediately afterwards.

Deferred interest does not accrue additional interest.

The contractual cash flows are not payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding. That is because the
issuer may be required to defer interest payments and additional
interest does not accrue on those deferred interest amounts. As a
result, interest amounts are not consideration for the time value of
money on the principal amount outstanding.

If interest accrued on the deferred amounts, the contractual cash
flows could be payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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Instrument Analysis

The fact that Instrument H is perpetual does not in itself mean
that the contractual cash flows are not payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding. In effect, a perpetual
instrument has continuous (multiple) extension options. Such
options may result in contractual cash flows that are payments

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding if
interest payments are mandatory and must be paid in perpetuity.

Also, the fact that Instrument H is callable does not mean that
the contractual cash flows are not payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding unless it is callable
at an amount that does not substantially reflect payment of
outstanding principal and interest on that principal amount
outstanding. Even if the callable amount includes an amount that
reasonably compensates the holder for the early termination of
the instrument, the contractual cash flows could be payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. (See
also paragraph AG74.)

AGT7.

AGTS.

AGT9.

AGRO0.

AGSI.

In some cases a financial asset may have contractual cash flows that are described as principal and interest but those
cash flows do not represent the payment of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding as described in
paragraphs 40(b), 41(b) and 42 of this Standard.

This may be the case if the financial asset represents an investment in particular assets or cash flows and hence the
contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. For example,
if the contractual terms stipulate that the financial asset’s cash flows increase as more automobiles use a particular toll road,
those contractual cash flows are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement. As a result, the instrument would not satisfy
the condition in paragraphs 40(b) and 41(b). This could be the case when a creditor’s claim is limited to specified assets of
the debtor or the cash flows from specified assets (for example, a ‘non-recourse’ financial asset).

However, the fact that a financial asset is non-recourse does not in itself necessarily preclude the financial asset from
meeting the condition in paragraphs 40(b) and 41(b). In such situations, the creditor is required to assess (‘look through to”)
the particular underlying assets or cash flows to determine whether the contractual cash flows of the financial asset being
classified are payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. If the terms of the financial asset
give rise to any other cash flows or limit the cash flows in a manner inconsistent with payments representing principal and
interest, the financial asset does not meet the condition in paragraphs 40(b) and 41(b). Whether the underlying assets are
financial assets or non-financial assets does not in itself affect this assessment.

A contractual cash flow characteristic does not affect the classification of the financial asset if it could have only a de
minimis effect on the contractual cash flows of the financial asset. To make this determination, an entity must consider
the possible effect of the contractual cash flow characteristic in each reporting period and cumulatively over the life of
the financial instrument. In addition, if a contractual cash flow characteristic could have an effect on the contractual cash
flows that is more than de minimis (either in a single reporting period or cumulatively) but that cash flow characteristic is
not genuine, it does not affect the classification of a financial asset. A cash flow characteristic is not genuine if it affects the
instrument’s contractual cash flows only on the occurrence of an event that is extremely rare, highly abnormal and very
unlikely to occur.

In almost every lending transaction the creditor’s instrument is ranked relative to the instruments of the debtor’s other
creditors. An instrument that is subordinated to other instruments may have contractual cash flows that are payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding if the debtor’s non-payment is a breach of contract and the holder
has a contractual right to unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding even in the event of
the debtor’s bankruptcy. For example, a trade receivable that ranks its creditor as a general creditor would qualify as having
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. This is the case even if the debtor issued loans
that are collateralized, which in the event of bankruptcy would give that loan holder priority over the claims of the general
creditor in respect of the collateral but does not affect the contractual right of the general creditor to unpaid principal and
other amounts due.
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Contractually Linked Instruments

AGR2.

AGS3.

AGR4.

AGRSS.

AGR6.

AGR7.

AGSS.

In some types of transactions, an issuer may prioritize payments to the holders of financial assets using multiple contractually
linked instruments that create concentrations of credit risk (tranches). Each tranche has a subordination ranking that
specifies the order in which any cash flows generated by the issuer are allocated to the tranche. In such situations, the
holders of a tranche have the right to payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding only if the
issuer generates sufficient cash flows to satisfy higher-ranking tranches.

In such transactions, a tranche has cash flow characteristics that are payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding only if:

(a) The contractual terms of the tranche being assessed for classification (without looking through to the underlying
pool of financial instruments) give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding (e.g., the interest rate on the tranche is not linked to a commodity index);

(b)  The underlying pool of financial instruments has the cash flow characteristics set out in paragraphs AG85 and AG86; and

(¢)  The exposure to credit risk in the underlying pool of financial instruments inherent in the tranche is equal to or lower
than the exposure to credit risk of the underlying pool of financial instruments (for example, the credit rating of
the tranche being assessed for classification is equal to or higher than the credit rating that would apply to a single
tranche that funded the underlying pool of financial instruments).

An entity must look through until it can identify the underlying pool of instruments that are creating (instead of passing
through) the cash flows. This is the underlying pool of financial instruments.

The underlying pool must contain one or more instruments that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The underlying pool of instruments may also include instruments that:

(a)  Reduce the cash flow variability of the instruments in paragraph AG85 and, when combined with the instruments
in paragraph AG83, result in cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding (e.g., an interest rate cap or floor or a contract that reduces the credit risk on some or all of the instruments
in paragraph AG85); or

(b)  Align the cash flows of the tranches with the cash flows of the pool of underlying instruments in paragraph AGS85
to address differences in and only in:

(1) Whether the interest rate is fixed or floating;
(ii))  The currency in which the cash flows are denominated, including inflation in that currency; or
(i)  The timing of the cash flows.

If any instrument in the pool does not meet the conditions in either paragraph AG85 or paragraph AG86, the condition
in paragraph AG83(b) is not met. In performing this assessment, a detailed instrument-by-instrument analysis of the
pool may not be necessary. However, an entity must use judgment and perform sufficient analysis to determine whether
the instruments in the pool meet the conditions in paragraphs AG85-AG86. (See also paragraph AG80 for guidance on
contractual cash flow characteristics that have only a de minimis effect.)

If the holder cannot assess the conditions in paragraph AGS83 at initial recognition, the tranche must be measured at
fair value through surplus or deficit. If the underlying pool of instruments can change after initial recognition in such a
way that the pool may not meet the conditions in paragraphs AG85—-AG86, the tranche does not meet the conditions in
paragraph AG83 and must be measured at fair value through surplus or deficit. However, if the underlying pool includes
instruments that are collateralized by assets that do not meet the conditions in paragraphs AG85—-AG86, the ability to take
possession of such assets shall be disregarded for the purposes of applying this paragraph unless the entity acquired the
tranche with the management model of controlling the collateral.

Option to Designate a Financial Asset or Financial Liability as at Fair Value through Surplus or Deficit

AGR9.

AG90.

Subject to the conditions in paragraphs 44 and 46, this Standard allows an entity to designate a financial asset, a financial
liability, or a group of financial instruments (financial assets, financial liabilities or both) as at fair value through surplus or
deficit provided that doing so results in more relevant information.

The decision of an entity to designate a financial asset or financial liability as at fair value through surplus or deficit is
similar to an accounting policy choice (although, unlike an accounting policy choice, it is not required to be applied
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consistently to all similar transactions). When an entity has such a choice, paragraph 12 of IPSAS 3 requires the chosen
policy to result in the financial statements providing faithfully representative and more relevant information about the
effects of transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position, financial performance or cash flows.
For example, in the case of designation of a financial liability as at fair value through surplus or deficit, paragraph 46 sets
out the two circumstances when the requirement for more relevant information will be met. Accordingly, to choose such
designation in accordance with paragraph 46, the entity needs to demonstrate that it falls within one (or both) of these two
circumstances.

Designation Eliminates or Significantly Reduces an Accounting Mismatch

AGI1.

AG92.

AGY3.

AGY%4.

Measurement of a financial asset or financial liability and classification of recognized changes in its value are determined
by the item’s classification and whether the item is part of a designated hedging relationship. Those requirements can create
a measurement or recognition inconsistency (sometimes referred to as an ‘accounting mismatch’) when, for example, in
the absence of designation as at fair value through surplus or deficit, a financial asset would be classified as subsequently
measured at fair value through surplus or deficit and a liability the entity considers related would be subsequently measured
at amortized cost (with changes in fair value not recognized). In such circumstances, an entity may conclude that its
financial statements would provide more relevant information if both the asset and the liability were measured as at fair
value through surplus or deficit.

The following examples show when this condition could be met. In all cases, an entity may use this condition to designate financial
assets or financial liabilities as at fair value through surplus or deficit only if it meets the principle in paragraph 44 or 46(a):

(a)  Anentity has liabilities under insurance contracts whose measurement incorporates current information and financial
assets that it considers to be related and that would otherwise be measured at either fair value through net assets/
equity or amortized cost.

(b)  An entity has financial assets, financial liabilities or both that share a risk, such as interest rate risk, and that gives
rise to opposite changes in fair value that tend to offset each other. However, only some of the instruments would be
measured at fair value through surplus or deficit (for example, those that are derivatives, or are classified as held for
trading). It may also be the case that the requirements for hedge accounting are not met because, for example, the
requirements for hedge effectiveness in paragraph 129 are not met.

(¢)  An entity has financial assets, financial liabilities or both that share a risk, such as interest rate risk, that gives rise
to opposite changes in fair value that tend to offset each other and none of the financial assets or financial liabilities
qualifies for designation as a hedging instrument because they are not measured at fair value through surplus or
deficit. Furthermore, in the absence of hedge accounting there is a significant inconsistency in the recognition of
gains and losses. For example, the entity has financed a specified group of loans by issuing traded bonds whose
changes in fair value tend to offset each other. If, in addition, the entity regularly buys and sells the bonds but
rarely, if ever, buys and sells the loans, reporting both the loans and the bonds at fair value through surplus or deficit
eliminates the inconsistency in the timing of the recognition of the gains and losses that would otherwise result from
measuring them both at amortized cost and recognizing a gain or loss each time a bond is repurchased.

In cases such as those described in the preceding paragraph, to designate, at initial recognition, the financial assets and
financial liabilities not otherwise so measured as at fair value through surplus or deficit may eliminate or significantly
reduce the measurement or recognition inconsistency and produce more relevant information. For practical purposes, the
entity need not enter into all of the assets and liabilities giving rise to the measurement or recognition inconsistency at
exactly the same time. A reasonable delay is permitted provided that each transaction is designated as at fair value through
surplus or deficit at its initial recognition and, at that time, any remaining transactions are expected to occur.

It would not be acceptable to designate only some of the financial assets and financial liabilities giving rise to the inconsistency
as at fair value through surplus or deficit if to do so would not eliminate or significantly reduce the inconsistency and would
therefore not result in more relevant information. However, it would be acceptable to designate only some of a number of
similar financial assets or similar financial liabilities if doing so achieves a significant reduction (and possibly a greater
reduction than other allowable designations) in the inconsistency. For example, assume an entity has a number of similar
financial liabilities that sum to CU100 and a number of similar financial assets that sum to CU50 but are measured on a
different basis. The entity may significantly reduce the measurement inconsistency by designating at initial recognition all
of the assets but only some of the liabilities (for example, individual liabilities with a combined total of CU45) as at fair
value through surplus or deficit. However, because designation as at fair value through surplus or deficit can be applied
only to the whole of a financial instrument, the entity in this example must designate one or more liabilities in their entirety.
It could not designate either a component of a liability (e.g., changes in value attributable to only one risk, such as changes
in a benchmark interest rate) or a proportion (i.c., percentage) of a liability.
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A Group of Financial Liabilities or Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities is Managed and its Performance is Evaluated on a
Fair Value Basis

AGYsS.

AGY6.

AGY97.

AG98.

An entity may manage and evaluate the performance of a group of financial liabilities or financial assets and financial
liabilities in such a way that measuring that group at fair value through surplus or deficit results in more relevant information.
The focus in this instance is on the way the entity manages and evaluates performance, instead of on the nature of its
financial instruments.

For example, an entity may use this condition to designate financial liabilities as at fair value through surplus or deficit if
it meets the principle in paragraph 46(b) and the entity has financial assets and financial liabilities that share one or more
risks and those risks are managed and evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented policy of asset and
liability management. An example could be an entity that has issued ‘structured products’ containing multiple embedded
derivatives and manages the resulting risks on a fair value basis using a mix of derivative and non-derivative financial
mstruments.

As noted above, this condition relies on the way the entity manages and evaluates performance of the group of financial
instruments under consideration. Accordingly, (subject to the requirement of designation at initial recognition) an entity
that designates financial liabilities as at fair value through surplus or deficit on the basis of this condition shall so designate
all eligible financial liabilities that are managed and evaluated together.

Documentation of the entity’s strategy need not be extensive but should be sufficient to demonstrate compliance with
paragraph 46(b). Such documentation is not required for each individual item, but may be on a portfolio basis. For example,
if the performance management system for a department—as approved by the entity’s key management personnel—
clearly demonstrates that its performance is evaluated on this basis, no further documentation is required to demonstrate
compliance with paragraph 46(b).

Embedded Derivatives

AG9Y9.

AG100.

AGI101.

AG102.

AG103.

When an entity becomes a party to a hybrid contract with a host that is not an asset within the scope of this Standard,
paragraph 49 requires the entity to identify any embedded derivative, assess whether it is required to be separated from the
host contract and, for those that are required to be separated, measure the derivatives at fair value at initial recognition and
subsequently at fair value through surplus or deficit.

If a host contract has no stated or predetermined maturity and represents a residual interest in the net assets of an entity,
then its economic characteristics and risks are those of an equity instrument, and an embedded derivative would need to
possess equity characteristics related to the same entity to be regarded as closely related. If the host contract is not an equity
instrument and meets the definition of a financial instrument, then its economic characteristics and risks are those of a debt
instrument.

An embedded non-option derivative (such as an embedded forward or swap) is separated from its host contract on the basis
of'its stated or implied substantive terms, so as to result in it having a fair value of zero at initial recognition. An embedded
option-based derivative (such as an embedded put, call, cap, floor or swaption) is separated from its host contract on the
basis of the stated terms of the option feature. The initial carrying amount of the host instrument is the residual amount after
separating the embedded derivative.

Generally, multiple embedded derivatives in a single hybrid contract are treated as a single compound embedded
derivative. However, embedded derivatives that are classified as equity (see IPSAS 28) are accounted for separately from
those classified as assets or liabilities. In addition, if a hybrid contract has more than one embedded derivative and those
derivatives relate to different risk exposures and are readily separable and independent of each other, they are accounted
for separately from each other.

The economic characteristics and risks of an embedded derivative are not closely related to the host contract (paragraph 49(a))
in the following examples. In these examples, assuming the conditions in paragraph 49(b) and 49(c) are met, an entity
accounts for the embedded derivative separately from the host contract.

(a) A putoption embedded in an instrument that enables the holder to require the issuer to reacquire the instrument for
an amount of cash or other assets that varies on the basis of the change in an equity or commodity price or index is
not closely related to a host debt instrument.

(b)  An option or automatic provision to extend the remaining term to maturity of a debt instrument is not closely related
to the host debt instrument unless there is a concurrent adjustment to the approximate current market rate of interest
at the time of the extension. If an entity issues a debt instrument and the holder of that debt instrument writes a call
option on the debt instrument to a third party, the issuer regards the call option as extending the term to maturity
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of the debt instrument provided the issuer can be required to participate in or facilitate the remarketing of the debt
instrument as a result of the call option being exercised.

(¢)  Equity-indexed interest or principal payments embedded in a host debt instrument or insurance contract—by which
the amount of interest or principal is indexed to the value of equity instruments—are not closely related to the host
instrument because the risks inherent in the host and the embedded derivative are dissimilar.

(d) Commodity-indexed interest or principal payments embedded in a host debt instrument or insurance contract—by
which the amount of interest or principal is indexed to the price of a commodity (such as gold)—are not closely
related to the host instrument because the risks inherent in the host and the embedded derivative are dissimilar.

(e)  Acall, put, or prepayment option embedded in a host debt contract or host insurance contract is not closely related
to the host contract unless:

(i)  The option’s exercise price is approximately equal on each exercise date to the amortized cost of the host debt
instrument or the carrying amount of the host insurance contract; or

(ii)  The exercise price of a prepayment option reimburses the lender for an amount up to the approximate present
value of lost interest for the remaining term of the host contract. Lost interest is the product of the principal
amount prepaid multiplied by the interest rate differential. The interest rate differential is the excess of
the effective interest rate of the host contract over the effective interest rate the entity would receive at the
prepayment date if it reinvested the principal amount prepaid in a similar contract for the remaining term of
the host contract.

The assessment of whether the call or put option is closely related to the host debt contract is made before separating
the equity element of a convertible debt instrument in accordance with IPSAS 28.

(f)  Credit derivatives that are embedded in a host debt instrument and allow one party (the ‘beneficiary’) to transfer the
credit risk of a particular reference asset, which it may not own, to another party (the ‘guarantor’) are not closely
related to the host debt instrument. Such credit derivatives allow the guarantor to assume the credit risk associated
with the reference asset without directly owning it.

An example of a hybrid contract is a financial instrument that gives the holder a right to put the financial instrument
back to the issuer in exchange for an amount of cash or other financial assets that varies on the basis of the change in an
equity or commodity index that may increase or decrease (a ‘puttable instrument’). Unless the issuer on initial recognition
designates the puttable instrument as a financial liability at fair value through surplus or deficit, it is required to separate
an embedded derivative (i.e., the indexed principal payment) under paragraph 49 because the host contract is a debt
instrument under paragraph AG100 and the indexed principal payment is not closely related to a host debt instrument under
paragraph AG103(a). Because the principal payment can increase and decrease, the embedded derivative is a non-option
derivative whose value is indexed to the underlying variable.

In the case of a puttable instrument that can be put back at any time for cash equal to a proportionate share of the net asset value
of an entity (such as units of an open-ended mutual fund or some unit-linked investment products), the effect of separating an
embedded derivative and accounting for each component is to measure the hybrid contract at the redemption amount that is
payable at the end of the reporting period if the holder exercised its right to put the instrument back to the issuer.

The economic characteristics and risks of an embedded derivative are closely related to the economic characteristics
and risks of the host contract in the following examples. In these examples, an entity does not account for the embedded
derivative separately from the host contract.

(a)  Anembedded derivative in which the underlying is an interest rate or interest rate index that can change the amount
of interest that would otherwise be paid or received on an interest-bearing host debt contract or insurance contract is
closely related to the host contract unless the hybrid contract can be settled in such a way that the holder would not
recover substantially all of its recognized investment or the embedded derivative could at least double the holder’s
initial rate of return on the host contract and could result in a rate of return that is at least twice what the market
return would be for a contract with the same terms as the host contract.

(b) An embedded floor or cap on the interest rate on a debt contract or insurance contract is closely related to the host
contract, provided the cap is at or above the market rate of interest and the floor is at or below the market rate of
interest when the contract is issued, and the cap or floor is not leveraged in relation to the host contract. Similarly,
provisions included in a contract to purchase or sell an asset (e.g., a commodity) that establish a cap and a floor on
the price to be paid or received for the asset are closely related to the host contract if both the cap and floor were out
of the money at inception and are not leveraged.
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(¢) An embedded foreign currency derivative that provides a stream of principal or interest payments that are
denominated in a foreign currency and is embedded in a host debt instrument (for example, a dual currency bond)
is closely related to the host debt instrument. Such a derivative is not separated from the host instrument because
IPSAS 4, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates requires foreign currency gains and losses on monetary
items to be recognized in surplus or deficit.

(d) Anembedded foreign currency derivative in a host contract that is an insurance contract or not a financial instrument
(such as a contract for the purchase or sale of a non-financial item where the price is denominated in a foreign
currency) is closely related to the host contract provided it is not leveraged, does not contain an option feature, and
requires payments denominated in one of the following currencies:

(i)  The functional currency of any substantial party to that contract;

(ii))  The currency in which the price of the related good or service that is acquired or delivered is routinely
denominated in commercial transactions around the world (such as the US dollar for crude oil transactions);
or

(i) A currency that is commonly used in contracts to purchase or sell non-financial items in the economic
environment in which the transaction takes place (e.g., arelatively stable and liquid currency that is commonly
used in local business transactions or external trade).

(e) An embedded prepayment option in an interest-only or principal-only strip is closely related to the host contract
provided the host contract (i) initially resulted from separating the right to receive contractual cash flows of a
financial instrument that, in and of itself, did not contain an embedded derivative, and (ii) does not contain any terms
not present in the original host debt contract.

(f)  Anembedded derivative in a host lease contract is closely related to the host contract if the embedded derivative is
(1) an inflation-related index such as an index of lease payments to a consumer price index (provided that the lease
is not leveraged and the index relates to inflation in the entity’s own economic environment), (ii) variable lease
payments based on related sales or (iii) variable lease payments based on variable interest rates.

(g) Aunit-linking feature embedded in a host financial instrument or host insurance contract is closely related to the host
instrument or host contract if the unit-denominated payments are measured at current unit values that reflect the fair
values of the assets of the fund. A unit-linking feature is a contractual term that requires payments denominated in
units of an internal or external investment fund.

(h) A derivative embedded in an insurance contract is closely related to the host insurance contract if the embedded
derivative and host insurance contract are so interdependent that an entity cannot measure the embedded derivative
separately (i.e., without considering the host contract).

Instruments Containing Embedded Derivatives

AG107.

AG108.

As noted in paragraph AG99, when an entity becomes a party to a hybrid contract with a host that is not an asset within the
scope of this Standard and with one or more embedded derivatives, paragraph 49 requires the entity to identify any such
embedded derivative, assess whether it is required to be separated from the host contract and, for those that are required to
be separated, measure the derivatives at fair value at initial recognition and subsequently. These requirements can be more
complex, or result in less reliable measures, than measuring the entire instrument at fair value through surplus or deficit.
For that reason this Standard permits the entire hybrid contract to be designated as at fair value through surplus or deficit.

Such designation may be used whether paragraph 49 requires the embedded derivatives to be separated from the host
contract or prohibits such separation. However, paragraph 51 would not justify designating the hybrid contract as at
fair value through surplus or deficit in the cases set out in paragraph 51(a) and 51(b) because doing so would not reduce
complexity or increase reliability.

Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

AGI109.

In accordance with paragraph 49, an entity shall assess whether an embedded derivative is required to be separated from
the host contract and accounted for as a derivative when the entity first becomes a party to the contract. Subsequent
reassessment is prohibited unless there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows
that otherwise would be required under the contract, in which case reassessment is required. An entity determines whether
a modification to cash flows is significant by considering the extent to which the expected future cash flows associated
with the embedded derivative, the host contract or both have changed and whether the change is significant relative to the
previously expected cash flows on the contract.
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AG110. Paragraph AG109 does not apply to embedded derivatives in contracts acquired in:
(a) A public sector combination;
(b) A combination of entities under common control; or
(¢)  The formation of a joint venture as defined in IPSAS 37, Joint Arrangements

or their possible reassessment at the date of acquisition.

Reclassification of Financial Assets

AG111. Paragraph 54 requires an entity to reclassify financial assets if the entity changes its management model for managing
those financial assets. Such changes are expected to be very infrequent. Such changes are determined by the entity’s senior
management as a result of external or internal changes and must be significant to the entity’s operations and demonstrable
to external parties. Accordingly, a change in an entity’s management model will occur only when an entity either begins or
ceases to perform an activity that is significant to its operations; for example, when the entity has acquired, disposed of or
terminated a business line. Examples of a change in management model include the following:

(a) A government agency extends loans to small business owners and has a management model to sell the loan portfolios
to private entities at a discount due to the long collection cycle of these loans. The entity enters into a long term contract
with a third party collection service provider. The loan portfolios are no longer for sale, as they are held to collect the
contractual cash flows with the aid of the collections service provider.

(b) A department of government decides to end its support for its national auto manufacturing industry by no longer
providing favorable loans. That department no longer issues new loans and the department is actively marketing its
loan portfolio for sale.

AG112. A change in the objective of the entity’s management model must be effected before the reclassification date. For example, if
a federal mortgage and housing corporation decides on February 15 to shut down its retail mortgage business and hence must
reclassify all affected financial assets on April 1 (i.e., the first day of the entity’s next reporting period), the entity must not accept
new retail mortgage business or otherwise engage in activities consistent with its former management model after February 15.

AGI113. The following are not changes in management model:

(a) A change in intention related to particular financial assets (even in circumstances of significant changes in market
conditions).

(b)  The temporary disappearance of a particular market for financial assets.
(¢) A transfer of financial assets between parts of the entity with different management models.

Measurement

Non-Exchange Revenue Transactions

AGI114. The initial recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities resulting from non-exchange revenue transactions is
dealt with in IPSAS 23. Assets resulting from non-exchange revenue transactions can arise out of both contractual and
non-contractual arrangements (see IPSAS 28 paragraphs AG20 and AG21). Where these assets arise out of contractual
arrangements and otherwise meet the definition of a financial instrument, they are:

(a) Initially recognized in accordance with IPSAS 23;
(b) Initially measured:
(i) At fair value using the principles in IPSAS 23; and

(ii)  Taking account of transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset in
accordance with paragraph 57 of this Standard, where the asset is subsequently measured other than at fair
value through surplus or deficit.

Initial measurement
Initial Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Paragraphs 57-59)
AG115. The fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction price (i.e., the fair value of the

consideration given or received, see also paragraph AG117). However, if part of the consideration given or received is
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for something other than the financial instrument, the fair value of the financial instrument is estimated, using a valuation
technique (see paragraphs AG149-AG154). For example, the fair value of a long-term loan or receivable that carries no
interest can be measured as the present value of all future cash receipts discounted using the prevailing market rate(s) of
interest for a similar instrument (similar as to currency, term, type of interest rate and other factors) with a similar credit
rating. Any additional amount lent is an expense or a reduction of revenue unless it qualifies for recognition as some other
type of asset.

If an entity originates a loan that bears an off-market interest rate (e.g., 5 percent when the market rate for similar loans is
8 percent), and receives an upfront fee as compensation, the entity recognizes the loan at its fair value, i.c., net of the fee
it receives.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction price. If an
entity determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price as mentioned in paragraph 58,
the entity shall account for that instrument at that date as follows:

(a) At the measurement required by paragraph 57 if that fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market
for an identical asset or liability (i.e., a Level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from
observable markets. An entity shall recognize the difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the
transaction price as a gain or loss.

(b) In all other cases, at the measurement required by paragraph 57, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair
value at initial recognition and the transaction price. After initial recognition, the entity shall recognize that deferred
difference as a gain or loss only to the extent that it arises from a change in a factor (including time) that market
participants would take into account when pricing the asset or liability.

The requirements of this paragraph do not apply to concessionary loans or equity instruments arising from non-exchange
transactions as outlined in paragraphs AG118 to AG130.

Concessionary Loans

AGII18.

AGII19.

AGI120.

AGI2I.

AGI122.

AG123.

Concessionary loans are granted to or received by an entity at below market terms. Below market terms can result
from interest and/or principal concessions. Examples of concessionary loans that commonly have below market terms
include loans to developing countries, small farms, student loans granted to qualifying students for university or college
education and housing loans granted to low income families. Entities may receive concessionary loans, for example, from
development agencies and other government entities.

The granting or receiving of a concessionary loan is distinguished from the waiver of debt owing to or by an entity. This
distinction is important because it affects whether the below market conditions are considered in the initial recognition or
measurement of the loan rather than as part of the subsequent measurement or derecognition.

The intention of a concessionary loan at the outset is to provide or receive resources at below market terms. A waiver of
debt results from loans initially granted or received at market related terms where the intention of either party to the loan
has changed subsequent to its initial issue or receipt. For example, a government may lend money to a not-for-profit entity
with the intention that the loan be repaid in full on market terms. However, the government may subsequently write-off
part of the loan. This is not a concessionary loan as the intention of the loan at the outset was to provide credit to an
entity at market related rates. An entity would treat the subsequent write-off of the loan as a waiver of debt and apply the
derecognition requirements of IPSAS 41 (see paragraphs 12-34).

Concessionary loans also share many characteristics with originated credit-impaired loans. Whether a loan is classified as
concessionary or originated credit-impaired determines whether the difference between the transaction price and the fair
value of the loan is recognized as a concession or as a credit loss in the statement of financial performance.

Whether a loan is concessionary or originated credit-impaired depends on its substance. An intention to incorporate a
non-exchange component into the transaction, such as a transfer of resources, indicates the loan is concessionary. The
non-exchange component is incorporated into the transaction by granting the loan at below market terms. By contrast,
originated credit-impaired loans are loans where one or more events, that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset, have occurred.

As concessionary loans are granted or received at below market terms, the transaction price on initial recognition of
the loan may not be its fair value. At initial recognition, an entity therefore analyzes the substance of the loan granted
or received into its component parts, and accounts for those components using the principles in paragraphs AG124 and
AG126 below.
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An entity firstly assesses whether the substance of the concessionary loan is in fact a loan, a non-exchange transaction,
a contribution from owners or a combination thereof, by applying the principles in IPSAS 28 and paragraphs 42—58 of
IPSAS 23. If an entity has determined that the transaction, or part of the transaction, is a loan, it assesses whether the
transaction price represents the fair value of the loan on initial recognition. An entity determines the fair value of the loan
by using the principles in paragraphs AG144-AG155. Where an entity cannot determine fair value by reference to an
active market, it uses a valuation technique. Fair value using a valuation technique could be determined by discounting all
future cash receipts using a market related rate of interest for a similar loan (see paragraph AG115).

Any difference between the fair value of the loan and the transaction price (the loan proceeds) is treated as follows:
(a)  Where the loan is received by an entity, the difference is accounted for in accordance with IPSAS 23.

(b)  Where the loan is granted by an entity, the difference is treated as an expense in surplus or deficit at initial recognition,
except where the loan is a transaction with owners, in their capacity as owners. Where the loan is a transaction with
owners in their capacity as owners, for example, where a controlling entity provides a concessionary loan to a
controlled entity, the difference may represent a capital contribution, i.e., an investment in an entity, rather than an
expense.

[lustrative Examples are provided in paragraph 1G54 of IPSAS 23 as well as paragraphs IE153 to [E161 accompanying
this Standard.

After evaluating the substance of the concessionary loan and measuring the loan component at fair value, an entity
subsequently assesses the classification of concessionary loans in accordance with paragraphs 39-44 and measures
concessionary loans in accordance with paragraphs 61-65.

In some circumstances a concessionary loan may be granted that is also originated credit-impaired. For example, a
government may provide loans with concessionary terms on a recurring basis to a borrower that historically has not
been able to repay in full. If the concessionary loan is credit-impaired, an entity measures the instrument at the fair value
including the expected credit losses over the life of the instrument. An entity applies paragraph AG125(b) to account for
the component parts and recognizes the credit losses and concessionary element in its entirety as a concession.

Equity Instruments Arising from Non-Exchange Transactions

AG128.

AG129.

AG130.

In the public sector, equity investment can be used as a way for an entity to provide financing or subsidized funding
to another public sector entity. In such a transaction, there is generally a lack of an active market for such investments
(i.e., the equity instrument is unquoted), and there are no or minimal future cash flow expectations from the investment
besides a potential redemption by the issuing entity. Cash is provided by the investing entity to the investee generally to
further the investee’s economic or social objectives. Examples of such investments could include membership shares in a
development bank, or equity investment in another public sector entity that provides certain social programs or services
(e.g., shelters, subsidized housing, small business assistance...etc.)

At initial recognition of such transactions, an entity shall analyze the substance of the arrangement and assess whether
the intention at the outset is the provision or receipt of resources by way of a non-exchange transaction. To the extent that
the transaction, or component of the transaction, is a non-exchange transaction, any assets or revenues arising from the
transaction are accounted for in accordance with IPSAS 23. The entity providing the resources shall recognize the amount
as an expense in surplus or deficit at initial recognition.

To the extent an equity instrument arises from the transaction, or component of the transaction, that is within the scope of
this Standard, it is to be recognized initially at fair value in accordance with paragraph 57. The equity instrument is to be
measured subsequently in accordance with paragraphs 61-63. If the instrument does not have an active market, the entity
shall consider valuation techniques and inputs in paragraphs AG149-AG155) in determining its fair value.

Valuing Financial Guarantees Issued through a Non-Exchange Transaction

AGI3I.

AGI32.

Only contractual financial guarantees (or guarantees that are in substance, contractual) are within the scope of this Standard
(See paragraphs AG3 and AG4 of IPSAS 28). Non-contractual guarantees are not within the scope of this Standard as they
do not meet the definition of a financial instrument. This Standard prescribes recognition and measurement requirements
only for the issuer of financial guarantee contracts.

In paragraph 9, “financial guarantee contract” is defined as “a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments
to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with
the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.” Under the requirements of this Standard, financial guarantee contracts,
like other financial assets and financial liabilities, are required to be initially recognized at fair value. Paragraphs 66—68
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of this Standard provide commentary and guidance on determining fair value and this is complemented by Application
Guidance in paragraphs AG144-AG155. Subsequent measurement for financial guarantee contracts is at the higher of the
amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with paragraphs 73—93 and the amount initially recognized less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortization in accordance with IPSAS 9, Revenue from Exchange Transactions.

In the public sector, guarantees are frequently provided by way of non-exchange transactions, i.e., at no or nominal
consideration. This type of guarantee is provided generally to further the entity’s economic and social objectives.
Such purposes include supporting infrastructure projects, supporting corporate entities at times of economic distress,
guaranteeing the bond issues of entities in other tiers of governments and the loans of employees to finance motor
vehicles that are to be used for performance of their duties as employees. Where there is consideration for a financial
guarantee, an entity should determine whether that consideration arises from an exchange transaction and whether
the consideration represents a fair value. If the consideration does represent a fair value, entities should recognize the
financial guarantee at the amount of the consideration. Subsequent measurement should be at the higher of the amount
of the loss allowance determined in accordance with paragraphs 73-93 and the amount initially recognized, less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortization recognized in accordance with IPSAS 9. Where the entity concludes that the
consideration is not a fair value, an entity determines the carrying value at initial recognition in the same way as if no
consideration had been paid.

At initial recognition, where no fee is charged or where the consideration is not fair value, an entity firstly considers
whether there are quoted prices available in an active market for financial guarantee contracts directly equivalent to that
entered into. Evidence of an active market includes recent arm’s length market transactions between knowledgeable willing
parties, and reference to the current fair value of another financial guarantee contract that is substantially the same as that
provided at nil or nominal consideration by the issuer. The fact that a financial guarantee contract has been entered into at no
consideration by the debtor to the issuer is not, of itself, conclusive evidence of the absence of an active market. Guarantees
may be available from commercial issuers, but a public sector entity may agree to enter into a financial guarantee contract
for a number of non-commercial reasons. For example, if a debtor is unable to afford a commercial fee, and initiation of
a project in fulfillment of one of the entity’s social or policy objectives would be put at risk unless a financial guarantee
contract is issued, it may approach a public sector entity or government to issue a financial guarantee contract.

Where there is no active market for a directly equivalent guarantee contract; the entity considers whether a valuation
technique other than observation of an active market is available and provides a reliable measure of fair value. Such a
valuation technique may rely on mathematical models which consider financial risk. For example, National Government W
guarantees a bond issue of Municipality X. As Municipality X has a government guarantee backing its bond issue, its bonds
have a lower coupon than if they were not secured by a government guarantee. This is because the guarantee lowers the
risk profile of the bonds for investors. The guarantee fee could be determined by using the credit spread between what the
coupon rate would have been had the issue not been backed by a government guarantee and the rate with the guarantee in
place. Where a fair value is obtainable either by observation of an active market or through another valuation technique, the
entity recognizes the financial guarantee at that fair value in the statement of financial position and recognizes an expense
of an equivalent amount in the statement of financial performance. When using a valuation technique that is not based on
observation of an active market an entity needs to satisfy itself that the output of any model is reliable and understandable.

If no reliable measure of fair value can be determined, either by direct observation of an active market or through another
valuation technique, an entity is required to measure the financial guarantee contract at the amount of the loss allowance
determined in accordance with paragraphs 73 to 93.

Subsequent Measurement

AG137.

AG138.

If a financial instrument that was previously recognized as a financial asset is measured at fair value through surplus
or deficit and its fair value decreases below zero, it is a financial liability measured in accordance with paragraph 45.
However, hybrid contracts with hosts that are assets within the scope of this Standard are always measured in accordance
with paragraph 48.

The following example illustrates the accounting for transaction costs on the initial and subsequent measurement of a
financial asset measured at fair value with changes through net assets/equity in accordance with either paragraph 106 or
41. An entity acquires a financial asset for CU100 plus a purchase commission of CU2. Initially, the entity recognizes the
asset at CU102. The reporting period ends one day later, when the quoted market price of the asset is CU100. If the asset
were sold, a commission of CU3 would be paid. On that date, the entity measures the asset at CU100 (without regard to
the possible commission on sale) and recognizes a loss of CU2 in net assets/equity. If the financial asset is measured at fair
value through net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 41, the transaction costs are amortized to surplus or deficit
using the effective interest method.
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The subsequent measurement of a financial asset or financial liability and the subsequent recognition of gains and losses
described in paragraph AG117 shall be consistent with the requirements of this Standard.

Investments in Equity Instruments and Contracts on those Investments

AG140.

AGl141.

AG142.

AG143.

All investments in equity instruments and contracts on those instruments must be measured at fair value. However, in
limited circumstances, cost may be an appropriate estimate of fair value. That may be the case if insufficient more recent
information is available to measure fair value, or if there is a wide range of possible fair value measurements and cost
represents the best estimate of fair value within that range.

Indicators that cost might not be representative of fair value include:

(a) A significant change in the performance of the investee compared with budgets, plans or milestones.

(b) Changes in expectation that the investee’s technical product milestones will be achieved.

(¢)  Asignificant change in the market for the investee’s equity or its products or potential products.

(d)  Asignificant change in the global economy or the economic environment in which the investee operates.

(e) A significant change in the performance of comparable entities, or in the valuations implied by the overall market.
(f)  Internal matters of the investee such as fraud, commercial disputes, litigation, changes in management or strategy.

(g) Evidence from external transactions in the investee’s equity, either by the investee (such as a fresh issue of equity),
or by transfers of equity instruments between third parties.

The list in paragraph AG141 is not exhaustive. An entity shall use all information about the performance and operations of
the investee that becomes available after the date of initial recognition. To the extent that any such relevant factors exist,
they may indicate that cost might not be representative of fair value. In such cases, the entity must measure fair value.

Cost is never the best estimate of fair value for investments in quoted equity instruments (or contracts on quoted equity
instruments).

Fair Value Measurement Considerations

AG144.

AGI145.

Underlying the definition of fair value is a presumption that an entity is a going concern without any intention or need to
liquidate, to curtail materially the scale of its operations or to undertake a transaction on adverse terms. Fair value is not,
therefore, the amount that an entity would receive or pay in a forced transaction, involuntary liquidation or distress sale.
However, fair value reflects the credit quality of the instrument.

This Standard uses the terms “bid price” and “asking price” (sometimes referred to as “current offer price”) in the context
of quoted market prices, and the term “the bid-ask spread” to include only transaction costs. Other adjustments to arrive at
fair value (e.g., for counterparty credit risk) are not included in the term “bid-ask spread.”

Active Market: Quoted Price

AG146.

AG147.

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from
an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and
regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. Fair value is defined in terms of a price agreed by a
willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction. The objective of determining fair value for a financial
instrument that is traded in an active market is to arrive at the price at which a transaction would occur at the end of the
reporting period in that instrument (i.e., without modifying or repackaging the instrument) in the most advantageous active
market to which the entity has immediate access. However, the entity adjusts the price in the more advantageous market to
reflect any differences in counterparty credit risk between instruments traded in that market and the one being valued. The
existence of published price quotations in an active market is the best evidence of fair value and when they exist they are
used to measure the financial asset or financial liability.

The appropriate quoted market price for an asset held or liability to be issued is usually the current bid price and, for an
asset to be acquired or liability held, the asking price. When an entity has assets and liabilities with offsetting market risks,
it may use mid-market prices as a basis for establishing fair values for the offsetting risk positions and apply the bid or
asking price to the net open position as appropriate. When current bid and asking prices are unavailable, the price of the
most recent transaction provides evidence of the current fair value as long as there has not been a significant change in
economic circumstances since the time of the transaction. If conditions have changed since the time of the transaction (e.g.,
a change in the risk-free interest rate following the most recent price quote for a government bond), the fair value reflects
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the change in conditions by reference to current prices or rates for similar financial instruments, as appropriate. Similarly, if
the entity can demonstrate that the last transaction price is not fair value (e.g., because it reflected the amount that an entity
would receive or pay in a forced transaction, involuntary liquidation or distress sale), that price is adjusted. The fair value
of a portfolio of financial instruments is the product of the number of units of the instrument and its quoted market price.
If a published price quotation in an active market does not exist for a financial instrument in its entirety, but active markets
exist for its component parts, fair value is determined on the basis of the relevant market prices for the component parts.

If a rate (rather than a price) is quoted in an active market, the entity uses that market-quoted rate as an input into a
valuation technique to determine fair value. If the market-quoted rate does not include credit risk or other factors that
market participants would include in valuing the instrument, the entity adjusts for those factors.

No Active Market: Valuation Technique

AG149.

AG150.

AGI51.

AG152.

AG153.

AG154.

If the market for a financial instrument is not active, an entity establishes fair value by using a valuation technique.
Valuation techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties, if
available, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow
analysis and option pricing models. If there is a valuation technique commonly used by market participants to price the
instrument and that technique has been demonstrated to provide reliable estimates of prices obtained in actual market
transactions, the entity uses that technique.

The objective of using a valuation technique is to establish what the transaction price would have been on the measurement
date in an arm’s length exchange motivated by normal operating considerations. Fair value is estimated on the basis of the
results of a valuation technique that makes maximum use of market inputs, and relies as little as possible on entity-specific
inputs. A valuation technique would be expected to arrive at a realistic estimate of the fair value if (a) it reasonably reflects
how the market could be expected to price the instrument and (b) the inputs to the valuation technique reasonably represent
market expectations and measures of the risk-return factors inherent in the financial instrument.

Therefore, a valuation technique (a) incorporates all factors that market participants would consider in setting a price and
(b) is consistent with accepted economic methodologies for pricing financial instruments. Periodically, an entity calibrates
the valuation technique and tests it for validity using prices from any observable current market transactions in the same
instrument (i.e., without modification or repackaging) or based on any available observable market data. An entity obtains
market data consistently in the same market where the instrument was originated or purchased.

The initial acquisition or origination of a financial asset or incurrence of a financial liability is a market transaction that
provides a foundation for estimating the fair value of the financial instrument. In particular, if the financial instrument is a
debt instrument (such as a loan), its fair value can be determined by reference to the market conditions that existed at its
acquisition or origination date and current market conditions or interest rates currently charged by the entity or by others
for similar debt instruments (i.e., similar remaining maturity, cash flow pattern, currency, credit risk, collateral and interest
basis). Alternatively, provided there is no change in the credit risk of the debtor and applicable credit spreads after the
origination of the debt instrument, an estimate of the current market interest rate may be derived by using a benchmark
interest rate reflecting a better credit quality than the underlying debt instrument, holding the credit spread constant, and
adjusting for the change in the benchmark interest rate from the origination date. If conditions have changed since the most
recent market transaction, the corresponding change in the fair value of the financial instrument being valued is determined
by reference to current prices or rates for similar financial instruments, adjusted as appropriate, for any differences from
the instrument being valued.

The same information may not be available at each measurement date. For example, at the date that an entity makes a
loan or acquires a debt instrument that is not actively traded, the entity has a transaction price that is also a market price.
However, no new transaction information may be available at the next measurement date and, although the entity can
determine the general level of market interest rates, it may not know what level of credit or other risk market participants
would consider in pricing the instrument on that date. An entity may not have information from recent transactions to
determine the appropriate credit spread over the basic interest rate to use in determining a discount rate for a present value
computation. It would be reasonable to assume, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, that no changes have taken place
in the spread that existed at the date the loan was made. However, the entity would be expected to make reasonable efforts
to determine whether there is evidence that there has been a change in such factors. When evidence of a change exists, the
entity would consider the effects of the change in determining the fair value of the financial instrument.

In applying discounted cash flow analysis, an entity uses one or more discount rates equal to the prevailing rates of
return for financial instruments having substantially the same terms and characteristics, including the credit quality of the
instrument, the remaining term over which the contractual interest rate is fixed, the remaining term to repayment of the
principal and the currency in which payments are to be made.
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Inputs to Valuation Techniques

AG155. An appropriate technique for estimating the fair value of a particular financial instrument would incorporate observable
market data about the market conditions and other factors that are likely to affect the instrument’s fair value. The fair value
of a financial instrument will be based on one or more of the following factors (and perhaps others).

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)
(©

®

(g

(h)

The time value of money (i.e., interest at the basic or risk-free rate). Basic interest rates can usually be derived from
observable government bond prices and are often quoted in financial publications. These rates typically vary with
the expected dates of the projected cash flows along a yield curve of interest rates for different time horizons. For
practical reasons, an entity may use a well-accepted and readily observable general market rate, such as a swap
rate, as the benchmark rate. (If the rate used is not the risk-free interest rate, the credit risk adjustment appropriate
to the particular financial instrument is determined on the basis of its credit risk in relation to the credit risk in this
benchmark rate). In some countries, the central government’s bonds may carry a significant credit risk and may
not provide a stable benchmark basic interest rate for instruments denominated in that currency. Some entities in
these countries may have a better credit standing and a lower borrowing rate than the central government. In such
a case, basic interest rates may be more appropriately determined by reference to interest rates for the highest rated
corporate bonds issued in the currency of that jurisdiction.

Credit risk. The effect on fair value of credit risk (i.e., the premium over the basic interest rate for credit risk) may be
derived from observable market prices for traded instruments of different credit quality or from observable interest
rates charged by lenders for loans of various credit ratings.

Foreign currency exchange prices. Active currency exchange markets exist for most major currencies, and prices are
quoted daily in financial publications.

Commodity prices. There are observable market prices for many commodities.

Equity prices. Prices (and indexes of prices) of traded equity instruments are readily observable in some markets.
Present value based techniques may be used to estimate the current market price of equity instruments for which
there are no observable prices.

Volatility (i.e., magnitude of future changes in price of the financial instrument or other item). Measures of the
volatility of actively traded items can normally be reasonably estimated on the basis of historical market data or by
using volatilities implied in current market prices.

Prepayment risk and surrender risk. Expected prepayment patterns for financial assets and expected surrender
patterns for financial liabilities can be estimated on the basis of historical data. (The fair value of a financial liability
that can be surrendered by the counterparty cannot be less than the present value of the surrender amount — see
paragraph 68).

Servicing costs for a financial asset or a financial liability. Costs of servicing can be estimated using comparisons
with current fees charged by other market participants. If the costs of servicing a financial asset or financial liability
are significant and other market participants would face comparable costs, the issuer would consider them in
determining the fair value of that financial asset or financial liability. It is likely that the fair value at inception of a
contractual right to future fees equals the origination costs paid for them, unless future fees and related costs are out
of line with market comparables.

Amortized Cost Measurement

Effective Interest Method

AG156. In applying the effective interest method, an entity identifies fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of
a financial instrument. The description of fees for financial services may not be indicative of the nature and substance of
the services provided. Fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument are treated as
an adjustment to the effective interest rate, unless the financial instrument is measured at fair value, with the change in
fair value being recognized in surplus or deficit. In those cases, the fees are recognized as revenue or expense when the
instrument is initially recognized.

AG157. Fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument include:

(a)

Origination fees received by the entity relating to the creation or acquisition of a financial asset. Such fees may
include compensation for activities such as evaluating the borrower’s financial condition, evaluating and recording
guarantees, collateral and other security arrangements, negotiating the terms of the instrument, preparing and
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processing documents and closing the transaction. These fees are an integral part of generating an involvement with
the resulting financial instrument.

(b) Commitment fees received by the entity to originate a loan when the loan commitment is not measured in accordance
with paragraph 45(a) and it is probable that the entity will enter into a specific lending arrangement. These fees
are regarded as compensation for an ongoing involvement with the acquisition of a financial instrument. If the
commitment expires without the entity making the loan, the fee is recognized as revenue on expiry.

(¢)  Origination fees paid on issuing financial liabilities measured at amortized cost. These fees are an integral part of
generating an involvement with a financial liability. An entity distinguishes fees and costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate for the financial liability from origination fees and transaction costs relating to the right to
provide services, such as investment management services.

Fees that are not an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument and are accounted for in accordance
with IPSAS 9 include:

(a)  Fees charged for servicing a loan;

(b) Commitment fees to originate a loan when the loan commitment is not measured in accordance with paragraph 45(a)
and it is unlikely that a specific lending arrangement will be entered into; and

(¢) Loan syndication fees received by an entity that arranges a loan and retains no part of the loan package for itself (or
retains a part at the same effective interest rate for comparable risk as other participants).

When applying the effective interest method, an entity generally amortizes any fees, points paid or received, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts that are included in the calculation of the effective interest rate over the expected
life of the financial instrument. However, a shorter period is used if this is the period to which the fees, points paid or
received, transaction costs, premiums or discounts relate. This will be the case when the variable to which the fees, points
paid or received, transaction costs, premiums or discounts relate is repriced to market rates before the expected maturity
of the financial instrument. In such a case, the appropriate amortization period is the period to the next such repricing date.
For example, if a premium or discount on a floating-rate financial instrument reflects the interest that has accrued on that
financial instrument since the interest was last paid, or changes in the market rates since the floating interest rate was reset
to the market rates, it will be amortized to the next date when the floating interest is reset to market rates. This is because
the premium or discount relates to the period to the next interest reset date because, at that date, the variable to which the
premium or discount relates (i.e., interest rates) is reset to the market rates. If, however, the premium or discount results
from a change in the credit spread over the floating rate specified in the financial instrument, or other variables that are not
reset to the market rates, it is amortized over the expected life of the financial instrument.

For floating-rate financial assets and floating-rate financial liabilities, periodic re-estimation of cash flows to reflect the
movements in the market rates of interest alters the effective interest rate. If a floating-rate financial asset or a floating-rate
financial liability is recognized initially at an amount equal to the principal receivable or payable on maturity, re-estimating
the future interest payments normally has no significant effect on the carrying amount of the asset or the liability.

If an entity revises its estimates of payments or receipts (excluding modifications in accordance with paragraph 71 and
changes in estimates of expected credit losses), it shall adjust the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or amortized
cost of a financial liability (or group of financial instruments) to reflect actual and revised estimated contractual cash
flows. The entity recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or amortized cost of the financial liability as
the present value of the estimated future contractual cash flows that are discounted at the financial instrument’s original
effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective interest rate for purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets)
or, when applicable, the revised effective interest rate calculated in accordance with paragraph 139. The adjustment is
recognized in surplus or deficit as revenue or expense.

In some cases a financial asset is considered credit-impaired at initial recognition because the credit risk is very high, and in
the case of a purchase it is acquired at a deep discount. An entity is required to include the initial expected credit losses in
the estimated cash flows when calculating the credit-adjusted effective interest rate for financial assets that are considered
to be purchased or originated credit-impaired at initial recognition. However, this does not mean that a credit-adjusted
effective interest rate should be applied solely because the financial asset has high credit risk at initial recognition.

Transaction Costs

AG163.

Transaction costs include fees and commission paid to agents (including employees acting as selling agents), advisers,
brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and security exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties. Transaction costs
do not include debt premiums or discounts, financing costs or internal administrative or holding costs.
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Write-off

AGI164.

Write-offs can relate to a financial asset in its entirety or to a portion of it. For example, an entity plans to enforce the
collateral on a financial asset and expects to recover no more than 30 percent of the financial asset from the collateral. If
the entity has no reasonable prospects of recovering any further cash flows from the financial asset, it should write off the
remaining 70 percent of the financial asset.

Impairment

Collective and Individual Assessment Basis

AGI65.

AGI166.

AGI167.

AGI68.

AGI169.

AGI170.

In order to meet the objective of recognizing lifetime expected credit losses for significant increases in credit risk since
initial recognition, it may be necessary to perform the assessment of significant increases in credit risk on a collective
basis by considering information that is indicative of significant increases in credit risk on, for example, a group or sub-
group of financial instruments. This is to ensure that an entity meets the objective of recognizing lifetime expected credit
losses when there are significant increases in credit risk, even if evidence of such significant increases in credit risk at the
individual instrument level is not yet available.

Lifetime expected credit losses are generally expected to be recognized before a financial instrument becomes past due.
Typically, credit risk increases significantly before a financial instrument becomes past due or other lagging borrower-
specific factors (for example, a modification or restructuring) are observed. Consequently when reasonable and supportable
information that is more forward-looking than past due information is available without undue cost or effort, it must be
used to assess changes in credit risk.

However, depending on the nature of the financial instruments and the credit risk information available for particular
groups of financial instruments, an entity may not be able to identify significant changes in credit risk for individual
financial instruments before the financial instrument becomes past due. This may be the case for financial instruments
such as student loans for which there is little or no updated credit risk information that is routinely obtained and monitored
on an individual instrument until a borrower breaches the contractual terms. If changes in the credit risk for individual
financial instruments are not captured before they become past due, a loss allowance based only on credit information at
an individual financial instrument level would not faithfully represent the changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

In some circumstances an entity does not have reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost
or effort to measure lifetime expected credit losses on an individual instrument basis. In that case, lifetime expected credit
losses shall be recognized on a collective basis that considers comprehensive credit risk information. This comprehensive
credit risk information must incorporate not only past due information but also all relevant credit information, including
forward-looking macroeconomic information, in order to approximate the result of recognizing lifetime expected credit
losses when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition on an individual instrument level.

For the purpose of determining significant increases in credit risk and recognizing a loss allowance on a collective basis, an
entity can group financial instruments on the basis of shared credit risk characteristics with the objective of facilitating an
analysis that is designed to enable significant increases in credit risk to be identified on a timely basis. The entity should not
obscure this information by grouping financial instruments with different risk characteristics. Examples of shared credit
risk characteristics may include, but are not limited to, the:

(a)  Instrument type;

(b)  Credit risk ratings;

(¢) Collateral type;

(d) Date of initial recognition;

() Remaining term to maturity;

()  Industry;

(g) Geographical location of the borrower; and

(h)  The value of collateral relative to the financial asset if it has an impact on the probability of a default occurring (for
example, non-recourse loans in some jurisdictions or loan-to-value ratios).

Paragraph 76 requires that lifetime expected credit losses are recognized on all financial instruments for which there has
been significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition. In order to meet this objective, if an entity is not able to
group financial instruments for which the credit risk is considered to have increased significantly since initial recognition
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based on shared credit risk characteristics, the entity should recognize lifetime expected credit losses on a portion of the
financial assets for which credit risk is deemed to have increased significantly. The aggregation of financial instruments
to assess whether there are changes in credit risk on a collective basis may change over time as new information becomes
available on groups of, or individual, financial instruments.

Timing of Recognizing Lifetime Expected Credit Losses

AGI171.

AGI172.

AG173.

AG174.

AG175.

AG176.

AG177.

AG178.

The assessment of whether lifetime expected credit losses should be recognized is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition (irrespective of whether a financial instrument has been
repriced to reflect an increase in credit risk) instead of on evidence of a financial asset being credit-impaired at the reporting
date or an actual default occurring. Generally, there will be a significant increase in credit risk before a financial asset
becomes credit-impaired or an actual default occurs.

For loan commitments, an entity considers changes in the risk of a default occurring on the loan to which a loan commitment
relates. For financial guarantee contracts, an entity considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default
on the contract.

The significance of a change in the credit risk since initial recognition depends on the risk of a default occurring as at
initial recognition. Thus, a given change, in absolute terms, in the risk of a default occurring will be more significant for a
financial instrument with a lower initial risk of a default occurring compared to a financial instrument with a higher initial
risk of a default occurring.

The risk of a default occurring on financial instruments that have comparable credit risk is higher the longer the expected
life of the instrument; for example, the risk of a default occurring on an AAA-rated bond with an expected life of 10 years
is higher than that on an AAA-rated bond with an expected life of five years.

Because of the relationship between the expected life and the risk of a default occurring, the change in credit risk cannot
be assessed simply by comparing the change in the absolute risk of a default occurring over time. For example, if the risk
of a default occurring for a financial instrument with an expected life of 10 years at initial recognition is identical to the
risk of a default occurring on that financial instrument when its expected life in a subsequent period is only five years,
that may indicate an increase in credit risk. This is because the risk of a default occurring over the expected life usually
decreases as time passes if the credit risk is unchanged and the financial instrument is closer to maturity. However, for
financial instruments that only have significant payment obligations close to the maturity of the financial instrument the
risk of a default occurring may not necessarily decrease as time passes. In such a case, an entity should also consider other
qualitative factors that would demonstrate whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.

An entity may apply various approaches when assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition or when measuring expected credit losses. An entity may apply different approaches
for different financial instruments. An approach that does not include an explicit probability of default as an input per se,
such as a credit loss rate approach, can be consistent with the requirements in this Standard, provided that an entity is able
to separate the changes in the risk of a default occurring from changes in other drivers of expected credit losses, such as
collateral, and considers the following when making the assessment:

(a)  The change in the risk of a default occurring since initial recognition;
(b)  The expected life of the financial instrument; and
(¢) Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort that may affect credit risk.

The methods used to determine whether credit risk has increased significantly on a financial instrument since initial
recognition should consider the characteristics of the financial instrument (or group of financial instruments) and the
default patterns in the past for comparable financial instruments. Despite the requirement in paragraph 81, for financial
instruments for which default patterns are not concentrated at a specific point during the expected life of the financial
instrument, changes in the risk of a default occurring over the next 12 months may be a reasonable approximation of
the changes in the lifetime risk of a default occurring. In such cases, an entity may use changes in the risk of a default
occurring over the next 12 months to determine whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition,
unless circumstances indicate that a lifetime assessment is necessary.

However, for some financial instruments, or in some circumstances, it may not be appropriate to use changes in the risk of
a default occurring over the next 12 months to determine whether lifetime expected credit losses should be recognized. For
example, the change in the risk of a default occurring in the next 12 months may not be a suitable basis for determining
whether credit risk has increased on a financial instrument with a maturity of more than 12 months when:
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(a)  The financial instrument only has significant payment obligations beyond the next 12 months;

(b)  Changes in relevant macroeconomic or other credit-related factors occur that are not adequately reflected in the risk
of a default occurring in the next 12 months; or

(¢)  Changes in credit-related factors only have an impact on the credit risk of the financial instrument (or have a more
pronounced effect) beyond 12 months.

Determining Whether Credit Risk has Increased Significantly since Initial Recognition

AG179.

AG180.

AGI18I.

When determining whether the recognition of lifetime expected credit losses is required, an entity shall consider reasonable
and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort and that may affect the credit risk on a financial
instrument in accordance with paragraph 90(c). An entity need not undertake an exhaustive search for information when
determining whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.

Credit risk analysis is a multifactor and holistic analysis; whether a specific factor is relevant, and its weight compared to
other factors, will depend on the type of product, characteristics of the financial instruments and the borrower as well as the
geographical region. An entity shall consider reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost
or effort and that is relevant for the particular financial instrument being assessed. However, some factors or indicators may
not be identifiable on an individual financial instrument level. In such a case, the factors or indicators should be assessed
for appropriate portfolios, groups of portfolios or portions of a portfolio of financial instruments to determine whether the
requirement in paragraph 75 for the recognition of lifetime expected credit losses has been met.

The following non-exhaustive list of information may be relevant in assessing changes in credit risk:

(a) Significant changes in internal price indicators of credit risk as a result of a change in credit risk since inception,
including, but not limited to, the credit spread that would result if a particular financial instrument or similar financial
instrument with the same terms and the same counterparty were newly originated or issued at the reporting date.

(b)  Other changes in the rates or terms of an existing financial instrument that would be significantly different if
the instrument was newly originated or issued at the reporting date (such as more stringent covenants, increased
amounts of collateral or guarantees, or higher revenue coverage) because of changes in the credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition.

(c) Significant changes in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial instrument or similar financial
instruments with the same expected life. Changes in market indicators of credit risk include, but are not limited to:

(i)  The credit spread,;
(ii))  The credit default swap prices for the borrower;

(i)  The length of time or the extent to which the fair value of a financial asset has been less than its amortized
cost; and

(iv)  Other market information related to the borrower, such as changes in the price of a borrower’s debt and
equity instruments.

(d)  An actual or expected significant change in the financial instrument’s external credit rating.

(¢) An actual or expected internal credit rating downgrade for the borrower or decrease in behavioral scoring used to
assess credit risk internally. Internal credit ratings and internal behavioral scoring are more reliable when they are
mapped to external ratings or supported by default studies.

(f)  Existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change in the borrower’s ability to meet its debt obligations, such as an actual or expected increase in
interest rates or an actual or expected significant increase in unemployment rates.

(g) An actual or expected significant change in the operating results of the borrower. Examples include actual or
expected declining revenues or margins, increasing operating risks, working capital deficiencies, decreasing asset
quality, increased balance sheet leverage, liquidity, management problems or changes in the scope of operation or
organizational structure (such as the discontinuance of a segment of the entity) that results in a significant change in
the borrower’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

(h)  Significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same borrower.
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(1)  An actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
borrower that results in a significant change in the borrower’s ability to meet its debt obligations, such as a decline
in the demand for the borrower’s sales product because of a shift in technology.

(j)  Significant changes in the value of the collateral supporting the obligation or in the quality of third-party guarantees
or credit enhancements, which are expected to reduce the borrower’s economic incentive to make scheduled
contractual payments or to otherwise have an effect on the probability of a default occurring. For example, if the
value of collateral declines because house prices decline, borrowers in some jurisdictions have a greater incentive
to default on their mortgages.

(k)  Asignificant change in the quality of the guarantee provided by an entity’s owners (or an individual’s guarantors) if
the shareholder (or guarantors) have an incentive and financial ability to prevent default by capital or cash infusion.

(I)  Significant changes, such as reductions in financial support from a controlling entity or other affiliate or an actual
or expected significant change in the quality of credit enhancement, that are expected to reduce the borrower’s
economic incentive to make scheduled contractual payments. Credit quality enhancements or support include the
consideration of the financial condition of the guarantor and/or, for interests issued in securitizations, whether
subordinated interests are expected to be capable of absorbing expected credit losses (for example, on the loans
underlying the security).

(m) Expected changes in the loan documentation including an expected breach of contract that may lead to covenant
waivers or amendments, interest payment holidays, interest rate step-ups, requiring additional collateral or
guarantees, or other changes to the contractual framework of the instrument.

(n)  Significant changes in the expected performance and behavior of the borrower, including changes in the payment
status of borrowers in the economic entity (for example, an increase in the expected number or extent of delayed
contractual payments).

(o) Changes in the entity’s credit management approach in relation to the financial instrument; i.e., based on emerging
indicators of changes in the credit risk of the financial instrument, the entity’s credit risk management practice is
expected to become more active or to be focused on managing the instrument, including the instrument becoming
more closely monitored or controlled, or the entity specifically intervening with the borrower.

(p) Past due information, including the rebuttable presumption as set out in paragraph §3.

In some cases, the qualitative and non-statistical quantitative information available may be sufficient to determine that a
financial instrument has met the criterion for the recognition of a loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit losses. That is, the information does not need to flow through a statistical model or credit ratings process in order
to determine whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk of the financial instrument. In other cases, an
entity may need to consider other information, including information from its statistical models or credit ratings processes.
Alternatively, the entity may base the assessment on both types of information, i.e., qualitative factors that are not captured
through the internal ratings process and a specific internal rating category at the reporting date, taking into consideration
the credit risk characteristics at initial recognition, if both types of information are relevant.

More than 30 Days Past Due Rebuttable Presumption

AG183.

AG184.

AG185.

The rebuttable presumption in paragraph 83 is not an absolute indicator that lifetime expected credit losses should be
recognized, but is presumed to be the latest point at which lifetime expected credit losses should be recognized even when
using forward-looking information (including macroeconomic factors on a portfolio level).

An entity can rebut this presumption. However, it can do so only when it has reasonable and supportable information
available that demonstrates that even if contractual payments become more than 30 days past due, this does not represent
a significant increase in the credit risk of a financial instrument. For example when non-payment was an administrative
oversight, instead of resulting from financial difficulty of the borrower, or the entity has access to historical evidence that
demonstrates that there is no correlation between significant increases in the risk of a default occurring and financial assets
on which payments are more than 30 days past due, but that evidence does identify such a correlation when payments are
more than 60 days past due.

An entity cannot align the timing of significant increases in credit risk and the recognition of lifetime expected credit losses
to when a financial asset is regarded as credit-impaired or an entity’s internal definition of default.
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Financial Instruments that have Low Credit Risk at the Reporting Date

AGI186.

AGI187.

AGI8S.

The credit risk on a financial instrument is considered low for the purposes of paragraph 82, if the financial instrument has
a low risk of default, the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. Financial instruments are not considered to have low credit risk
when they are regarded as having a low risk of loss simply because of the value of collateral and the financial instrument
without that collateral would not be considered low credit risk. Financial instruments are also not considered to have low
credit risk simply because they have a lower risk of default than the entity’s other financial instruments or relative to the
credit risk of the jurisdiction within which an entity operates.

To determine whether a financial instrument has low credit risk, an entity may use its internal credit risk ratings or other
methodologies that are consistent with a globally understood definition of low credit risk and that consider the risks and
the type of financial instruments that are being assessed. An external rating of ‘investment grade’ is an example of a
financial instrument that may be considered as having low credit risk. However, financial instruments are not required to be
externally rated to be considered to have low credit risk. They should, however, be considered to have low credit risk from
a market participant perspective taking into account all of the terms and conditions of the financial instrument.

Lifetime expected credit losses are not recognized on a financial instrument simply because it was considered to have low
credit risk in the previous reporting period and is not considered to have low credit risk at the reporting date. In such a
case, an entity shall determine whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and thus
whether lifetime expected credit losses are required to be recognized in accordance with paragraph 75.

Modifications

AG189.

AG190.

AGI191.

In some circumstances, the renegotiation or modification of the contractual cash flows of a financial asset can lead to the
derecognition of the existing financial asset in accordance with this Standard. When the modification of a financial asset
results in the derecognition of the existing financial asset and the subsequent recognition of the modified financial asset,
the modified asset is considered a ‘new’ financial asset for the purposes of this Standard.

Accordingly the date of the modification shall be treated as the date of initial recognition of that financial asset when
applying the impairment requirements to the modified financial asset. This typically means measuring the loss allowance
at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses until the requirements for the recognition of lifetime expected
credit losses in paragraph 75 are met. However, in some unusual circumstances following a modification that results in
derecognition of the original financial asset, there may be evidence that the modified financial asset is credit-impaired at
initial recognition, and thus, the financial asset should be recognized as an originated credit-impaired financial asset. This
might occur, for example, in a situation in which there was a substantial modification of a distressed asset that resulted in
the derecognition of the original financial asset. In such a case, it may be possible for the modification to result in a new
financial asset which is credit-impaired at initial recognition.

If the contractual cash flows on a financial asset have been renegotiated or otherwise modified, but the financial asset is not
derecognized, that financial asset is not automatically considered to have lower credit risk. An entity shall assess whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition on the basis of all reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort. This includes historical and forward-looking information and an
assessment of the credit risk over the expected life of the financial asset, which includes information about the circumstances
that led to the modification. Evidence that the criteria for the recognition of lifetime expected credit losses are no longer
met may include a history of up-to-date and timely payment performance against the modified contractual terms. Typically
a borrower would need to demonstrate consistently good payment behavior over a period of time before the credit risk is
considered to have decreased. For example, a history of missed or incomplete payments would not typically be erased by
simply making one payment on time following a modification of the contractual terms.

Measurement of Expected Credit Losses

Expected Credit Losses

AG192.

AG193.

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e., the present value of all cash shortfalls) over
the expected life of the financial instrument. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows that are due to an
entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive. Because expected credit losses
consider the amount and timing of payments, a credit loss arises even if the entity expects to be paid in full but later than
when contractually due.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the difference between:
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AG196.

AG197.

AGI198.

AGI199.
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(a)  The contractual cash flows that are due to an entity under the contract; and

(b)  The cash flows that the entity expects to receive.

For undrawn loan commitments, a credit loss is the present value of the difference between:

(a)  The contractual cash flows that are due to the entity if the holder of the loan commitment draws down the loan; and
(b)  The cash flows that the entity expects to receive if the loan is drawn down.

An entity’s estimate of expected credit losses on loan commitments shall be consistent with its expectations of drawdowns
on that loan commitment, i.e., it shall consider the expected portion of the loan commitment that will be drawn down
within 12 months of the reporting date when estimating 12-month expected credit losses, and the expected portion of
the loan commitment that will be drawn down over the expected life of the loan commitment when estimating lifetime
expected credit losses.

For a financial guarantee contract, the entity is required to make payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in
accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, cash shortfalls are the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the entity expects to receive from the holder, the
debtor or any other party. If the asset is fully guaranteed, the estimation of cash shortfalls for a financial guarantee contract
would be consistent with the estimations of cash shortfalls for the asset subject to the guarantee.

For a financial asset that is credit-impaired at the reporting date, but that is not a purchased or originated credit-impaired
financial asset, an entity shall measure the expected credit losses as the difference between the asset’s gross carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate. Any adjustment is recognized in surplus or deficit as an impairment gain or loss.

When measuring a loss allowance for a lease receivable, the cash flows used for determining the expected credit losses
should be consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance with IPSAS 43, Leases.

An entity may use practical expedients when measuring expected credit losses if they are consistent with the principles
in paragraph 90. An example of a practical expedient is the calculation of the expected credit losses on receivables using
a provision matrix. The entity would use its historical credit loss experience (adjusted as appropriate in accordance with
paragraphs AG215-AG216) for receivables to estimate the 12-month expected credit losses or the lifetime expected credit
losses on the financial assets as relevant. A provision matrix might, for example, specify fixed provision rates depending on
the number of days that a trade receivable is past due (for example, 1 percent if not past due, 2 percent if less than 30 days
past due, 3 percent if more than 30 days but less than 90 days past due, 20 percent if 90-180 days past due etc.). Depending
on the diversity of its customer base, the entity would use appropriate groupings if its historical credit loss experience
shows significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments. Examples of criteria that might be used to group
assets include geographical region, product type, customer rating, collateral or trade credit insurance and type of customer
(such as other government entities or individuals).

Definition of Default

AG200.

AG201.

Paragraph 81 requires that when determining whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly,
an entity shall consider the change in the risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

When defining default for the purposes of determining the risk of a default occurring, an entity shall apply a default
definition that is consistent with the definition used for internal credit risk management purposes for the relevant
financial instrument and consider qualitative indicators (for example, financial covenants) when appropriate. However,
there is a rebuttable presumption that default does not occur later than when a financial asset is 90 days past due unless
an entity has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate. The definition of default used for these purposes shall be applied consistently to all financial instruments
unless information becomes available that demonstrates that another default definition is more appropriate for a
particular financial instrument.

Period Over Which to Estimate Expected Credit Losses

AG202.

In accordance with paragraph 92, the maximum period over which expected credit losses shall be measured is the maximum
contractual period over which the entity is exposed to credit risk. For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts,
this is the maximum contractual period over which an entity has a present contractual obligation to extend credit.
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However, in accordance with paragraph 93, some financial instruments include both a loan and an undrawn commitment
component and the entity’s contractual ability to demand repayment and cancel the undrawn commitment does not limit
the entity’s exposure to credit losses to the contractual notice period. For example, revolving credit facilities, such as line
of credit provided by a government owned bank, can be contractually withdrawn by the lender with as little as one day’s
notice. However, in practice lenders continue to extend credit for a longer period and may only withdraw the facility after
the credit risk of the borrower increases, which could be too late to prevent some or all of the expected credit losses. These
financial instruments generally have the following characteristics as a result of the nature of the financial instrument, the
way in which the financial instruments are managed, and the nature of the available information about significant increases
in credit risk:

(a) The financial instruments do not have a fixed term or repayment structure and usually have a short contractual
cancellation period (for example, one day);

(b) The contractual ability to cancel the contract is not enforced in the normal day-to-day management of the financial
instrument and the contract may only be canceled when the entity becomes aware of an increase in credit risk at the
facility level; and

(¢)  The financial instruments are managed on a collective basis.

When determining the period over which the entity is expected to be exposed to credit risk, but for which expected credit
losses would not be mitigated by the entity’s normal credit risk management actions, an entity should consider factors such
as historical information and experience about:

(a)  The period over which the entity was exposed to credit risk on similar financial instruments;

(b) The length of time for related defaults to occur on similar financial instruments following a significant increase in
credit risk; and

(¢)  The credit risk management actions that an entity expects to take once the credit risk on the financial instrument has
increased, such as the reduction or removal of undrawn limits.

Probability-weighted Outcome

AG205.

AG206.

AG207.

The purpose of estimating expected credit losses is neither to estimate a worst-case scenario nor to estimate the best-case
scenario. Instead, an estimate of expected credit losses shall always reflect the possibility that a credit loss occurs and the
possibility that no credit loss occurs even if the most likely outcome is no credit loss.

Paragraph 90(a) requires the estimate of expected credit losses to reflect an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes. In practice, this may not need to be a complex analysis. In
some cases, relatively simple modelling may be sufficient, without the need for a large number of detailed simulations of
scenarios. For example, the average credit losses of a large group of financial instruments with shared risk characteristics
may be a reasonable estimate of the probability-weighted amount. In other situations, the identification of scenarios that
specify the amount and timing of the cash flows for particular outcomes and the estimated probability of those outcomes
will probably be needed. In those situations, the expected credit losses shall reflect at least two outcomes in accordance
with paragraph 91.

For lifetime expected credit losses, an entity shall estimate the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
during its expected life. 12-month expected credit losses are a portion of the lifetime expected credit losses and represent
the lifetime cash shortfalls that will result if a default occurs in the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period
if the expected life of a financial instrument is less than 12 months), weighted by the probability of that default occurring.
Thus, 12-month expected credit losses are neither the lifetime expected credit losses that an entity will incur on financial
instruments that it predicts will default in the next 12 months nor the cash shortfalls that are predicted over the next 12
months.

Time Value of Money

AG208.

AG2009.

Expected credit losses shall be discounted to the reporting date, not to the expected default or some other date, using the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition or an approximation thereof. If a financial instrument has a variable
interest rate, expected credit losses shall be discounted using the current effective interest rate determined in accordance
with paragraph AG160.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, expected credit losses shall be discounted using the credit-
adjusted effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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Expected credit losses on lease receivables shall be discounted using the same discount rate used in the measurement of
the lease receivable in accordance with IPSAS 43, Leases.

The expected credit losses on a loan commitment shall be discounted using the effective interest rate, or an approximation
thereof, that will be applied when recognizing the financial asset resulting from the loan commitment. This is because for
the purpose of applying the impairment requirements, a financial asset that is recognized following a draw down on a loan
commitment shall be treated as a continuation of that commitment instead of as a new financial instrument. The expected
credit losses on the financial asset shall therefore be measured considering the initial credit risk of the loan commitment
from the date that the entity became a party to the irrevocable commitment.

Expected credit losses on financial guarantee contracts or on loan commitments for which the effective interest rate cannot
be determined shall be discounted by applying a discount rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value
of money and the risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risks are taken into account
by adjusting the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.

Reasonable and Supportable Information

AG213.

AG214.

AG215.

AG216.

AG217.

AG218.

For the purpose of this Standard, reasonable and supportable information is that which is reasonably available at the
reporting date without undue cost or effort, including information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions. Information that is available for financial reporting purposes is considered to be available
without undue cost or effort.

An entity is not required to incorporate forecasts of future conditions over the entire expected life of a financial instrument.
The degree of judgment that is required to estimate expected credit losses depends on the availability of detailed information.
As the forecast horizon increases, the availability of detailed information decreases and the degree of judgment required
to estimate expected credit losses increases. The estimate of expected credit losses does not require a detailed estimate
for periods that are far in the future—for such periods, an entity may extrapolate projections from available, detailed
information.

An entity need not undertake an exhaustive search for information but shall consider all reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort and that is relevant to the estimate of expected credit losses,
including the effect of expected prepayments. The information used shall include factors that are specific to the borrower,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date. An entity may use various sources of data that may be both internal (entity-specific) and external. Possible
data sources include internal historical credit loss experience, internal ratings, credit loss experience of other entities and
external ratings, reports and statistics. Entities that have no, or insufficient, sources of entity-specific data may use peer
group experience for the comparable financial instrument (or groups of financial instruments).

Historical information is an important anchor or base from which to measure expected credit losses. However, an entity
shall adjust historical data, such as credit loss experience, on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of the
current conditions and its forecasts of future conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical data is based,
and to remove the effects of the conditions in the historical period that are not relevant to the future contractual cash flows.
In some cases, the best reasonable and supportable information could be the unadjusted historical information, depending
on the nature of the historical information and when it was calculated, compared to circumstances at the reporting date
and the characteristics of the financial instrument being considered. Estimates of changes in expected credit losses should
reflect, and be directionally consistent with, changes in related observable data from period to period (such as changes in
unemployment rates, property prices, commodity prices, payment status or other factors that are indicative of credit losses
on the financial instrument or in the group of financial instruments and in the magnitude of those changes). An entity shall
regularly review the methodology and assumptions used for estimating expected credit losses to reduce any differences
between estimates and actual credit loss experience.

When using historical credit loss experience in estimating expected credit losses, it is important that information about
historical credit loss rates is applied to groups that are defined in a manner that is consistent with the groups for which the
historical credit loss rates were observed. Consequently, the method used shall enable each group of financial assets to be
associated with information about past credit loss experience in groups of financial assets with similar risk characteristics
and with relevant observable data that reflects current conditions.

Expected credit losses reflect an entity’s own expectations of credit losses. However, when considering all reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort in estimating expected credit losses, an entity should
also consider observable market information about the credit risk of the particular financial instrument or similar financial
instruments.
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Collateral

AG219.

For the purposes of measuring expected credit losses, the estimate of expected cash shortfalls shall reflect the cash flows
expected from collateral and other credit enhancements that are part of the contractual terms and are not recognized
separately by the entity. The estimate of expected cash shortfalls on a collateralized financial instrument reflects the
amount and timing of cash flows that are expected from foreclosure on the collateral less the costs of obtaining and selling
the collateral, irrespective of whether foreclosure is probable (i.e., the estimate of expected cash flows considers the
probability of a foreclosure and the cash flows that would result from it). Consequently, any cash flows that are expected
from the realization of the collateral beyond the contractual maturity of the contract should be included in this analysis.
Any collateral obtained as a result of foreclosure is not recognized as an asset that is separate from the collateralized
financial instrument unless it meets the relevant recognition criteria for an asset in this or other Standards.

Reclassification of Financial Assets

AG220.

AG221.

If an entity reclassifies financial assets in accordance with paragraph 54, paragraph 94 requires that the reclassification
is applied prospectively from the reclassification date. Both the amortized cost measurement category and the fair value
through net assets/equity measurement category require that the effective interest rate is determined at initial recognition.
Both of those measurement categories also require that the impairment requirements are applied in the same way.
Consequently, when an entity reclassifies a financial asset between the amortized cost measurement category and the fair
value through net assets/equity measurement category:

(a) The recognition of interest revenue will not change and therefore the entity continues to use the same effective
interest rate.

(b)  The measurement of expected credit losses will not change because both measurement categories apply the same
impairment approach. However if a financial asset is reclassified out of the fair value through net assets/equity
measurement category and into the amortized cost measurement category, a loss allowance would be recognized as
an adjustment to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the reclassification date. If a financial asset
is reclassified out of the amortized cost measurement category and into the fair value through net assets/equity
measurement category, the loss allowance would be derecognized (and thus would no longer be recognized as an
adjustment to the gross carrying amount) but instead would be recognized as an accumulated impairment amount (of
an equal amount) in net assets/equity and would be disclosed from the reclassification date.

However, an entity is not required to separately recognize interest revenue or impairment gains or losses for a financial
asset measured at fair value through surplus or deficit. Consequently, when an entity reclassifies a financial asset out of the
fair value through surplus or deficit measurement category, the effective interest rate is determined on the basis of the fair
value of the asset at the reclassification date. In addition, for the purposes of applying paragraphs 73-93 to the financial
asset from the reclassification date, the date of the reclassification is treated as the date of initial recognition.

Gains and Losses

AG222.

AG223.

AG224.

Paragraph 106 permits an entity to make an irrevocable election to present in net assets/equity changes in the fair value of
an investment in an equity instrument that is not held for trading. This election is made on an instrument-by-instrument (i.e.,
share-by-share) basis. Amounts presented in net assets/equity shall not be subsequently transferred to surplus or deficit.
However, the entity may transfer the cumulative gain or loss within net assets/equity. Dividends or similar distributions
on such investments are recognized in surplus or deficit in accordance with paragraph 107 unless the dividend clearly
represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.

Unless paragraph 44 applies, paragraph 41 requires that a financial asset is measured at fair value through net assets/equity
if the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding and the asset is held in a management model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets. This measurement category recognizes information in surplus
or deficit as if the financial asset is measured at amortized cost, while the financial asset is measured in the statement of
financial position at fair value. Gains or losses, other than those that are recognized in surplus or deficit in accordance with
paragraphs 111-112, are recognized in net assets/equity. When these financial assets are derecognized, cumulative gains
or losses previously recognized in net assets/equity are reclassified to surplus or deficit. This reflects the gain or loss that
would have been recognized in surplus or deficit upon derecognition if the financial asset had been measured at amortized
cost.

An entity applies IPSAS 4 to financial assets and financial liabilities that are monetary items in accordance with IPSAS 4
and denominated in a foreign currency. IPSAS 4 requires any foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets and
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monetary liabilities to be recognized in surplus or deficit. An exception is a monetary item that is designated as a hedging
instrument in a cash flow hedge (see paragraph 140), a hedge of a net investment (see paragraph 142) or a fair value hedge
of an equity instrument for which an entity has elected to present changes in fair value in net assets/equity in accordance
with paragraph 106 (see paragraph 137).

For the purpose of recognizing foreign exchange gains and losses under IPSAS 4, a financial asset measured at fair value
through net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 41 is treated as a monetary item. Accordingly, such a financial asset
is treated as an asset measured at amortized cost in the foreign currency. Exchange differences on the amortized cost are
recognized in surplus or deficit and other changes in the carrying amount are recognized in accordance with paragraph 111.

Paragraph 106 permits an entity to make an irrevocable election to present in net assets/equity subsequent changes in the
fair value of particular investments in equity instruments. Such an investment is not a monetary item. Accordingly, the
gain or loss that is presented in net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 106 includes any related foreign exchange
component.

If there is a hedging relationship between a non-derivative monetary asset and a non-derivative monetary liability, changes
in the foreign currency component of those financial instruments are presented in surplus or deficit.

Liabilities Designated as at Fair Value through Surplus or Deficit

AG228.

AG229.

AG230.

AG231.

AG232.

AG233.

When an entity designates a financial liability as at fair value through surplus or deficit, it must determine whether
presenting in net assets/equity the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in surplus or deficit. An accounting mismatch would be created or enlarged if presenting the effects of changes
in the liability’s credit risk in net assets/equity would result in a greater mismatch in surplus or deficit than if those amounts
were presented in surplus or deficit.

To make that determination, an entity must assess whether it expects that the effects of changes in the liability’s credit
risk will be offset in surplus or deficit by a change in the fair value of another financial instrument measured at fair value
through surplus or deficit. Such an expectation must be based on an economic relationship between the characteristics of
the liability and the characteristics of the other financial instrument.

That determination is made at initial recognition and is not reassessed. For practical purposes the entity need not enter
into all of the assets and liabilities giving rise to an accounting mismatch at exactly the same time. A reasonable delay is
permitted provided that any remaining transactions are expected to occur. An entity must apply consistently its methodology
for determining whether presenting in net assets/equity the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk would create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in surplus or deficit. However, an entity may use different methodologies when there are
different economic relationships between the characteristics of the liabilities designated as at fair value through surplus
or deficit and the characteristics of the other financial instruments. IPSAS 30 requires an entity to provide qualitative
disclosures in the notes to the financial statements about its methodology for making that determination.

If such a mismatch would be created or enlarged, the entity is required to present all changes in fair value (including
the effects of changes in the credit risk of the liability) in surplus or deficit. If such a mismatch would not be created or
enlarged, the entity is required to present the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in net assets/equity.

Amounts presented in net assets/equity shall not be subsequently transferred to surplus or deficit. However, the entity may
transfer the cumulative gain or loss within equity.

The following example describes a situation in which an accounting mismatch would be created in surplus or deficit if the
effects of changes in the credit risk of the liability were presented in net assets/equity. A Federal Mortgage and Housing
Corporation provides loans to customers and funds those loans by selling bonds with matching characteristics (e.g., amount
outstanding, repayment profile, term and currency) in the market. The contractual terms of the loan permit the mortgage
customer to prepay its loan (i.e., satisfy its obligation to the bank) by buying the corresponding bond at fair value in the
market and delivering that bond to the Mortgage and Housing Corporation. As a result of that contractual prepayment
right, if the credit quality of the bond worsens (and, thus, the fair value of the Mortgage and Housing Corporation’s
liability decreases), the fair value of the Mortgage and Housing Corporation’s loan asset also decreases. The change in
the fair value of the asset reflects the mortgage customer’s contractual right to prepay the mortgage loan by buying the
underlying bond at fair value (which, in this example, has decreased) and delivering the bond to the Mortgage and Housing
Corporation. Consequently, the effects of changes in the credit risk of the liability (the bond) will be offset in surplus or
deficit by a corresponding change in the fair value of a financial asset (the loan). If the effects of changes in the liability’s
credit risk were presented in net assets/equity there would be an accounting mismatch in surplus or deficit. Consequently,
the Mortgage and Housing Corporation is required to present all changes in fair value of the liability (including the effects
of changes in the liability’s credit risk) in surplus or deficit.
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In the example in paragraph AG233, there is a contractual linkage between the effects of changes in the credit risk of the
liability and changes in the fair value of the financial asset (i.e., as a result of the mortgage customer’s contractual right
to prepay the loan by buying the bond at fair value and delivering the bond to the Mortgage and Housing Corporation).
However, an accounting mismatch may also occur in the absence of a contractual linkage.

For the purposes of applying the requirements in paragraphs 108 and 109, an accounting mismatch is not caused solely by
the measurement method that an entity uses to determine the effects of changes in a liability’s credit risk. An accounting
mismatch in surplus or deficit would arise only when the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk (as defined in
IPSAS 30) are expected to be offset by changes in the fair value of another financial instrument. A mismatch that arises
solely as a result of the measurement method (i.e., because an entity does not isolate changes in a liability’s credit risk from
some other changes in its fair value) does not affect the determination required by paragraphs 108 and 109. For example, an
entity may not isolate changes in a liability’s credit risk from changes in liquidity risk. If the entity presents the combined
effect of both factors in net assets/equity, a mismatch may occur because changes in liquidity risk may be included in the
fair value measurement of the entity’s financial assets and the entire fair value change of those assets is presented in surplus
or deficit. However, such a mismatch is caused by measurement imprecision, not the offsetting relationship described in
paragraph AG229 and, therefore, does not affect the determination required by paragraphs 108 and 109.

The Meaning of ‘Credit Risk’ (paragraphs 108 and 109)

AG236.

AG237.

AG238.

IPSAS 30 defines credit risk as ‘the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other
party by failing to discharge an obligation’. The requirement in paragraph 108(a) relates to the risk that the issuer will fail
to perform on that particular liability. It does not necessarily relate to the creditworthiness of the issuer. For example, if an
entity issues a collateralized liability and a non-collateralized liability that are otherwise identical, the credit risk of those
two liabilities will be different, even though they are issued by the same entity. The credit risk on the collateralized liability
will be less than the credit risk of the non-collateralized liability. The credit risk for a collateralized liability may be close
to zero.

For the purposes of applying the requirement in paragraph 108(a), credit risk is different from asset-specific performance
risk. Asset-specific performance risk is not related to the risk that an entity will fail to discharge a particular obligation but
instead it is related to the risk that a single asset or a group of assets will perform poorly (or not at all).

The following are examples of asset-specific performance risk:

(a) A liability with a unit-linking feature whereby the amount due to investors is contractually determined on the basis
of the performance of specified assets. The effect of that unit-linking feature on the fair value of the liability is asset-
specific performance risk, not credit risk.

(b) A liability issued by a structured entity with the following characteristics. The entity is legally isolated so the
assets in the entity are ring-fenced solely for the benefit of its investors, even in the event of bankruptcy. The entity
enters into no other transactions and the assets in the entity cannot be hypothecated. Amounts are due to the entity’s
investors only if the ring-fenced assets generate cash flows. Thus, changes in the fair value of the liability primarily
reflect changes in the fair value of the assets. The effect of the performance of the assets on the fair value of the
liability is asset-specific performance risk, not credit risk.

Determining the Effects of Changes in Credit Risk

AG239.

AG240.

AG241.

For the purposes of applying the requirement in paragraph 108(a), an entity shall determine the amount of change in the
fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability either:

(a)  As the amount of change in its fair value that is not attributable to changes in market conditions that give rise to
market risk (see paragraphs AG240 and AG241); or

(b)  Using an alternative method the entity believes more faithfully represents the amount of change in the liability’s fair
value that is attributable to changes in its credit risk.

Changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk include changes in a benchmark interest rate, the price of another
entity’s financial instrument, a commodity price, a foreign exchange rate or an index of prices or rates.

If the only significant relevant changes in market conditions for a liability are changes in an observed (benchmark) interest
rate, the amount in paragraph AG239(a) can be estimated as follows:

(a)  First, the entity computes the liability’s internal rate of return at the start of the period using the fair value of the
liability and the liability’s contractual cash flows at the start of the period. It deducts from this rate of return the
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observed (benchmark) interest rate at the start of the period, to arrive at an instrument-specific component of the
internal rate of return.

(b) Next, the entity calculates the present value of the cash flows associated with the liability using the liability’s
contractual cash flows at the end of the period and a discount rate equal to the sum of (i) the observed (benchmark)
interest rate at the end of the period and (ii) the instrument-specific component of the internal rate of return as
determined in (a).

(¢)  The difference between the fair value of the liability at the end of the period and the amount determined in (b) is the
change in fair value that is not attributable to changes in the observed (benchmark) interest rate. This is the amount
to be presented in net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 108(a).

AG242. The example in paragraph AG241 assumes that changes in fair value arising from factors other than changes in the
instrument’s credit risk or changes in observed (benchmark) interest rates are not significant. This method would not be
appropriate if changes in fair value arising from other factors are significant. In those cases, an entity is required to use an
alternative method that more faithfully measures the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk (see paragraph AG239(b)).
For example, if the instrument in the example contains an embedded derivative, the change in fair value of the embedded
derivative is excluded in determining the amount to be presented in net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 108(a).

AG243. As with all fair value measurements, an entity’s measurement method for determining the portion of the change in the
liability’s fair value that is attributable to changes in its credit risk must make maximum use of relevant observable inputs
and minimum use of unobservable inputs.

Hedge Accounting

Hedging Instruments

Qualifying Instruments

AG244. Derivatives that are embedded in hybrid contracts, but that are not separately accounted for, cannot be designated as
separate hedging instruments.

AG245. An entity’s own equity instruments are not financial assets or financial liabilities of the entity and therefore cannot be
designated as hedging instruments.

AG246. For hedges of foreign currency risk, the foreign currency risk component of a non-derivative financial instrument is
determined in accordance with IPSAS 4.

Written Options

AG247. This Standard does not restrict the circumstances in which a derivative that is measured at fair value through surplus or
deficit may be designated as a hedging instrument, except for some written options. A written option does not qualify as
a hedging instrument unless it is designated as an offset to a purchased option, including one that is embedded in another
financial instrument (for example, a written call option used to hedge a callable liability).

Designation of Hedging Instruments

AG248. For hedges other than hedges of foreign currency risk, when an entity designates a non-derivative financial asset or a non-
derivative financial liability measured at fair value through surplus or deficit as a hedging instrument, it may only designate
the non-derivative financial instrument in its entirety or a proportion of it.

AG249. A single hedging instrument may be designated as a hedging instrument of more than one type of risk, provided that there
is a specific designation of the hedging instrument and of the different risk positions as hedged items. Those hedged items
can be in different hedging relationships.

Hedged Items
Qualifying Items

AG250. A firm commitment to acquire an operation in a public sector combination cannot be a hedged item, except for foreign
currency risk, because the other risks being hedged cannot be specifically identified and measured. Those other risks are
general business risks.

AG251. An equity method investment cannot be a hedged item in a fair value hedge. This is because the equity method recognizes
in surplus or deficit the investor’s share of the investee’s surplus or deficit, instead of changes in the investment’s fair value.
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For a similar reason, an investment in a consolidated controlled entity cannot be a hedged item in a fair value hedge. This
is because consolidation recognizes in surplus or deficit the controlled entity’s surplus or deficit, instead of changes in the
investment’s fair value. A hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation is different because it is a hedge of the foreign
currency exposure, not a fair value hedge of the change in the value of the investment.

Paragraph 125 permits an entity to designate as hedged items aggregated exposures that are a combination of an exposure
and a derivative. When designating such a hedged item, an entity assesses whether the aggregated exposure combines an
exposure with a derivative so that it creates a different aggregated exposure that is managed as one exposure for a particular
risk (or risks). In that case, the entity may designate the hedged item on the basis of the aggregated exposure. For example:

(a)  An entity may hedge a given quantity of highly probable oil purchases in 15 months’ time against price risk (based
on US dollars) using a 15-month futures contract for oil. The highly probable oil purchases and the futures contract
for oil in combination can be viewed as a 15-month fixed-amount US dollar foreign currency risk exposure for risk
management purposes (i.e., like any fixed-amount US dollar cash outflow in 15 months’ time).

(b) An entity may hedge the foreign currency risk for the entire term of a 10-year fixed-rate debt denominated in a
foreign currency. However, the entity requires fixed-rate exposure in its functional currency only for a short to
medium-term (say two years) and floating rate exposure in its functional currency for the remaining term to maturity.
At the end of each of the two-year intervals (i.e., on a two-year rolling basis) the entity fixes the next two years’
interest rate exposure (if the interest level is such that the entity wants to fix interest rates). In such a situation an
entity may enter into a 10-year fixed-to-floating cross-currency interest rate swap that swaps the fixed-rate foreign
currency debt into a variable-rate functional currency exposure. This is overlaid with a two-year interest rate swap
that—on the basis of the functional currency—swaps variable-rate debt into fixed-rate debt. In effect, the fixed-rate
foreign currency debt and the 10-year fixed-to-floating cross-currency interest rate swap in combination are viewed
as a 10-year variable-rate debt functional currency exposure for risk management purposes.

When designating the hedged item on the basis of the aggregated exposure, an entity considers the combined effect of
the items that constitute the aggregated exposure for the purpose of assessing hedge effectiveness and measuring hedge
ineffectiveness. However, the items that constitute the aggregated exposure remain accounted for separately. This means
that, for example:

(a)  Derivatives that are part of an aggregated exposure are recognized as separate assets or liabilities measured at fair
value; and

(b) If a hedging relationship is designated between the items that constitute the aggregated exposure, the way in which
a derivative is included as part of an aggregated exposure must be consistent with the designation of that derivative
as the hedging instrument at the level of the aggregated exposure. For example, if an entity excludes the forward
element of a derivative from its designation as the hedging instrument for the hedging relationship between the items
that constitute the aggregated exposure, it must also exclude the forward element when including that derivative as
a hedged item as part of the aggregated exposure. Otherwise, the aggregated exposure shall include a derivative,
either in its entirety or a proportion of it.

Paragraph 127 states that in consolidated financial statements the foreign currency risk of a highly probable forecast
transaction within an economic entity may qualify as a hedged item in a cash flow hedge, provided that the transaction is
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity entering into that transaction and that the foreign
currency risk will affect consolidated surplus or deficit. For this purpose an entity can be a controlling entity, controlled
entity, associate, joint arrangement or branch. If the foreign currency risk of a forecast transaction within the economic
entity does not affect consolidated surplus or deficit, the transaction cannot qualify as a hedged item. This is usually the
case for royalty payments, interest payments or management charges between members of the same economic entity, unless
there is a related external transaction. However, when the foreign currency risk of a forecast transaction within an economic
entity will affect consolidated surplus or deficit, the transaction within the economic entity can qualify as a hedged item. An
example is forecast sales or purchases of inventories between members of the same economic entity if there is an onward
sale of the inventory to a party external to the economic entity. Similarly, a forecast sale of plant and equipment within the
economic entity from the entity that manufactured it to an entity that will use the plant and equipment in its operations may
affect consolidated surplus or deficit. This could occur, for example, because the plant and equipment will be depreciated by
the purchasing entity and the amount initially recognized for the plant and equipment may change if the forecast transaction
within the economic entity is denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the purchasing entity.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction within an economic entity qualifies for hedge accounting, any gain or loss is recognized
in, and taken out of, net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 140. The relevant period or periods during which the
foreign currency risk of the hedged transaction affects surplus or deficit is when it affects consolidated surplus or deficit.
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Designation of Hedged Items

AG256.

A component is a hedged item that is less than the entire item. Consequently, a component reflects only some of the risks
of the item of which it is a part or reflects the risks only to some extent (for example, when designating a proportion of an
item).

Risk Components

AG257.

AG258.

AG259.

To be eligible for designation as a hedged item, a risk component must be a separately identifiable component of the
financial or the non-financial item, and the changes in the cash flows or the fair value of the item attributable to changes in
that risk component must be reliably measurable.

When identifying what risk components qualify for designation as a hedged item, an entity assesses such risk components
within the context of the particular market structure to which the risk or risks relate and in which the hedging activity takes
place. Such a determination requires an evaluation of the relevant facts and circumstances, which differ by risk and market.

When designating risk components as hedged items, an entity considers whether the risk components are explicitly
specified in a contract (contractually specified risk components) or whether they are implicit in the fair value or the cash
flows of an item of which they are a part (non-contractually specified risk components). Non-contractually specified risk
components can relate to items that are not a contract (for example, forecast transactions) or contracts that do not explicitly
specify the component (for example, a firm commitment that includes only one single price instead of a pricing formula
that references different underlyings). For example:

(a) Entity A has a long-term supply contract for natural gas that is priced using a contractually specified formula that
references commodities and other factors (for example, gas oil, fuel oil and other components such as transport
charges). Entity A hedges the gas oil component in that supply contract using a gas oil forward contract. Because the
gas oil component is specified by the terms and conditions of the supply contract it is a contractually specified risk
component. Hence, because of the pricing formula, Entity A concludes that the gas oil price exposure is separately
identifiable. At the same time, there is a market for gas oil forward contracts. Hence, Entity A concludes that the gas
oil price exposure is reliably measurable. Consequently, the gas oil price exposure in the supply contract is a risk
component that is eligible for designation as a hedged item.

(b) Entity B hedges its future coffee purchases based on its production forecast. Hedging starts up to 15 months before
delivery for part of the forecast purchase volume. Entity B increases the hedged volume over time (as the delivery
date approaches). Entity B uses two different types of contracts to manage its coffee price risk:

(i)  Exchange-traded coffee futures contracts; and

(i)  Coffee supply contracts for Arabica coffee from Colombia delivered to a specific manufacturing site. These
contracts price a tonne of coffee based on the exchange-traded coffee futures contract price plus a fixed price
differential plus a variable logistics services charge using a pricing formula. The coffee supply contract is an
executory contract in accordance with which Entity B takes actual delivery of coffee.

For deliveries that relate to the current harvest, entering into the coffee supply contracts allows Entity B to
fix the price differential between the actual coffee quality purchased (Arabica coffee from Colombia) and
the benchmark quality that is the underlying of the exchange-traded futures contract. However, for deliveries
that relate to the next harvest, the coffee supply contracts are not yet available, so the price differential cannot
be fixed. Entity B uses exchange-traded coffee futures contracts to hedge the benchmark quality component
of its coffee price risk for deliveries that relate to the current harvest as well as the next harvest. Entity
B determines that it is exposed to three different risks: coffee price risk reflecting the benchmark quality,
coffee price risk reflecting the difference (spread) between the price for the benchmark quality coffee and
the particular Arabica coffee from Colombia that it actually receives, and the variable logistics costs. For
deliveries related to the current harvest, after Entity B enters into a coffee supply contract, the coffee price
risk reflecting the benchmark quality is a contractually specified risk component because the pricing formula
includes an indexation to the exchange-traded coffee futures contract price. Entity B concludes that this
risk component is separately identifiable and reliably measurable. For deliveries related to the next harvest,
Entity B has not yet entered into any coffee supply contracts (i.e., those deliveries are forecast transactions).
Hence, the coffee price risk reflecting the benchmark quality is a non-contractually specified risk component.
Entity B’s analysis of the market structure takes into account how eventual deliveries of the particular coffee
that it receives are priced. Hence, on the basis of this analysis of the market structure, Entity B concludes
that the forecast transactions also involve the coffee price risk that reflects the benchmark quality as a risk
component that is separately identifiable and reliably measurable even though it is not contractually specified.
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Consequently, Entity B may designate hedging relationships on a risk components basis (for the coffee price
risk that reflects the benchmark quality) for coffee supply contracts as well as forecast transactions.

(c)  Entity C hedges part of its future jet fuel purchases on the basis of its consumption forecast up to 24 months before
delivery and increases the volume that it hedges over time. Entity C hedges this exposure using different types of
contracts depending on the time horizon of the hedge, which affects the market liquidity of the derivatives. For the
longer time horizons (12-24 months) Entity C uses crude oil contracts because only these have sufficient market
liquidity. For time horizons of 6—12 months Entity C uses gas oil derivatives because they are sufficiently liquid. For
time horizons up to six months Entity C uses jet fuel contracts. Entity C’s analysis of the market structure for oil and
oil products and its evaluation of the relevant facts and circumstances is as follows:

(i)  Entity C operates in a geographical area in which Brent is the crude oil benchmark. Crude oil is a raw
material benchmark that affects the price of various refined oil products as their most basic input. Gas oil is
a benchmark for refined oil products, which is used as a pricing reference for oil distillates more generally.
This is also reflected in the types of derivative financial instruments for the crude oil and refined oil products
markets of the environment in which Entity C operates, such as:

e  The benchmark crude oil futures contract, which is for Brent crude oil;

e  The benchmark gas oil futures contract, which is used as the pricing reference for distillates—for
example, jet fuel spread derivatives cover the price differential between jet fuel and that benchmark
gas oil; and

e  The benchmark gas oil crack spread derivative (i.e., the derivative for the price differential between
crude oil and gas oil—a refining margin), which is indexed to Brent crude oil.

(ii)  The pricing of refined oil products does not depend on which particular crude oil is processed by a particular
refinery because those refined oil products (such as gas oil or jet fuel) are standardized products.

Hence, Entity C concludes that the price risk of its jet fuel purchases includes a crude oil price risk component
based on Brent crude oil and a gas oil price risk component, even though crude oil and gas oil are not specified
in any contractual arrangement. Entity C concludes that these two risk components are separately identifiable
and reliably measurable even though they are not contractually specified. Consequently, Entity C may designate
hedging relationships for forecast jet fuel purchases on a risk components basis (for crude oil or gas oil). This
analysis also means that if, for example, Entity C used crude oil derivatives based on West Texas Intermediate
(WTI) crude oil, changes in the price differential between Brent crude oil and WTI crude oil would cause hedge
ineffectiveness.

(d) Entity D holds a fixed-rate debt instrument. This instrument is issued in an environment with a market in which a
large variety of similar debt instruments are compared by their spreads to a benchmark rate (for example, an interbank
offered rate) and variable-rate instruments in that environment are typically indexed to that benchmark rate. Interest
rate swaps are frequently used to manage interest rate risk on the basis of that benchmark rate, irrespective of the
spread of debt instruments to that benchmark rate. The price of fixed-rate debt instruments varies directly in response
to changes in the benchmark rate as they happen. Entity D concludes that the benchmark rate is a component that can
be separately identified and reliably measured. Consequently, Entity D may designate hedging relationships for the
fixed-rate debt instrument on a risk component basis for the benchmark interest rate risk.

When designating a risk component as a hedged item, the hedge accounting requirements apply to that risk component in
the same way as they apply to other hedged items that are not risk components. For example, the qualifying criteria apply,
including that the hedging relationship must meet the hedge effectiveness requirements, and any hedge ineffectiveness
must be measured and recognized.

An entity can also designate only changes in the cash flows or fair value of a hedged item above or below a specified price
or other variable (a ‘one-sided risk’). The intrinsic value of a purchased option hedging instrument (assuming that it has the
same principal terms as the designated risk), but not its time value, reflects a one-sided risk in a hedged item. For example,
an entity can designate the variability of future cash flow outcomes resulting from a price increase of a forecast commodity
purchase. In such a situation, the entity designates only cash flow losses that result from an increase in the price above
the specified level. The hedged risk does not include the time value of a purchased option, because the time value is not a
component of the forecast transaction that affects surplus or deficit.

There is a rebuttable presumption that unless inflation risk is contractually specified, it is not separately identifiable and
reliably measurable and hence cannot be designated as a risk component of a financial instrument. However, in limited
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cases, it is possible to identify a risk component for inflation risk that is separately identifiable and reliably measurable
because of the particular circumstances of the inflation environment and the relevant debt market.

For example, an entity issues debt in an environment in which inflation-linked bonds have a volume and term structure
that results in a sufficiently liquid market that allows constructing a term structure of zero-coupon real interest rates. This
means that for the respective currency, inflation is a relevant factor that is separately considered by the debt markets. In
those circumstances the inflation risk component could be determined by discounting the cash flows of the hedged debt
instrument using the term structure of zero-coupon real interest rates (i.e., in a manner similar to how a risk-free (nominal)
interest rate component can be determined). Conversely, in many cases an inflation risk component is not separately
identifiable and reliably measurable. For example, an entity issues only nominal interest rate debt in an environment with
a market for inflation-linked bonds that is not sufficiently liquid to allow a term structure of zero-coupon real interest
rates to be constructed. In this case the analysis of the market structure and of the facts and circumstances does not
support the entity concluding that inflation is a relevant factor that is separately considered by the debt markets. Hence, the
entity cannot overcome the rebuttable presumption that inflation risk that is not contractually specified is not separately
identifiable and reliably measurable. Consequently, an inflation risk component would not be eligible for designation as
the hedged item. This applies irrespective of any inflation hedging instrument that the entity has actually entered into. In
particular, the entity cannot simply impute the terms and conditions of the actual inflation hedging instrument by projecting
its terms and conditions onto the nominal interest rate debt.

A contractually specified inflation risk component of the cash flows of a recognized inflation-linked bond (assuming that
there is no requirement to account for an embedded derivative separately) is separately identifiable and reliably measurable,
as long as other cash flows of the instrument are not affected by the inflation risk component.

Components of a Nominal Amount

AG265.

AG266.
AG267.

AG268.

AG269.

There are two types of components of nominal amounts that can be designated as the hedged item in a hedging relationship:
a component that is a proportion of an entire item or a layer component. The type of component changes the accounting
outcome. An entity shall designate the component for accounting purposes consistently with its risk management objective.

An example of a component that is a proportion is 50 percent of the contractual cash flows of a loan.

A layer component may be specified from a defined, but open, population, or from a defined nominal amount. Examples
include:

(a) Part of a monetary transaction volume, for example, the next FC10 cash flows from sales denominated in a foreign
currency after the first FC20 in March 201X;*

(b) A part of a physical volume, for example, the bottom layer, measuring 5 million cubic meters, of the natural gas
stored in location XYZ;

(¢)  Anpartof a physical or other transaction volume, for example, the first 100 barrels of the oil purchases in June 201X
or the first 100 MWh of electricity sales in June 201X; or

(d) A layer from the nominal amount of the hedged item, for example, the last CU80 million of a CU100 million firm
commitment, the bottom layer of CU20 million of a CU100 million fixed-rate bond or the top layer of CU30 million
from a total amount of CU100 million of fixed-rate debt that can be prepaid at fair value (the defined nominal
amount is CU100 million).

If a layer component is designated in a fair value hedge, an entity shall specify it from a defined nominal amount. To comply
with the requirements for qualifying fair value hedges, an entity shall remeasure the hedged item for fair value changes
(i.e., remeasure the item for fair value changes attributable to the hedged risk). The fair value hedge adjustment must be
recognized in surplus or deficit no later than when the item is derecognized. Consequently, it is necessary to track the item
to which the fair value hedge adjustment relates. For a layer component in a fair value hedge, this requires an entity to
track the nominal amount from which it is defined. For example, in paragraph AG267(d), the total defined nominal amount
of CU100 million must be tracked in order to track the bottom layer of CU20 million or the top layer of CU30 million.

A layer component that includes a prepayment option is not eligible to be designated as a hedged item in a fair value hedge
if the prepayment option’s fair value is affected by changes in the hedged risk, unless the designated layer includes the
effect of the related prepayment option when determining the change in the fair value of the hedged item.

4

In this Standard monetary amounts are denominated in ‘currency units’ (CU) and ‘foreign currency units’ (FC).
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Relationship Between Components and the Total Cash Flows of an Item

AG270.

AG271.

AG272.

AG273.

AG274.

If a component of the cash flows of a financial or a non-financial item is designated as the hedged item, that component
must be less than or equal to the total cash flows of the entire item. However, all of the cash flows of the entire item may
be designated as the hedged item and hedged for only one particular risk (for example, only for those changes that are
attributable to changes in a market related interest rate or a benchmark commodity price).

For example, in the case of a financial liability whose effective interest rate is below a market related interest rate, an entity
cannot designate:

(a) A component of the liability equal to interest at the market rate (plus the principal amount in case of a fair value
hedge); and

(b) A negative residual component.

However, in the case of a fixed-rate financial liability whose effective interest rate is (for example) 100 basis points below
the market rate, an entity can designate as the hedged item the change in the value of that entire liability (i.e., principal
plus interest at the market rate minus 100 basis points) that is attributable to changes in the market rate. If a fixed-rate
financial instrument is hedged some time after its origination and interest rates have changed in the meantime, the entity
can designate a risk component equal to a benchmark rate that is higher than the contractual rate paid on the item. The
entity can do so provided that the benchmark rate is less than the effective interest rate calculated on the assumption that the
entity had purchased the instrument on the day when it first designates the hedged item. For example, assume that an entity
originates a fixed-rate financial asset of CU100 that has an effective interest rate of 6 percent at a time when the market rate
is 4 percent. It begins to hedge that asset some time later when the market rate has increased to 8 percent and the fair value
of the asset has decreased to CU90. The entity calculates that if it had purchased the asset on the date it first designates the
related the market rate interest rate risk as the hedged item, the effective yield of the asset based on its then fair value of
CU90 would have been 9.5 percent. Because the market rate is less than this effective yield, the entity can designate a the
market rate component of 8 percent that consists partly of the contractual interest cash flows and partly of the difference
between the current fair value (i.e., CU90) and the amount repayable on maturity (i.e., CU100).

If a variable-rate financial liability bears interest of (for example) the three-month interbank offered rate minus 20 basis
points (with a floor at zero basis points), an entity can designate as the hedged item the change in the cash flows of that
entire liability (i.e., the three-month interbank offered rate minus 20 basis points—including the floor) that is attributable
to changes in the interbank offered rate. Hence, as long as the three-month interbank offered rate forward curve for the
remaining life of that liability does not fall below 20 basis points, the hedged item has the same cash flow variability as a
liability that bears interest at the three-month interbank offered rate with a zero or positive spread. However, if the three-
month interbank offered rate forward curve for the remaining life of that liability (or a part of it) falls below 20 basis points,
the hedged item has a lower cash flow variability than a liability that bears interest at three-month interbank offered rate
with a zero or positive spread.

A similar example of a non-financial item is a specific type of crude oil from a particular oil field that is priced off the
relevant benchmark crude oil. If an entity sells that crude oil under a contract using a contractual pricing formula that sets
the price per barrel at the benchmark crude oil price minus CU10 with a floor of CU15, the entity can designate as the
hedged item the entire cash flow variability under the sales contract that is attributable to the change in the benchmark
crude oil price. However, the entity cannot designate a component that is equal to the full change in the benchmark crude
oil price. Hence, as long as the forward price (for each delivery) does not fall below CU25, the hedged item has the same
cash flow variability as a crude oil sale at the benchmark crude oil price (or with a positive spread). However, if the forward
price for any delivery falls below CU25, the hedged item has a lower cash flow variability than a crude oil sale at the
benchmark crude oil price (or with a positive spread).

Qualifying Criteria for Hedge Accounting

Hedge Effectiveness

AG275.

AG276.

Hedge effectiveness is the extent to which changes in the fair value or the cash flows of the hedging instrument offset
changes in the fair value or the cash flows of the hedged item (for example, when the hedged item is a risk component, the
relevant change in fair value or cash flows of an item is the one that is attributable to the hedged risk). Hedge ineffectiveness
is the extent to which the changes in the fair value or the cash flows of the hedging instrument are greater or less than those
on the hedged item.

When designating a hedging relationship and on an ongoing basis, an entity shall analyze the sources of hedge ineffectiveness
that are expected to affect the hedging relationship during its term. This analysis (including any updates in accordance with
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paragraph AG314 arising from rebalancing a hedging relationship) is the basis for the entity’s assessment of meeting the
hedge effectiveness requirements.

For the avoidance of doubt, the effects of replacing the original counterparty with a clearing counterparty and making the
associated changes as described in paragraph 135 shall be reflected in the measurement of the hedging instrument and
therefore in the assessment of hedge effectiveness and the measurement of hedge effectiveness.

Economic Relationship Between the Hedged Item and the Hedging Instrument

AG278.

AG279.

AG280.

The requirement that an economic relationship exists means that the hedging instrument and the hedged item have values
that generally move in the opposite direction because of the same risk, which is the hedged risk. Hence, there must be
an expectation that the value of the hedging instrument and the value of the hedged item will systematically change in
response to movements in either the same underlying or underlyings that are economically related in such a way that they
respond in a similar way to the risk that is being hedged (for example, Brent and WTI crude oil).

If the underlyings are not the same but are economically related, there can be situations in which the values of the hedging
instrument and the hedged item move in the same direction, for example, because the price differential between the two
related underlyings changes while the underlyings themselves do not move significantly. That is still consistent with an
economic relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item if the values of the hedging instrument and the
hedged item are still expected to typically move in the opposite direction when the underlyings move.

The assessment of whether an economic relationship exists includes an analysis of the possible behavior of the hedging
relationship during its term to ascertain whether it can be expected to meet the risk management objective. The mere
existence of a statistical correlation between two variables does not, by itself, support a valid conclusion that an economic
relationship exists.

The Effect of Credit Risk

AG28I1.

AG282.

Because the hedge accounting model is based on a general notion of offset between gains and losses on the hedging
instrument and the hedged item, hedge effectiveness is determined not only by the economic relationship between those
items (i.e., the changes in their underlyings) but also by the effect of credit risk on the value of both the hedging instrument
and the hedged item. The effect of credit risk means that even if there is an economic relationship between the hedging
instrument and the hedged item, the level of offset might become erratic. This can result from a change in the credit risk
of either the hedging instrument or the hedged item that is of such a magnitude that the credit risk dominates the value
changes that result from the economic relationship (i.e., the effect of the changes in the underlyings). A level of magnitude
that gives rise to dominance is one that would result in the loss (or gain) from credit risk frustrating the effect of changes
in the underlyings on the value of the hedging instrument or the hedged item, even if those changes were significant.
Conversely, if during a particular period there is little change in the underlyings, the fact that even small credit risk-related
changes in the value of the hedging instrument or the hedged item might affect the value more than the underlyings does
not create dominance.

An example of credit risk dominating a hedging relationship is when an entity hedges an exposure to commodity price
risk using an uncollateralized derivative. If the counterparty to that derivative experiences a severe deterioration in its
credit standing, the effect of the changes in the counterparty’s credit standing might outweigh the effect of changes in the
commodity price on the fair value of the hedging instrument, whereas changes in the value of the hedged item depend
largely on the commodity price changes.

Hedge Ratio

AG283.

AG284.

In accordance with the hedge effectiveness requirements, the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship must be the same as
that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that the entity actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument
that the entity actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item. Hence, if an entity hedges less than 100 percent of the
exposure on an item, such as 85 percent, it shall designate the hedging relationship using a hedge ratio that is the same as
that resulting from 85 percent of the exposure and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the entity actually uses to
hedge those 85 percent. Similarly, if, for example, an entity hedges an exposure using a nominal amount of 40 units of a
financial instrument, it shall designate the hedging relationship using a hedge ratio that is the same as that resulting from
that quantity of 40 units (i.e., the entity must not use a hedge ratio based on a higher quantity of units that it might hold in
total or a lower quantity of units) and the quantity of the hedged item that it actually hedges with those 40 units.

However, the designation of the hedging relationship using the same hedge ratio as that resulting from the quantities
of the hedged item and the hedging instrument that the entity actually uses shall not reflect an imbalance between the
weightings of the hedged item and the hedging instrument that would in turn create hedge ineffectiveness (irrespective
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of whether recognized or not) that could result in an accounting outcome that would be inconsistent with the purpose of
hedge accounting. Hence, for the purpose of designating a hedging relationship, an entity must adjust the hedge ratio that
results from the quantities of the hedged item and the hedging instrument that the entity actually uses if that is needed to
avoid such an imbalance.

Examples of relevant considerations in assessing whether an accounting outcome is inconsistent with the purpose of hedge
accounting are:

(a)  Whether the intended hedge ratio is established to avoid recognizing hedge ineffectiveness for cash flow hedges,
or to achieve fair value hedge adjustments for more hedged items with the aim of increasing the use of fair value
accounting, but without offsetting fair value changes of the hedging instrument; and

(b)  Whether there is a commercial reason for the particular weightings of the hedged item and the hedging instrument,
even though that creates hedge ineffectiveness. For example, an entity enters into and designates a quantity of the
hedging instrument that is not the quantity that it determined as the best hedge of the hedged item because the standard
volume of the hedging instruments does not allow it to enter into that exact quantity of hedging instrument (a ‘lot
size issue’). An example is an entity that hedges 1,000 tonnes of oil purchases with standard oil futures contracts
that have a contract size of 1,000 barrels. The entity could only use either seven or eight contracts (equivalent to
980 tonnes and 1,120 tonnes respectively) to hedge the purchase volume of 1,000 tonnes. In that case, the entity
designates the hedging relationship using the hedge ratio that results from the number of oil futures contracts that it
actually uses, because the hedge ineffectiveness resulting from the mismatch in the weightings of the hedged item
and the hedging instrument would not result in an accounting outcome that is inconsistent with the purpose of hedge
accounting.

Frequency of Assessing Whether the Hedge Effectiveness Requirements are Met

AG286.

An entity shall assess at the inception of the hedging relationship, and on an ongoing basis, whether a hedging relationship
meets the hedge effectiveness requirements. At a minimum, an entity shall perform the ongoing assessment at each
reporting date or upon a significant change in the circumstances affecting the hedge effectiveness requirements, whichever
comes first. The assessment relates to expectations about hedge effectiveness and is therefore only forward-looking.

Methods for Assessing Whether the Hedge Effectiveness Requirements are Met

AG28]7.

AG28S8.

AG289.

AG290.

AG291.

AG292.

This Standard does not specify a method for assessing whether a hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness
requirements. However, an entity shall use a method that captures the relevant characteristics of the hedging relationship
including the sources of hedge ineffectiveness. Depending on those factors, the method can be a qualitative or a quantitative
assessment.

For example, when the critical terms (such as the nominal amount, maturity and underlying) of the hedging instrument and
the hedged item match or are closely aligned, it might be possible for an entity to conclude on the basis of a qualitative
assessment of those critical terms that the hedging instrument and the hedged item have values that will generally move
in the opposite direction because of the same risk and hence that an economic relationship exists between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument (see paragraphs AG278—-AG280).

The fact that a derivative is in or out of the money when it is designated as a hedging instrument does not in itself mean
that a qualitative assessment is inappropriate. It depends on the circumstances whether hedge ineffectiveness arising from
that fact could have a magnitude that a qualitative assessment would not adequately capture.

Conversely, if the critical terms of the hedging instrument and the hedged item are not closely aligned, there is an increased
level of uncertainty about the extent of offset. Consequently, the hedge effectiveness during the term of the hedging
relationship is more difficult to predict. In such a situation it might only be possible for an entity to conclude on the basis
of a quantitative assessment that an economic relationship exists between the hedged item and the hedging instrument (see
paragraphs AG278—-AG280). In some situations a quantitative assessment might also be needed to assess whether the hedge
ratio used for designating the hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements (see paragraphs AG283—
AG285). An entity can use the same or different methods for those two different purposes.

If there are changes in circumstances that affect hedge effectiveness, an entity may have to change the method for assessing
whether a hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements in order to ensure that the relevant characteristics
of the hedging relationship, including the sources of hedge ineffectiveness, are still captured.

An entity’s risk management is the main source of information to perform the assessment of whether a hedging relationship
meets the hedge effectiveness requirements. This means that the management information (or analysis) used for decision-
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making purposes can be used as a basis for assessing whether a hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness
requirements.

An entity’s documentation of the hedging relationship includes how it will assess the hedge effectiveness requirements,
including the method or methods used. The documentation of the hedging relationship shall be updated for any changes to
the methods (see paragraph AG291).

Accounting for Qualifying Hedging Relationships

AG294.

AG295.

AG296.

An example of a fair value hedge is a hedge of exposure to changes in the fair value of a fixed-rate debt instrument arising
from changes in interest rates. Such a hedge could be entered into by the issuer or by the holder.

The purpose of a cash flow hedge is to defer the gain or loss on the hedging instrument to a period or periods in which the
hedged expected future cash flows affect surplus or deficit. An example of a cash flow hedge is the use of a swap to change
floating rate debt (whether measured at amortized cost or fair value) to fixed-rate debt (i.e., a hedge of a future transaction
in which the future cash flows being hedged are the future interest payments). Conversely, a forecast purchase of an equity
instrument that, once acquired, will be accounted for at fair value through surplus or deficit, is an example of an item that
cannot be the hedged item in a cash flow hedge, because any gain or loss on the hedging instrument that would be deferred
could not be appropriately reclassified to surplus or deficit during a period in which it would achieve offset. For the same
reason, a forecast purchase of an equity instrument that, once acquired, will be accounted for at fair value with changes in
fair value presented in net assets/equity also cannot be the hedged item in a cash flow hedge.

A hedge of a firm commitment (for example, a hedge of the change in fuel price relating to an unrecognized contractual
commitment by an electric utility to purchase fuel at a fixed price) is a hedge of an exposure to a change in fair value.
Accordingly, such a hedge is a fair value hedge. However, in accordance with paragraph 133, a hedge of the foreign
currency risk of a firm commitment could alternatively be accounted for as a cash flow hedge.

Measurement of Hedge Ineffectiveness

AG297.

AG298.

AG299.

When measuring hedge ineffectiveness, an entity shall consider the time value of money. Consequently, the entity
determines the value of the hedged item on a present value basis and therefore the change in the value of the hedged item
also includes the effect of the time value of money.

To calculate the change in the value of the hedged item for the purpose of measuring hedge ineffectiveness, an entity may
use a derivative that would have terms that match the critical terms of the hedged item (this is commonly referred to as a
‘hypothetical derivative’), and, for example for a hedge of a forecast transaction, would be calibrated using the hedged price
(or rate) level. For example, if the hedge was for a two-sided risk at the current market level, the hypothetical derivative
would represent a hypothetical forward contract that is calibrated to a value of nil at the time of designation of the hedging
relationship. If the hedge was for example for a one-sided risk, the hypothetical derivative would represent the intrinsic
value of a hypothetical option that at the time of designation of the hedging relationship is at the money if the hedged price
level is the current market level, or out of the money if the hedged price level is above (or, for a hedge of a long position,
below) the current market level. Using a hypothetical derivative is one possible way of calculating the change in the value
of the hedged item. The hypothetical derivative replicates the hedged item and hence results in the same outcome as if that
change in value was determined by a different approach. Hence, using a ‘hypothetical derivative’ is not a method in its
own right but a mathematical expedient that can only be used to calculate the value of the hedged item. Consequently, a
‘hypothetical derivative’ cannot be used to include features in the value of the hedged item that only exist in the hedging
instrument (but not in the hedged item). An example is debt denominated in a foreign currency (irrespective of whether it
is fixed-rate or variable-rate debt). When using a hypothetical derivative to calculate the change in the value of such debt
or the present value of the cumulative change in its cash flows, the hypothetical derivative cannot simply impute a charge
for exchanging different currencies even though actual derivatives under which different currencies are exchanged might
include such a charge (for example, cross-currency interest rate swaps).

The change in the value of the hedged item determined using a hypothetical derivative may also be used for the purpose of
assessing whether a hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements.

Rebalancing the Hedging Relationship and Changes to the Hedge Ratio

AG300.

Rebalancing refers to the adjustments made to the designated quantities of the hedged item or the hedging instrument
of an already existing hedging relationship for the purpose of maintaining a hedge ratio that complies with the hedge
effectiveness requirements. Changes to designated quantities of a hedged item or of a hedging instrument for a different
purpose do not constitute rebalancing for the purpose of this Standard.
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Rebalancing is accounted for as a continuation of the hedging relationship in accordance with paragraphs AG302-AG314.
On rebalancing, the hedge ineffectiveness of the hedging relationship is determined and recognized immediately before
adjusting the hedging relationship.

Adjusting the hedge ratio allows an entity to respond to changes in the relationship between the hedging instrument and the
hedged item that arise from their underlyings or risk variables. For example, a hedging relationship in which the hedging
instrument and the hedged item have different but related underlyings changes in response to a change in the relationship
between those two underlyings (for example, different but related reference indices, rates or prices). Hence, rebalancing
allows the continuation of a hedging relationship in situations in which the relationship between the hedging instrument
and the hedged item changes in a way that can be compensated for by adjusting the hedge ratio.

For example, an entity hedges an exposure to Foreign Currency A using a currency derivative that references Foreign
Currency B and Foreign Currencies A and B are pegged (i.e., their exchange rate is maintained within a band or at an
exchange rate set by a central bank or other authority). If the exchange rate between Foreign Currency A and Foreign
Currency B were changed (i.e., a new band or rate was set), rebalancing the hedging relationship to reflect the new
exchange rate would ensure that the hedging relationship would continue to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement for
the hedge ratio in the new circumstances. In contrast, if there was a default on the currency derivative, changing the hedge
ratio could not ensure that the hedging relationship would continue to meet that hedge effectiveness requirement. Hence,
rebalancing does not facilitate the continuation of a hedging relationship in situations in which the relationship between
the hedging instrument and the hedged item changes in a way that cannot be compensated for by adjusting the hedge ratio.

Not every change in the extent of offset between the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the hedged
item’s fair value or cash flows constitutes a change in the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item.
An entity analyzes the sources of hedge ineffectiveness that it expected to affect the hedging relationship during its term
and evaluates whether changes in the extent of offset are:

(a)  Fluctuations around the hedge ratio, which remains valid (i.e., continues to appropriately reflect the relationship
between the hedging instrument and the hedged item); or

(b)  An indication that the hedge ratio no longer appropriately reflects the relationship between the hedging instrument
and the hedged item.

An entity performs this evaluation against the hedge effectiveness requirement for the hedge ratio, i.e., to ensure that the
hedging relationship does not reflect an imbalance between the weightings of the hedged item and the hedging instrument
that would create hedge ineffectiveness (irrespective of whether recognized or not) that could result in an accounting
outcome that would be inconsistent with the purpose of hedge accounting. Hence, this evaluation requires judgment.

Fluctuation around a constant hedge ratio (and hence the related hedge ineffectiveness) cannot be reduced by adjusting the
hedge ratio in response to each particular outcome. Hence, in such circumstances, the change in the extent of offset is a
matter of measuring and recognizing hedge ineffectiveness but does not require rebalancing.

Conversely, if changes in the extent of offset indicate that the fluctuation is around a hedge ratio that is different from the
hedge ratio that is currently used for that hedging relationship, or that there is a trend leading away from that hedge ratio,
hedge ineffectiveness can be reduced by adjusting the hedge ratio, whereas retaining the hedge ratio would increasingly
produce hedge ineffectiveness. Hence, in such circumstances, an entity must evaluate whether the hedging relationship
reflects an imbalance between the weightings of the hedged item and the hedging instrument that would create hedge
ineffectiveness (irrespective of whether recognized or not) that could result in an accounting outcome that would be
inconsistent with the purpose of hedge accounting. If the hedge ratio is adjusted, it also affects the measurement and
recognition of hedge ineffectiveness because, on rebalancing, the hedge ineffectiveness of the hedging relationship must be
determined and recognized immediately before adjusting the hedging relationship in accordance with paragraph AG301.

Rebalancing means that, for hedge accounting purposes, after the start of a hedging relationship an entity adjusts the
quantities of the hedging instrument or the hedged item in response to changes in circumstances that affect the hedge
ratio of that hedging relationship. Typically, that adjustment should reflect adjustments in the quantities of the hedging
instrument and the hedged item that it actually uses. However, an entity must adjust the hedge ratio that results from the
quantities of the hedged item or the hedging instrument that it actually uses if:

(a) The hedge ratio that results from changes to the quantities of the hedging instrument or the hedged item that the
entity actually uses would reflect an imbalance that would create hedge ineffectiveness that could result in an
accounting outcome that would be inconsistent with the purpose of hedge accounting; or
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(b)  An entity would retain quantities of the hedging instrument and the hedged item that it actually uses, resulting in
a hedge ratio that, in new circumstances, would reflect an imbalance that would create hedge ineffectiveness that
could result in an accounting outcome that would be inconsistent with the purpose of hedge accounting (i.e., an
entity must not create an imbalance by omitting to adjust the hedge ratio).

Rebalancing does not apply if the risk management objective for a hedging relationship has changed. Instead, hedge
accounting for that hedging relationship shall be discontinued (despite that an entity might designate a new hedging
relationship that involves the hedging instrument or hedged item of the previous hedging relationship as described
in paragraph AG321).

If a hedging relationship is rebalanced, the adjustment to the hedge ratio can be effected in different ways:

(a) The weighting of the hedged item can be increased (which at the same time reduces the weighting of the hedging
instrument) by:

(i)  Increasing the volume of the hedged item; or
(i)  Decreasing the volume of the hedging instrument.

(b) The weighting of the hedging instrument can be increased (which at the same time reduces the weighting of the
hedged item) by:

(i)  Increasing the volume of the hedging instrument; or
(i)  Decreasing the volume of the hedged item.

Changes in volume refer to the quantities that are part of the hedging relationship. Hence, decreases in volumes do not
necessarily mean that the items or transactions no longer exist, or are no longer expected to occur, but that they are not
part of the hedging relationship. For example, decreasing the volume of the hedging instrument can result in the entity
retaining a derivative, but only part of it might remain a hedging instrument of the hedging relationship. This could occur
if the rebalancing could be effected only by reducing the volume of the hedging instrument in the hedging relationship, but
with the entity retaining the volume that is no longer needed. In that case, the undesignated part of the derivative would
be accounted for at fair value through surplus or deficit (unless it was designated as a hedging instrument in a different
hedging relationship).

Adjusting the hedge ratio by increasing the volume of the hedged item does not affect how the changes in the fair value
of the hedging instrument are measured. The measurement of the changes in the value of the hedged item related to the
previously designated volume also remains unaffected. However, from the date of rebalancing, the changes in the value
of the hedged item also include the change in the value of the additional volume of the hedged item. These changes are
measured starting from, and by reference to, the date of rebalancing instead of the date on which the hedging relationship
was designated. For example, if an entity originally hedged a volume of 100 tonnes of a commodity at a forward price of
CU8O (the forward price at inception of the hedging relationship) and added a volume of 10 tonnes on rebalancing when
the forward price was CU90, the hedged item after rebalancing would comprise two layers: 100 tonnes hedged at CU80
and 10 tonnes hedged at CU90.

Adjusting the hedge ratio by decreasing the volume of the hedging instrument does not affect how the changes in the value
of the hedged item are measured. The measurement of the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument related to
the volume that continues to be designated also remains unaffected. However, from the date of rebalancing, the volume
by which the hedging instrument was decreased is no longer part of the hedging relationship. For example, if an entity
originally hedged the price risk of a commodity using a derivative volume of 100 tonnes as the hedging instrument and
reduces that volume by 10 tonnes on rebalancing, a nominal amount of 90 tonnes of the hedging instrument volume would
remain (see paragraph AG309 for the consequences for the derivative volume (i.e., the 10 tonnes) that is no longer a part
of the hedging relationship).

Adjusting the hedge ratio by increasing the volume of the hedging instrument does not affect how the changes in the value
of the hedged item are measured. The measurement of the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument related to
the previously designated volume also remains unaffected. However, from the date of rebalancing, the changes in the fair
value of the hedging instrument also include the changes in the value of the additional volume of the hedging instrument.
The changes are measured starting from, and by reference to, the date of rebalancing instead of the date on which the
hedging relationship was designated. For example, if an entity originally hedged the price risk of a commodity using a
derivative volume of 100 tonnes as the hedging instrument and added a volume of 10 tonnes on rebalancing, the hedging
instrument after rebalancing would comprise a total derivative volume of 110 tonnes. The change in the fair value of the
hedging instrument is the total change in the fair value of the derivatives that make up the total volume of 110 tonnes.
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These derivatives could (and probably would) have different critical terms, such as their forward rates, because they were
entered into at different points in time (including the possibility of designating derivatives into hedging relationships after
their initial recognition).

Adjusting the hedge ratio by decreasing the volume of the hedged item does not affect how the changes in the fair value
of the hedging instrument are measured. The measurement of the changes in the value of the hedged item related to the
volume that continues to be designated also remains unaffected. However, from the date of rebalancing, the volume by
which the hedged item was decreased is no longer part of the hedging relationship. For example, if an entity originally
hedged a volume of 100 tonnes of a commodity at a forward price of CU80 and reduces that volume by 10 tonnes on
rebalancing, the hedged item after rebalancing would be 90 tonnes hedged at CU80. The 10 tonnes of the hedged item
that are no longer part of the hedging relationship would be accounted for in accordance with the requirements for the
discontinuation of hedge accounting (see paragraphs 135-136 and AG315-AG321).

When rebalancing a hedging relationship, an entity shall update its analysis of the sources of hedge ineffectiveness that are
expected to affect the hedging relationship during its (remaining) term (see paragraph AG276). The documentation of the
hedging relationship shall be updated accordingly.

Discontinuation of Hedge Accounting

AG315.
AG316.

AG317.

Discontinuation of hedge accounting applies prospectively from the date on which the qualifying criteria are no longer met.
An entity shall not de-designate and thereby discontinue a hedging relationship that:

(a)  Still meets the risk management objective on the basis of which it qualified for hedge accounting (i.e., the entity still
pursues that risk management objective); and

(b)  Continues to meet all other qualifying criteria (after taking into account any rebalancing of the hedging relationship,
if applicable).

For the purposes of this Standard, an entity’s risk management strategy is distinguished from its risk management objectives.
The risk management strategy is established at the highest level at which an entity determines how it manages its risk.
Risk management strategies typically identify the risks to which the entity is exposed and set out how the entity responds
to them. A risk management strategy is typically in place for a longer period and may include some flexibility to react
to changes in circumstances that occur while that strategy is in place (for example, different interest rate or commodity
price levels that result in a different extent of hedging). This is normally set out in a general document that is cascaded
down through an entity through policies containing more specific guidelines. In contrast, the risk management objective
for a hedging relationship applies at the level of a particular hedging relationship. It relates to how the particular hedging
instrument that has been designated is used to hedge the particular exposure that has been designated as the hedged item.
Hence, a risk management strategy can involve many different hedging relationships whose risk management objectives
relate to executing that overall risk management strategy. For example:

(a) Anentity has a strategy of managing its interest rate exposure on debt funding that sets ranges for the overall entity
for the mix between variable-rate and fixed-rate funding. The strategy is to maintain between 20 percent and 40
percent of the debt at fixed rates. The entity decides from time to time how to execute this strategy (i.c., where it
positions itself within the 20 percent to 40 percent range for fixed-rate interest exposure) depending on the level of
interest rates. If interest rates are low the entity fixes the interest for more debt than when interest rates are high.
The entity’s debt is CU100 of variable-rate debt of which CU30 is swapped into a fixed-rate exposure. The entity
takes advantage of low interest rates to issue an additional CUS0 of debt to finance a major investment, which
the entity does by issuing a fixed-rate bond. In the light of the low interest rates, the entity decides to set its fixed
interest-rate exposure to 40 percent of the total debt by reducing by CU20 the extent to which it previously hedged
its variable-rate exposure, resulting in CU60 of fixed-rate exposure. In this situation the risk management strategy
itself remains unchanged. However, in contrast the entity’s execution of that strategy has changed and this means
that, for CU20 of variable-rate exposure that was previously hedged, the risk management objective has changed
(i.e., at the hedging relationship level). Consequently, in this situation hedge accounting must be discontinued for
CU20 of the previously hedged variable-rate exposure. This could involve reducing the swap position by a CU20
nominal amount but, depending on the circumstances, an entity might retain that swap volume and, for example,
use it for hedging a different exposure or it might become part of a trading book. Conversely, if an entity instead
swapped a part of its new fixed-rate debt into a variable-rate exposure, hedge accounting would have to be continued
for its previously hedged variable-rate exposure.

(b)  Some exposures result from positions that frequently change, for example, the interest rate risk of an open portfolio
of debt instruments. The addition of new debt instruments and the derecognition of debt instruments continuously
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change that exposure (i.e., it is different from simply running off a position that matures). This is a dynamic
process in which both the exposure and the hedging instruments used to manage it do not remain the same for
long. Consequently, an entity with such an exposure frequently adjusts the hedging instruments used to manage
the interest rate risk as the exposure changes. For example, debt instruments with 24 months’ remaining maturity
are designated as the hedged item for interest rate risk for 24 months. The same procedure is applied to other time
buckets or maturity periods. After a short period of time, the entity discontinues all, some or a part of the previously
designated hedging relationships for maturity periods and designates new hedging relationships for maturity periods
on the basis of their size and the hedging instruments that exist at that time. The discontinuation of hedge accounting
in this situation reflects that those hedging relationships are established in such a way that the entity looks at a
new hedging instrument and a new hedged item instead of the hedging instrument and the hedged item that were
designated previously. The risk management strategy remains the same, but there is no risk management objective
that continues for those previously designated hedging relationships, which as such no longer exist. In such a
situation, the discontinuation of hedge accounting applies to the extent to which the risk management objective
has changed. This depends on the situation of an entity and could, for example, affect all or only some hedging
relationships of a maturity period, or only part of a hedging relationship.

An entity has a risk management strategy whereby it manages the foreign currency risk of forecast sales and
the resulting receivables. Within that strategy the entity manages the foreign currency risk as a particular
hedging relationship only up to the point of the recognition of the receivable. Thereafter, the entity no longer
manages the foreign currency risk on the basis of that particular hedging relationship. Instead, it manages
together the foreign currency risk from receivables, payables and derivatives (that do not relate to forecast
transactions that are still pending) denominated in the same foreign currency. For accounting purposes, this
works as a ‘natural’ hedge because the gains and losses from the foreign currency risk on all of those items
are immediately recognized in surplus or deficit. Consequently, for accounting purposes, if the hedging
relationship is designated for the period up to the payment date, it must be discontinued when the receivable is
recognized, because the risk management objective of the original hedging relationship no longer applies. The
foreign currency risk is now managed within the same strategy but on a different basis. Conversely, if an entity
had a different risk management objective and managed the foreign currency risk as one continuous hedging
relationship specifically for that forecast sales amount and the resulting receivable until the settlement date,
hedge accounting would continue until that date.

AG318. The discontinuation of hedge accounting can affect:

AG319.

AG320.

(@)
(b)

A hedging relationship in its entirety; or

A part of a hedging relationship (which means that hedge accounting continues for the remainder of the hedging
relationship).

A hedging relationship is discontinued in its entirety when, as a whole, it ceases to meet the qualifying criteria. For example:

(a)

(b)

(c)

The hedging relationship no longer meets the risk management objective on the basis of which it qualified for hedge
accounting (i.e., the entity no longer pursues that risk management objective);

The hedging instrument or instruments have been sold or terminated (in relation to the entire volume that was part
of the hedging relationship); or

There is no longer an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument or the effect of
credit risk starts to dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship.

A part of a hedging relationship is discontinued (and hedge accounting continues for its remainder) when only a part of the
hedging relationship ceases to meet the qualifying criteria. For example:

(a)

(b)

On rebalancing of the hedging relationship, the hedge ratio might be adjusted in such a way that some of the volume
of the hedged item is no longer part of the hedging relationship (see paragraph AG313); hence, hedge accounting is
discontinued only for the volume of the hedged item that is no longer part of the hedging relationship; or

When the occurrence of some of the volume of the hedged item that is (or is a component of) a forecast transaction
is no longer highly probable, hedge accounting is discontinued only for the volume of the hedged item whose
occurrence is no longer highly probable. However, if an entity has a history of having designated hedges of
forecast transactions and having subsequently determined that the forecast transactions are no longer expected to
occur, the entity’s ability to predict forecast transactions accurately is called into question when predicting similar
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forecast transactions. This affects the assessment of whether similar forecast transactions are highly probable (see
paragraph 124) and hence whether they are eligible as hedged items.

An entity can designate a new hedging relationship that involves the hedging instrument or hedged item of a previous
hedging relationship for which hedge accounting was (in part or in its entirety) discontinued. This does not constitute a
continuation of a hedging relationship but is a restart. For example:

(a) A hedging instrument experiences such a severe credit deterioration that the entity replaces it with a new hedging
instrument. This means that the original hedging relationship failed to achieve the risk management objective and
is hence discontinued in its entirety. The new hedging instrument is designated as the hedge of the same exposure
that was hedged previously and forms a new hedging relationship. Hence, the changes in the fair value or the cash
flows of the hedged item are measured starting from, and by reference to, the date of designation of the new hedging
relationship instead of the date on which the original hedging relationship was designated.

(b)  Ahedging relationship is discontinued before the end of its term. The hedging instrument in that hedging relationship
can be designated as the hedging instrument in another hedging relationship (for example, when adjusting the hedge
ratio on rebalancing by increasing the volume of the hedging instrument or when designating a whole new hedging
relationship).

Accounting for the Time Value of Options

AG322.

AG323.

AG324.

An option can be considered as being related to a time period because its time value represents a charge for providing
protection for the option holder over a period of time. However, the relevant aspect for the purpose of assessing whether an
option hedges a transaction or time-period related hedged item are the characteristics of that hedged item, including how and
when it affects surplus or deficit. Hence, an entity shall assess the type of hedged item (see paragraph 144(a)) on the basis
of the nature of the hedged item (regardless of whether the hedging relationship is a cash flow hedge or a fair value hedge):

(a) The time value of an option relates to a transaction related hedged item if the nature of the hedged item is a
transaction for which the time value has the character of costs of that transaction. An example is when the time value
of an option relates to a hedged item that results in the recognition of an item whose initial measurement includes
transaction costs (for example, an entity hedges a commodity purchase, whether it is a forecast transaction or a firm
commitment, against the commodity price risk and includes the transaction costs in the initial measurement of the
inventory). As a consequence of including the time value of the option in the initial measurement of the particular
hedged item, the time value affects surplus or deficit at the same time as that hedged item. Similarly, an entity that
hedges a sale of a commodity, whether it is a forecast transaction or a firm commitment, would include the time
value of the option as part of the cost related to that sale (hence, the time value would be recognized in surplus or
deficit in the same period as the revenue from the hedged sale).

(b)  The time value of an option relates to a time-period related hedged item if the nature of the hedged item is such that
the time value has the character of a cost for obtaining protection against a risk over a particular period of time (but
the hedged item does not result in a transaction that involves the notion of a transaction cost in accordance with
(a)). For example, if commodity inventory is hedged against a fair value decrease for six months using a commodity
option with a corresponding life, the time value of the option would be allocated to surplus or deficit (i.e., amortized
on a systematic and rational basis) over that six-month period. Another example is a hedge of a net investment in a
foreign operation that is hedged for 18 months using a foreign-exchange option, which would result in allocating the
time value of the option over that 18-month period.

The characteristics of the hedged item, including how and when the hedged item affects surplus or deficit, also affect
the period over which the time value of an option that hedges a time-period related hedged item is amortized, which is
consistent with the period over which the option’s intrinsic value can affect surplus or deficit in accordance with hedge
accounting. For example, if an interest rate option (a cap) is used to provide protection against increases in the interest
expense on a floating rate bond, the time value of that cap is amortized to surplus or deficit over the same period over which
any intrinsic value of the cap would affect surplus or deficit:

(a) Ifthe cap hedges increases in interest rates for the first three years out of a total life of the floating rate bond of five
years, the time value of that cap is amortized over the first three years; or

(b) Ifthe cap is a forward start option that hedges increases in interest rates for years two and three out of a total life of
the floating rate bond of five years, the time value of that cap is amortized during years two and three.

The accounting for the time value of options in accordance with paragraph 144 also applies to a combination of a purchased
and a written option (one being a put option and one being a call option) that at the date of designation as a hedging
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instrument has a net nil time value (commonly referred to as a ‘zero-cost collar’). In that case, an entity shall recognize
any changes in time value in net assets/equity, even though the cumulative change in time value over the total period of the
hedging relationship is nil. Hence, if the time value of the option relates to:

(a) A transaction related hedged item, the amount of time value at the end of the hedging relationship that adjusts the
hedged item or that is reclassified to surplus or deficit (see paragraph 144(b)) would be nil.

(b) A time-period related hedged item, the amortization expense related to the time value is nil.

The accounting for the time value of options in accordance with paragraph 144 applies only to the extent that the time value
relates to the hedged item (aligned time value). The time value of an option relates to the hedged item if the critical terms of
the option (such as the nominal amount, life and underlying) are aligned with the hedged item. Hence, if the critical terms
of the option and the hedged item are not fully aligned, an entity shall determine the aligned time value, i.e., how much of
the time value included in the premium (actual time value) relates to the hedged item (and therefore should be treated in
accordance with paragraph 144). An entity determines the aligned time value using the valuation of the option that would
have critical terms that perfectly match the hedged item.

If the actual time value and the aligned time value differ, an entity shall determine the amount that is accumulated in a
separate component of net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 144 as follows:

(a) If, at inception of the hedging relationship, the actual time value is higher than the aligned time value, the entity
shall:

(i)  Determine the amount that is accumulated in a separate component of net assets/equity on the basis of the
aligned time value; and

(i)  Account for the differences in the fair value changes between the two time values in surplus or deficit.

(b) If, at inception of the hedging relationship, the actual time value is lower than the aligned time value, the entity shall
determine the amount that is accumulated in a separate component of net assets/equity by reference to the lower of
the cumulative change in fair value of:

(i)  The actual time value; and
(ii))  The aligned time value.

Any remainder of the change in fair value of the actual time value shall be recognized in surplus or deficit.

Accounting for the Forward Element of Forward Contracts and Foreign Currency Basis Spreads of Financial Instruments

AG327.

A forward contract can be considered as being related to a time period because its forward element represents charges for
a period of time (which is the tenor for which it is determined). However, the relevant aspect for the purpose of assessing
whether a hedging instrument hedges a transaction or time-period related hedged item are the characteristics of that hedged
item, including how and when it affects surplus or deficit. Hence, an entity shall assess the type of hedged item (see
paragraphs 144(a) and 145) on the basis of the nature of the hedged item (regardless of whether the hedging relationship is
a cash flow hedge or a fair value hedge):

(a) The forward element of a forward contract relates to a transaction related hedged item if the nature of the hedged
item is a transaction for which the forward element has the character of costs of that transaction. An example is when
the forward element relates to a hedged item that results in the recognition of an item whose initial measurement
includes transaction costs (for example, an entity hedges an inventory purchase denominated in a foreign currency,
whether it is a forecast transaction or a firm commitment, against foreign currency risk and includes the transaction
costs in the initial measurement of the inventory). As a consequence of including the forward element in the initial
measurement of the particular hedged item, the forward element affects surplus or deficit at the same time as that
hedged item. Similarly, an entity that hedges a sale of a commodity denominated in a foreign currency against
foreign currency risk, whether it is a forecast transaction or a firm commitment, would include the forward element
as part of the cost that is related to that sale (hence, the forward element would be recognized in surplus or deficit in
the same period as the revenue from the hedged sale).

(b) The forward element of a forward contract relates to a time-period related hedged item if the nature of the hedged
item is such that the forward element has the character of a cost for obtaining protection against a risk over a
particular period of time (but the hedged item does not result in a transaction that involves the notion of a transaction
cost in accordance with (a)). For example, if commodity inventory is hedged against changes in fair value for six
months using a commodity forward contract with a corresponding life, the forward element of the forward contract
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would be allocated to surplus or deficit (i.e., amortized on a systematic and rational basis) over that six-month
period. Another example is a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation that is hedged for 18 months using
a foreign-exchange forward contract, which would result in allocating the forward element of the forward contract
over that 18-month period.

The characteristics of the hedged item, including how and when the hedged item affects surplus or deficit, also affect the
period over which the forward element of a forward contract that hedges a time-period related hedged item is amortized,
which is over the period to which the forward element relates. For example, if a forward contract hedges the exposure to
variability in three-month interest rates for a three-month period that starts in six months’ time, the forward element is
amortized during the period that spans months seven to nine.

The accounting for the forward element of a forward contract in accordance with paragraph 145 also applies if, at the date
on which the forward contract is designated as a hedging instrument, the forward element is nil. In that case, an entity
shall recognize any fair value changes attributable to the forward element in net assets/equity, even though the cumulative
fair value change attributable to the forward element over the total period of the hedging relationship is nil. Hence, if the
forward element of a forward contract relates to:

(a)  Atransaction related hedged item, the amount in respect of the forward element at the end of the hedging relationship
that adjusts the hedged item or that is reclassified to surplus or deficit (see paragraphs 144(b) and 145) would be nil.

(b) A time-period related hedged item, the amortization amount related to the forward element is nil.

The accounting for the forward element of forward contracts in accordance with paragraph 145 applies only to the extent
that the forward element relates to the hedged item (aligned forward element). The forward element of a forward contract
relates to the hedged item if the critical terms of the forward contract (such as the nominal amount, life and underlying)
are aligned with the hedged item. Hence, if the critical terms of the forward contract and the hedged item are not fully
aligned, an entity shall determine the aligned forward element, i.e., how much of the forward element included in the
forward contract (actual forward element) relates to the hedged item (and therefore should be treated in accordance with
paragraph 145). An entity determines the aligned forward element using the valuation of the forward contract that would
have critical terms that perfectly match the hedged item.

Ifthe actual forward element and the aligned forward element differ, an entity shall determine the amount that is accumulated
in a separate component of net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 145 as follows:

(a) If, at inception of the hedging relationship, the absolute amount of the actual forward element is higher than that of
the aligned forward element the entity shall:

(i)  Determine the amount that is accumulated in a separate component of net assets/equity on the basis of the
aligned forward element; and

(i1)  Account for the differences in the fair value changes between the two forward elements in surplus or deficit.

(b) If, at inception of the hedging relationship, the absolute amount of the actual forward element is lower than that of
the aligned forward element, the entity shall determine the amount that is accumulated in a separate component of
net assets/equity by reference to the lower of the cumulative change in fair value of:

(i)  The absolute amount of the actual forward element; and
(ii))  The absolute amount of the aligned forward element.
Any remainder of the change in fair value of the actual forward element shall be recognized in surplus or deficit.

When an entity separates the foreign currency basis spread from a financial instrument and excludes it from the designation of
that financial instrument as the hedging instrument (see paragraph 119(b)), the application guidance in paragraphs AG327—
AG331 applies to the foreign currency basis spread in the same manner as it is applied to the forward element of a forward
contract.

Hedge of a Group of Items

Hedge of a Net Position

Eligibility for Hedge Accounting and Designation of a Net Position

AG333.

A net position is eligible for hedge accounting only if an entity hedges on a net basis for risk management purposes.
Whether an entity hedges in this way is a matter of fact (not merely of assertion or documentation). Hence, an entity cannot
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apply hedge accounting on a net basis solely to achieve a particular accounting outcome if that would not reflect its risk
management approach. Net position hedging must form part of an established risk management strategy. Normally this
would be approved by key management personnel as defined in IPSAS 20.

For example, Entity A, whose functional currency is its local currency, has a firm commitment to pay FC150,000 for
advertising expenses in nine months’ time and a firm commitment to sell finished goods for FC150,000 in 15 months’ time.
Entity A enters into a foreign currency derivative that settles in nine months’ time under which it receives FC100 and pays
CU70. Entity A has no other exposures to FC. Entity A does not manage foreign currency risk on a net basis. Hence, Entity
A cannot apply hedge accounting for a hedging relationship between the foreign currency derivative and a net position
of FC100 (consisting of FC150,000 of the firm purchase commitment—i.e., advertising services—and FC149,900 (of the
FC150,000) of the firm sale commitment) for a nine-month period.

If Entity A did manage foreign currency risk on a net basis and did not enter into the foreign currency derivative (because
it increases its foreign currency risk exposure instead of reducing it), then the entity would be in a natural hedged position
for nine months. Normally, this hedged position would not be reflected in the financial statements because the transactions
are recognized in different reporting periods in the future. The nil net position would be eligible for hedge accounting only
if the conditions in paragraph 151 are met.

When a group of items that constitute a net position is designated as a hedged item, an entity shall designate the overall
group of items that includes the items that can make up the net position. An entity is not permitted to designate a non-
specific abstract amount of a net position. For example, an entity has a group of firm sale commitments in nine months’
time for FC100 and a group of firm purchase commitments in 18 months’ time for FC120. The entity cannot designate an
abstract amount of a net position up to FC20. Instead, it must designate a gross amount of purchases and a gross amount
of sales that together give rise to the hedged net position. An entity shall designate gross positions that give rise to the net
position so that the entity is able to comply with the requirements for the accounting for qualifying hedging relationships.

Application of the Hedge Effectiveness Requirements to a Hedge of a Net Position

AG337.

AG338.

When an entity determines whether the hedge effectiveness requirements of paragraph 129(c) are met when it hedges a net
position, it shall consider the changes in the value of the items in the net position that have a similar effect as the hedging
instrument in conjunction with the fair value change on the hedging instrument. For example, an entity has a group of
firm sale commitments in nine months’ time for FC100 and a group of firm purchase commitments in 18 months’ time
for FC120. It hedges the foreign currency risk of the net position of FC20 using a forward exchange contract for FC20.
When determining whether the hedge effectiveness requirements of paragraph 129(c)are met, the entity shall consider the
relationship between:

(a)  The fair value change on the forward exchange contract together with the foreign currency risk related changes in
the value of the firm sale commitments; and

(b)  The foreign currency risk related changes in the value of the firm purchase commitments.

Similarly, if in the example in paragraph AG337 the entity had a nil net position it would consider the relationship between
the foreign currency risk related changes in the value of the firm sale commitments and the foreign currency risk related
changes in the value of the firm purchase commitments when determining whether the hedge effectiveness requirements
of paragraph 129(c) are met.

Cash Flow Hedges that Constitute a Net Position

AG339.

AG340.

When an entity hedges a group of items with offsetting risk positions (i.e., a net position), the eligibility for hedge accounting
depends on the type of hedge. If the hedge is a fair value hedge, then the net position may be eligible as a hedged item. If,
however, the hedge is a cash flow hedge, then the net position can only be eligible as a hedged item if it is a hedge of foreign
currency risk and the designation of that net position specifies the reporting period in which the forecast transactions are
expected to affect surplus or deficit and also specifies their nature and volume.

For example, an entity has a net position that consists of a bottom layer of FC100 of sales and a bottom layer of FC150
of purchases. Both sales and purchases are denominated in the same foreign currency. In order to sufficiently specify the
designation of the hedged net position, the entity specifies in the original documentation of the hedging relationship that
sales can be of Product A or Product B and purchases can be of Machinery Type A, Machinery Type B and Raw Material
A. The entity also specifies the volumes of the transactions by each nature. The entity documents that the bottom layer
of sales (FC100) is made up of a forecast sales volume of the first FC70 of Product A and the first FC30 of Product B. If
those sales volumes are expected to affect surplus or deficit in different reporting periods, the entity would include that in
the documentation, for example, the first FC70 from sales of Product A that are expected to affect surplus or deficit in the
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first reporting period and the first FC30 from sales of Product B that are expected to affect surplus or deficit in the second
reporting period. The entity also documents that the bottom layer of the purchases (FC150) is made up of purchases of
the first FC60 of Machinery Type A, the first FC40 of Machinery Type B and the first FC50 of Raw Material A. If those
purchase volumes are expected to affect surplus or deficit in different reporting periods, the entity would include in the
documentation a disaggregation of the purchase volumes by the reporting periods in which they are expected to affect
surplus or deficit (similarly to how it documents the sales volumes). For example, the forecast transaction would be
specified as:

(a)  Thefirst FC60 of purchases of Machinery Type A that are expected to affect surplus or deficit from the third reporting
period over the next ten reporting periods;

(b) The first FC40 of purchases of Machinery Type B that are expected to affect surplus or deficit from the fourth
reporting period over the next 20 reporting periods; and

(¢)  The first FC50 of purchases of Raw Material A that are expected to be received in the third reporting period and sold,
i.e., affect surplus or deficit, in that and the next reporting period.

Specifying the nature of the forecast transaction volumes would include aspects such as the depreciation pattern for items
of property, plant and equipment of the same kind, if the nature of those items is such that the depreciation pattern could
vary depending on how the entity uses those items. For example, if the entity uses items of Machinery Type A in two
different production processes that result in straight-line depreciation over ten reporting periods and the units of production
method respectively, its documentation of the forecast purchase volume for Machinery Type A would disaggregate that
volume by which of those depreciation patterns will apply.

For a cash flow hedge of a net position, the amounts determined in accordance with paragraph 140 shall include the
changes in the value of the items in the net position that have a similar effect as the hedging instrument in conjunction with
the fair value change on the hedging instrument. However, the changes in the value of the items in the net position that
have a similar effect as the hedging instrument are recognized only once the transactions that they relate to are recognized,
such as when a forecast sale is recognized as revenue. For example, an entity has a group of highly probable forecast sales
in nine months’ time for FC100 and a group of highly probable forecast purchases in 18 months’ time for FC120. It hedges
the foreign currency risk of the net position of FC20 using a forward exchange contract for FC20. When determining
the amounts that are recognized in the cash flow hedge reserve in accordance with paragraph 140(a)-140(b), the entity
compares:

(a)  The fair value change on the forward exchange contract together with the foreign currency risk related changes in
the value of the highly probable forecast sales; with

(b)  The foreign currency risk related changes in the value of the highly probable forecast purchases.

However, the entity recognizes only amounts related to the forward exchange contract until the highly probable forecast
sales transactions are recognized in the financial statements, at which time the gains or losses on those forecast transactions
are recognized (i.e., the change in the value attributable to the change in the foreign exchange rate between the designation
of the hedging relationship and the recognition of revenue).

Similarly, if in the example the entity had a nil net position it would compare the foreign currency risk related changes in the
value of the highly probable forecast sales with the foreign currency risk related changes in the value of the highly probable
forecast purchases. However, those amounts are recognized only once the related forecast transactions are recognized in
the financial statements.

Layers of Groups of Items Designated as the Hedged Item

AG343.

AG344.

For the same reasons noted in paragraph AG268, designating layer components of groups of existing items requires the
specific identification of the nominal amount of the group of items from which the hedged layer component is defined.

A hedging relationship can include layers from several different groups of items. For example, in a hedge of a net position
of a group of assets and a group of liabilities, the hedging relationship can comprise, in combination, a layer component of
the group of assets and a layer component of the group of liabilities.

Presentation of Hedging Instrument Gains or Losses

AG345.

If items are hedged together as a group in a cash flow hedge, they might affect different line items in the statement of
surplus or deficit and net assets/equity. The presentation of hedging gains or losses in that statement depends on the group
of items.
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If the group of items does not have any offsetting risk positions (for example, a group of foreign currency expenses that
affect different line items in the statement of financial performance and the statement of changes in net assets/equity that
are hedged for foreign currency risk) then the reclassified hedging instrument gains or losses shall be apportioned to the
line items affected by the hedged items. This apportionment shall be done on a systematic and rational basis and shall not
result in the grossing up of the net gains or losses arising from a single hedging instrument.

If the group of items does have offsetting risk positions (for example, a group of sales and expenses denominated in a
foreign currency hedged together for foreign currency risk) then an entity shall present the hedging gains or losses in a
separate line item in the statement of financial performance and the statement of changes in net assets/equity. Consider, for
example, a hedge of the foreign currency risk of a net position of foreign currency sales of FC100 and foreign currency
expenses of FC80 using a forward exchange contract for FC20. The gain or loss on the forward exchange contract that is
reclassified from the cash flow hedge reserve to surplus or deficit (when the net position affects surplus or deficit) shall be
presented in a separate line item from the hedged sales and expenses. Moreover, if the sales occur in an earlier period than
the expenses, the sales revenue is still measured at the spot exchange rate in accordance with IPSAS 4. The related hedging
gain or loss is presented in a separate line item, so that surplus or deficit reflects the effect of hedging the net position, with
a corresponding adjustment to the cash flow hedge reserve. When the hedged expenses affect surplus or deficit in a later
period, the hedging gain or loss previously recognized in the cash flow hedge reserve on the sales is reclassified to surplus
or deficit and presented as a separate line item from those that include the hedged expenses, which are measured at the spot
exchange rate in accordance with IPSAS 4.

For some types of fair value hedges, the objective of the hedge is not primarily to offset the fair value change of the hedged
item but instead to transform the cash flows of the hedged item. For example, an entity hedges the fair value interest rate
risk of a fixed-rate debt instrument using an interest rate swap. The entity’s hedge objective is to transform the fixed-
interest cash flows into floating interest cash flows. This objective is reflected in the accounting for the hedging relationship
by accruing the net interest accrual on the interest rate swap in surplus or deficit. In the case of a hedge of a net position
(for example, a net position of a fixed-rate asset and a fixed-rate liability), this net interest accrual must be presented in
a separate line item in the statement of financial performance and the statement of changes in net assets/equity. This is
to avoid the grossing up of a single instrument’s net gains or losses into offsetting gross amounts and recognizing them
in different line items (for example, this avoids grossing up a net interest receipt on a single interest rate swap into gross
interest revenue and gross interest expense).

Effective Date and Transition

Transition

Financial Assets Held for Trading

AG349.

At the date of initial application of this Standard, an entity must determine whether the objective of the entity’s management
model for managing any of its financial assets meets the condition in paragraph 40(a) or the condition in paragraph 41(a) or
if a financial asset is eligible for the election in paragraph 106. For that purpose, an entity shall determine whether financial
assets meet the definition of held for trading as if the entity had purchased the assets at the date of initial application.

Impairment

AG350.

AG351.

AG352.

On transition, an entity should seek to approximate the credit risk on initial recognition by considering all reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort. An entity is not required to undertake an exhaustive
search for information when determining, at the date of transition, whether there have been significant increases in credit
risk since initial recognition. If an entity is unable to make this determination without undue cost or effort paragraph 178
applies.

In order to determine the loss allowance on financial instruments initially recognized (or loan commitments or financial
guarantee contracts to which the entity became a party to the contract) prior to the date of initial application, both on
transition and until the derecognition of those items an entity shall consider information that is relevant in determining or
approximating the credit risk at initial recognition. In order to determine or approximate the initial credit risk, an entity
may consider internal and external information, including portfolio information, in accordance with paragraphs AG165—
AG170.

An entity with little historical information may use information from internal reports and statistics (that may have been
generated when deciding whether to launch a new product), information about similar products or peer group experience
for comparable financial instruments, if relevant.
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Appendix B

Appendix B — Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

This Appendix is an integral part of IPSAS 41.

Introduction

BI1.

B2.

B3.

B4.

BS.

Many reporting entities have investments in foreign operations (as defined in IPSAS 4, paragraph 10). Such foreign
operations may be controlled entities, associates, joint ventures or branches. IPSAS 4 requires an entity to determine
the functional currency of each of its foreign operations as the currency of the primary economic environment of that
operation. When translating the results and financial position of a foreign operation into a presentation currency, the entity
is required to recognize foreign exchange differences directly in net assets/equity until it disposes of the foreign operation.

Hedge accounting of the foreign currency risk arising from a net investment in a foreign operation will apply only when the
net assets of that foreign operation are included in the financial statements. This will be the case for consolidated financial
statements, financial statements in which investments such as associates or joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method and financial statements that include a branch or joint operations as defined in IPSAS 37. The item being hedged
with respect to the foreign currency risk arising from the net investment in a foreign operation may be an amount of net
assets equal to or less than the carrying amount of the net assets of the foreign operation.

IPSAS 41 requires the designation of an eligible hedged item and eligible hedging instruments in a hedge accounting relationship.
If there is a designated hedging relationship, in the case of a net investment hedge, the gain or loss on the hedging instrument
that is determined to be an effective hedge of the net investment is recognized directly in net assets/equity and is included with
the foreign exchange differences arising on translation of the results and financial position of the foreign operation.

This Appendix applies to an entity that hedges the foreign currency risk arising from its net investments in foreign operations
and wishes to qualify for hedge accounting in accordance with IPSAS 41. It should not be applied by analogy to other types
of hedge accounting. This Appendix refers to such an entity as a controlling entity and to the financial statements in which
the net assets of foreign operations are included as consolidated financial statements. All references to a controlling entity
apply equally to an entity that has a net investment in a foreign operation that is a joint venture, an associate or a branch.

This Appendix provides guidance on:

(a) Identifying the foreign currency risks that qualify as a hedged risk in the hedge of a net investment in a foreign
operation, given that an entity with many foreign operations may be exposed to a number of foreign currency risks.
It specifically addresses:

(i)  Whether the controlling entity may designate as a hedged risk only the foreign exchange differences arising
from a difference between the functional currencies of the controlling entity and its foreign operation, or
whether it may also designate as the hedged risk the foreign exchange differences arising from the difference
between the presentation currency of the controlling entity’s consolidated financial statements and the
functional currency of the foreign operation; and

(i)  If the controlling entity holds the foreign operation indirectly, whether the hedged risk may include only the
foreign exchange differences arising from differences in functional currencies between the foreign operation
and its immediate controlling entity, or whether the hedged risk may also include any foreign exchange
differences between the functional currency of the foreign operation and any intermediate or ultimate
controlling entity (i.e., whether the fact that the net investment in the foreign operation is held through an
intermediate controlling entity affects the economic risk to the ultimate controlling entity).

(b)  Where in an economic entity the hedging instrument can be held. It specifically addresses:

(i)  IPSAS 41 allows an entity to designate either a derivative or a non-derivative financial instrument (or a
combination of derivative and non-derivative financial instruments) as hedging instruments for foreign
currency risk. This Appendix addresses whether the nature of the hedging instrument (derivative or non-
derivative) or the method of consolidation affects the assessment of hedge effectiveness.

(i1)  This Appendix also addresses where, within an economic entity, hedging instruments that are hedges of a
net investment in a foreign operation can be held to qualify for hedge accounting i.e., whether a qualifying
hedge accounting relationship can be established only if the entity hedging its net investment is a party to the
hedging instrument or whether any entity within the economic entity, regardless of its functional currency,
can hold the hedging instrument.
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(c) How an entity should determine what amount of the gain or loss recognized in net assets/equity should be recognized
directly in surplus or deficit for both the hedging instrument and the hedged item as IPSAS 4 and IPSAS 41 require
cumulative amounts recognized directly in net assets/equity relating to both the foreign exchange differences arising
on translation of the results and financial position of the foreign operation and the gain or loss on the hedging
instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge of the net investment to be recognized directly when the
controlling entity disposes of the foreign operation. It specifically addresses:

(i)  When a foreign operation that was hedged is disposed of, what amounts from the controlling entity’s foreign
currency translation reserve in respect of the hedging instrument and of that foreign operation should be
recognized in surplus or deficit in the controlling entity’s consolidated financial statements; and

(i1)  Whether the method of consolidation affects the determination of the amounts to be recognized in surplus
or deficit.

Application of IPSAS 41 to Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

Nature of the Hedged Risk and Amount of the Hedged Item for which a Hedging Relationship may be Designated

B6.

B7.

BS.

B9.

Hedge accounting may be applied only to the foreign exchange differences arising between the functional currency of the
foreign operation and the controlling entity’s functional currency.

In a hedge of the foreign currency risks arising from a net investment in a foreign operation, the hedged item can
be an amount of net assets equal to or less than the carrying amount of the net assets of the foreign operation in the
consolidated financial statements of the controlling entity. The carrying amount of the net assets of a foreign operation
that may be designated as the hedged item in the consolidated financial statements of a controlling entity depends on
whether any lower level controlling entity of the foreign operation has applied hedge accounting for all or part of the
net assets of that foreign operation and that accounting has been maintained in the controlling entity’s consolidated
financial statements.

The hedged risk may be designated as the foreign currency exposure arising between the functional currency of the foreign
operation and the functional currency of any controlling entity (the immediate, intermediate or ultimate controlling entity)
of that foreign operation. The fact that the net investment is held through an intermediate controlling entity does not affect
the nature of the economic risk arising from the foreign currency exposure to the ultimate controlling entity.

An exposure to foreign currency risk arising from a net investment in a foreign operation may qualify for hedge accounting
only once in the consolidated financial statements. Therefore, if the same net assets of a foreign operation are hedged by
more than one controlling entity within the economic entity (e.g., both a direct and an indirect controlling entity) for the
same risk, only one hedging relationship will qualify for hedge accounting in the consolidated financial statements of
the ultimate controlling entity. A hedging relationship designated by one controlling entity in its consolidated financial
statements need not be maintained by another higher level controlling entity. However, if it is not maintained by the higher
level controlling entity, the hedge accounting applied by the lower level controlling entity must be reversed before the
higher level controlling entity’s hedge accounting is recognized.

Where the Hedging Instrument can be Held

B10.

B11.

A derivative or a non-derivative instrument (or a combination of derivative and non-derivative instruments) may be
designated as a hedging instrument in a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation. The hedging instrument(s) may
be held by any entity or entities within the economic entity, as long as the designation, documentation and effectiveness
requirements of IPSAS 41 paragraph 129 that relate to a net investment hedge are satisfied. In particular, the hedging
strategy of the economic entity-should be clearly documented because of the possibility of different designations at different
levels of the economic entity.

For the purpose of assessing effectiveness, the change in value of the hedging instrument in respect of foreign exchange
risk is computed by reference to the functional currency of the controlling entity against whose functional currency the
hedged risk is measured, in accordance with the hedge accounting documentation. Depending on where the hedging
instrument is held, in the absence of hedge accounting the total change in value might be recognized in surplus or deficit,
directly in net assets/equity, or both. However, the assessment of effectiveness is not affected by whether the change in
value of the hedging instrument is recognized in surplus or deficit or directly in net assets/equity. As part of the application
of hedge accounting, the total effective portion of the change is included directly in net assets/equity. The assessment of
effectiveness is not affected by whether the hedging instrument is a derivative or a non-derivative instrument or by the
method of consolidation.
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Disposal of a Hedged Foreign Operation

B12.

B13.

B14.

B15.

When a foreign operation that was hedged is disposed of, the amount reclassified to surplus or deficit from the foreign
currency translation reserve in the consolidated financial statements of the controlling entity in respect of the hedging
instrument is the amount that IPSAS 41 paragraph 143 requires to be identified. That amount is the cumulative gain or loss
on the hedging instrument that was determined to be an effective hedge.

The amount recognized in surplus or deficit upon transfer from the foreign currency translation reserve in the consolidated
financial statements of a controlling entity in respect of the net investment in that foreign operation in accordance with
IPSAS 4 paragraph 57 is the amount included in that controlling entity’s foreign currency translation reserve in respect
of that foreign operation. In the ultimate controlling entity’s consolidated financial statements, the aggregate net amount
recognized in the foreign currency translation reserve in respect of all foreign operations is not affected by the consolidation
method. However, whether the ultimate controlling entity uses the direct or the step-by-step method of consolidation, may
affect the amount included in its foreign currency translation reserve in respect of an individual foreign operation.

The direct method is the method of consolidation in which the financial statements of the foreign operation are translated
directly into the functional currency of the ultimate controlling entity. The step-by-step method is the method of
consolidation in which the financial statements of the foreign operation are first translated into the functional currency of
any intermediate controlling entity(ies) and then translated into the functional currency of the ultimate controlling entity
(or the presentation currency if different).

The use of the step-by-step method of consolidation may result in a different amount being recognized in surplus or deficit
from that used to determine hedge effectiveness. This difference may be eliminated by determining the amount relating to
that foreign operation that would have arisen if the direct method of consolidation had been used. Making this adjustment
is not required by IPSAS 4. However, it is an accounting policy choice that should be followed consistently for all net
investments.

Example

B16.

The following example illustrates the application of the preceding paragraphs using the entity structure illustrated below.
In all cases the hedging relationships described would be tested for effectiveness in accordance with IPSAS 41, although
this testing is not discussed. Controlling Entity D, being the ultimate controlling entity, presents its consolidated financial
statements in its functional currency of euro (EUR). Each of the controlled entities i.e., Controlled Entity A, Controlled
Entity B and Controlled Entity C, is wholly owned. Controlling Entity D’s £500 million net investment in Controlled
Entity B (functional currency pounds sterling (GBP)) includes the £159 million equivalent of Controlled Entity B’s
US$300 million net investment in Controlled Entity C (functional currency US dollars (USD)). In other words, Controlled
Entity B’s net assets other than its investment in Controlled Entity C are £341 million.

Controlling Entity D
Functional currency EUR

JPY400,000 million GBP500 million

C0r§trolled Entity A Controlled Entity B
Functional currency JPY Functional currency GBP
USD300 million
(GBP159 million
equivalent)
A

Controlled Entity C
Functional currency USD

Nature of Hedged Risk for which a Hedging Relationship may be Designated (paragraphs B6—B9)

B17.

Controlling Entity D can hedge its net investment in each of Controlled Entities A, B and C for the foreign exchange risk
between their respective functional currencies (Japanese yen (JPY), pounds sterling and US dollars) and euro. In addition,
Controlling Entity D can hedge the USD/GBP foreign exchange risk between the functional currencies of Controlled
Entity B and Controlled Entity C. In its consolidated financial statements, Controlled Entity B can hedge its net investment
in Controlled Entity C for the foreign exchange risk between their functional currencies of US dollars and pounds sterling.
In the following examples the designated risk is the spot foreign exchange risk because the hedging instruments are not
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derivatives. If the hedging instruments were forward contracts, Controlling Entity D could designate the forward foreign
exchange risk.

Amount of Hedged Item for which a Hedging Relationship may be Designated (paragraphs B6—B9)

B18S.

B19.

B20.

B21.

Controlling Entity D wishes to hedge the foreign exchange risk from its net investment in Controlled Entity C. Assume that
Controlled Entity A has an external borrowing of US$300 million. The net assets of Controlled Entity A at the start of the
reporting period are ¥400,000 million including the proceeds of the external borrowing of US$300 million.

The hedged item can be an amount of net assets equal to or less than the carrying amount of Controlling Entity D’s net
investment in Controlled Entity C (US$300 million) in its consolidated financial statements. In its consolidated financial
statements Controlling Entity D can designate the US$300 million external borrowing in Controlled Entity A as a hedge of
the EUR/USD spot foreign exchange risk associated with its net investment in the US$300 million net assets of Controlled
Entity C. In this case, both the EUR/USD foreign exchange difference on the US$300 million external borrowing in
Controlled Entity A and the EUR/USD foreign exchange difference on the US$300 million net investment in Controlled
Entity C are included in the foreign currency translation reserve in Controlling Entity D’s consolidated financial statements
after the application of hedge accounting.

In the absence of hedge accounting, the total USD/EUR foreign exchange difference on the US$300 million external
borrowing in Controlled Entity A would be recognized in Controlling Entity D’s consolidated financial statements as
follows:

e  USD/JPY spot foreign exchange rate change, translated to euro, in surplus or deficit; and
e JPY/EUR spot foreign exchange rate change directly in net assets/equity.

Instead of the designation in paragraph B19, in its consolidated financial statements Controlling Entity D can designate
the US$300 million external borrowing in Controlled Entity A as a hedge of the GBP/USD spot foreign exchange risk
between Controlled Entity C and Controlled Entity B. In this case, the total USD/EUR foreign exchange difference on
the US$300 million external borrowing in Entity A would instead be recognized in Controlled Entity D’s consolidated
financial statements as follows:

e  The GBP/USD spot foreign exchange rate change in the foreign currency translation reserve relating to Controlled
Entity C;

e  GBP/JPY spot foreign exchange rate change, translated to euro, in surplus or deficit; and
e JPY/EUR spot foreign exchange rate change directly in net assets/equity.

Controlling Entity D cannot designate the US$300 million external borrowing in Controlled Entity A as a hedge of both
the EUR/USD spot foreign exchange risk and the GBP/USD spot foreign exchange risk in its consolidated financial
statements. A single hedging instrument can hedge the same designated risk only once. Controlled Entity B cannot apply
hedge accounting in its consolidated financial statements because the hedging instrument is held outside the economic
entity comprising Controlled Entity B and Controlled Entity C.

Where in an Economic Entity can the Hedging Instrument be Held (paragraphs B10 and B11)?

B22.

As noted in paragraph B20, the total change in value in respect of foreign exchange risk of the US$300 million external
borrowing in Controlled Entity A would be recorded in both surplus or deficit (USD/JPY spot risk) and directly in net assets/
equity (EUR/JPY spot risk) in Controlling Entity D’s consolidated financial statements in the absence of hedge accounting.
Both amounts are included for the purpose of assessing the effectiveness of the hedge designated in paragraph B19 because
the change in value of both the hedging instrument and the hedged item are computed by reference to the euro functional
currency of Controlling Entity D against the US dollar functional currency of Controlled Entity C, in accordance with
the hedge documentation. The method of consolidation (i.e., direct method or step-by-step method) does not affect the
assessment of the effectiveness of the hedge.

Amounts Recognized in Surplus or Deficit on Disposal of a Foreign Operation (paragraphs B12 and B13)

B23.

When Controlled Entity C is disposed of, the amounts are recognized in surplus or deficit in Controlling Entity D’s
consolidated financial statements upon transfer from its foreign currency translation reserve (FCTR) are:

(a) Inrespect of the US$300 million external borrowing of Controlled Entity A, the amount that IPSAS 41 requires to
be identified, i.e., the total change in value in respect of foreign exchange risk that was recognized directly in net
assets/equity as the effective portion of the hedge; and
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(b) In respect of the US$300 million net investment in Controlled Entity C, the amount determined by the entity’s
consolidation method. If Controlling Entity D uses the direct method, its FCTR in respect of Controlled Entity C
will be determined directly by the EUR/USD foreign exchange rate. If Controlling Entity D uses the step-by-step
method, its FCTR in respect of Controlled Entity C will be determined by the FCTR recognized by Controlled
Entity B reflecting the GBP/USD foreign exchange rate, translated to Controlling Entity D’s functional currency
using the EUR/GBP foreign exchange rate. Controlling Entity D’s use of the step-by-step method of consolidation in
prior periods does not require it to or preclude it from determining the amount of FCTR to be recognized in surplus
or deficit when it disposes of Controlled Entity C to be the amount that it would have recognized if it had always
used the direct method, depending on its accounting policy.

Hedging More Than One Foreign Operation (paragraphs B7, B9, and Bll)

B24.

The following examples illustrate that in the consolidated financial statements of Controlling Entity D, the risk that can
be hedged is always the risk between its functional currency (euro) and the functional currencies of Controlled Entities
B and C. No matter how the hedges are designated, the maximum amounts that can be effective hedges to be included
in the foreign currency translation reserve in Controlling Entity D’s consolidated financial statements when both foreign
operations are hedged are US$300 million for EUR/USD risk and £341 million for EUR/GBP risk. Other changes in value
due to changes in foreign exchange rates are included in Controlling Entity D’s consolidated surplus or deficit. Of course,
it would be possible for Controlling Entity D to designate US$300 million only for changes in the USD/GBP spot foreign
exchange rate or £500 million only for changes in the GBP/EUR spot foreign exchange rate.

Entity D Holds Both USD and GBP Hedging Instruments

B25.

B26.

B27.

Controlling Entity D may wish to hedge the foreign exchange risk in relation to its net investment in Controlled Entity B
as well as that in relation to Controlled Entity C. Assume that Controlling Entity D holds suitable hedging instruments
denominated in US dollars and pounds sterling that it could designate as hedges of its net investments in Controlled
Entity B and Controlled Entity C. The designations Controlling Entity D can make in its consolidated financial statements
include, but are not limited to, the following:

(a)  US$300 million hedging instrument designated as a hedge of the US$300 million of net investment in Controlled
Entity C with the risk being the spot foreign exchange exposure (EUR/USD) between Controlling Entity D and
Controlled Entity C and up to £341 million hedging instrument designated as a hedge of £341 million of the net
investment in Controlled Entity B with the risk being the spot foreign exchange exposure (EUR/GBP) between
Controlling Entity D and Controlled Entity B.

(b) US$300 million hedging instrument designated as a hedge of the US$300 million of net investment in Controlled
Entity C with the risk being the spot foreign exchange exposure (GBP/USD) between Controlled Entity B and
Controlled Entity C and up to £500 million hedging instrument designated as a hedge of £500 million of the net
investment in Controlled Entity B with the risk being the spot foreign exchange exposure (EUR/GBP) between
Controlling Entity D and Controlled Entity B.

The EUR/USD risk from Controlling Entity D’s net investment in Controlled Entity C is a different risk from the EUR/GBP
risk from Controlling Entity D’s net investment in Controlled Entity B. However, in the case described in paragraph B25(a),
by its designation of the USD hedging instrument it holds, Controlling Entity D has already fully hedged the EUR/USD
risk from its net investment in Controlled Entity C. If Controlling Entity D also designated a GBP instrument it holds as a
hedge of its £500 million net investment in Controlled Entity B, £159 million of that net investment, representing the GBP
equivalent of its USD net investment in Controlled Entity C, would be hedged twice for GBP/EUR risk in Controlling
Entity D’s consolidated financial statements.

In the case described in paragraph B25(b), if Controlling Entity D designates the hedged risk as the spot foreign exchange
exposure (GBP/USD) between Controlled Entity B and Controlled Entity C, only the GBP/USD part of the change in the
value of its US$300 million hedging instrument is included in Controlling Entity D’s foreign currency translation reserve
relating to Controlled Entity C. The remainder of the change (equivalent to the GBP/EUR change on £159 million) is
included in Controlling Entity D’s consolidated surplus or deficit, as in paragraph B20. Because the designation of the
USD/GBP risk between Controlled entities B and C does not include the GBP/EUR risk, Controlling Entity D is also able
to designate up to £500 million of its net investment in Controlled Entity B with the risk being the spot foreign exchange
exposure (GBP/EUR) between Controlling Entity D and Controlled Entity B.
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Entity B Holds the USD Hedging Instrument

B28.

B29.

B30.

Assume that Controlled Entity B holds US$300 million of external debt, the proceeds of which were transferred to
Controlling Entity D by an inter-entity loan denominated in pounds sterling. Because both its assets and liabilities increased
by £159 million, Controlled Entity B’s net assets are unchanged. Controlled Entity B could designate the external debt as a
hedge of the GBP/USD risk of its net investment in Controlled Entity C in its consolidated financial statements. Controlling
Entity D could maintain Controlled Entity B’s designation of that hedging instrument as a hedge of its US$300 million
net investment in Controlled Entity C for the GBP/USD risk (see paragraph B9) and Controlling Entity D could designate
the GBP hedging instrument it holds as a hedge of its entire £500 million net investment in Controlled Entity B. The first
hedge, designated by Controlled Entity B, would be assessed by reference to Controlled Entity B’s functional currency
(pounds sterling) and the second hedge, designated by Controlling Entity D, would be assessed by reference to Controlling
Entity D’s functional currency (euro). In this case, only the GBP/USD risk from Controlling Entity D’s net investment
in Controlled Entity C has been hedged in Controlling Entity D’s consolidated financial statements by the USD hedging
instrument, not the entire EUR/USD risk. Therefore, the entire EUR/GBP risk from Controlling Entity D’s £500 million
net investment in Controlled Entity B may be hedged in the consolidated financial statements of Controlling Entity D.

However, the accounting for Controlling Entity D’s £159 million loan payable to Controlled Entity B must also be
considered. If Controlling Entity D’s loan payable is not considered part of its net investment in Controlled Entity B
because it does not satisfy the conditions in IPSAS 4 paragraph 18, the GBP/EUR foreign exchange difference arising on
translating it would be included in Controlling Entity D’s consolidated surplus or deficit. If the £159 million loan payable
to Controlled Entity B is considered part of Controlling Entity D’s net investment, that net investment would be only £341
million and the amount Controlling Entity D could designate as the hedged item for GBP/EUR risk would be reduced from
£500 million to £341 million accordingly.

If Controlling Entity D reversed the hedging relationship designated by Controlled Entity B, Controlling Entity D could
designate the US$300 million external borrowing held by Controlled Entity B as a hedge of its US$300 million net
investment in Controlled Entity C for the EUR/USD risk and designate the GBP hedging instrument it holds itself as a
hedge of only up to £341 million of the net investment in Controlled Entity B. In this case the effectiveness of both hedges
would be computed by reference to Controlling Entity D’s functional currency (euro). Consequently, both the USD/GBP
change in value of the external borrowing held by Controlled Entity B and the GBP/EUR change in value of Controlling
Entity D’s loan payable to Controlled Entity B (equivalent to USD/EUR in total) would be included in the foreign currency
translation reserve in Controlling Entity D’s consolidated financial statements. Because Controlling Entity D has already
fully hedged the EUR/USD risk from its net investment in Controlled Entity C, it can hedge only up to £341 million for
the EUR/GBP risk of its net investment in Controlled Entity B.
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Appendix C

Appendix C: Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

This Appendix is an integral part of IPSAS 41.

Introduction

Cl.

Scope
C2.

C3.

C4.

A debtor and creditor might renegotiate the terms of a financial liability with the result that the debtor extinguishes the
liability fully or partially by issuing equity instruments to the creditor. These transactions are sometimes referred to as ‘debt
for equity swaps’.

This Appendix addresses the accounting by an entity when the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and result in
the entity issuing equity instruments to a creditor of the entity to extinguish all or part of the financial liability. It does not
address the accounting by the creditor.

An entity shall not apply this Appendix to transactions in situations where:

(a) The creditor is also a direct or indirect shareholder and is acting in its capacity as a direct or indirect existing
shareholder.

(b)  The creditor and the entity are controlled by the same party or parties before and after the transaction and the
substance of the transaction includes an equity distribution by, or contribution to, the entity.

(¢)  Extinguishing the financial liability by issuing equity shares is in accordance with the original terms of the financial
liability.

This Appendix addresses the following issues:

(a) Are an entity’s equity instruments issued to extinguish all or part of a financial liability ‘consideration paid’ in
accordance with paragraph 37 of IPSAS 41?

(b)  How should an entity initially measure the equity instruments issued to extinguish such a financial liability?

(c) How should an entity account for any difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished
and the initial measurement amount of the equity instruments issued?

Consensus

Cs.

C6.

C7.

C8.

Co.

Cl10.

The issue of an entity’s equity instruments to a creditor to extinguish all or part of a financial liability is consideration
paid in accordance with paragraph 37 of IPSAS 41. An entity shall remove a financial liability (or part of a financial
liability) from its statement of financial position when, and only when, it is extinguished in accordance with paragraph 35
of IPSAS 41.

When equity instruments issued to a creditor to extinguish all or part of a financial liability are recognized initially, an entity
shall measure them at the fair value of the equity instruments issued, unless that fair value cannot be reliably measured.

If the fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot be reliably measured then the equity instruments shall be measured
to reflect the fair value of the financial liability extinguished. In measuring the fair value of a financial liability extinguished
that includes a demand feature (e.g., a demand deposit), paragraph 68 of IPSAS 41 is not applied.

If only part of the financial liability is extinguished, the entity shall assess whether some of the consideration paid relates
to a modification of the terms of the liability that remains outstanding. If part of the consideration paid does relate to a
modification of the terms of the remaining part of the liability, the entity shall allocate the consideration paid between the
part of the liability extinguished and the part of the liability that remains outstanding. The entity shall consider all relevant
facts and circumstances relating to the transaction in making this allocation.

The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability (or part of a financial liability) extinguished, and the
consideration paid, shall be recognized in surplus or deficit, in accordance with paragraph 37 of IPSAS 41. The equity
instruments issued shall be recognized initially and measured at the date the financial liability (or part of that liability) is
extinguished.

When only part of the financial liability is extinguished, consideration shall be allocated in accordance with paragraph C8.
The consideration allocated to the remaining liability shall form part of the assessment of whether the terms of that
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remaining liability have been substantially modified. If the remaining liability has been substantially modified, the entity
shall account for the modification as the extinguishment of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability as
required by paragraph 36 of IPSAS 41.

Cl11.  An entity shall disclose a gain or loss recognized in accordance with paragraphs C9 and C10 as a separate line item in
surplus or deficit or in the notes.

IPSAS 41 APPENDIX C 1350



FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Appendix D
Amendments to Other IPSASs

Amendments to IPSAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements

Paragraphs 7, 79, 82, 101, 102 and 138 are amended and paragraphs 125A, 125B, 125C and 153L are added. New text is underlined
and deleted text is struck through.

Definitions
7. Net assets/equity is the residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all its liabilities.

The components of net assets/equity are contributed capital, accumulated surpluses or deficits, reserves, and non-controlling
interests. Types of reserves include:

a Changes in revaluation surplus (see IPSAS 17, Property. Plant, and Equipment and IPSAS 31, Intangible Assets):;

(b) Remeasurements of defined benefit plans (see IPSAS 39. Emplovee Benefits):

(c) Gains and losses arising from translating the financial statements of a foreign operation (see IPSAS 4, The Effects

of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates);

d Gains and losses from investments in equity instruments designated at fair value through net assets/equit
accordance with paragraph 106 of IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments;

e Gains and losses on financial assets measured at fair value through net assets/equity in accordance with
paragraph 41 of IPSAS 41;

(H) The effective portion of gains and losses on hedging instruments in a cash flow hedge and the gains and losses on

hedging instruments that hedge investments in equity instruments measured at fair value through net assets/equity
in accordance with paragraph 106 of IPSAS 41 (see paragraphs 113—155 of IPSAS 41);

(g) For particular liabilities designated as at fair value through surplus or deficit, the amount of the change in fair
value that is attributable to changes in the liability’s credit risk (see paragraph 108 of IPSAS 41);

(h) Changes in the value of the time value of options when separating the intrinsic value and time value of an option

contract and designating as the hedging instrument only the changes in the intrinsic value (see paragraphs 113—
155 of IPSAS 41); and

1) Changes in the value of the forward elements of forward contracts when separating the forward element and spot
element of a forward contract and designating as the hedging instrument only the changes in the spot element,
and changes in the value of the foreign currency basis spread of a financial instrument when excluding it from the
designation of that financial instrument as the hedging instrument (see paragraphs 113—155 of IPSAS 41).

Statement of Financial Position

Current Assets

79. Current assets include assets (such as taxes receivable, user charges receivable, fines and regulatory fees receivable,
inventories and accrued investment revenue) that are either realized, consumed or sold, as part of the normal operating cycle
even when they are not expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting date. Current assets also include
assets held primarily for the purpose of trading (examples include some financial assets that meet the definition of etasstfied

as held for trading in aceordanee-with IPSAS 41 HPSAS 29, Financiat-fnstruments—Recognitionand Measurenent) and the

current portion of non-current financial assets.
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Current Liabilities

82.

Other current liabilities are not settled as part of the normal operating cycle, but are due for settlement within twelve
months after the reporting date or held primarily for the purpose of being traded. Examples are some financial liabilities
that meet the definition of etassifiedas held for trading in aceordanee-with [IPSAS 41 HPSAS29, bank overdrafts, and the
current portion of non-current financial liabilities, dividends or similar distributions payable, income taxes and other non-
trade payables. Financial liabilities that provide financing on a long-term basis (i.e., are not part of the working capital
used in the entity’s normal operating cycle) and are not due for settlement within twelve months after the reporting date are
non-current liabilities, subject to paragraphs 85 and 86.

Statement of Financial Performance

101.

Other IPSASs deal with items that may meet definitions of revenue or expense set out in this Standard, but are usually
excluded from surplus or deficit. Examples include revaluation surpluses (see IPSAS 17), particular (a) gains and losses
arising on translating the financial statements of a foreign operation (see IPSAS 4), and (b) gains or losses on remeasuring
avattabte-for-sale financial assets measured at fair value through net assets/equity (guidance on measurement of financial
assets can be found in IPSAS 41 IPSAS29).

Information to be Presented on the Face of the Statement Financial Performance

102.

As a minimum, the face of the statement of financial performance shall include line items that present the following
amounts for the period:

(a) Revenue, presenting separately:

i Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method: and

(b)
(ba)
with paragraphs 73-93 of IPSAS 41:
(c) Share of the surplus or deficit of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method;

(ca) If a financial asset is reclassified out of the amortized cost measurement category so that it is measured

at fair value through surplus or deficit, any gain or loss arising from a difference between the previous
amortized cost of the financial asset and its fair value at the reclassification date (as defined in IPSAS 41):

(cb) If a financial asset is reclassified out of the fair value through net asset/equity measurement category so that
it is measured at fair value through surplus or deficit, any cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in
net assets/equity that is reclassified to surplus or deficit;

(d) Pre-tax gain or loss recognized on the disposal of assets or settlement of liabilities attributable to
discontinuing operations; and

(e) Surplus or deficit.

Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity

125A.

Other IPSASs specify whether and when amounts previously recognized in net assets/equity are reclassified to surplus or

deficit. Such reclassifications are referred to in this Standard as reclassification adjustments. A reclassification adjustment
is included with the related component of net assets/equity in the period that the adjustment is reclassified to surplus or

deficit. These amounts may have been recognized in net assets/equity as unrealized gains in the current or previous periods.
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Those unrealized gains must be deducted from net assets/equity in the period in which the realized gains are reclassified to
surplus or deficit to avoid including them in the statement of changes in net assets/equity twice.

125B. Reclassification adjustments arise, for example, on disposal of a foreign operation (see IPSAS 4) and when some hedged
forecast cash flows affect surplus or deficit (see paragraph 140(d) of IPSAS 41 in relation to cash flow hedges).

125C. _Reclassification adjustments do not arise on changes in revaluation surplus recognized in accordance with IPSAS 17 or
IPSAS 31 or on remeasurements of defined benefit plans recognized in accordance with IPSAS 39. These components are

recognized in net assets/equity and are not reclassified to surplus or deficit in subsequent periods. Changes in revaluation
surplus may be transferred to accumulated surpluses or deficits in subsequent periods as the asset is used or when it is
derecognized (see IPSAS 17 or IPSAS 31). In accordance with IPSAS 41, reclassification adjustments do not arise if a cash
flow hedge or the accounting for the time value of an option (or the forward element of a forward contract or the foreign
currency basis spread of a financial instrument) result in amounts that are removed from the cash flow hedge reserve or a
separate component of net assets/equity, respectively, and included directly in the initial cost or other carrying amount of
an asset or a liability. These amounts are directly transferred to assets or liabilities.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

138. In the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies, management makes various judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, that can significantly affect the amounts recognized in the financial statements. For example,
management makes judgments in determining:

e  Whether assets are investment properties;
e Whether agreements for the provision of goods and/or services that involve the use of dedicated assets are leases;

e  Whether, in substance, particular sales of goods are financing arrangements and therefore do not give rise to revenue;
and

e Whether the substance of the relationship between the reporting entity and other entities indicates that these other
entities are controlled by the reporting entity; and,

° Whether the contractual terms of a financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Effective Date

153L. Paragraphs 7, 79, 82, 101, 102 and 138 were amended and paragraphs 125A, 125B and 125C were added by IPSAS 41,

issued in August 2018. An entity shall apply these amendments for annual financial statements covering periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2022. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies the amendments for a period beginning
before January 1, 2022 it shall disclose that fact and apply IPSAS 41 at the same time.

Amendments to IPSAS 4, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
Paragraphs 3, 4, 5, 31 and 61 are amended and paragraph 71D is added. New text is underlined and deleted text is struck through.

Scope

3. An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under the accrual basis of accounting shall apply this
Standard:
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(a) In accounting for transactions and balances in foreign currencies, except for those derivative transactions
and balances that are within the scope of IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments HPSAS29Financiat-dnstruments:
R .. A :
(b) In translating the financial performance and financial position of foreign operations that are included in
the financial statements of the entity by consolidation, or by the equity method; and
() In translating an entity’s financial performance and financial position into a presentation currency.
4. IPSAS 41 IPSAS2%-applies to many foreign currency derivatives and, accordingly, these are excluded from the scope of

this Standard. However, those foreign currency derivatives that are not within the scope of IPSAS 41 HPSAS29-(e.g., some
foreign currency derivatives that are embedded in other contracts) are within the scope of this Standard. In addition, this
Standard applies when an entity translates amounts relating to derivatives from its functional currency to its presentation
currency.

5. This Standard does not apply to hedge accounting for foreign currency items, including the hedging of a net investment in
a foreign operation. IPSAS 41 HPSAS29%-applies to hedge accounting.

Recognition of Exchange Differences

31. As noted in paragraph 5, this Standard does not deal with hedge accounting for foreign currency items. Guidance in
relation to hedge accounting, including the criteria for when to use hedge accounting, can be found in IPSAS 41 IPSAS29.

Disclosure

61. The entity shall disclose:

(a)

(b)

The amount of exchange differences recognized in surplus or deficit, except for those arising on financial
instruments measured at fair value through surplus or deficit in accordance with IPSAS 41 H*SAS29; and

Net exchange differences classified in a separate component of net assets/equity, and a reconciliation of the
amount of such exchange differences at the beginning and end of the period.

Effective Date

71D. Paragraphs 3,4, 5, 31 and 61 were amended by IPSAS 41, issued in August 2018. An entity shall apply these amendments
for annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. Earlier application is encouraged.

If an entity applies the amendments for a period beginning before January 1, 2022 it shall disclose that fact and apply
IPSAS 41 at the same time.

Amendments to IPSAS 9, Revenue from Exchange Transactions

Paragraph 10 is amended and paragraph 41D is added. New text is underlined and deleted text is struck through.

Scope
10. This Standard does not deal with revenues arising from:
(a) Lease agreements (see IPSAS 13, Leases);
(b) Dividends or similar distributions arising from investments that are accounted for under the equity method (see

IPSAS 36, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures);
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(¢) Gains from the sale of property, plant, and equipment (which are dealt with in IPSAS 17, Property, Plant, and
Equipment);

(d) Insurance contracts within the scope of the relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with
insurance contracts;

(e) Changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities or their disposal (see IPSAS 41, Financial
Instruments gutdanee—on—therecognition—and-meastrement-of-finanetal-instruments—ean—-be—found—nIPSA 9
r: il ] R . Y ):

(f)  Changes in the value of other current assets;

(g) Initial recognition, and from changes in the fair value of biological assets related to agricultural activity (see
IPSAS 27, Agriculture);

(h) Initial recognition of agricultural produce (see IPSAS 27); and

(1)  The extraction of mineral ores.

Effective Date

41D. Paragraph 10 was amended by IPSAS 41, issued in August 2018. An entity shall apply this amendment for annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies
the amendment for a period beginning before January 1., 2022 it shall disclose that fact and apply IPSAS 41 at the same

time.

Implementation Guidance

This guidance accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 9.

Rendering of Services

Financial Service Fees

IG12.

The recognition of revenue for financial service fees depends on (a) the purposes for which the fees are assessed, and (b)
the basis of accounting for any associated financial instrument. The description of fees for financial services may not be
indicative of the nature and substance of the services provided. Therefore, it is necessary to distinguish between fees that
are an integral part of the effective yield of a financial instrument, fees that are earned as services are provided, and fees
that are earned on the execution of a significant act.

(a)

Fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument

Such fees are generally treated as an adjustment to the effective interest rate. However, when the financial
instrument is measured at fair value with the change in fair value recognized in surplus or deficit, the fees are
recognized as revenue when the instrument is initially recognized.

(1)  Origination fees received by the entity relating to the creation or acquisition of a financial asset other than
one that under IPSAS 41 1PSAS29 is classified as a financial asset “at fair value through surplus or deficit”

Such fees may include compensation for activities such as evaluating the borrower’s financial condition,
evaluating and recording guarantees, collateral and other security arrangements, negotiating the terms of the
instrument, preparing and processing documents and closing the transaction. These fees are an integral part
of generating an involvement with the resulting financial instrument and, together with the related transaction
costs (as defined in IPSAS 41 HPSAS29), are deferred and recognized as an adjustment to the effective
interest rate.
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Commitment fees received by the entity to originate a loan when the loan commitment is outside the scope
of IPSAS 41 {PSAS29

If it is probable that the entity will enter into a specific lending arrangement and the loan commitment is not
within the scope of IPSAS 41 HPSAS29, the commitment fee received is regarded as compensation for an
ongoing involvement with the acquisition of a financial instrument and, together with the related transaction
costs (as defined in IPSAS 41 HPSAS29), is deferred and recognized as an adjustment to the effective interest
rate. If the commitment expires without the entity making the loan, the fee is recognized as revenue on
expiry. Loan commitments that are within the scope of IPSAS 41 HPSAS29 are accounted for as derivatives
and measured at fair value.

Origination fees received on issuing financial liabilities measured at amortized cost

These fees are an integral part of generating an involvement with a financial liability. When a financial liability
is not classified as “at fair value through surplus or deficit,” the origination fees received are included, with
the related transaction costs (as defined in IPSAS 41 HPSAS29) incurred, in the initial carrying amount of
the financial liability and recognized as an adjustment to the effective interest rate. An entity distinguishes
fees and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate for the financial liability from origination
fees and transaction costs relating to the right to provide services, such as investment management services.

(b) Fees earned as services are provided

(@)

(i)

(iii)

Fees charged for servicing a loan
Fees charged by an entity for servicing a loan are recognized as revenue as the services are provided.
Commitment fees to originate a loan when the loan commitment is outside the scope of IPSAS 41 tPSAS29

Ifit is unlikely that a specific lending arrangement will be entered into and the loan commitment is outside the
scope of IPSAS 41 HPSAS29, the commitment fee is recognized as revenue on a time proportion basis over
the commitment period. Loan commitments that are within the scope of IPSAS 41 HPSAS29 are accounted
for as derivatives and measured at fair value.

Investment management fees
Fees charged for managing investments are recognized as revenue as the services are provided.

Incremental costs that are directly attributable to securing an investment management contract are recognized
as an asset if they can be identified separately and measured reliably and if it is probable that they will be
recovered. As in [IPSAS 41 HPSAS29, an incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the
entity had not secured the investment management contract. The asset represents the entity’s contractual
right to benefit from providing investment management services, and is amortized as the entity recognizes
the related revenue. If the entity has a portfolio of investment management contracts, it may assess their
recoverability on a portfolio basis.

Some financial services contracts involve both the origination of one or more financial instruments and the
provision of investment management services. An example is a long-term monthly saving contract linked
to the management of a pool of equity securities. The provider of the contract distinguishes the transaction
costs relating to the origination of the financial instrument from the costs of securing the right to provide
investment management services.

(c) Fees that are earned on the execution of a significant act

The fees are recognized as revenue when the significant act has been completed, as in the examples below.

(@)

Commission on the allotment of shares to a client

The commission is recognized as revenue when the shares have been allotted.

(i1) Placement fees for arranging a loan between a borrower and an investor

The fee is recognized as revenue when the loan has been arranged.

(iii) Loan syndication fees
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A syndication fee received by an entity that arranges a loan and retains no part of the loan package for itself
(or retains a part at the same effective interest rate for comparable risk as other participants) is compensation
for the service of syndication. Such a fee is recognized as revenue when the syndication has been completed.

Amendments to IPSAS 12, Inventories

Paragraph 2 is amended and paragraph 51E is added. New text is underlined and deleted text is struck through.

Scope

An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under the accrual basis of accounting shall apply this
Standard in accounting for all inventories except:

(a) Work-in-progress arising under construction contracts, including directly related service contracts (see
IPSAS 11, Construction Contracts);

(b) Financial instruments (see IPSAS 28, Financial Instruments: Presentation and IPSAS 41, Financial
Instruments, BPSAS 29 Financial-Instruments: Recognition-and-Measurement);

(c) Biological assets related to agricultural activity and agricultural produce at the point of harvest (see IPSAS 27,
Agriculture); and

(d) Work-in-progress of services to be provided for no or nominal consideration directly in return from the
recipients.

Effective Date

S1E.

Paragraph 2 was amended by IPSAS 41, issued in August 2018. An entity shall apply this amendment for annual financial

statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies

the amendment for a period beginning before January 1, 2022 it shall disclose that fact and apply IPSAS 41 at the same

time.

Amendments to IPSAS 14, Events After the Reporting Date

Paragraph 11 is amended and paragraph 32F is added. New text is underlined and deleted text is struck through.

Adjusting Events after the Reporting Date

11.

The following are examples of adjusting events after the reporting date that require an entity to adjust the amounts
recognized in its financial statements, or to recognize items that were not previously recognized:

(2)

(b)

The settlement after the reporting date of a court case that confirms that the entity had a present obligation at the
reporting date. The entity adjusts any previously recognized provision related to this court case in accordance with
IPSAS 19, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, or recognizes a new provision. The entity
does not merely disclose a contingent liability because the settlement provides additional evidence that would be
considered in accordance with paragraph 24 in IPSAS 19.

The receipt of information after the reporting date indicating that an asset was impaired at the reporting date, or that
the amount of a previously recognized impairment loss for that asset needs to be adjusted. For example:
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(i)  The bankruptcy of a debtor that oceurs after the reportlng date usually conﬁrms that the debtor was credlt-
impaired at the end ates d ] at-the g

ﬁeeds—te-adjus-t—ﬂi&eaﬁ“y‘mg—a-mﬁtmf of the eportlng perlod feeewab-}&aeeﬁtrnf and

(i1)  The sale of inventories after the reporting date may give evidence about their net realizable value at the
reporting date;

(¢)  The determination after the reporting date of the cost of assets purchased, or the proceeds from assets sold, before
the reporting date;

(d) The determination after the reporting date of the amount of revenue collected during the reporting period to be
shared with another government under a revenue-sharing agreement in place during the reporting period;

(e) The determination after the reporting date of performance bonus payments to be made to staff if the entity had a
present legal or constructive obligation at the reporting date to make such payments as a result of events before that
date; and

(f)  The discovery of fraud or errors that show that the financial statements were incorrect.

Effective Date

32F. Paragraph 11 was amended by IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments issued in August 2018. An entity shall apply this
amendment for annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. Earlier application is

encouraged. If an entity applies the amendment for a period beginning before January 1. 2022 it shall disclose that fact and
apply IPSAS 41 at the same time.

Amendments to IPSAS 19, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Paragraph 4 is amended and paragraph 111H is added. New text is underlined and deleted text is struck through.

Scope

4. This Standard does not apply to financial instruments (including guarantees) that are within the scope of IPSAS 41
Financial Instruments, PSAS29, Financial-nstruments:Recognition-andMeasurement.

Effective Date

111H. Paragraph 4 was amended by IPSAS 41, issued in August 2018. An entity shall apply this amendment for annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies

the amendment for a period beginning before January 1, 2022 it shall disclose that fact and apply IPSAS 41 at the same
time.

Implementation Guidance

This guidance accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 19.

A Single Guarantee
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Amendments to IPSAS 21, Impairment of Non-Cash-Generating Assets

Paragraphs 2, 9 and 13 are amended and paragraph 821 is added. New text is underlined and deleted text is struck through.

Scope
2. An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under the accrual basis of accounting shall apply this
Standard in accounting for impairment of non-cash-generating assets, except:
(a) Inventories (see IPSAS 12, Inventories);
(b)  Assets arising from construction contracts (see IPSAS 11, Construction Contracts);
(c) Financial assets that are included in the scope of IPSAS 41. Financial Instruments, H"SAS29Financial
Instruments:Recognitionand-Measurement,
(d) Investment property that is measured using the fair value model (see IPSAS 16, Investment Property);
(e) [Deleted]
(f) [Deleted]
(g) Other assets in respect of which accounting requirements for impairment are included in another IPSAS.
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9. This Standard does not apply to financial assets that are included in the scope of IPSAS 28, Financial Instruments:
Presentation. Impairment of these assets is dealt with in IPSAS 41 HPSAS29.

13. Investments in:
(a) Controlled entities, as defined in IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial Statements;
(b)  Associates, as defined in IPSAS 36, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures; and
(¢) Joint arrangements, as defined in IPSAS 37, Joint Arrangements,

are financial assets that are excluded from the scope of IPSAS 41 HPSAS29. Where such investments are classified as
cash-generating assets, they are dealt with under IPSAS 26. Where these assets are non-cash-generating assets, they are
dealt with under this Standard.

Effective Date

821. Paragraphs 2. 9 and 13 were amended by IPSAS 41, issued in August 2018. An entity shall apply these amendments for

annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. Earlier application is encouraged. If an
entity applies the amendments for a period beginning before January 1, 2022 it shall disclose that fact and apply IPSAS 41

at the same time.

Amendments to IPSAS 23, Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers)

Paragraphs 43 and 105A are amended and paragraph 124F is added. New text is underlined and deleted text is struck through.

Measurement of Assets on Initial Recognition

43, Consistent with IPSAS 12, Inventories, IPSAS 16, Investment Property, and IPSAS 17, and IPSAS 41, Financial
Instruments, assets acquired through non-exchange transactions are measured at their fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Concessionary Loans

105A. Concessionary loans are loans received by an entity at below market terms. The portion of the loan that is repayable,
along with any interest payments, is an exchange transaction and is accounted for in accordance with IPSAS 41 HPSAS29;
Financial-dnstruments-—Recognition-andMeasurement. An entity considers whether any difference between the transaction
price (loan proceeds) and the fair value of the loan on initial recognition (see IPSAS 41-HPSAS29) is non-exchange
revenue that should be accounted for in accordance with this Standard.

Effective Date

124F. _ Paragraphs 43. 105A was amended by IPSAS 41, issued in August 2018. An entity shall apply this amendment for annual
financial statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity

applies the amendment for a period beginning before January 1, 2022 it shall disclose that fact and apply IPSAS 41 at the
same time.
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Implementation Guidance

This guidance accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 23.

Concessionary Loans (paragraphs 1054 to 105B)

IG54.  An entity receives CU6 million funding from a multi-lateral development agency to build 10 schools over the next 5 years.
The funding is provided on the following conditions:

Analysis

CU1 million of the funding need not be repaid, provided that the schools are built.
CUS million of the funding is to be repaid as follows:

Year 1: no capital to be repaid

Year 2: 10% of the capital to be repaid

Year 3: 20% of the capital to be repaid

Year 4: 30% of the capital to be repaid

Year 5: 40% of the capital to be repaid

Interest is charged at 5% per annum over the period of the loan (assume interest is paid annually in arrears). The
market rate of interest for a similar loan is 10%.

To the extent that schools have not been built, the funding provided should be returned to the donor (assume that the
donor has effective monitoring systems in place and has a past history of requiring any unspent funds to be returned).

The entity built the following schools over the period of the loan:
Year 1: 1 school completed

Year 2: 3 schools completed

Year 3: 5 schools completed

Year 4: 10 schools completed

The entity has effectively received a grant of CU1 million and a loan of CU5 million (Note: An entity would consider whether the
substance of the CU1 million is a contribution from owners or revenue; assume for purposes of this example that the CU1 million
is revenue). It has also received an additional grant of CU784,550 (which is the difference between the proceeds of the loan of CUS
million and the present value of the contractual cash flows of the loan, discounted using the market related rate of interest of 10%).

The grant of CU1 million + CU784,550 is accounted for in accordance with this Standard and, the loan with its related contractual
interest and capital payments, in accordance with IPSAS 41 HPSAS29.

1. On initial recognition, the entity will recognize the following:
Dr Bank CU6,000,000
Cr Loan CU4,215,450
Cr Liability CU1,784,550
2. Year 1: the entity will recognize the following:
Dr Liability CU178,455
Cr Non-exchange revenue CU178,455

(1/10 of the schools built X CU1,784,550)

(Note: The journal entries for the repayment of interest and capital and interest accruals, have not been reflected in this example as it is intended to illustrate
the recognition of revenue arising from concessionary loans. Comprehensive examples are included in the Illustrative Examples to IPSAS 41 IPSAS29).

3. Year 2: the entity will recognize the following (assuming that the entity subsequently measures the concessionary loan at amortized cost):
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Dr Liability CU356,910
Cr Non-exchange revenue CU356,910
3/10 schools built X CU1,784,500 — CU178,455 already recognized)

4. Year 3: the entity will recognize the following:
Dr Liability CU356,910
Cr Non-exchange revenue CU356,910

(5/10 schools built X CU1,784,550 — CU535,365 already recognized)

5. Year 4: the entity will recognize the following:
Dr Liability CU892,275
Cr Non-exchange revenue CU892,275

(All schools built, CU1,784,550 — CU892,275)

If the concessionary loan was granted with no conditions, the entity would recognize the following on initial recognition:

Dr Bank CU6,000,000
Cr Loan CU4,215,450
Cr Non-exchange revenue CU1,784,550

Interaction Between Measurement Requirements of IPSAS 23 and IPSAS 41

Background

IG55.  An individual donates shares in listed Entity X to public sector Entity A on January 1, 20X8. At that date, the shares in
Entity X have a fair value of CU1,000.000. At December 31, 20X8, the fair value of the shares is CU900.,000. As part
of the arrangement, Entity A incurs the transfer duty to have the shares transferred into its name. These costs amount to
CU10,000.

1G56. Listed Entity X provides telecommunications infrastructure and related services to the public. During 20X9. new

technology was introduced into the telecommunications industry, making the infrastructure and equipment used by Entity
X almost obsolete. This resulted in a permanent decline in the value of listed Entity X. The value of the impairment loss as
at December 31, 20X9 is CU700.000. Entity A measures investments in shares at fair value through net assets/equity when

the shares are not held for trading. Assume that the arrangement is a contractual arrangement, no present obligations arise
from the donation and that the entity’s reporting period ends on December 31, 20X8.

Analysis

IG57.  As Entity A received the shares as a donation, it uses IPSAS 23 to initially recognize the shares acquired and the related

non-exchange revenue. However, because Entity A has acquired a financial asset, it considers the initial measurement
requirements of IPSAS 23 and IPSAS 41.

IG58. TPSAS 23 prescribes that assets acquired as part of a non-exchange revenue transaction are initially measured at fair value,
while IPSAS 41 prescribes that financial assets are initially measured at fair value and, depending on their classification,

transaction costs may or may not be included. As the entity has a policy of measuring investments in shares at fair value
through net assets/equity, the transaction costs of CU10,000 are added to the value of the shares of CU1,000,000 on initial
measurement.

1G59.  The subsequent measurement and derecognition of the shares is addressed in IPSAS 41. The entity measures investments in
shares at fair value through net assets/equity which means that the shares are measured at a fair value with any subsequent

changes in fair value recognized in net assets/equity. Dividends are however recognized in surplus or deficit.

The journal entries at initial acquisition and at the reporting dates are as follows:

1. Acquisition of shares through donation

Dr Investment in Entity X CU1,010,000 R
Cr Non-exchange revenue CU1.000.000
Cr Bank (Transfer costs paid) _ CU10.000
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2. Subsequent measurement at December 31, 20X8
Dr Net assets/equity (fair value adjustment of investment) CU110,000 _
Cr Investment in Entity X CU110,000

3. Subsequent measurement at December 31, 20X9

Dr Impairment loss (net assets/equity) CU700,000 _
Cr Investment in Entity X CU700.,000

Amendments to IPSAS 26, Impairment of Cash Generating Assets
Paragraphs 2, 9 and 12 are amended and paragraph 126K is added. New text is underlined and deleted text is struck through.

Scope

2. An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under the accrual basis of accounting shall apply this
Standard in accounting for the impairment of cash-generating assets, except for:

(a) Inventories (see IPSAS 12, Inventories);
(b)  Assets arising from construction contracts (see IPSAS 11, Construction Contracts);

(c) Financial assets that are within the scope of IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments H'SAS 295 FinanciaHnstruments:
R .. AF .

(d)

9. This Standard does not apply to any financial assets that are included in the scope of IPSAS 28, Financial Instruments:
Presentation. Impairment of these assets is dealt with in IPSAS 41 HPSAS29.

12. Investments in:
(a)  Controlled entities, as defined in IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial Statements,
(b)  Associates, as defined in IPSAS 36, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures; and
(c) Joint arrangements, as defined in IPSAS 37, Joint Arrangements,

are financial assets that are excluded from the scope of IPSAS 41 HPSAS29. Where such investments are in the nature of
cash-generating assets, they are dealt with under this Standard. Where these assets are in the nature of non-cash-generating
assets, they are dealt with under IPSAS 21.

Effective Date

126K. Paragraphs 2, 9 and 12 were amended by IPSAS 41, issued in August 2018. An entity shall apply these amendments for
annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. Earlier application is encouraged. If an
entity applies the amendments for a period beginning before January 1, 2022 it shall disclose that fact and apply IPSAS 41

at the same time.

Amendments to IPSAS 28, Financial Instruments: Presentation

Paragraphs 2, 3,4, 9, 10, 14, 28, 36, 47, 48, AG2 and AGS55 are amended, paragraph AG63 was deleted and paragraphs 60F, AG63A,
AG63B, AG63C, AG63D, AG63E and AG63F were added. New text is underlined and deleted text is struck through.
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Objective

2. The principles in this Standard complement the principles for recognizing and measuring financial assets and financial

liabilities in IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments, 29 Financiatinstruments:Recognitionand Measurenrent, and for disclosing

information about them in IPSAS 30, Financial Instruments: Disclosures.

Scope

3. An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under the accrual basis of accounting shall apply this
Standard to all types of financial instruments except:

(a) Those interests in controlled entities, associates or joint ventures that are accounted for in accordance with
IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial Statements, IPSAS 34, Separate Financial Statements, IPSAS 36, Investments
in Associates and Joint Ventures. However, in some cases, IPSAS 34, IPSAS 35, or IPSAS 36 require or permits
an entity to account for an interest in a controlled entity, associate, or joint venture using IPSAS 41 HSAS29;
in those cases, entities shall apply the requirements of this Standard. Entities shall also apply this Standard to
all derivatives linked to interests in controlled entities, associates, or joint ventures.

(b) Employers’ rights and obligations under employee benefit plans, to which IPSAS 39, Employee Benefits
applies.

(c)  Obligations arising from insurance contracts. However, this Standard applies to:

(i)  Derivatives that are embedded in insurance contracts if IPSAS 41 H*SAS29-requires the entity to
account for them separately; and

(ii))  Financial guarantee contracts, if the issuer applies IPSAS 41 H*SAS29-in recognizing and measuring
the contracts, but shall apply the relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with
insurance contracts if the issuer elects to apply that standard in recognizing and measuring them.

In addition to (i) and (ii) above, an entity may apply this Standard to insurance contracts which involve the
transfer of financial risk.

(d) Financial instruments that are within the scope of the international or national accounting standard dealing
with insurance contracts because they contain a discretionary participation feature. The issuer of these
instruments is exempt from applying to these features paragraphs 13—-37 and AG49-AG60 of this Standard
regarding the distinction between financial liabilities and equity instruments. However, these instruments are
subject to all other requirements of this Standard. Furthermore, this Standard applies to derivatives that are
embedded in these instruments (see IPSAS 41 HSAS29).

(e) Financial instruments, contracts and obligations under share-based payment transactions to which the
relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with share-based payments applies, except
for:

1) Contracts within the scope of paragraphs 4-6 of this Standard, to which this Standard applies; or

(ii))  Paragraphs 38 and 39 of this Standard, which shall be applied to treasury shares purchased, sold,
issued, or canceled in connection with employee share option plans, employee share purchase plans,
and all other share-based payment arrangements.

4. This Standard shall be applied to those contracts to buy or sell a non-financial item that can be settled net in cash or
another financial instrument, or by exchanging financial instruments, as if the contracts were financial instruments,
with the exception of contracts that were entered into and continue to be held for the purpose of the receipt or delivery
of a non-financial item in accordance with the entity’s expected purchase, sale, or usage requirements. However. this

Standard shall be applied to those contracts that an entity designates as measured at fair value through surplus or
deficit in accordance with paragraph 6 of IPSAS 41.

IPSAS 41 APPENDIX D 1364



Definitions

10.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

A financial liability is any liability that is:

To exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are

A contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is:

A non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to deliver a variable number of the entity’s

(a) A contractual obligation:
(1) To deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or
(i)
potentially unfavorable to the entity; or
(b)
(@)
own equity instruments; or
(i)

A derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments. For this purpose,
rights. options or warrants to acquire a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments for a fixed
amount of any currency are equity instruments if the entity offers the rights, options or warrants pro

rata to all of its existing owners of the same class of its own non-derivative equity instruments. Also,
for these purposes the entity’s own equity instruments do not include puttable financial instruments

classified as equity instruments in accordance with paragraphs 15 and 16, instruments that impose on
the entity an obligation to deliver to another party a pro rata share of the net assets of the entity only
on liquidation and are classified as equity instruments in accordance with paragraphs 17 and 18, or
instruments that are contracts for the future receipt or delivery of the entity’s own equity instruments.

As an exception. an instrument that meets the definition of a financial liability is classified as an equity instrument
if it has all the features and meets the conditions in paragraphs 15 and 16 or paragraphs 17 and 18.

The following terms are defined in paragraph 9 of IPSAS 41 or paragraph 10 of IPSAS 29, Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement, and are used in this Standard with the meaning specified in those that Standards.

Amortized cost of a financial asset or financial liability;

o  Avattable-for-sate financtat-assets:
e  Derecognition Perecognizing;

° Derivative;

e  Effective interest method;

e  Financial guarantee contract;

e  Financial assetorfinanciat liability at fair value through surplus or deficit;

° Firm commitment;

e  Forecast transaction;

e  Hedge effectiveness;

e  Hedged item;

e  Hedging instrument;

o —to=

o  Fboansandrecetvables;

e  Held for trading;

e  Regular way purchase or sale; and

° Transaction costs.
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When an issuer applies the definitions in paragraph 9 to determine whether a financial instrument is an equity instrument
rather than a financial liability, the instrument is an equity instrument if, and only if, both conditions (a) and (b) below are
met.

(a)  The instrument includes no contractual obligation:
(i)  To deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or

(i1)  To exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially
unfavorable to the issuer.

(b) If the instrument will or may be settled in the issuer’s own equity instruments, it is:

(i)  Anon-derivative that includes no contractual obligation for the issuer to deliver a variable number of its own
equity instruments; or

(i)  Aderivative that will be settled only by the issuer exchanging a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset
for a fixed number of its own equity instruments. For this purpose, rights, options or warrants to acquire a
fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments for a fixed amount of any currency are equity instruments
if the entity offers the rights, options or warrants pro rata to all of its existing owners of the same class of its
own non-derivative equity instruments. Also, for these purposes the issuer’s own equity instruments do not
include instruments that have all the features and meet the conditions described in paragraphs 15 and 16 or
paragraphs 17 and 18, or instruments that are contracts for the future receipt or delivery of the issuer’s own
equity instruments.

A contractual obligation, including one arising from a derivative financial instrument, that will or may result in the future
receipt or delivery of the issuer’s own equity instruments, but does not meet conditions (a) and (b) above, is not an
equity instrument. As an exception, an instrument that meets the definition of a financial liability is classified as an equity
instrument if it has all the features and meets the conditions in paragraph 15 and 16 or paragraphs 17 and 18.

With the exception of the circumstances described in paragraphs 15 and 16 or paragraphs 17 and 18, a contract that contains
an obligation for an entity to purchase its own equity instruments for cash or another financial asset gives rise to a financial
liability for the present value of the redemption amount (e.g., for the present value of the forward repurchase price, option
exercise price, or other redemption amount). This is the case even if the contract itself is an equity instrument. One example
is an entity’s obligation under a forward contract to purchase its own equity instruments for cash. Whenthe The financial
liability is recognized initially at the present value of the redemption amount, and tnderHPSAS29;its-fair-value (the present
value-of the redemptionamount) is reclassified from net assets/equity. Subsequently, the financial liability is measured in
accordance with IPSAS 41 HPSAS29. If the contract expires without delivery, the carrying amount of the financial liability
is reclassified to net assets/equity. An entity’s contractual obligation to purchase its own equity instruments gives rise to a
financial liability for the present value of the redemption amount even if the obligation to purchase is conditional on the
counterparty exercising a right to redeem (e.g., a written put option that gives the counterparty the right to sell an entity’s
own equity instruments to the entity for a fixed price).

IPSAS 41 HPSAS29 deals with the measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities. Equity instruments evidence
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Therefore, when the initial carrying amount
of a compound financial instrument is allocated into its components, the net assets/equity component is assigned the
residual amount after deducting from the fair value of the instrument as a whole the amount separately determined for
the liability component. The value of any derivative features (such as a call option) embedded in the compound financial
instrument is included in the liability component unless it forms part of the component of net assets/equity (such as an
equity conversion option). The sum of the carrying amounts assigned to the liability and the net assets/equity components
on initial recognition is always equal to the fair value that would be ascribed to the instrument as a whole. No gain or loss
arises from initially recognizing the components of the instrument separately.

Offsetting a Financial Asset and a Financial Liability (see also paragraphs AG63A—AG63F and AG64)

47.

A financial asset and a financial liability shall be offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial
position when, and only when, an entity:
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(a)  Currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts; and
(b) Intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

In accounting for a transfer of a financial asset that does not qualify for derecognition, the entity shall not offset the
transferred asset and the associated liability (see IPSAS 41 HPSAS29, paragraph 33 38).

48. This Standard requires the presentation of financial assets and financial liabilities on a net basis when doing so reflects an
entity’s expected future cash flows from settling two or more separate financial instruments. When an entity has the right
to receive or pay a single net amount and intends to do so, it has, in effect, only a single financial asset or financial liability.
In other circumstances, financial assets and financial liabilities are presented separately from each other consistently
with their characteristics as resources or obligations of the entity. An entity shall disclose the information required in

paragraphs 17B—17E in IPSAS 30 for recognized financial instruments that are within the scope of paragraph 17A of
IPSAS 30.

Effective Date

60F. Paragraphs 2, 3. 4, 9, 10, 14, 28, 36, 47, 48, AG2 and AG55 were amended, paragraph AG63 was deleted and
paragraphs AG63A, AG63B, AG63C, AG63D, AG63E and AG63F were added by IPSAS 41, issued in August 2018. An
entity shall apply these amendments for annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1,
2022. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies the amendments for a period beginning before January 1, 2022
it shall disclose that fact and apply IPSAS 41 at the same time.

Application Guidance
This Appendix is an integral part of IPSAS 28.

AG2. The Standard does not deal with the recognition or measurement of financial instruments. Requirements about the
recognition and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are set out in IPSAS 41 HPSAS29.

Compound Financial Instruments (paragraphs 33—37)

AGS55. Paragraph 33 applies only to issuers of non-derivative compound financial instruments. Paragraph 33 does not deal with
compound financial instruments from the perspective of holders. IPSAS 41 HPSAS-29-deals with the classification and
measurement separation of financial assets that are embedded-derivativesfrom-theperspective-of-holders-of compound
financial instruments from the holder’s perspective tha

Offsetting a Financial Asset and a Financial Liability (paragraphs 47-55)
AG63. To-offsetafinanctal-asset-and-a—financtat-tabitity,anentity- must-havea—c

Criterion that an Entity ‘Currently has a Legally Enforceable Right to Set Off the Recognized Amounts’ (paragraph 47(a))
AGO63A. A right of set-off may be currently available or it may be contingent on a future event (for example, the right may be

triggered or exercisable only on the occurrence of some future event, such as the default, insolvency or bankruptcy of one

of the counterparties). Even if the right of set-off is not contingent on a future event, it may only be legally enforceable in

the normal course of operations, or in the event of default, or in the event of insolvency or bankruptcy, of one or all of the
counterparties.
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AG63B. To meet the criterion in paragraph 47(a), an entity must currently have a legally enforceable right of set-off. This means
that the right of set-off:

(a)  Must not be contingent on a future event; and

(b)  Must be legally enforceable in all of the following circumstances:

(i)  The normal course of operations;

(ii))  The event of default; and

(i)  The event of insolvency or bankruptcy

of the entity and all of the counterparties.

AG63C. The nature and extent of the right of set-off, including any conditions attached to its exercise and whether it would remain
in the event of default or insolvency or bankruptcy, may vary from one legal jurisdiction to another. Consequently, it cannot
be assumed that the right of set-off is automatically available outside of the normal course of operations. For example, the
bankruptcy or insolvency laws of a jurisdiction may prohibit, or restrict, the right of set-off in the event of bankruptcy or
insolvency in some circumstances.

AG63D. The laws applicable to the relationships between the parties (for example, contractual provisions, the laws governing the
contract, or the default, insolvency or bankruptcy laws applicable to the parties) need to be considered to ascertain whether
the right of set-off is enforceable in the normal course of operations, in an event of default, and in the event of insolvency
or bankruptcy, of the entity and all of the counterparties (as specified in paragraph AG63B(b)).

Criterion that an Entity ‘Intends Either to Settle on a Net Basis, or to Realize the Asset and Settle the Liability Simultaneously’
(paragraph 47(b))

AGO63E. To meet the criterion in paragraph 47(b) an entity must intend either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously. Although the entity may have a right to settle net, it may still realize the asset and settle the
liability separately.

AG63F. If an entity can settle amounts in a manner such that the outcome is, in effect, equivalent to net settlement, the entity will
meet the net settlement criterion in paragraph 47(b). This will occur if, and only if, the gross settlement mechanism has

features that eliminate or result in insignificant credit and liquidity risk, and that will process receivables and payables in
a single settlement process or cycle. For example, a gross settlement system that has all of the following characteristics
would meet the net settlement criterion in paragraph 47(b):

(a) Financial assets and financial liabilities eligible for set-off are submitted at the same point in time for processing;

(b)  Once the financial assets and financial liabilities are submitted for processing, the parties are committed to fulfil the
settlement obligation;

(¢)  There is no potential for the cash flows arising from the assets and liabilities to change once they have been submitted
for processing (unless the processing fails—see (d) below);

(d)  Assets and liabilities that are collateralized with securities will be settled on a securities transfer or similar system (for
example, delivery versus payment), so that if the transfer of securities fails, the processing of the related receivable
or payable for which the securities are collateral will also fail (and vice versa);

(¢) Any transactions that fail, as outlined in (d), will be re-entered for processing until they are settled;

(f)  Settlement is carried out through the same settlement institution (for example, a settlement bank, a central bank or
a central securities depository); and

(g) An intraday credit facility is in place that will provide sufficient overdraft amounts to enable the processing of
payments at the settlement date for each of the parties, and it is virtually certain that the intraday credit facility will
be honored if called upon.

In Appendix B paragraphs B19 and B21 are amended to read as follows:
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Appendix B — Members’ Shares in Co-operative Entities and Similar Instruments

Before the Governing Charter is Amended

B19.

Members’ shares in excess of the prohibition against redemption are financial liabilities. The co-operative entity measures
this financial liability at fair value at initial recognition. Because these shares are redeemable on demand, the co-operative
entity measures determines the fair value of such financial liabilities in accordance with asrequired-by paragraph 68 of
IPSAS 41 52-of 1PSAS-29, which states: “The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature (e.g., a demand
deposit) is not less than the amount payable on demand ...” Accordingly, the co-operative entity classifies as financial
liabilities the maximum amount payable on demand under the redemption provisions.

After the Governing Charter is Amended

B21.

Following the change in its governing charter the co-operative entity can now be required to redeem a maximum of 25
percent of its outstanding shares or a maximum of 50,000 shares at CU20 each. Accordingly, on January 1, 20X3 the
co-operative entity classifies as financial liabilities an amount of CU1,000,000 being the maximum amount payable on
demand under the redemption provisions, as determined in accordance with paragraph 68 of IPSAS 41 52-of HPSAS28.
It therefore transfers on January 1, 20X3 from net assets/equity to financial liabilities an amount of CU200,000, leaving
CU2,000,000 classified as equity instruments. In this example the entity does not recognize a gain or loss on the transfer.

Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 28.

Scope
BCs.

IAS 32 excludes all insurance contracts from the scope of IAS 32, except for financial guarantee contracts where the issuer

applies IFRS 9. Financial Instruments YAS39Financiat-Instruments:—Recognition-and-Measurement in recognizing and

measuring such contracts. The scope of IPSAS 28 also excludes all insurance contracts, except that:

e  Financial guarantee contracts are to be treated as financial instruments unless an entity elects to treat such contracts
as insurance contracts in accordance with the relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with
insurance contracts; and

e  Contracts that are insurance contracts but involve the transfer of financial risk may be treated as financial instruments
in accordance with IPSAS 28, IPSAS29-and IPSAS 30 and IPSAS 41.

Ilustrative Examples

These examples accompany, but are not part of, IPSAS 28.

Accounting for Contracts on Equity Instruments of an Entity

IE1.

IES.

The following examples illustrate the application of paragraphs 13-32 and IPSAS 41 HPSAS29 to the accounting for
contracts on an entity’s own equity instruments. In these examples, monetary amounts are denominated in “currency units”
(CU).

Assume the same facts as in (a) except that settlement will be made by delivering a fixed amount of cash and receiving a
fixed number of Entity A’s shares. Similarly to (a) and (b) above, the price per share that Entity A will pay in one year is
fixed at CU104. Accordingly, Entity A has an obligation to pay CU104,000 in cash to Entity B (CU104 x 1,000) and Entity
B has an obligation to deliver 1,000 of Entity A’s outstanding shares to Entity A in one year. Entity A records the following
journal entries.
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February 1, 20X2

Dr Net assets/equity CU100,000
Cr Liability CU100,000

To record the obligation to deliver CU104,000 in one year at its present value of CU100,000 discounted using an appropriate interest rate (see
IPSAS 41 1PSAS29, paragraph AG115 AGS82).

December 31, 20X2
Dr Interest expense CU3,660
Cr Liability CU3,660
To accrue interest in accordance with the effective interest method on the liability for the share redemption amount.
January 31, 20X3
Dr Interest expense CU340
Cr Liability CU340

To accrue interest in accordance with the effective interest method on the liability for the share redemption amount.

Entity A delivers CU104,000 in cash to Entity B and Entity B delivers 1,000 of Entity A’s shares to Entity A.

Dr Liability CU104,000
Cr Cash CU104,000

To record the settlement of the obligation to redeem Entity A’s own shares for cash.

Amendments to IPSAS 29, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

Paragraphs 2, 9, 10, 80, 98, 99, 101, 102, 107, 108, 109, 111, 112, 113, AG128, AG157 and AG161 are amended, paragraphs 1, 3,
4,5,6,11-79, 88, AG1-AG126 and AG129 are deleted and paragraphs 125H and AG156A are added.

Objective

2. This Standard shall be applied by all entities to all types-of financial instruments within the scope of IPSAS 41,
Financial Instruments if, and to the extent that;exeept:

(a) IPSAS 41 permits the hedge accounting requirements of this Standard to be applied; and Fhese-interests-in

0 0 (€ £S5 4 0 a anei6 A H ata a ot 010 accoraa Al a a P

(b) The financial instrument is part of a hedging relationship that qualifies for hedge accounting in accordance

(i)
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(i)

®

(@

(h)

(b)
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4.
5.
6.
Definitions
9. The terms defined in IPSAS 28 and IPSAS 41 are used in this Standard with the meanings specified in paragraph 9 of
IPSAS 28 and paragraph 9 of IPSAS 41. IPSAS 28 and IPSAS 41 defines the following terms:
e  Amortized cost of a financial asset or financial liability;
e  Derecognition;
e  Derivative;
e  Effective interest method;
o  Effective interest rate;
e  Equity instrument;
° Financial asset;
° Financial instrument;
e  Financial liability;
° Firm commitment;
° Forecast transaction;
and provides guidance on applying those definitions.
10. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

Be.- C!"
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A hedging instrument is a designated derivative or (for a hedge of the risk of changes in foreign currency exchange
rates only) a designated non-derivative financial asset or non-derivative financial liability whose fair value or cash
flows are expected to offset changes in the fair value or cash flows of a designated hedged item (paragraphs 81-86
and Appendix A paragraphs AG127-AG130 elaborate on the definition of a hedging instrument).

A hedged item is an asset, liability, firm commitment, highly probable forecast transaction or net investment in a
foreign operation that (a) exposes the entity to risk of changes in fair value or future cash flows and (b) is designated
as being hedged (paragraphs 87-94 and Appendix A paragraphs AG131-AG141 elaborate on the definition of
hedged items).

Hedge effectiveness is the degree to which changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item that are
attributable to a hedged risk are offset by changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedging instrument (see
Appendix A paragraphs AG145 — AG156).

Terms defined in other IPSASs are used in this Standard with the same meaning as in those Standards, and are
reproduced in the Glossary of Defined Terms published separately.

Embedded-Perivati

11-79.

[Deleted]

Hedging

80.

88.

98.

If an entity applies IPSAS 41 and has not chosen as its accounting policy to continue to apply the hedge accounting
requirements of this Standard (see paragraph 177 of IPSAS 41). it shall apply the hedge accounting requirements
in paragraphs 113—155 of IPSAS 41. However. for a fair value hedge of the interest rate exposure of a portion of a
portfolio of financial assets or financial liabilities, an entity may. in accordance with paragraph 115 of IPSAS 41,
apply the hedge accounting requirements in this Standard instead of those in IPSAS 41. In that case the entity must
also apply the specific requirements for fair value hedge accounting for a portfolio hedge of interest rate risk (see
paragraphs 91, 100 and AG157-AG175). e-isadesignated-hedging relationship-betweenrahedging-ins .

A hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting under paragraphs 99-113 if, and only if, all of the following
conditions are met.

(a) At the inception of the hedge there is formal designation and documentation of the hedging relationship and
the entity’s risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. That documentation shall
include identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being
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hedged and how the entity will assess the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to
changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk.

The hedge is expected to be highly effective (see Appendix A paragraphs AG145-AG156) in achieving
offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk, consistently with the originally
documented risk management strategy for that particular hedging relationship.

For cash flow hedges, a forecast transaction that is the subject of the hedge must be highly probable and must
present an exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect surplus or deficit.

The effectiveness of the hedge can be reliably measured, i.e., the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item
that are attributable to the hedged risk and the fair value of the hedging instrument can be reliably measured

The hedge is assessed on an ongoing basis and determined actually to have been highly effective throughout
the financial reporting periods for which the hedge was designated.

Fair Value Hedges

99.

101.

102.

If a fair value hedge meets the conditions in paragraph 98 during the period, it shall be accounted for as follows:

(a)

(b)

The gain or loss from remeasuring the hedging instrument at fair value (for a derivative hedging instrument)
or the foreign currency component of its carrying amount measured in accordance with IPSAS 4 (for a non-
derivative hedging instrument) shall be recognized in surplus or deficit; and

The gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk shall adjust the carrying amount of the
hedged item and be recognized in surplus or deficit. This applies if the hedged item is otherwise measured at
cost. Recognition of the gain or loss attributable to the hedged risk in surplus or deficit applies if the hedged
item is a amavaitable-for=sale-financial asset measured at fair value through net assets/equity in accordance

with paragraph 41 of IPSAS 41.

If only particular risks attributable to a hedged item are hedged, recognized changes in the fair value of the hedged item
unrelated to the hedged risk are recognized as set out in paragraph 101 of IPSAS 41 64.

An entity shall discontinue prospectively the hedge accounting specified in paragraph 99 if:

(a)

(b)
(©)

The hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised. For ¢for this purpose, the replacement or
rollover of a hedging instrument into another hedging instrument is not an expiration or termination if such
replacement or rollover is part of the entity’s documented hedging strategy.); Additionally, for this purpose

there is not an expiration or termination of the hedging instrument if:

(i) As a consequence of laws or regulations or the introduction of laws or regulations, the parties to the
hedging instrument agree that one or more clearing counterparties replace their original counterparty
to become the new counterparty to each of the parties. For this purpose, a clearing counterparty
is a central counterparty (sometimes called a ‘clearing organization’ or ‘clearing agency’) or an
entity or entities. for example, a clearing member of a clearing organization or a client of a clearing
member of a clearing organization, that are acting as counterparty in order to effect clearing by a
central counterparty. However., when the parties to the hedging instrument replace their original
counterparties with different counterparties this paragraph shall apply only if each of those parties
effects clearing with the same central counterparty.

(ii) Other changes. if any. to the hedging instrument are limited to those that are necessary to effect such
a replacement of the counterparty. Such changes are limited to those that are consistent with the
terms that would be expected if the hedging instrument were originally cleared with the clearing
counterparty. These changes include changes in the collateral requirements, rights to offset receivables
and payables balances. and charges levied.

The hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting in paragraph 98; or

The entity revokes the designation.
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Cash Flow Hedges

107.

108.

109.

111.

112.

More specifically, a cash flow hedge is accounted for as follows:

(a)  The separate component of net assets/equity associated with the hedged item is adjusted to the lesser of the following
(in absolute amounts):

(i)  The cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument from inception of the hedge; and

(i1)  The cumulative change in fair value (present value) of the expected future cash flows on the hedged item
from inception of the hedge;

(b) Any remaining gain or loss on the hedging instrument or designated component of it (that is not an effective hedge)
is recognized in surplus or deficit; and

(¢) If an entity’s documented risk management strategy for a particular hedging relationship excludes from the
assessment of hedge effectiveness a specific component of the gain or loss or related cash flows on the hedging
instrument (see paragraphs 83, 84, and 98(a)), that excluded component of gain or loss is recognized in accordance
with paragraph 101 of IPSAS 41 64.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability,
the associated gains or losses that were recognized directly in net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 106
shall be reclassified into surplus or deficit as a reclassification adjustment in the same period or periods during
which the hedged forecast cash flows affect surplus or deficit (such as in the periods that interest revenue or interest
expense is recognized). However, if an entity expects that all or a portion of a loss recognized directly in net assets/
equity will not be recovered in one or more future periods, it shall reclassify into surplus or deficit as a reclassification
adjustment the amount that is not expected to be recovered.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial
liability, or a forecast transaction for a non-financial asset or non-financial liability becomes a firm commitment for
which fair value hedge accounting is applied, then the entity shall adopt (a) or (b) below:

(a) It reclassifies the associated gains and losses that were recognized directly in net assets/equity in accordance
with paragraph 106 into surplus or deficit as a reclassification adjustment in the same period or periods
during which the asset acquired or liability assumed affects surplus or deficit (such as in the periods that
depreciation or inventories are recognized as an expense). However, if an entity expects that all or a portion
of a loss recognized directly in net assets/equity will not be recovered in one or more future periods, it shall
reclassify from net assets/equity into surplus or deficit as a reclassification adjustment the amount that is not
expected to be recovered.

(b) It removes the associated gains and losses that were recognized directly in net assets/equity in accordance
with paragraph 106, and includes them in the initial cost or other carrying amount of the asset or liability.

For cash flow hedges other than those covered by paragraphs 108 and 109, amounts that had been recognized
directly in net assets/equity shall be recognized in surplus or deficit as a reclassification adjustment in the same
period or periods during which the hedged forecast cash flows affects surplus or deficit (e.g., when a forecast sale
occurs).

In any of the following circumstances an entity shall discontinue prospectively the hedge accounting specified in
paragraphs 106-111:

(a) The hedglng mstrument explres or is sold, termmated or exerc1sed (-fﬂr-t-lﬂs—pﬂu-rpese—t-he—rqa-l-aeement—ﬂr

: &y In thls case, the cumulatlve gain
or loss on the hedglng 1nstrument that remains recognlzed dlrectly in net assets/equity from the period when
the hedge was effective (see paragraph 106(a)) shall remain separately recognized in net assets/equity until the
forecast transaction occurs. When the transaction occurs, paragraph 108, 109, or 111 applies. For the purpose

of this subparagraph, the replacement or rollover of a hedging instrument into another hedging instrument
is not an expiration or termination if such replacement or rollover is part of the entity’s documented hedging

1377 IPSAS 41 APPENDIX D



(b)

(©)

(d)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

strategy. Additionally, for the purpose of this subparagraph there is not an expiration or termination of the
hedging instrument if:

(i) As a consequence of laws or regulations or the introduction of laws or regulations, the parties to the
hedging instrument agree that one or more clearing counterparties replace their original counterparty
to become the new counterparty to each of the parties. For this purpose, a clearing counterparty
is a central counterparty (sometimes called a ‘clearing organization’ or ‘clearing agency’) or an
entity or entities, for example, a clearing member of a clearing organization or a client of a clearing
member of a clearing organization, that are acting as counterparty in order to effect clearing by a
central counterparty. However, when the parties to the hedging instrument replace their original
counterparties with different counterparties this paragraph shall apply only if each of those parties
effects clearing with the same central counterparty.

(ii) Other changes, if any, to the hedging instrument are limited to those that are necessary to effect such
a replacement of the counterparty. Such changes are limited to those that are consistent with the
terms that would be expected if the hedging instrument were originally cleared with the clearing
counterparty. These changes include changes in the collateral requirements. rights to offset receivables
and payables balances, and charges levied.

The hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting in paragraph 98. In this case, the cumulative gain
or loss on the hedging instrument that remains recognized directly in net assets/equity from the period when
the hedge was effective (see paragraph 106(a)) shall remain separately recognized in net assets/equity until
the forecast transaction occurs. When the transaction occurs, paragraph 108, 109, or 111 applies.

The forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, in which case any related cumulative gain or loss on
the hedging instrument that has been recognized directly in net assets/equity from the period when the hedge
was effective (see paragraph 106(a)) shall be recognized in surplus or deficit as a reclassification adjustment.
A forecast transaction that is no longer highly probable (see paragraph 98(c)) may still be expected to occur.

The entity revokes the designation. For hedges of a forecast transaction, the cumulative gain or loss on the
hedging instrument that remains recognized directly in net assets/equity from the period when the hedge
was effective (see paragraph 106(a)) shall remain separately recognized in net assets/equity until the forecast
transaction occurs or is no longer expected to occur. When the transaction occurs, paragraph 108, 109, or 111
applies. If the transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognized
directly in net assets/equity shall be recognized in surplus or deficit as a reclassification adjustment.

Hedges of a Net Investment

113.

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including a hedge of a monetary item that is accounted for as part
of the net investment (see IPSAS 4), shall be accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges:

(a)

(b)

The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge (see
paragraph 98) shall be recognized directly in net assets/equity through the statement of changes in net assets/
equity (see IPSAS 1); and

The ineffective portion shall be recognized in surplus or deficit.

The gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge that has been recognized
directly in net assets/equity shall be recognized in surplus or deficit as a reclassification adjustment in accordance
with paragraphs 56-57 of IPSAS 4 on disposal of the foreign operation.

Effective Date

125H.

Paragraphs 2, 9, 10, 80, 98, 99, 101, 102, 107, 108, 109, 111, 112, 113, AG128, AG157 and AG161 were amended,

paragraph AG156A was added and paragraphs 1, 3.4, 5,6, 11-79, 88, AG1-AG126 and AG129 were deleted by IPSAS 41,

issued in August 2018. An entity shall apply these amendments for annual financial statements covering periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2022. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies the amendments for a period beginning
before January 1, 2022 it shall disclose that fact and apply IPSAS 41 at the same time.
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Application Guidance

This Appendix is an integral part of IPSAS 29.

AG1-AG126. [Deleted]
Qualifying Instruments (paragraphs 81 and 82)

AG128. Afinancial asset measured held=to=maturity-investmentearried at amortized cost may be designated as a hedging instrument
in a hedge of foreign currency risk.

Qualifying Items (paragraphs 87—89)

AG134. If a hedge of a forecast transaction within the economic entity qualifies for hedge accounting, any gain or loss that is
recognized directly in net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 106(a) shall be reclassified into surplus or deficit as a
reclassification adjustment in the same period or periods during which the foreign currency risk of the hedged transaction
affects consolidated surplus or deficit.

Assessing Hedge Effectiveness

AGI156A. For the avoidance of doubt, the effects of replacing the original counterparty with a clearing counterparty and making the

associated changes as described in paragraphs 102(a)(ii) and 112(a)(ii) shall be reflected in the measurement of the hedging
instrument and therefore in the assessment of hedge effectiveness and the measurement of hedge effectiveness.

Fair Value Hedge Accounting for a Portfolio Hedge of Interest Rate Risk

AG157. For a fair value hedge of interest rate risk associated with a portfolio of financial assets or financial liabilities, an entity
would meet the requirements of this Standard if it complies with the procedures set out in (a)—(i) and paragraphs AG158—
AG175 below.

(a)  As part of its risk management process the entity identifies a portfolio of items whose interest rate risk it wishes to
hedge. The portfolio may comprlse only assets, only llablhtles or both assets and liabilities. The entlty may identify
two or more portfolios fe-g 1tity y S 0), in which
case it applies the guidance below to each portfoho separately

(b) The entity analyses the portfolio into repricing time periods based on expected, rather than contractual, repricing
dates. The analysis into repricing time periods may be performed in various ways including scheduling cash flows
into the periods in which they are expected to occur, or scheduling notional principal amounts into all periods until
repricing is expected to occur.

(¢)  On the basis of this analysis, the entity decides the amount it wishes to hedge. The entity designates as the hedged
item an amount of assets or liabilities (but not a net amount) from the identified portfolio equal to the amount it
wishes to designate as being hedged. This amount also determines the percentage measure that is used for testing
effectiveness in accordance with paragraph AG169(b).

(d) The entity designates the interest rate risk it is hedging. This risk could be a portion of the interest rate risk in each
of the items in the hedged position, such as a benchmark interest rate (e.g., a swap rate).

()  The entity designates one or more hedging instruments for each repricing time period.

(f)  Using the designations made in (c)—(e) above, the entity assesses at inception and in subsequent periods, whether the
hedge is expected to be highly effective during the period for which the hedge is designated.
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Periodically, the entity measures the change in the fair value of the hedged item (as designated in (c)) that is
attributable to the hedged risk (as designated in (d)), on the basis of the expected repricing dates determined in
(b). Provided that the hedge is determined actually to have been highly effective when assessed using the entity’s
documented method of assessing effectiveness, the entity recognizes the change in fair value of the hedged item as
a gain or loss in surplus or deficit and in one of two line items in the statement of financial position as described in
paragraph 100. The change in fair value need not be allocated to individual assets or liabilities.

The entity measures the change in fair value of the hedging instrument(s) (as designated in (e)) and recognizes it as
a gain or loss in surplus or deficit. The fair value of the hedging instrument(s) is recognized as an asset or liability
in the statement of financial position.

Any ineffectiveness will be recognized in surplus or deficit as the difference between the change in fair value
referred to in (g) and that referred to in (h) (effectiveness is measured using the same materiality considerations as
in other IPSASs).

AG161. As an example of the designation set out in paragraph AG157(c), if in a particular repricing time period an entity estimates
that it has fixed rate assets of CU100 and fixed rate liabilities of CU80 and decides to hedge all of the net position of CU20,
it designates as the hedged item assets in the amount of CU20 (a portion of the assets is designated as the Standard permits
an entity to designate any amount of the available qualifying assets or liabilities, i.e., in this example any amount of the
assets between CUO and CU100). The designation is expressed as an “amount of a currency” (e.g., an amount of dollars,
euro, pounds or rand) rather than as individual assets. It follows that all of the assets (or liabilities) from which the hedged
amount is drawn — i.e., all of the CU100 of assets in the above example — must be:

(@)
(b)

Items whose fair value changes in response to changes in the interest rate being hedged; and

Items that could have qualified for fair value hedge accounting if they had been designated as hedged individually.
In particular, because IPSAS 41 paragraph-52-of the Standard specifies that the fair value of a financial liability with
a demand feature (such as demand deposits and some types of time deposits) is not less than the amount payable
on demand, discounted from the first date that the amount could be required to be paid, such an item cannot qualify
for fair value hedge accounting for any time period beyond the shortest period in which the holder can demand
payment. In the above example, the hedged position is an amount of assets. Hence, such liabilities are not a part
of the designated hedged item, but are used by the entity to determine the amount of the asset that is designated as
being hedged. If the position the entity wished to hedge was an amount of liabilities, the amount representing the
designated hedged item must be drawn from fixed rate liabilities other than liabilities that the entity can be required
to repay in an earlier time period, and the percentage measure used for assessing hedge effectiveness in accordance
with paragraph AG169(b) would be calculated as a percentage of these other liabilities. For example, assume that an
entity estimates that in a particular repricing time period it has fixed rate liabilities of CU100, comprising CU40 of
demand deposits and CU60 of liabilities with no demand feature, and CU70 of fixed rate assets. If the entity decides
to hedge all of the net position of CU30, it designates as the hedged item liabilities of CU30 or 50 percent (CU30 /
(CU100 - CU40) = 50 percent) of the liabilities with no demand feature.

Appendix B is removed. Guidance is included in paragraphs AG109 and AG110 of IPSAS 41.

Appendix B: Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
B1-B7. [Deleted]

ot o Guid

This guidance accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 29.

Sections A-G
[Deleted]
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Hiustrative Examples-
These examples accompany, but are not part of, IPSAS 29.
IE32-1E50. [Deleted]

Amendments to IPSAS 30, Financial Instruments: Disclosures

Paragraphs 2, 3, 4, 5, 8, 11, 12, 13, 14, 18, 24, 34, 35, 36, 37, 41, 43, 45, AG1, AG5, AG9, AG10, AG24, and AG29 are amended,
several headings and paragraphs 16, 17, 20, 26, 27, 28 and 44 are deleted and several headings and paragraphs 5A, 13A, 14A, 14B,
15A, 15B, 15C, 17A, 17B, 17C, 17D, 17E, 17F, 20A, 24A, 25A, 25B, 25C, 25D, 26A, 26B, 26C, 27A, 27B, 27C, 27D, 27E, 27F,
28A, 28B, 28C, 28D, 28E, 28F, 28G, 37A, 39A, 42A, 42B, 42C, 42D, 42E, 42F, 42G, 42H, 421, 42], 42K, 421, 42M, 42N, 49A,
49B, 49C, 49D, 49E, 49F, 49G, 49H, 491, 49], 42K, 49L, 49M, 49N, 490, 49P, 49Q, 49R, 49S, 52F, AG8A, AG8B, AGS8C, AG8D,
AGR8E, AG8F, AG8G, AGS8H, AGS8I, AG8J, AG31, AG32, AG32A, AG33, AG34, AG35, AG36, AG37, AG38, AG39, AG40, AG41,
AG42, AG43, AG44, AG45, AG46, AG4T7, AG48, AG49, AG50, AG51, AG52, AG53, AG54 and AG55 are added.

Objective

2. The principles in this Standard complement the principles for recognizing, measuring, and presenting financial assets and
financial liabilities in IPSAS 28, Financial Instruments: Presentation and IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments, PSAS29;

Financiat-Instruments:—Recognitionand -Measturement.

Scope
3. This Standard shall be applied by all entities to all types of financial instruments, except:

(a) Those interests in controlled entities, associates, or joint ventures that are accounted for in accordance
with IPSAS 34, Separate Financial Statements, IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial Statements or IPSAS 36,
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. However, in some cases, IPSAS 34, IPSAS 35, or IPSAS 37
require or permit an entity to account for an interest in a controlled entity, associate, or joint venture using
IPSAS 41 H*SAS29; in those cases, entities shall apply the requirements of this Standard. Entities shall also
apply this Standard to all derivatives linked to interests in controlled entities, associates, or joint ventures
unless the derivative meets the definition of an equity instrument in IPSAS 28.

(b) Employers’ rights and obligations arising from employee benefit plans, to which IPSAS 39, Employee Benefits
applies.

(c) Rights and obligations arising under insurance contracts. However, this Standard applies to:

(i)  Derivatives that are embedded in insurance contracts if IPSAS 41 HSAS29 requires the entity to
account for them separately; and

(il))  An issuer of financial guarantee contracts if the issuer applies IPSAS 41 H*SAS29-in recognizing and
measuring the contracts, but shall apply the relevant international or national accounting standard
dealing with insurance contracts if the issuer elects to apply those standards in recognizing and
measuring them.

In addition to (i) and (ii) above, an entity may apply this Standard to insurance contracts which involve the
transfer of financial risk.

(d) Financial instruments, contracts, and obligations under share-based payment transactions to which the
relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with share-based payment applies, except for
contracts within the scope of paragraphs 6-8 of IPSAS 41 4=-6-ofHSAS29, to which that Standard applies.

(e) Instruments that are required to be classified as equity instruments in accordance with paragraphs 15 and 16
or paragraphs 17 and 18 of IPSAS 28.
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This Standard applies to recognized and unrecognized financial instruments. Recognized financial instruments include
financial assets and financial liabilities that are within the scope of IPSAS 41 HPSAS29. Unrecognized financial instruments
include some financial instruments that, although outside the scope of IPSAS 41 HSAS29, are within the scope of this
Standard (such as some loan commitments).

This Standard applies to contracts to buy or sell a non-financial item that are within the scope of IPSAS 41 IPSAS29 (see
paragraphs 6—8 of [IPSAS 41 HPSAS29).

5A. The credit risk disclosure requirements in paragraphs 42A—42N apply to those rights for receivables that result from

exchange transactions that are within the scope of IPSAS 9 and non-exchange transactions within the scope of IPSAS 23
which give rise to financial instruments for the purpose of recognizing impairment gains or losses in accordance with
paragraph 3 of IPSAS 41. Any reference to financial assets or financial instruments in these paragraphs shall include those
rights unless otherwise specified.

Definitions

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing
to discharge an obligation.

Credit risk rating grades is a rating of credit risk based on the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument.

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates.

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

Loans payable are financial liabilities, other than short-term trade payables on normal credit terms.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk, and other
price risk.

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes
are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar
financial instruments traded in the market.

Terms defined in other IPSASs are used in this Standard with the same meaning as in those Standards, and are
reproduced in the Glossary of Defined Terms published separately.

Significance of Financial Instruments for Financial Position and Financial Performance

Statement of Financial Position

Categories of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

11.

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories, as defined in IPSAS 41 HPSAS-29, shall be disclosed either in
the statement of financial position or in the notes:
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(a) Financial assets measured at fair value through surplus or deficit, showing separately (i) those designated as such
upon initial recognition or subsequently in accordance with paragraph 152 of IPSAS 41, and (ii) those-classifted-as

held-for-trading-in-accordance-with HPSAS29 those mandatorily measured at fair value through surplus or deficit in
accordance with IPSAS 41;

(b) ~to- tty :
(c) Loansandreeetvables:
(d) Available-for-sate-finaneiat-assets;-

(e) Financial liabilities at fair value through surplus or deficit, showing separately (i) those designated as such upon
initial recognition or subsequently in accordance with paragraph 152 of IPSAS 41, and (ii) thoseclassified-as-held-

for-tradingin-aceordance-with HPSAS29 those that meet the definition of held for trading in IPSAS 41; and

(f)  Financial assets habitittes measured at amortized cost;:

(g) Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost; and

(h) Financial assets measured at fair value through net assets/equity. showing separately (i) financial assets that are
measured at fair value through net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 41 of 